
CITY OF WESTMINSTER REGULARLY SCHEDULED MEETING 
December 12, 2023 @ 5:00 PM 
Westminster Fire Department 

216 Emergency Lane, Westminster 
 

Call to Order 
 
Certification of Quorum  
 
Executive Session 

1. Executive Session for the purpose of discussion of negotiations incident to proposed contractual 
arrangements and proposed sale or purchase of property, the receipt of legal advice where the 
legal advice relates to a pending, threatened, or potential claim or other matters covered by the 
attorney-client privilege, settlement of legal claims, or the position of the public agency in other 
adversary situations involving the assertion against the agency of a claim and a discussion of 
employment, appointment, compensation, promotion, demotion, discipline, or release of an 
employee, a student, or a person regulated by a public body or the appointment of a person to a 
public body pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. 34-4-70 (1) and (2). 
 

(1) To receive legal advice on matters pertaining to litigation regarding the Piedmont 
Municipal Power Agency (PMPA) 

Invocation & Pledge of Allegiance to start at 6:00 PM 
 
Public Comments: 
 
The floor is now open for public comments. Citizens of Westminster or others who have registered for time with the Clerk can now address 
Council for any matters on tonight’s agenda or other matters you wish to bring before the Council.  Speakers are allowed 
up to 3 minutes and possibly longer if that Speaker is recognized in advance as representing a larger group with similar concerns.  To preserve the 
decorum of this public meeting, and to allow adequate time for discussion among the elected membership of City Council, this will be the only 
time we will receive unsolicited comments tonight from the public. 
 
Comments from the Mayor and Council  
 
Routine Business  

1. Approval of the November 14, 2023, Regular Meeting Minutes 
2. Comments from the Utilities Director 

a. USDA-RD Project Update 
b. Coopers Mill 
c. Speeds bumps on Main Street 
d. Staffing (now fully staffed) 
e. Other 

3. Comments from City Administrator 
a. Annual Audit update 
b. Anderson Park renovation update 
c. Other  

 
Old Business  

 



1. Consideration of Second Reading of Ordinance NO. 2023-12-12-01; AN ORDINANCE 
TO REPEAL AND REPLACE THE WESTMINSTER ZONING ORDINANCE 
 
At its October Meeting, the City Council considered amendments to the Zoning Ordinance 
and approved First Reading of the Ordinance with Council-directed amendments.  
 
At its October meeting, the Westminster Planning Commission approved a motion to 
recommend that the City repeal and replace its Zoning Code (Westminster Code of 
Ordinances §150: Building Regulation, §151: Zoning Code, and §152: Sign Regulations, 
along with accompanying appendixes other included material, collectively).  

City Council formally directed the Planning Commission to review the Zoning Code at its 
September 12, 2023, meeting (Resolution No. 09-12-2023-02). City Council helped create 
and write this zoning code, in tandem with staff and planning consultants. The Planning 
Commission and Staff find that the proposed code will equip the City of Westminster with the 
tools that it needs to thrive in the coming years and decades by sustainably managing growth 
with a forward-thinking Zoning Code that meets the need of our city.  

The Council-directed amendments are incorporated into the Ordinance. It is recommended 
that the Council further consider the unsettled amendment to restrict non-profits in the core-
commercial district, with City Attorney’s research and opinion. 

Staff recommends approval.  

2. Consideration of Second Reading of Ordinance No. 2023-12-12-02; AN ORDINANCE 
TO AMEND THE VACANT BUILDING ORDINANCE (No. 09-12-2023-04) 

At its October Meeting, City Council approved first reading of this ordinance.  

Currently, the vacant building ordinance (Ordinance No. 09-12-2023-04) calls for appeals to 
be directed to the Construction Board of Appeals. Staff recommends that the ordinance be 
amended so that appeals are made to City Council (via written notification to the code 
enforcement officer), removing the need for the Construction Board of Appeals.  

Staff recommends approval.  

New Business 

3. Consideration of Ordinance NO. 2024-01-09-01; AN ORDINANCE TO AMMEND 
CERTAIN SECTIONS OF THE WESTMINSTER CODE OF ORDINANCES 
RELATED TO THE CITY ADMINISTRTOR, THE CITY ATTORNEY, POLICE 
CHIEF, THE CITY CLERK, THE UTILITIES DIRECTOR AND OTHER MATTERS 
RELATED THERETO 
 
At the October City Council Meeting, the Council discussed sections of the City Ordinance 
concerning the Police Chief. The Police Chief and the City Clerk are currently appointed by 
the City Council while all of the department heads and city staff are hired by the City 
Administrator. For Council’s consideration are amendments to the City Code to have the 
Police Chief and the City Clerk hired by the City Administrator. Also, other sections of the 
Code that are out-of-date are presented for Council’s consideration.  
The amendments are:  



Title III: Administration  

Chapter 31: City Officials and Employees 

City Administrator 31.25 Removal From Office 

The City Administrator may be removed from office by a majority vote of the Council. 
Those members voting for removal shall state their reasons for such vote. The action of 
the Council in removing the City Administrator shall be final. In all cases the City 
Administrator shall receive 90-days' notice of his or her removal or severance pay for 30 
days where such removal is made effective immediately by a majority of the City Council.  

Clerk and Treasurer 31.40 Election; Term 

There shall be elected by the Council an officer known as the Clerk and Treasurer of the 
city who shall hold offices for such period of time as is provided by § 31.01. 

City Attorney  31.57 Compensation 

The City Attorney shall be paid at a rate, as set from time to time, as determined by the 
City Council. the hourly rate of $85 per hour, $50 of which shall be paid from the 
General Funds of the city and $50 from the funds in the hands of the Commissioners of 
Public Works. The City Attorney shall be paid in addition thereto a reasonable amount 
for specific services rendered to the city, for appearances at trials, preparing resolutions, 
ordinances and other similar matters. 

Chapter 33: Police and Fire Departments 

Police Department 33.01 Composition; Appointment; Term of Office; Compensation 

The Police Department of the City of Westminster shall consist of a Chief and such other 
number of police officers as the Council may from time to time determine necessary to 
provide adequate police protection for the city. The Chief of Police and all police officers 
of the Department shall be appointed by the Council and shall hold office for the period 
of time as is provided by § 31.01 and shall receive such compensation for the 
performance of their duties as the Council may from time to time designate. 

Police Department 33.05 Suspension of Chief, of Police Officers; Final Determination 
by Council  

The Mayor may peremptorily suspend the Chief of Police for neglect of duty or failure to 
perform any duty of his or her office. The Chief may likewise suspend any member of the 
Department. All such suspensions shall be reported to the Council within 24 hours, who 
shall either affirm or revoke such suspension. The Council may, at any time, remove any 
member of the Department from office for cause. 

Police Department; Chapter 33.02 Chief to be commander of Police Force; Acting 
Chief 

The Chief of Police shall at all times be recognized and respected by members of the 
Police Department as their commander and superior officer, and they shall obey all 
orders of the Chief. In the event of the temporary absence or disability of the Chief, the 



Council City Administrator shall appoint an acting chief who shall have all the powers, 
duties and responsibilities of the Chief. 

Police Department; Chapter 33.20 Composition, Supervision, Appointments and 
Removal 

(A) The Fire Department of the City of Westminster shall consist of a Fire Chief and such 
other number of officers/firefighters as the City Council may from time to time determine 
as necessary to provide adequate fire protection to the city. With the concurrence of the 
City Council, Tthe Fire Chief shall be appointed by the City Administrator… 

Title IX: General Regulations;  

Chapter 91 Streets and Sidewalks  

Chapter 91.01 Public Parades and Assembles, Approvals and Restrictions 

(B)The requests shall be forwarded to the Police Chief for review and comment. Upon 
review of the Chief of Police, such requests shall be forwarded to the City Council for 
approval. In the event the requested activity will use public roadways, the South Carolina 
Department of Transportation shall be notified of such request and their approval shall 
be required. 

Chapter 91.31 Superintendent of Street Department 

(A) It shall be the responsibility of the Utilities Director Superintendent of the Street 
Department to coordinate all aspects of the Ssnow and Iice Rremoval Plan. This 
individual shall work closely with the Commission of Public Works, Police 
Department, Fire Department, Mayor, appropriate Council members and City Hall 
employees to ensure the plan has been put into place after a snow or ice storm. The 
Street Department Superintendent will communicate with the Superintendent of 
Public Works and Police Chief to determine the level of implementation of the Snow 
and Ice Plan. 

(B) It shall be the responsibility of the Mayor City Administrator of the City of 
Westminster to notify the appropriate news media of the opening and closing schedule of 
the City Hall. These announcements are to advise the public at what level of service the 
city is operating. The Street Superintendent will notify the Mayor of the conditions of the 
city streets and plans for removal of ice or snow. The Mayor will notify the appropriate 
news media. This will allow the public to modify their conduct and travel plans 
accordingly 

Chapter 91.33 Crew 

A Commission of Public Works crew and a Street Department crew will be established to 
accomplish the goals of the Snow and Ice Removal Plan. These crews will work in 
conjunction with the Police Department. See attachment #1 to Ord. 920408A for a list of 
these crews.  

Chapter 91.36 Traffic Restrictions 

The Police Chief will coordinate all traffic restrictions. Parking will be restricted in 
intersections, stop lights and at stop signs during inclement weather due to snow and ice. 
The Police Chief will submit to the City Clerk a report on all accidents due to snow or icy 



conditions. The Police Chief will notify the Utilities Director Street Department 
Superintendent of any roads that need to be closed. The Police Chief will also coordinate 
emergency services.  

Chapter 91.37  Priority Routes 
Priority routes will be based on road importance, traffic volume, functional 
classifications and critical facilities. See attachment #2 to Ord. 920408A for priority 
routes. 
 

Staff recommends approval. 
 

4. Consideration of a MOTION to authorize the City Administrator, Westminster’s 
PMPA Board Director, to execute a Settlement Agreement and Mutual Release as 
discussed in executive session. 
 
A settlement agreement has been negotiated by the PMPA General Manager Joel Ledbetter 
to resolve ongoing litigation between PMPA’s Participants. As a reminder, the Participant 
members of PMPA are: City of Abbeville, City of Clinton, City of Easley, City of Gaffney, 
City of Greer, City of Laurens, City of Newberry, City of Rock Hill, City of Union, and City of 
Westminster.  
 
Specifically, the City of Rock Hill and the Greer Commission of Public Works have asserted 
that PMPA has improperly charged Rock Hill and Greer and that PMPA is in default of its 
responsibilities and obligations under PMPA’s respective Agreements with Rock Hill and 
Greer. However, PMPA asserts that all charges to Rock Hill and Greer were calculated 
correctly pursuant to the All-Requirements Rate Schedules of PMPA that were duly adopted 
by PMPA’s Board of Directors in accordance with the Bylaws and the terms of PMPA’s 
respective Agreements with Rock Hill and Greer. The assertion by Rock Hill and Greer is the 
subject of the lawsuit captioned City of Newberry et al. v. Rock Hill et al., Civil Action 
Number 2021-CP-23-00941 (Court of Common Pleas for Greenville County). 
 
Legal counsels have requested the settlement terms remain confidential until all parties have 
had the ability to consider such terms. Once all parties accept the settlement agreement, the 
terms will be made public.  
 
Staff recommends approval. 

 
5. Consideration to Appoint members to the Planning Commission and the Board of 

Zoning Appeals.  
Board of Zoning Appeals (5 appointments); and  
Planning Commission (1 appointment) 



 
 

6. Resolution in support of the Land & Water Conservation Fund grant application  
 
The LWCF State Assistance Program was established in 1965 to stimulate a nationwide 
action program to assist in preserving, developing, and assuring to all citizens of the United 
States of present and future generations such quality and quantity of outdoor recreation 
resources as may be available and are necessary and desirable for individual active 
participation. 
 
LWCF provides matching funds to States and local units of government for acquisition and 
development of public outdoor recreation sites and facilities. 
 
The city’s grant writer has prepared a grant application requesting approximately $1 million 
for the construction and installation of a pavilion at the future Hall Street Recreation 
Complex. The grant is a 50/50 spilt, the LWCF will fund $500,000 (if a waiver from the cap 
of $300,000 is approved) and the city will provide $500,000. The city may use funds received 
this fiscal year from its $5 million state budget appropriation. The 40’x68’ pavilion is a 
covered picnic shelter with bathrooms, a concession area, storage space, lighting, 
landscaping, seating and trash receptacles.  
 
Staff recommends approval.  
 

7. Consideration of Request to Waive Water Tap fee of $2,200 for the Rosa Clark Medical 
Clinic, Westminster location. 

 
The Rosa Clark Medical Center is expanding its facilities into the City of Westminster using 
federal grant funds to renovate a building into a medical center. Oconee County granted 
Rosa Clark a lease for the building at 1608 East Main Street (behind the new Magistrate 
Court office). The renovations require a new water tap for the building. Inside city, once inch 
water tap fee is $2,200. 
 
Staff recommends approval.  
 

Commission Name Term Expires Willingness to Serve Again
Planning Jarrod Brucke 2020 Yes

Sandra Powell 2021 Yes
Ben Lewis 2022 Yes
Larry Dellinger 2023 No
Truman Holdbrooks 2024

BZA Theron Brown 2019
Vacant 2020
Jim Spearman 2021
Eddie Turner 2022
Chester Lee 2023 No



8. Consideration of Financial Services Agreement with First Tryon Advisors including 
Work Order Number 1 to develop a comprehensive capital planning model “to assist in 
the prioritization and phasing” of future capital projects and annual financial planning.  
 
The fee range for Work Order Number 1 is $15,000 - $20,000 with an option for additional 
work for an hourly rate of $350 per hour for 2024. This is an advanced financial planning 
tool that will assist the city in planning, evaluating and developing funding options for future  
budgets, rates, capital projects and the like. Staff has reviewed the tool with First Tyon and 
believes it will aide greatly in future planning efforts. 
 
Staff recommends approval.  

Adjourn 



1 
 

November 14, 2023 
 
 

MINUTES 
WESTMINSTER CITY COUNCIL 

Regular Scheduled Meeting 
Tuesday, November 14, 2023 

 
 
The City Council of the City of Westminster met in a regular scheduled meeting on Tuesday, 
November 14, 2023, at 6:00 pm at the Westminster Fire Department with Mayor Brian Ramey 
presiding.  Those in attendance were: 
 
Brian Ramey   Audrey Reese  Daby Snipes  Ruth May  
Jimmy Powell   Adam Dunn  Dale Glymph   
  
   
City Administrator, Kevin Bronson 
Assistant to the City Administrator, Reagan Osbon 
City Clerk, Rebecca Overton 
Fire Chief, Michael Smith 
Utility Director, Kevin Harbin 
City Attorney, Andrew Holliday 
Members of the public and press 
 
     Notice of the meeting and the agenda was posted on a window at the Fire Department and at 
westminstersc.org twenty-four hours prior to the meeting and all persons, organizations and 
local media requesting notification and the agenda were notified by email. 
 
Call to Order 
 

Mayor Ramey called the meeting to order at 6:00 pm.  
 
Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance 
 

Mrs. Audrey Reese led the Council in the invocation and the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Certification of Quorum 
 
 Rebecca Overton certified a quorum. 
 
Public Comments 
 

David Cooper of 200 Walhalla Street spoke to Council and reminded them that he had 
concerns with the four way stop sign in his neighborhood.  He added that since 
addressing the issue with Council last month that he had seen an increase in police 
presence and there had been some responses to speeders in the area.  Mr. Cooper thanks 
the officers for the timely responses and asked Council to looks for ways to increase the 
police force and make the department a priority.  



2 
 

November 14, 2023 
 
 

Frankie Pearson addressed Council with concerns over the lack of American flag 
decorations for Veterans Day.  He added that he was very disappointed, and that cost 
should not be a concern when it comes to showing appreciation to Veterans.   

 
Comments from the Mayor and Council 

Mayor Ramey congratulated the members of Council who were re-elected on election day.  
He also thanked them for their willingness to serve.  Mr. Glymph also offered his 
congratulations to the members who were re-elected.  Mrs. Reese stated that she had 
received several phone calls thanking the police for their work and services.  Mrs. Snipes 
thanked everyone for their teamwork in making a successful Boo on Main and Veterans 
Day Parade.  

 
Routine Business  

1. Approval of the September 12, 2023, Regular City Council Meeting Minutes  

Upon a motion by Mr. Glymph and seconded by Mr. Dunn, the motion to approve 
the September 12, 2023, minutes passed unanimously.    

 

 

 

 

 

  
2. Approval of the October 10, 2023, Regular Meeting Minutes 

 
Upon a motion by Mrs. Reese and seconded by Ms. May, the motion to approve 
the October 10, 2023, minutes passed unanimously.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Member Motion Vote 
Ramey   Yes 
Glymph Motion Yes 
Powell  Yes 
Reese  Yes 
May  Yes 
Dunn Second Yes 
Snipes  Yes 

Member Motion Vote 
Ramey   Yes 
Glymph  Abstain 
Powell  Yes 
Reese Motion Yes 
May Second Yes 
Dunn  Yes 
Snipes  Yes 



3 
 

November 14, 2023 
 
 

3. Comments from the Utility Director  
a. Mr. Harbin informed Council that the USDA project was moving along, and the 

area of Dawn Drive had been completed.  He added all homes in that area are 
connected to the new line.    

b. Mr. Harbin informed Council that crews had begun laying pipes at Dixon Road 
and DHEC was working on approvals.  He added that staff had met with residents 
to put water tap signs up.  

c. Mr. Harbin informed Council that crews had been working on sewer right of way 
and clearing limbs from power lines. 

d. Mr. Harbin informed Council that the new leaf truck was fully operational and 
working great.  

e. Mr. Harbin informed Council that staff had contacted Ingles and they had hired a 
contractor to clear trees off power lines on their property on highway 123.   
 

4.  Comments from City Administrator  
a. Mr. Bronson informed Council that staff are still monitoring the water flow at 

the Chauga River.  He added that the State had recently flew drones over the 
river to check for any obstructions but did not see any.  

b. Mr. Bronson informed Council that staff are waiting on the final survey of 
Anderson Park and then the designer will finish designs and resubmit project 
for bid.  

c. Mr. Bronson informed Council that Mr. Osbon is communicating and meeting 
with the Planning Commission Board and Zoning Board on a regular basis.  He 
added that both boards will need to have new appointments and reappointments 
for current members and that would be on the December meeting agenda.   

d. Mr. Bronson reminded Council that Saturday, November 18th would be a clean 
up day in the S. Piedmont Street area.  He added that crews would bring in a 
dumpster and residents in the area can utilize it to throw away unwanted items.  

e. Mr. Bronson informed Council that Oconee County will soon stop doing 
building inspections for the city.  He added that there is a third party state 
approved vendor that he will be reaching out to for a contract to do the city 
building inspections as needed. 

f. Mr. Bronson informed Council that the city did not receive the RIA Grant award 
for the Unity Church Road water tank.  He added he will be reaching out RIA 
staff to learn why. 

g. Mr. Bronson informed Council that the city had received a SC Emergency 
Management Division Grant award of $257,000.00 for four generators.  He 
added that they will placed at City Hall, the Utility Shop, Apple Tower pump 
station, and the highway 76 pump station.   



4 
 

November 14, 2023 
 
 

h. Mr. Bronson informed Council that the city had received an Energy Grant of 
$10,000 to put LED lights downtown.  He added this will brighten up downtown 
and make it more energy efficient.    

Old Business 

1. Consideration of Second Reading of Ordinance No. 2023-11-14-01; An Ordinance 
Authorizing the Execution and Delivery of a Non-Exclusive Franchise Agreement with 
Duke Energy Carolinas, LLC; and Other Matters Relating Thereto. 

 
Mr. Bronson informed Council that the city has a Municipal Services Agreement 
(MSA) with Duke Energy Carolinas, LLC (Duke) for the electric services Duke 
provides in the corporate limits. He added that the current agreement was signed 
in May 2009 with a ten-year initial term with automatic renewal in five-year 
increments and that the MSA is set to expire/or auto renew on June 30, 2024. The 
MSA allows Duke a non-exclusive right to serve customers in the city limits and 
imposes a 4% franchise fee on the revenue generated from the service. 

 
Mr. Bronson further added that Duke has requested an update to the MSA and 
that edits to the new MSA have been made by city attorneys Lawrence Flynn and 
Andrew Holliday and approved by Duke. Mr. Bronson added that the change of 
note is an increase in the franchise fee from 4% to 5% (to align with the city’s 
self-imposed franchise fee).  
 
Upon a motion by Mr. Dunn and seconded by Mrs. Reese, the motion to approve 
second reading of Ordinance No. 2023-11-14-01; An Ordinance Authorizing 
the Execution and Delivery of a Non-Exclusive Franchise Agreement with 
Duke Energy Carolinas, LLC; and Other Matters Relating Thereto passed 
unanimously.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Member Motion Vote 
Ramey   Yes 
Glymph  Yes 
Powell  Yes 
Reese Second Yes 
May  Yes 
Dunn Motion Yes 
Snipes  Yes 



5 
 

November 14, 2023 
 
 

2. Consideration Of Municipal Service Agreement for The Provision of Electric Service 
[with Duke Energy Carolinas, LLC] 

 
Mr. Bronson informed Council that this agreement goes with the Franchise 
Ordinance between the city and Duke Energy.   
 
Upon a motion by Mr. Dunn and seconded by Mr. Powell, the motion to approve 
the Municipal Service Agreement for the Provision of Electric Service with 
Duke Energy passed unanimously.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

3. Consideration of Second Reading of Ordinance No. 2023-11-14-02; An Ordinance to 
Execute Real Property Sale Agreement  

Mr. Bronson reminded Council that at the September 12, 2023, City Council Meeting 
Council considered a written offer by Mr. Mahlon Stolzfus to purchase 0.2 acres, 
more or less, with attached personal property, as is located at 308 Fire Tower Rd 
(TMS 289-00-04-001) for $3,500.   He added that the subject property is adjacent to 
property owned by Mr. Stoltzfus and that Utilities Director Kevin Harbin has 
evaluated the site and the tank and reports neither the property nor the tank is used by 
the City.  Mr. Bronson further added that this ordinance authorizes the sale of the 
property and then a Contract of Sale and Purchase would also require Council action.  

Upon a motion by Mrs. Reese and seconded by Ms. May the motion to approve 
second reading of Ordinance No. 2023-11-14-02; An Ordinance to Execute Real 
Property Sale Agreement passed unanimously.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

Member Motion Vote 
Ramey   Yes 
Glymph  Yes 
Powell Second Yes 
Reese  Yes 
May  Yes 
Dunn Motion Yes 
Snipes  Yes 

Member Motion Vote 
Ramey   Yes 
Glymph  Yes 
Powell  Yes 
Reese Motion Yes 
May Second Yes 
Dunn  Yes 
Snipes  Yes 



6 
 

November 14, 2023 
 
 

4. Consideration of Contract of Sale and Purchase; This Contract of Sale and Purchase by 
and between The City of Westminster and Mahlon Stoltzfus   

 
Mr. Bronson informed Council that this is the Contract of Sale and Purchase 
described in the Real Property Sale Agreement Ordinance.   

Upon a motion by Mr. Glymph and seconded by Mr. Powell, the motion to 
approve the Contract of Sale and Purchase passed unanimously.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

5. Consideration of Second Reading of Ordinance 2023-11-14-03; An Ordinance to Amend 
Title XIII Chapter 130 of The Code of Ordinances for the City of Westminster 

Mr. Bronson informed Council that this ordinance may be referred to as a 
“blanket trespass ordinance” and that the ordinance authorizes law enforcement to 
issue trespass notices to individuals on private property without express 
permission of the owner. He added that provision for a warning of trespass 
followed by a trespass notice, with subsequent sanctions, authorizes law 
enforcement to act. Mr. Bronson further added that private property owners may 
authorize law enforcement under the “blanket” provision to issue trespass notices 
to individuals that repeatedly trespass on private property without repeated 
approval of the property owner.  

Upon a motion by Mrs. Snipes and seconded by Mrs. Reese the motion to 
approve second reading of Ordinance 2023-11-14-03; An Ordinance to Amend 
Title XIII Chapter 130 of The Code of Ordinances for the City of Westminster 
passed unanimously.  

Member Motion Vote 
Ramey   Yes 
Glymph Motion Yes 
Powell Second Yes 
Reese  Yes 
May  Yes 
Dunn  Yes 
Snipes  Yes 

Member Motion Vote 
Ramey   Yes 
Glymph  Yes 
Powell  Yes 
Reese Second Yes 
May  Yes 
Dunn  Yes 



7 
 

November 14, 2023 
 
 

 

 

New Business 

1. Consideration of Frist Reading of Ordinance No. 2023-12-12-01; An Ordinance to 
Repeal and Replace the Westminster Zoning Ordinance 
 

Mr. Bronson reminded Council that at its October meeting, the Westminster 
Planning Commission approved a motion to recommend that the City repeal and 
replace its Zoning Code (Westminster Code of Ordinances §150: Building 
Regulation, §151: Zoning Code, and §152: Sign Regulations, along with 
accompanying appendixes other included material, collectively). He added that  
City Council helped create and write this zoning code, in tandem with staff and 
planning consultants. Mr. Bronson added that the below key items and changes 
were recommended by the Planning Commission:  

Key Items 

• Creation of new zoning districts: R-6 (smaller lots of 
6,000 Sq ft or more), R-1 (lots of 1 Acre or more), and 
RR (lots of 6 acres or more, for “light agriculture and 
horticulture uses).  

• Regulations for Short-Term Rentals to only residential 
districts, with additional regulation considerations. 

• Allowances for Recreational Vehicle Parks in RR and 
Highway Commercial districts. 

• New Mobile Home Parks Require Greenspace  

Changes Made by Planning Commission 

• Require new Mobile Homes to have brick skirting, as 
opposed to aluminum or fiberglass skirting. Existing 
parks will  

• Allowance for additional parking at Fast-Food 
restaurants, from 1 space for every 50 Sq ft of floor 
space to 150 Sq ft. 

• Change RR from 5 to 6 Acre Minimum to line up with 
US Forestry threshold for forestry tax exemptions. 

Council discussed several concerns on the Zoning Ordinance and made some 
recommendations for changes.   
 
Upon a motion by Mrs. Reese and seconded by Ms. May, the motion to 
approve Frist Reading of Ordinance No. 2023-12-12-01, as amended; An 

Snipes Motion Yes 



8 
 

November 14, 2023 
 
 

Ordinance to Repeal and Replace the Westminster Zoning Ordinance 
passed unanimously.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2. Consideration of First Reading of Ordinance No. 2023-12-12-02; An Ordinance to 
Amend the Vacant Building Ordinance (No. 09-12-2023-04) 

Mr. Bronson informed Council that currently, the vacant building ordinance 
(Ordinance No. 09-12-2023-04) calls for appeals to be directed to the 
Construction Board of Appeals. He added that Staff recommends that the 
ordinance be amended so that appeals are made to City Council (via written 
notification to the code enforcement officer), removing the need for the 
Construction Board of Appeals.  

Upon a motion by Mrs. Snipes and seconded by Mr. Glymph, the motion to 
approve First Reading of Ordinance No. 2023-12-12-02; An Ordinance to 
Amend the Vacant Building Ordinance (No. 09-12-2023-04) passed 
unanimously. 

 

 

 

 

 

3. Oconee Joint Regional Sewer Authority (OJRSA) Commissioners Appointments 

Mr. Bronson informed Council that Legal Counsel for the Oconee Joint Regional 
Sewer Authority (OJRSA) recently informed members of the OJRSA Board of 
the need to re-appoint each Commissioner each year. He added that currently 
Mayor Brain Ramey and City Administrator Kevin Bronson serve as 
Westminster’s two appointments to the Board. Mr. David Dial serves as the 

Member Motion Vote 
Ramey   Yes 
Glymph  Yes 
Powell  Yes 
Reese Motion Yes 
May Second Yes 
Dunn  Yes 
Snipes  Yes 

Member Motion Vote 
Ramey   Yes 
Glymph Second Yes 
Powell  Yes 
Reese  Yes 
May  Yes 
Dunn  Yes 
Snipes Motion Yes 



9 
 

November 14, 2023 
 
 

member representing both Westminster and Walhalla. Mr. Bronson further added 
that Council would need to consider the reappointment of Mayor Ramey, Mr. 
Bronson and Mr. Dial.  

Upon a motion by Ms. May and seconded by Mrs. Reese the motion to appoint 
Brian Ramey and Kevin Bronson as Westminster’s representatives, and David 
Dial as the representative for both Westminster and Walhalla to the OJRSA 
Board for the term beginning January 1, 2024, passed unanimously. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Additional Staff Committee Update 

1. Special Events Committee Update  
 

Mr. Osbon informed Council that the Special Events Committee met on 
November 1 for its regularly scheduled meeting.  He added that the Veterans Day 
Parade was on Saturday, November 11 at 4:00pm. Mr. Osbon also stated that the 
Special Events Committee hosted a volunteer interest meeting on Monday, 
November 13 at the Depot to coordinate a Christmas decorating day with 
members of the community, to further involve members of the community into 
the Christmas Planning and Decorating processes.  

Mr. Osbon informed Council that the SC Arbor Day Celebration will be on 
December 1 at 2:00pm and that the Lazy Daisie Garden Club will be planting 
Ginko Trees at City Hall.  

Mr. Osbon informed Council that decorations for Christmas by staff will begin 
going up on November 20, 2023, and extending to Monday, November 27 if 
needed. He added that the Christmas Tree Lighting will be on Friday, November 
1 at 6:00pm and will include performances from local choirs. Mr. Osbon also 
stated that the Christmas Parade will be held on Saturday, December 2 at 11:00am 
and staff is hosting sign-ups to help city staff and police prepare for the event and 
organize participants. He added there will be prizes given for 1st, 2nd, and 3rd 
floats, as well as most creative float.  Mr. Osbon stated that the Depot will be 
decorated as well and will host several open house “Deck the Depot” events 

Member Motion Vote 
Ramey   Yes 
Glymph  Yes 
Powell  Yes 
Reese Second Yes 
May Motion Yes 
Dunn  Yes 
Snipes  Yes 



10 
 

November 14, 2023 
 
 

throughout the weekends in the month of December and that Oconee County First 
Steps is contributing decorations and staffing the events.  

2. Recreation Planning Committee Update 
 

Mr. Bronson informed Council that the contract has been signed with the Sports 
Facility Company (SFC) to conduct a Market Opportunity Analysis and a 
Financial Feasibility Assessment.   Mr. Bronson stated that city staff are working 
with the SFC staff to complete the Market Opportunity Analysis which is planned 
to be completed prior to beginning the Financial Feasibility Assessment.  

 
Mr. Bronson also stated that the Committee also supported the city’s effort to 
apply for a Land & Water Conservation Fund (LWCF) grant to fund a covered 
picnic shelter which is planned to include restrooms, a concession stand and 
maintenance storage.  He added that depending on funding, playground 
equipment may be included as well and that the grant is a 50/50 match with a 
maximum of $300,000.  

Executive Session 

Upon a motion by Mayor Ramey and seconded by Mr. Glymph, the motion to enter 
executive session passed unanimously.   

Upon a motion by Mrs. Reese and seconded by Mr. Glymph, the motion to exit executive 
session passed unanimously.   

Upon a motion by Mayor Ramey and seconded by Mrs. Reese, the motion to appoint 
Caitlyn Pope as Interim Police Chief passed unanimously.   

 

 

 

 

 

Adjourn 

Upon a motion by Mayor Ramey and seconded by Mrs. Reese, the motion to adjourn the 
meeting at 9:35 pm passed unanimously. 

(Minutes submitted by Rebecca Overton) 

Member Motion Vote 
Ramey  Motion Yes 
Glymph  Yes 
Powell  Yes 
Reese Second Yes 
May  Yes 
Dunn  Yes 
Snipes  Yes 



11 
 

November 14, 2023 
 
 

__________________________________   _____________________ 

Mayor Brian Ramey              Date 



ORDINANCE # 12-12-2023-01 

AN ORDINANCE TO REPEAL AND REPLACE THE WESTMINSTER ZONING ORDINANCE 

 

WHEREAS, the CITY of WESTMINSTER (the “Municipality”) is authorized by S.C. Code Section 6-
29-710 and Title 6, Chapter 29 to regulate and plan for current and future land use;  

WHEREAS, the CITY OF WESTMINSTER has identified needs not addressed in the existing Zoning 
Ordinance (SECTIONS 150, 151, and 152 of the Westminster Code of Ordinances, collectively); 

WHEREAS, expected growth over the coming decades necessitates an updated and forward-
looking Zoning Ordinance; 

WHEREAS, City Council remanded the Zoning Ordinance to the Planning Commission at its 
September 9, 2023 meeting for review and recommended actions; 

WHEREAS, the City of Westminster Planning Commission hosted a public hearing on the matter 
at its October 30, 2023 meeting and recommended approval to City Council; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Westminster, as 
follows: 

SECTION 1. Repeal and Replace the Westminster Zoning Ordinance 

(a) Westminster Zoning Ordinance Chapters 150, 151, and 152 (not to include 
Chapter 153: Vacant Building Registration) be REPEALED in its entirety, AND  
 

(b) Shall be REPLACED by the Zoning Code as described in the Exhibit corresponding 
to this Ordinance.  

 
SECTION 2. Effective Date 

The herein replacement of the Zoning Ordinance shall take effect immediately 
upon adoption and posting as provided by law. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

CITY OF WESTMINSTER, SOUTH CAROLINA 

 

      _________________________________________ 
Brian Ramey, Mayor 

[SEAL] 

 

       
Rebecca Overton, City Clerk 

First Reading:   
Public Hearing:  
Second Reading:  

Reviewed by City Attorney and approved as to form. 

 

       

Andrew Holliday, City Attorney 

 



1 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO REPEAL AND REPLACE THE WESTMINSTER ZONING CODE 

 
*NOTE: THIS ORDINANCE IS INTENDED TO REPEAL AND REPLACE THE ENTIRE ZDO.  
FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES ONLY, THE FOLLOWING COLORS ARE USED TO 
HIGHLIGHT CHANGES FROM THE PREVIOUS CODE: 
Indicates Matter Stricken  
Indicates New Matter 
Amended After Introduction to Planning Commission 
Amended After Introduction to Council 
Andrew PLEASE LOOK AT/ANDEW COMMENTS 

• The numbers get off at Sec. 151.056 around page 13 and again on 15. RO can work on 
later. 

TITLE XV:  

LAND USAGE 

 

CHAPTER 150: BUILDING REGULATIONS 
 

§ 150.01 ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT OF CODES. 

(A)      Building codes. The city has adopted the county's building codes, as codified in the Article II, entitled 
Regulatory Codes, of Chapter 6, entitled Buildings And Building Regulations, of the county code, as amended from 
time to time, and as approved by the South Carolina Building Codes Council or other applicable authority, as the 
city's building codes and municipal law. The city authorized and directed the use of the county's appellate 
procedures and bodies as the city's appellate procedures and bodies for the administration and enforcement of the 
adopted county building codes. The city authorized the creation of an agency relationship that designates and 
provides authority to county building code personnel to act as the city's agents and building official(s) to 
administer and enforce the adopted county building codes as the city's building codes within the city's jurisdiction 
and municipal boundaries.  

(B)      Fire codes. For administration and enforcement, the city has adopted the 2015 International Fire Code, 
including Appendices A and D.  

(B) Special Building Rules for Manufactured and Mobile Homes.   

1. Construction. All manufactured and mobile homes must be placed on a permanent brick, permanent 
block, or other concrete reinforced foundation and shall be underpinned with brick or concrete block, 
or continuous aluminum or fiber glass sitting extending to the ground around the perimeter of the 
dwelling, and shall be anchored on at least each corner by steel cables or straps.  Each dwelling shall 
have a 6'x6 concrete pad and shall include a porch or decking around the home platform at least 
three by three feet (3’x3’) outside of each entrance.   



2 
 

2. Water and Wastewater. Each lot containing a manufactured or mobile must have at least a three (3) 
inch diameter sewer riser pipe that is an approximate vertical position. All sewer connections shall 
be water tight.  Tapped connections are prohibited.  All sewer lines shall be properly vented and 
shall be laid with sufficient earth cover to prevent breakages from vehicular traffic.  If the lot is not 
connected to sewer, no manufactured or mobile home shall be permitted without a valid septic 
permit from the Department of Health and Environmental Control. The water supply and wastewater 
disposal systems of all manufactured and mobile homes shall be inspected and approved by the 
Building Official prior to the issuance of any Permits or Occupancy Certificates. 

3. Abandoned or Nuisance Structures.  Any mobile home which has been abandoned and is declared to 
be a nuisance under the terms of this Ordinance, shall be removed by the owner of the land.  A 
mobile home shall be considered abandoned if: 

a.  it has been unoccupied for a period of more than one year; or  
b. it has been deemed unfit by the Building Inspector, or Health Authority; or 
c.   If repairs needed exceed 75% of the structure’s replacement value. 

4. For any mobile home that does not comply with this section, the City is authorized to 
recover from the owner of an abandoned mobile home or from the owner of the land upon 
which such abandoned mobile home is located, the expense of removal and disposal. 

 

(Ord. 2001-09-18-01, passed 11-19-2001; Am. Ord. 2002-03-19-01, passed 3-26-2002; Am. Ord. 2004-04-20-02, 
passed 6-28-2004; Am. Ord. 2008-02-26-01, passed 2-26-2008; Am. Ord. 2013-08-20-02, passed 8-20-2013; Am. 
Ord. 1-10-2016, passed 11-8-2016) 

 

§ 150.02 STANDARDIZED ADDRESSING AND MARKINGS OF RESIDENTIAL AND BUSINESS 
PROPERTIES TO ASSIST EMERGENCY RESPONSE PERSONNEL. 

The City of Westminster specifically adopts by reference the provisions of S.C. Code § 23-47-60 and additionally 
adopts the requirement that all businesses shall place or cause to be placed the number of each building on the front 
and rear of each structure, conspicuously placed; the numbers not being less than four inches in height; all numbers 
being clearly visible and must contest contrast with the color of the building. Residents, businesses, owners, or 
others who fail to comply with this section shall be guilty of violation of this section and, upon being issued a 
written citation by either the Chief of Police or the Chief of the Fire Department shall have ten days to correct the 
violation. Failure to comply with this section upon receipt of written citation shall require the imposition of a fine 
of $10 per day for violation at each location. Violators may appeal citation or imposition of fines to the 
Magistrate's Court for the city.  

(Ord. passed 3-15-1994) 

 

§ 150.03 ADOPTION OF OFFICIAL COMPREHENSIVE PLAN. 

In accordance with S.C. Code 6-29-510, 1976, as amended, upon review of the City of Westminster Comprehensive 
Land Use Plan, 2017 Update, and upon consideration of public input, the recommendation of the Planning 
Commission to adopt the Comprehensive Plan Update is accepted and is adopted in full force and effect within the 
City limits of the City of Westminster.  

(Ord. 1999-03-16-03, passed 4-20-1999; Am. Ord. 2017-07-11, passed 7-11-2017;  

 

CHAPTER 151: ZONING CODE 



3 
 

 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 

§ 151.001 PURPOSE. 

(A)      An Ordinance enacted under S.C. Code § 6-29-710 et seq. as amended, governing the incorporated portions of 
the City of Westminster, Oconee County, South Carolina to regulate and restrict the location and use of buildings, 
structures and land for trade, industry, residence and for public and quasi-public or other specified uses in order to 
promote the public health, safety, morals, convenience, and general welfare; to regulate and limit the height and 
bulk of buildings and other structures; to accommodate energy conservation; to regulate and to determine the size 
of yards, courts and open spaces; to regulate and limit the density of population; and for said purposes to divide the 
city into districts and to establish the boundaries thereof; to provide for changes in the regulations, restrictions and 
boundaries of such districts; to define certain terms used herein; provide for enforcement; establish a Zoning Board 
of Zoning Appeals; and impose penalties for the violation of the Zoning Code.  

(B)      Whenever in the course of administration and enforcement of this zoning ordinance, it is necessary or desirable 
to make an administrative decision regarding an unusual or rare situation or a situation that is either not addressed 
or is inadequately addressed, the decision of the City Council shall be made so that the result will not be contrary 
to the spirit and purpose of the zoning ordinance or injurious to the surrounding neighborhood or the city in 
general.  

(C)       Further, when making administrative decisions, the city may rely on information, data, or documentation 
provided by the applicant that supports approval of the unusual or rare situation. The applicant may offer 
concessions to the city to offset and/or mitigate the impact of any approval of the unusual or rare situation. All 
such concessions must be deemed as to being in the best interest of the city.  

(D)      Upon determining that the situation is "rare or unusual" and that the result of such a decision is not contrary to 
the spirit and purpose of the zoning ordinance, the City Council may make the administrative decision by a simple 
majority vote.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002; Am. Ord. 2007-07-17-01, passed 7-17-2007) 

 

§ 151.002 TITLE. 

The Zoning Code shall be known and may be cited as The Zoning Ordinance of the City of Westminster, South 
Carolina.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.003 CITY ORDINANCES. 

Now, therefore, be it ordained by the City that the following ordinances as amended, are hereby adopted by reference 
as though it were copied herein fully:  

(A)      Mobile Home Ordinance; The most recently-adopted International Property Maintenance Code by the 
International Code Council (ICC). 

(B)       DHEC Ordinance The most recently-adopted International Fire Code by the International Code Council (ICC). 

(C)       2000 International Building Codes; The most recently-adopted International Building Codes by the 
International Code Council (ICC). 



4 
 

(D)      Business Licenses Policy by the City of Westminster; and  

(E)       Property Identification Ordinance by the City of Westminster. 

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.004 SOIL EROSION AND SEDIMENTATION CONTROL. 

Whenever it becomes apparent that there is an erosion or sedimentation problem, we shall go by county, state, federal 
guidelines, or standard engineering practices.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.005 PERFORMANCE STANDARDS. 

The applicant shall acknowledge in writing his or her understanding of any applicable performance standards and shall 
submit an agreement to conform to such performance standards as set forth by OSHA, DHEC, EPA, or other 
regulatory agency.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

ESTABLISHMENT OF ZONING DISTRICTS AND RULES FOR THE INTERPRETATION OF DISTRICT 
BOUNDARIES 

 

§ 151.015 ZONING DISTRICTS. 

The City is hereby subdivided into the following zoning districts:  

 R-25  Single-Family Residential District  
 R-20  Single-Family Residential District  
 R-15  
    R-6 
    R-1 
    RR 

Single-Family Residential District  
Single-Family Residential District  

Single Family Residential  
Rural Residential  

 GR  General Residential District  
 PUD  Planned Unit Development  
 RM  Multi-Family Residential District  
     NC  Neighborhood Commercial District  
 HC  Highway Commercial District  
 CC  Core Commercial District  
 LI  Light Industrial District  

 G-1  Government District  
 G-2  Government District  
 G-3  Government District  

  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002; Am. Ord. 2008-12-16-02, passed 12-16-2008) 



5 
 

 

§ 151.016 DISTRICT BOUNDARIES. 

(A)      The boundaries of the above zoning districts are hereby established as shown on the Official Zoning Map of the 
city, which together with the explanatory matter thereon, is hereby adopted by reference and declared to be a part 
of the Zoning Code.  

(B) (1) The Official Zoning Map shall be identified by the signature of the Mayor attested by the City Clerk and 
bearing the Seal of the City under the words: Official Zoning Map, City of Westminster, South Carolina, together 
with the date of the adoption of this Ordinance.  

(2)       If, in accordance with the provisions of this Chapter and South Carolina, Code of Laws, 1976, Title 6, Chapter 
29, being S.C. Code § 6-29 et seq. changes are made in district boundaries or other matter portrayed on the Official 
Zoning Map, such changes shall be entered on the Official Zoning Map promptly by the Planning Director or 
Building Official within seven days after the amendment has been approved by the City Council.  

(C)       No changes of any nature shall be made on the Official Zoning Map or matter shown thereon except in 
conformity with the procedures set forth in this Chapter. Any unauthorized change of whatever kind of person or 
persons shall be considered a violation of this Chapter and punishable by law.  

(D)      Regardless of the existence of purported copies of the Official Zoning Map which may from time to time be 
made or published, the Official Zoning Map which shall be located in the office of the Planning Director or 
Building Official shall be the final authority as to the current zoning status of land and water areas, building, and 
other structures in the city.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.017 RULES FOR INTERPRETATION OF DISTRICT BOUNDARIES. 

Where uncertainty exists as to the boundaries of districts as shown on the Official Zoning Map, the following rules 
shall apply:  

(A)      Boundaries indicated as approximately following the center or right-of-way lines of streets, highways, alleys, or 
public utility easements shall be construed to follow such lines.  

(B)       Boundaries indicated as approximately following platted lot or tract lines shall be construed as following such 
lines, whether public or private.  

(C)       Boundaries indicated as approximately following city limits shall be construed as following such city limits.  

(D)      Boundaries indicated as following railroad lines shall be construed to be midway between main tracks.  

(E)       Boundaries indicated as approximately following the center mean high water mark or shoreline of streams, 
rivers, canals, lakes, or other bodies of water shall be construed to follow such lines or marks.  

(F)       Boundaries indicated as approximately following topographic elevations shall be construed to follow such 
elevations.  

(G)      Boundaries indicated parallel to or extensions of features indicated in subdivisions (A) through (F) above shall 
be so construed. Where distances are not specifically indicated on the Official Zoning Map, or in other 
circumstances not covered by the above subdivisions, then the Board of Appeals shall interpret the district 
boundaries.  

(H)      Boundaries indicated as paralleling a roadway at a given distance shall be interpreted to mean that distance from 
the right-of-way of the roadway, or the rear property line of lots fronting on the roadway, whichever is the least.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 



6 
 

 

§ 151.018 ANNEXATION AND OTHER ADJUSTMENTS TO CITY LIMITS. 

Where city limit boundaries change by virtue of annexation or some other means the following provisions shall apply:  

(A) (1) The new land areas incorporated or otherwise annexed shall be classified as R-25 One-Family Residential 
District until such time as the City Council may desire to change such classification through normal amendment 
procedures, provided, however, that, within 30 days following the effective date of such incorporation, City 
Council shall direct the Planning Commission to review and make recommendations pertaining to the zoning of the 
newly incorporated areas.  

(2)      The Planning Commission shall then process and act upon such proposed amendments following the necessary 
public hearing as required by §§ 151.335 through 151.338.  

(B)       In all cases, where additions or deletions in the city's total land area require adjustments in the Zoning District 
Boundaries, said amendments shall be made on the Zoning Map.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.019 CONSERVATION AND HISTORIC AREAS. 

Conservation and historic areas may be found in any zoning district when and if the Planning Commission, and/or the 
City Council set them aside. These areas would not disturb, destroy, or impair the natural flora, fauna, 
watercourses, or topography. Wildlife, along with the preservation of historic areas are deemed by the city.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

APPLICATION OF DISTRICT REGULATIONS 
 

§ 151.030 GENERAL. 

The regulations set by the Chapter within each district shall be minimum regulations and shall apply uniformly to each 
class or kind of structure or land, except as hereinafter provided. Except where provisions for relief are set forth 
elsewhere in this Chapter, the following general standards for enforcement of District Regulations shall apply.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.031 USE OF LAND STRUCTURES. 

(A)      No land or structure shall hereinafter be used or occupied and no structure or parts shall hereafter be 
constructed, erected, altered, or moved, unless in conformity with all of the regulations herein specified for the 
district in which it is located.  

(B)      No structure shall hereafter be erected or altered:  

(1)       With greater height, size, bulk or other dimensions;  

(2)       To accommodate or house a greater number of families;  

(3)       To occupy a greater percentage of lot area;  



7 
 

(4)       To have narrower or smaller rear yards, side yards, or other open spaces than herein required; or in any other 
manner contrary to the provisions of this Chapter.  

(C)       No part of a yard, or other open space, off-street parking or loading required about or in connection with any 
building for the purpose of complying with this Chapter, shall be included as part of a yard, open space, or off 
street parking or loading space similarly required for any other building, except as otherwise provided herein.  

(D)      Rights-of-way and easements for street and roads shall not be considered a part of a lot or open space, or front, 
rear or side yard for the purpose of meeting yard requirements.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.032 LOT REDUCTION PROHIBITED. 

No yard or lot existing at the time of passage of this Chapter shall be reduced in dimension or area below the minimum 
requirements set forth herein. Yards of lots created after the effective date of the Chapter shall meet at least the 
minimum requirements established by this Chapter.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.033 USE OF SUBSTANDARD VACANT LOTS OF RECORD 

(A)      Where the owner of a vacant lot at the time of the adoption of this Chapter does not own sufficient land to 
enable him or her to conform to the dimensional requirements of the Chapter, such lot may nonetheless be used as 
a building site and the Building Official is authorized to issue a permit for the use of the property provided that 
said dimensional requirements are not reduced below the minimum specified in this Chapter by more than 20%.  

(B)      If, however, the owner of two or more adjoining vacant lots, (any one or more of which, at the time this Chapter 
is made to be in effect, has insufficient land dimensions) decides to build upon or sell one or more of these lots, 
then he or she must first combine said lots to comply with the dimensional requirements of this Chapter. Any lot 
requiring dimensional waivers below the 20% minimum set forth in this section shall be approved by the Board of 
Appeals, provided that further decreased dimensional requirements shall conform as closely as possible to the 
required dimensions.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

REQUIREMENTS BY DISTRICTS 
Dimensional Requirements for each district may be found in Appendix A 

§ 151.050 R-25 ONE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT. 

(A)      Intent of district. It is the intent of this section that the R-25 District be developed and reserved for low-density 
one-family residential purposes. No use of activity, including those set below shall be permitted that would disturb 
or impair the natural character of the district. The regulations which apply within this district are designed to 
encourage the formation and continuance of a stable, healthy environment for one-family dwellings situated on lots 
of 25,000 square feet or more, and to discourage any encroachment by commercial, industrial, or other use capable 
of adversely affecting the residential character of the district.  

(B)      Permitted uses. The following uses shall be permitted in any R-25 Zoning District:  

1) One-family dwelling (other than mobile homes);  



8 
 

2) Publicly owned building, facility, or land, except those, which shall be conditionally permitted under 
division (C) below.  

3)  Non-commercial horticulture or agriculture.  
4) Customary home occupation established under the provisions of § 151.139.  
5) Accessory uses, including Accessory Dwelling Units, as defined in 151.137, provided that all 

conditions in  §§ 151.135 and 151.136. 151.137 are met.   

(3)       Unlighted, regulation-size, or par three golf courses, including normal clubhouse and pro shop activities.  

(C)       Conditional uses. The following uses shall be permitted in any R-25 Zoning district subject to conditions set 
forth in §§ 151.220 and 151.221.  

1) Public and private schools engaged in teaching general curriculum for educational advancement 
provided the structures are placed not less than 50 feet from any residential property line, and the lot 
is not less than four acres in size.  

2) Church, synagogue, and temple provided that:  
a) Such use is housed in a permanent structure;  
b) Such use is located on a lot not less than 25,000 square feet in area; and 
c) No structure on the lot is closer than 50 feet to any abutting residential property.  

3) Private kindergarten or pre-school nursery provided that:  
a)  Such uses meet the minimum standards set forth for such facilities by the State Board of 

Health;  
b) Such use is located on a lot not less than 25,000 square feet in area; and  
c) No structure on the lot is closer than 50 feet to any abutting residential property.  

4) Public utility substation or sub-installation including water towers, provided that:  
a)   Such use is enclosed by a painted or chain-link fence or wall and a suitable planting screen 

at least six feet in height above finish grade;  
b)   There is neither office nor commercial operation nor storage of vehicles or equipment on 

the premises; and  
c) A landscaped strip not less than five feet in width is planted and suitably maintained around 

the facility.  
5) Short-term Rentals, as defined in 151.103, provided that all conditions in 151.103 are met.   
6) Boarding Houses, as defined in 151.103, provided that all conditions in 151.103 are met.   
7) Outdoor recreational use, provided that: 

a) Golf courses must be unlighted, regulation-size, or par three golf courses, including normal 
clubhouse and pro shop activities 

b)  Other outdoor recreational uses should not create lighting, noise, or other adverse impact to 
neighboring residential lots; and 

8) Cemetery, provided that such use: 
a) Consists of a site of at least five acres; 
b)  Includes no crematorium or dwelling unit other than for a caretaker;  
c)  Has a front yard setback of at least 35 feet from the street right-of-way line, whichever is 

further; and  
d) Maintains a non-illuminated sign no greater than 30 square feet.  
e) Maintains a Perpetual Care Trust account for the ongoing upkeep of the cemetery in 

compliance with the South Carolina Perpetual Care Board and is in compliance with all 
other rules and regulations as may be promulgated from time to time by the State of South 
Carolina, the South Carolina Department of Labor, Licensing, and Regulation, and other 
applicable governmental organizations regulating cemeteries. 

9) Temporary use in compliance with the provisions of §§ 151.220et seq. 

(6)       Boarding houses as defined by 



9 
 

(a)       The use would be located in a structure which was originally constructed as a single-family residence.  

(b)      At least one owner of the premises who holds at least a 50 percent ownership in the premises or at least a 50 
percent ownership in a life estate on the premises, must reside on the premises.  

(c)       The property cannot exceed four rental rooms, nor can it exceed four tenants. Furthermore, no more than five 
individuals can be living on the property at any time, including owners and their family members, so that if an 
owner has a spouse and dependent living in the residence, he may only have two tenants.  

(d)      The owner must have adequate insurance to protect the tenants, their property and guests.  

(e)      There must be no more than one kitchen and meals can only be served to monthly boarders and their guests, 
except that if there is a separate living area and kitchen associated with the bedroom, or what is commonly referred 
to as an "in-law suite", the owner may provide that separate rental, but it shall count as two and one-half rental 
rooms, such that if you have one "in-law suite" you may have only one other rented room, and if you have two "in-
law suites" you may have no other rented rooms on the property.  

(f)       The facility must meet all State and Federal laws and regulations and must have an annual business permit and 
an annual inspection by the Fire Marshal.  

(g)       There must be adequate off street parking, such that there should be at a minimum one space for the owner and 
additional spaces so that there is one parking space for each tenant.  

(h)      There must be at least 162 square feet per parking space based on an average 9' x 18' space.  

(i)        Parking must be behind or on the side of the residence; it cannot be forward of the front building line of the 
residence located on the subject property.  

 

 

(D)      Other requirements. Uses permitted in R-25 zoning districts shall be required to conform to the standards set 
forth in:  

(1)       See Appendices A through C; see parking requirements in Appendix D. 

(2)       Chapter 152;  

(3)       §§ 151.003 through 151.005; 151.019; 151.060; 151.100et seq.; 151.120et seq.; 151.185 et seq.; 151.150et seq.; 
151.170et seq.; 151.195et seq.; 151.220et seq.; 151.235et seq.; 151.250et seq.; 151.265et seq.; and  

(4)       §§ 151.280 and 151.281.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002; Am. Ord. 2013-01-15-01, passed 1-15-2013; Am. Ord. 2017-03-21-01, 
3-21-2017) 

 

§ 151.051 R-20 ONE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT. 

(A)      Intent of district. It is the intent of this section that the R-20 Zoning District be developed and reserved for low 
and low-to-medium density residential purposes. The regulations, which apply within this district, are designed to 
encourage the formation and continuance of a stable, healthy environment for one-family dwellings situated on lots 
having an area of 20,000 square feet or more, and to discourage any encroachment by commercial, industrial, or 
other uses capable of adversely affecting the residential character of the district.  

(B)      Permitted uses. The following uses shall be permitted in any R-20 Zoning District: All uses permitted in the R-
25 One-Family Residential District, as shown in § 151.050(B).  

1) One-family dwelling (other than mobile homes);  



10 
 

2) Publicly owned building, facility, or land, except those which shall be conditionally permitted under 
division (C) below.  

3)  Non-commercial horticulture or agriculture.  
4) Customary home occupation established under the provisions of § 151.139.  
5) Accessory uses, see §§ 151.135 and 151.136. Accessory Dwelling Units are not permitted in this 

base zoning district.  

(C)       Conditional use. The following uses shall be permitted in any R-20 Zoning District, on a conditional basis, 
subject to conditions set forth in:  

1. All conditional uses permitted in the R-25 One-Family Residential District, as shown in § 151.050(C).  

1) Public and private schools engaged in teaching general curriculum for educational advancement 
provided the structures are placed not less than 50 feet from any residential property line, and the lot 
is not less than four acres in size.  

2) Church, synagogue, and temple provided that:  
a) Such use is housed in a permanent structure;  
b) Such use is located on a lot not less than 25,000 square feet in area; and 
c) No structure on the lot is closer than 50 feet to any abutting residential property.  

3) Private kindergarten or pre-school nursery provided that:  
a)  Such uses meet the minimum standards set forth for such facilities by the State Board of 

Health;  
b) Such use is located on a lot not less than 25,000 square feet in area; and  
c) No structure on the lot is closer than 50 feet to any abutting residential property.  

4) Public utility substation or sub-installation including water towers, provided that:  
a)   Such use is enclosed by a painted or chain-link fence or wall and a suitable planting screen 

at least six feet in height above finish grade;  
b)   There is neither office nor commercial operation nor storage of vehicles or equipment on 

the premises; and  
c) A landscaped strip not less than five feet in width is planted and suitably maintained around 

the facility.  
5) Short-term Rentals, as defined in 151.103, provided that all conditions in 151.103 are met.   
6) Boarding Houses, as defined in 151.103, provided that all conditions in 151.103 are met.   
7) Outdoor recreational use, provided that: 

a) Golf courses must be unlighted, regulation-size, or par three golf courses, including normal 
clubhouse and pro shop activities 

b)  Other outdoor recreational uses should not create lighting, noise, or other adverse impact to 
neighboring residential lots; and 

c)  No structure on the property is within 50’ of any property line.   

  

(D)      Other requirements. Uses permitted in R-20 Zoning Districts shall be required to conform to the standards set 
forth in § 151.050(D).  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.052 R-15 ONE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT. 

(A)      Intent of District. It is the intent of this Section that the R-15 Zoning District be developed and reserved for 
medium-density one-family residential purposes. The regulations which apply within this district are designed to 
encourage the formation and continuance of a stable, healthy environment for one-family dwellings situated on lots 



11 
 

of 15,000 square feet or more; and to discourage any encroachment by commercial, industrial, or other use capable 
of adversely affecting the residential character of the district.  

(B)      Permitted uses. The following uses shall be permitted in any R-15 Zoning District:  

1) One-family dwelling (other than mobile homes);  
2) Publicly owned building, facility, or land, except those, which shall be conditionally permitted under 

division (C) below.  
3)  Non-commercial horticulture or agriculture.  
4) Customary home occupation established under the provisions of § 151.139.  
5) Accessory uses, see §§ 151.135 and 151.136. Accessory Dwelling Units are not permitted in this 

base zoning district.  

(1)       All uses permitted in the R-25 One-Family Residential District, as shown in § 151.050(B).  

(2)       Kindergarten or nursery as part of a church, synagogue, or temple.  

 

  

(C)       Conditional uses. The following uses shall be permitted in any R-15 Zoning District on a conditional basis, 
subject to conditions set forth in §§ 151.220et seq.: All conditional uses permitted in the R-25 One-Family 
Residential District as shown in § 151.050(C).   

1) Public and private schools engaged in teaching general curriculum for educational advancement 
provided the structures are placed not less than 50 feet from any residential property line, and the lot 
is not less than four acres in size.  

2) Church, synagogue, and temple provided that:  
a) Such use is housed in a permanent structure;  
b) Such use is located on a lot not less than 25,000 square feet in area; and 
c) No structure on the lot is closer than 50 feet to any abutting residential property.  

3) Private kindergarten or pre-school nursery provided that:  
a)  Such uses meet the minimum standards set forth for such facilities by the State Board of 

Health;  
b) Such use is located on a lot not less than 25,000 square feet in area; and  
c) No structure on the lot is closer than 50 feet to any abutting residential property.  

4) Public utility substation or sub-installation including water towers, provided that:  
a)   Such use is enclosed by a painted or chain-link fence or wall and a suitable planting screen 

at least six feet in height above finish grade;  
b)   There is neither office nor commercial operation nor storage of vehicles or equipment on 

the premises; and  
c) A landscaped strip not less than five feet in width is planted and suitably maintained around 

the facility.  
5) Short-term Rentals, as defined in 151.103, provided that all conditions in 151.103 are met.   
6) Boarding Houses, as defined in 151.103, provided that all conditions in 151.103 are met.   
7) Outdoor recreational use, provided that: 

a) Golf courses must be unlighted, regulation-size, or par three golf courses, including normal 
clubhouse and pro shop activities 

b)  Other outdoor recreational uses should not create lighting, noise, or other adverse impact to 
neighboring residential lots; and 

c)  No structure on the property is within 50’ of any property line.   

  



12 
 

(D)      Other requirements. Uses permitted in R-15 Zoning Districts shall be required to conform to the standards set 
forth in § 151.050(D).  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

§151.053  R-6 SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL 

(A) Intent of District. It is the intent of this Section that the R6 District to promote and accommodate housing 
development that meets the diverse economic and social needs of a diverse population. To this end, this District is 
designed and intended to allow for the development of housing on 6000 square feet of lot size. The District is 
intended for application in areas accessible by major streets, and in proximity to commercial uses, employment 
opportunities and community facilities. 

  

Permitted uses. The following uses shall be permitted in any R-6 Zoning District:  

1) One-family dwellings (other than mobile homes);  
2) Publicly owned building, facility, or land, except those, which shall be conditionally permitted under 

division (C) below.   
3) Customary home occupations established under the provisions of § 151.139.  
4) Accessory uses, see §§ 151.135 and 151.136. Accessory Dwelling Units are not permitted in this 

base zoning district.  

  

(C)       Conditional uses. The following uses shall be permitted in any R-6 Zoning district subject to conditions set 
forth in §§ 151.220 and 151.221.  

1) Public utility substation or sub-installation including water towers, provided that:  
a)   Such use is enclosed by a painted or chain-link fence or wall and a suitable planting screen 

at least six feet in height above finish grade;  
b) There is neither office nor commercial operation nor storage of vehicles or equipment on the 

premises; and  
c)  A landscaped strip not less than five feet in width is planted and suitably maintained around 

the facility.  

  

§151.054  R-1 Acre SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL 

(A) Intent of District. It is the intent of this Section that the R-1 District to promote and accommodate development low 
density development. To this end, this District is designed and intended to allow for the development of housing on 
a minimum of one acre lot size. The District is intended for application in areas situated between low to medium, 
medium density, and rural areas.  

(B) Permitted uses. The following uses shall be permitted in any R-1 Zoning District:  

1) One-family dwelling (other than mobile homes);  
2) Publicly owned building, facility, or land, except those, which shall be conditionally permitted under 

division (C) below.  
3)  Non-commercial horticulture or agriculture. 
4) Customary home occupation established under the provisions of § 151.107.  
5) Accessory uses, including Accessory Dwelling Units, provided that all conditions in  §§ 151.135 and 

151.136, and 151.137 are met.   

(C)       Conditional uses. The following uses shall be permitted in any R- 1 Acre Zoning district subject to conditions 
set forth in §§ 151.220 and 151.221.  



13 
 

1) Public and private schools engaged in teaching general curriculum for educational advancement 
provided the structures are placed not less than 50 feet from any residential property line, and the lot 
is not less than four acres in size.  

2) Church, synagogue, and temple provided that:  
a) Such use is housed in a permanent structure;  
b) Such use is located on a lot not less than 25,000 square feet in area; and 
c) No structure on the lot is closer than 50 feet to any abutting residential property.  

3) Private kindergarten or pre-school nursery provided that:  
a)  Such uses meet the minimum standards set forth for such facilities by the State Board of 

Health;  
b) Such use is located on a lot not less than 25,000 square feet in area; and  
c) No structure on the lot is closer than 50 feet to any abutting residential property.  

4) Public utility substation or sub-installation including water towers, provided that:  
a)   Such use is enclosed by a painted or chain-link fence or wall and a suitable planting screen 

at least six feet in height above finish grade;  
b)   There is neither office nor commercial operation nor storage of vehicles or equipment on 

the premises; and  
c) A landscaped strip not less than five feet in width is planted and suitably maintained around 

the facility.  
5) Short-term Rentals, as defined in 151.103, provided that all conditions in 151.103 are met.   
6) Boarding Houses, as defined in 151.103, provided that all conditions in 151.103 are met.   
7) Outdoor recreational use, provided that: 

a) Golf courses must be unlighted, regulation-size, or par three golf courses, including normal 
clubhouse and pro shop activities 

b)  Other outdoor recreational uses should not create lighting, noise, or other adverse impact to 
neighboring residential lots; and 

c)  No structure on the property is within 50’ of any property line.   
8) Cemetery, provided that such use: 

a) Consists of a site of at least five acres; 
b)  Includes no crematorium or dwelling unit other than for a caretaker;  
c)  Has a front yard setback of at least 35 feet from the street right-of-way line, whichever is 

further; and  
d) Maintains a non-illuminated sign no greater than 30 square feet.  

e) Maintains a Perpetual Care Trust account for the ongoing upkeep of the cemetery in 
compliance with the South Carolina Perpetual Care Board and is in compliance with all 
other rules and regulations as may be promulgated from time to time by the State of South 
Carolina, the South Carolina Department of Labor, Licensing, and Regulation, and other 
applicable governmental organizations regulating cemeteries. 
 

   

§ 151.055 RR RURAL RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTING 

A) Intent of district. It is the intent of this section that the RR District be developed and reserved for very low-
density one-family residential purposes, and would include areas with acreage tracts in agriculture, forestry, 
animal husbandry with pastures, barns, barnyards, corrals, pens, and associated facilities. The regulations 
which apply within this district are designed to encourage the formation and continuance of a stable, healthy 
environment for one-family dwellings situated on lots of 5.0 6.0 acres or more, and to discourage any 
encroachment by medium or high density residential, commercial, industrial, or other use capable of adversely 



14 
 

affecting the residential character of the district. No use of activity, including those set below shall be 
permitted that would disturb or impair the natural character of the district. 

 

B) Permitted uses. The following uses shall be permitted in any RR Zoning District:  
1)  One-family dwelling (mobile homes are a conditional use and must follow requirements in Section C, 

below). 
2) Publicly owned building, facility, or land, except those, which shall be conditionally permitted under 

division (C) below.   
3)  Unlighted, regulation-size, or par three golf courses, including normal clubhouse and pro shop 

activities.  
4) Commercial horticulture, animal agriculture, or agriculture if the owner’s residence is also located on 

the same lot 
5) Customary home occupation established under the provisions of § 151.139.  
6) Accessory uses, including Accessory Dwelling Units, provided that all conditions in  §§ 151.135 and 

151.136, and 151.137 are met.   

  

(C)  Conditional uses. The following uses shall be permitted in any RR Zoning district subject to conditions set forth in 
§§ 151.220 and 151.221.  

1) Public and private schools engaged in teaching general curriculum for educational advancement 
provided the structures are placed not less than 50 feet from any residential property line, and the lot 
is not less than four acres in size.  

2) Church, synagogue, and temple provided that:  
a) Such use is housed in a permanent structure;  
b) Such use is located on a lot not less than 25,000 square feet in area; and 
c) No structure on the lot is closer than 50 feet to any abutting residential property.  

3) Private kindergarten or pre-school nursery provided that:  
a)  Such uses meet the minimum standards set forth for such facilities by the State Board of 

Health;  
b) Such use is located on a lot not less than 25,000 square feet in area; and  
c) No structure on the lot is closer than 50 feet to any abutting residential property.  

4) Public utility substation or sub-installation including water towers, provided that:  
a)   Such use is enclosed by a painted or chain-link fence or wall and a suitable planting screen 

at least six feet in height above finish grade;  
b)   There is neither office nor commercial operation nor storage of vehicles or equipment on 

the premises; and  
c) A landscaped strip not less than five feet in width is planted and suitably maintained around 

the facility.  
5) Short-term Rentals, as defined in 151.103, provided that all conditions in 151.103 are met.   
6) Boarding Houses, as defined in 151.103, provided that all conditions in 151.103 are met.   
7) Outdoor recreational use, provided that: 

a) Golf courses must be unlighted, regulation-size, or par three golf courses, including normal 
clubhouse and pro shop activities 

b)  Other outdoor recreational uses should not create lighting, noise, or other adverse impact to 
neighboring residential lots; and 

c)  No structure on the property is within 50’ of any property line.   
8)  Cemetery, provided that such use: 

a) Consists of a site of at least five acres; 
b)  Includes no crematorium or dwelling unit other than for a caretaker;  



15 
 

c)  Has a front yard setback of at least 35 feet from the street right-of-way line, whichever is 
further; and  

d) Maintains a non-illuminated sign no greater than 30 square feet.  
e) Maintains a Perpetual Care Trust account for the ongoing upkeep of the cemetery in 

compliance with the South Carolina Perpetual Care Board and is in compliance with all 
other rules and regulations as may be promulgated from time to time by the State of South 
Carolina, the South Carolina Department of Labor, Licensing, and Regulation, and other 
applicable governmental organizations regulating cemeteries. 

9) A single mobile or manufactured home, provided that: 
a) All Building Codes from Chapter 150.01(B) are met including rules regarding underpinning, 

securing the structure, sewage waste disposal, and abandoned or nuisance mobile home 
structures. 

b) The structure includes a porch or deck attached to the home 
c) All setback and dimensional requirements of Appendix A are met. 
d) The lot has two parking spaces outside of any public right-of-way 
e) The applicant demonstrates that the dwelling meets all health, safety, and general welfare 

requirements in local and state codes, along with approved Building, Fire, and Property 
Maintenance Codes  

f) The Building Official gives prior approval in writing and that the time between the date of 
the HUD seal on the used manufactured/mobile home and the date of the permit issued by 
Oconee County for that manufactured/mobile home not exceed ten years. 

10) Recreational Vehicle Parks, if they meet the conditions in Section 151.109. 

 

§ 151.056 GR GENERAL RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT. 

(A)      Intent of District. It is the intent of this Section that the GR Zoning District be developed and reserved for 
medium density residential purposes. The regulations which apply within this district are designed to discourage 
any uses which would generate non-residential traffic on minor streets, to encourage the formation and continuance 
of a stable, healthy residential environment, and to discourage unwarranted encroachment of commercial, 
industrial or other uses capable of adversely affecting the residential character of the district.  

(B)      Permitted uses. The following uses shall be permitted in any GR Zoning District:  

 

1) One-family dwelling (mobile or manufactured homes must meet the conditions set forth in Section 
(C below);  

2) Two-family dwellings and garage apartments accommodating no more than two families per 
building (mobile or manufactured homes must meet the conditions set forth in Section (C below); 

3)  Group dwellings, multi-family (apartments).  
4) Non-commercial horticulture or agriculture. 
5) Customary home occupation established under the provisions of § 151.139.  
6) Accessory uses, see §§ 151.135 and 151.136. Accessory Dwelling Units are not permitted in this 

base zoning district.  

 

(1)       All permitted uses in the R-20 and R-15 One-Family Residential District, as shown in §§ 151.051(B) and 
151.052(B).  

 

(C)       Conditional uses. The following uses shall be permitted on a conditional basis in any GR Zoning District 
subject to the provisions set forth in §§ 151.220et seq. 



16 
 

1) Public and private schools engaged in teaching general curriculum for educational advancement 
provided the structures are placed not less than 50 feet from any residential property line, and the lot 
is not less than four acres in size.  

2) Church, synagogue, and temple provided that:  
a) Such use is housed in a permanent structure;  
b) Such use is located on a lot not less than 25,000 square feet in area; and 
c) No structure on the lot is closer than 50 feet to any abutting residential property.  

3) Private kindergarten or pre-school nursery provided that:  
a)  Such uses meet the minimum standards set forth for such facilities by the State Board of 

Health;  
b) Such use is located on a lot not less than 25,000 square feet in area; and  
c) No structure on the lot is closer than 50 feet to any abutting residential property.  

4) Public utility substation or sub-installation including water towers, provided that:  
a)   Such use is enclosed by a painted or chain-link fence or wall and a suitable planting screen 

at least six feet in height above finish grade;  
b)   There is neither office nor commercial operation nor storage of vehicles or equipment on 

the premises; and  
c) A landscaped strip not less than five feet in width is planted and suitably maintained around 

the facility.  
5) Short-term Rentals, as defined in 151.103, provided that all conditions in 151.103 are met.   
6) Boarding Houses, as defined in 151.103, provided that all conditions in 151.103 are met.   
7) Outdoor recreational use, provided that: 

a) Golf courses must be unlighted, regulation-size, or par three golf courses, including normal 
clubhouse and pro shop activities 

b)  Other outdoor recreational uses should not create lighting, noise, or other adverse impact to 
neighboring residential lots; and 

c)  No structure on the property is within 50’ of any property line.   
8) A single mobile or manufactured home, provided that: 

a) All Building Codes from Chapter 150.01(B) are met including rules regarding underpinning, 
securing the structure, sewage waste disposal, and abandoned or nuisance mobile home 
structures. 

b) The structure includes a porch or deck attached to the home 
c) All setback and dimensional requirements of Appendix A are met. 
d) The lot has two parking spaces outside of any public right-of-way 
e) The applicant demonstrates that the dwelling meets all health, safety, and general welfare 

requirements in local and state codes, along with approved Building, Fire, and Property 
Maintenance Codes  

f) The Building Official gives prior approval in writing and that the time between the date of 
the HUD seal on the used manufactured/mobile home and the date of the permit issued by 
Oconee County for that manufactured/mobile home not exceed ten years. 

9) Mobile Home Parks provided each mobile home meets the standard for a single mobile or 
manufactured home, above, and that the park meets the requirements of Section 151.104.   

10)     Public or private care homes, provided such uses meet the following requirements:  

(a) Minimum lot area:  One acre.  

(b) Minimum lot width:  One hundred feet.  

(c) Minimum front yard depth:  Thirty-five feet.  

(d) Minimum side yard depth:  Fifteen feet.  

(e) Minimum rear yard depth:  Twenty-five feet.  

(f) Maximum building height:  Subject to approval of the Fire Chief.  



17 
 

(g) Screening:  Any public or private care home in this district, which adjoins a residential use, 
 shall provide and maintain a suitable screen at least six feet in height above finished grade.  

(h) Additional requirements:  Any public or private care home in this district shall meet all standards set forth in §§ 151.050et seq. 

  

(1)       All conditional uses permitted in the RR, R-1, R-25, R-20, and R-15 Zoning Districts, as shown in §§ 
154.050(C), 151.051(C), and 151.052(C).  

(D)      Other requirements. Uses permitted in GR Zoning Districts shall be required to conform to the standards set 
forth in § 151.050(D).  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002; Am. Ord. 2007-04-17-01, passed 6-19-2007; Am. Ord. 2017-03-21-01, 
3-21-2017) 

 

§ 151.057 RM MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT. 

(A)      Intent of district. It is the intent of this section that the RM Zoning District be developed and reserved for 
medium and high-density residential purposes. The regulations, which apply within this district, are designed to 
encourage the formation and continuance of a stable, healthy environment for such dwellings, and to discourage 
unwarranted uses capable of adversely affecting the residential character of the district.  

(B)      Permitted uses. The following uses shall be permitted in any RM Zoning District:  

 

1) One-family dwelling (mobile or manufactured homes must meet the conditions set forth in Section 
(C below);  

2) Two-family dwellings and garage apartments accommodating no more than two families per 
building (mobile or manufactured homes must meet the conditions set forth in Section (C below); 

3)  Multi-family dwellings (apartments, or three or more families) 
4) Non-commercial horticulture or agriculture. 
5) Customary home occupation established under the provisions of § 151.139.  
6) Accessory uses, see §§ 151.135 and 151.136. Accessory Dwelling Units are not permitted in this 

base zoning district.  

  

(C)       Conditional uses. The following uses shall be permitted on a conditional basis in any RM Zoning District 
subject to the provisions set forth in §§ 151.220et seq. 

 

1) Public and private schools engaged in teaching general curriculum for educational advancement 
provided the structures are placed not less than 50 feet from any residential property line, and the lot 
is not less than four acres in size.  

2) Church, synagogue, and temple provided that:  
a) Such use is housed in a permanent structure;  
b) Such use is located on a lot not less than 25,000 square feet in area; and 
c) No structure on the lot is closer than 50 feet to any abutting residential property.  

3) Private kindergarten or pre-school nursery provided that:  
a)  Such uses meet the minimum standards set forth for such facilities by the State Board of 

Health;  
b) Such use is located on a lot not less than 25,000 square feet in area; and  



18 
 

c) No structure on the lot is closer than 50 feet to any abutting residential property.  
4) Public utility substation or sub-installation including water towers, provided that:  

a)   Such use is enclosed by a painted or chain-link fence or wall and a suitable planting screen 
at least six feet in height above finish grade;  

b)   There is neither office nor commercial operation nor storage of vehicles or equipment on 
the premises; and  

c) A landscaped strip not less than five feet in width is planted and suitably maintained around 
the facility.  

5) Short-term Rentals, as defined in 151.103, provided that all conditions in 151.103 are met.   
6) Boarding Houses, as defined in 151.103, provided that all conditions in 151.103 are met.   
7) Outdoor recreational use, provided that: 

a) Golf courses must be unlighted, regulation-size, or par three golf courses, including normal 
clubhouse and pro shop activities 

b)  Other outdoor recreational uses should not create lighting, noise, or other adverse impact to 
neighboring residential lots; and 

c)  No structure on the property is within 50’ of any property line.   
8) A single mobile or manufactured home, provided that: 

a) All Building Codes from Chapter 150.01(B) are met including rules regarding underpinning, 
securing the structure, sewage waste disposal, and abandoned or nuisance mobile home 
structures. 

b) The structure includes a porch or deck attached to the home 
c) All setback and dimensional requirements of Appendix A are met. 
d) The lot has two parking spaces outside of any public right-of-way 
e) The applicant demonstrates that the dwelling meets all health, safety, and general welfare 

requirements in local and state codes, along with approved Building, Fire, and Property 
Maintenance Codes  

f) The Building Official gives prior approval in writing and that the time between the date of 
the HUD seal on the used manufactured/mobile home and the date of the permit issued by 
Oconee County for that manufactured/mobile home not exceed ten years. 

9) Mobile Home Parks provided that each mobile home meets the standards for a single mobile home, 
above and that the entire park meets all special requirements for Mobile Home Parks,  Section 
151.104 are met.   

10)  Publicly owned open space, recreational facility, or educational facility provided that:  
a) Such use meets all yard requirements set forth for the RM Zoning District; and  
b) Such use conforms to all other appropriate standards as set forth in this Zoning Code.  
c)  Swimming pools shall meet the conditions set forth in  § 151.138  

11)   Single-family dwellings provided that:  
a) The minimum lot area shall be 15,000 square feet; and  
b) The setbacks shall be those required by the R-15 one-family residential district.  

 

  

(D)      Other requirements. Unless otherwise specified elsewhere in this Chapter uses permitted in RM Zoning 
Districts shall be required to conform to the following standards:  

(1)       Minimum lot area: Fifteen thousand square feet.  

(2)       Minimum lot area per dwelling unit: Fifteen thousand square feet, except that the minimum area per dwelling 
unit on a lot for multiple-family dwellings shall not be less than indicated by dwelling unit type of the following 
schedule:  



19 
 

LOT AREA SQUARE FOOTAGE REQUIRED FOR MULTIPLE- 
FAMILY DWELLINGS 

Unit Type Stories 
  1  2  3 4  

Efficiency  2,000  1,435  1,410  1,240  
1 Bedroom  2,000  1,775  1,625  1,438  
2 Bedroom  2,650  2,475  2,125  1,825  
3 Bedroom  3,525  3,175  2,653  2,200  

4 or more Bedrooms  4,375  3,975  3,492  2,725  
  

(3)       Other principal use: Not Applicable.  

(4)       Maximum dwelling units per acre: The maximum number of dwelling units per acre shall not exceed the 
number indicated by dwelling unit type on the following schedule. In instances where the permitted figure is 
determined to include a fraction, the less round number shall apply.  

(5)       Multiple-family dwelling: According to the following table:  

PERMITTED MULTIPLE-FAMILY DWELLING UNITS PER NET ACRE 
BY UNIT TYPE 

Unit Type Stories 
  1  2  3  4 or more  

Efficiency Units  21  30  30  35  
1 Bedroom  21  24  26  30  
2 Bedrooms  16  17  20  23  
3 Bedrooms  12  13  16  19  

4 or more Bedrooms  9  10  12  15  
  

(6)       Other permitted uses: 

a.        See Appendices A through C.  

(E)      Additional Requirements: Uses permitted in RM Zoning Districts shall meet all standards set forth in §§ 
151.003 through 151.005; 151.019; 151.060; 151.100et seq.; 151.120et seq.; 151.135et seq.; 151.150et seq.; 
151.170et seq.; 151.195et seq.; 151.220et seq.; 151.235et seq.; 151.250et seq.; 151.265et seq.; 151.280et seq.; and 
Chapter 152.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002; Am. Ord. 2007-10-16-01, passed 10-16-2007) 

  
 
 

COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 

 

§ 151.055 NC NEIGHBORHOOD COMMERCIAL DISTRICT. 

(A)      Purpose. It is the intent of this Section that the NC Zoning District be developed and reserved for local or 
neighborhood oriented business purposes. The regulations which apply within this district are designed to 
encourage the formation and continuous of a stable, healthy and compatible environment for uses that are located 
so as to provide nearby residential areas with convenient shopping and service facilities; reduce traffic and parking 



20 
 

congestion; avoid the development of strip business districts; and discourage industrial and other encroachment 
capable of adversely affecting the localized commercial character of the district.  

(B)      Permitted uses. The following uses shall be permitted in the NC Zoning District:  

(1)       Retail business involving the sale of merchandise on the premises in stores specifically including, but not 
limited to:  

(a)       Gift shop;  

(b)      Candy store;  

(c)       Convenience stores with or without gas pumps; -  

(d)      Drug store or pharmacy;  

(e)      Grocery store;  

(f)       Hardware store;  

(g)       Package liquor store;  

(h)      Video stores and record shops.  

(2)       Business involving the rendering of a personal service or the repair and servicing of small equipment 
specifically including, but not limited to:  

(a)       Bank, savings and loan associations, personal loan agency, and branches;  

(b)      Barber shop, beauty shop, or combination thereof;  

(c)       Dry cleaning self-service and/or laundry self-service facility;  

(d)      Medical, dental, or chiropractic office;  

(e)      Real estate agency;  

(f)       School offering instruction in art, music, dancing, drama, or similar cultural activities;  

(g)       Shoe repair shop;  

(h)      Church, temple or synagogue;  

(i)        Publicly owned and operated building, facility or land;  

(j)        Accessory use in compliance with the provisions of §§ 151.135et seq. 

(k)       Clubs, lodges, union halls, and social centers.  

(l)        General office use  

(C)       Conditional uses. The following uses shall be permitted on a conditional basis in any NC Zoning District, 
subject to the conditions set forth in §§ 151.220et seq. 

(1)       Auto accessory store provided there is no storage of wrecked automobiles, scrapped, or salvage auto parts on 
the premises.  

(2)       Automobile service station provided operations involving major repairs, body and fender work, painting, or the 
sale or rental of new or used cars or trucks, trailers of any type, or boats, are not conducted on the premises; 
provided all pumps are set back at least 25 feet from the right-of-way line of all abutting streets; and provided 
parking and/or service areas are separated from adjoining residential properties by a suitable screen, (with no more 
than 20% voids), or wall at least six feet in height above finished grade.  

(3)       Bakery provided that goods baked on the premises are sold only at retail on the premises.  



21 
 

(4)       Childcare facilities provided the facility is licensed by and meets all the requirements of the Department of 
Social Services.  

(5)       Delicatessen, restaurant, soda fountain or other eating and/or drinking establishments (other than drive-in 
establishments) provided no outside loud speaker systems are utilized; provided all lights or lighting arrangements 
used for purposes of advertising or night operations are directed away from adjoining or nearby residential 
properties; and provided parking and/or service areas are separated from adjoining residential properties by a 
suitable planting screen, fence or wall at least six feet in height above finished grade.  

(6)       Dry cleaning, and/or laundry pickup stores, provided that no laundering, cleaning, or pressing is done on the 
premises.  

(7)       Public utility substation or sub installation, including water or fire towers, provided such use is enclosed by a 
painted or chain-link fence or wall at least six feet in height above finished grade, provided there is neither an 
office nor commercial operation nor storage of vehicle or equipment on the premises; and provided a landscaped 
strip not less than five feet in width is planted and suitable maintained.  

(8)       Temporary use in compliance with the provisions of §§ 151.220et seq. 

(9)       Existing Residential use, provided such use was existing at the time of the properties being rezoned to NC. 
Residential uses are not permitted on properties that were absent any structures at the time of being rezoned to NC.  

10) Recreational Vehicle Parks, if they meet the conditions in Section 151.109.  

(D)      Other requirements. Uses permitted in NC Neighborhood Commercial Districts shall be required to conform to 
the standards set forth in Appendices A through C; §§ 151.003 through 151.005; 151.019; 151.060; 151.100et seq.; 
151.120et seq.; 151.135et seq.; 151.150et seq.; 151.170et seq.; 151.195et seq.; 151.220et seq.; 151.235et seq.; 
151.250et seq.; 151.265et seq.; 151.280et seq.; 151.295et seq.; and Chapter 152.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.056 HC HIGHWAY COMMERCIAL DISTRICT. 

(A) Purpose. It is the intent of this Section that the HC Zoning District be developed and reserv 
(B) ed for general business purposes and with particular consideration for the automobile-oriented commercial 

development existing or proposed along major thoroughfares. The regulations which apply within this district 
are designed to encourage the formation and continuance of a compatible and economically healthy 
environment for business, financial, service and professional uses which benefit from being located in close 
proximity to each other; and to discourage any encroachment by industrial, residential, or other uses considered 
capable of adversely affecting the basic commercial character of the district.  

(B)      Permitted uses. The following uses shall be permitted in any HC Zoning District:  

(1)       Any retail, wholesale business involving the sale of merchandise on the premises, as set forth for NC Districts.  

(2)       Business involving the rendering of personal service as set forth for NC Districts.  

(3)       Off-street commercial parking lot or garage.  

(4)       Hotel, tourist home, and motel.  

(5)       Commercial recreation facility, specifically including, but not limited to:  

(a)       Billiard parlor;  

(b)      Theatre;  

(c)       Bowling alley; and  



22 
 

(d)      Golf course (including driving range or Par 3 operation), including such activities customarily considered being 
auxiliary to a golf course.  

(6)       Commercial, trade or vocational school.  

(7)       Eating and/or drinking establishment including drive-in or curb service.  

(8)       [Reserved.]  

(9)       Public utility installation or sub installation, including water towers.  

(10)    Bakery.  

(11)    Office building and/or office for governmental, business, professional or general purposes.  

(12)    Accessory uses in compliance with the provisions of §§ 151.135et seq. 

(13)    Church, temple, or synagogue.  

(C)       Conditional uses. The following uses as set forth for NC Districts and subject to the conditions set forth in §§ 
151.220et seq. 

(1)       Automobile service station provided all pumps are set back at least 50 feet from the right-of-way line on the 
street; and provided parking and/or service areas are separate from adjoining residential properties by a suitable 
planting screen, fence (with no more than twenty 20% voids), or wall at least six feet in height above finished 
grade.  

(2)       Automobile laundry or car wash provided an off-street paved parking area capable of accommodating not less 
than one half of hourly vehicle washing capacity awaiting entrance to the washing process is suitably located and 
maintained on the premises (such space to contain at least 200 square feet per waiting vehicle); and provided no 
standing water, safety hazard or impediment to traffic movement is created by the operation of such an 
establishment.  

(3)       Garage for the repair and servicing of motor vehicles providing all operations are conducted within a fully 
enclosed building; and provided there is no open storage of wrecked vehicles, dismantled parts, or parts visible 
beyond the premise.  

(4)       Automobile sales, new or used, provided parking and service areas are separate from adjoining residential 
properties by a suitable planting screen, fence (with no more than twenty 20% voids), or wall at least six feet in 
height above finished grade.  

(5)       Animal hospital and/or boarding facility provided all boarding arrangements are maintained within a building; 
excluding exercise facilities.  

(6)       Childcare facilities provided the facility is licensed by and meets all the requirements of the Department of 
Social Services.  

(7)       Dry cleaning or laundry pickup agency provided that any laundering, cleaning, or pressing done on the premises 
involves only articles delivered to the premises by individual customers, or pickup stores.  

(8)       Meat, fish, and/or poultry shop provided that no slaughtering is permitted. Any cleaning of fish or poultry 
necessary for such use may be permitted provided that cleaning activities are within the principal building 
enclosure on the premises, and waste is removed daily.  

(9)       Open yard use for the sale, rental and/or storage of materials or equipment excluding junk or other salvage 
provided that such uses are separate from adjoining residential properties by a suitable planting screen and fence or 
wall at least six feet in height above finish grade.  

(10)    Temporary use in compliance with the provisions of §§ 151.220et seq. those uses the Zoning Administrator 
finds consistent with the intent of the district.  



23 
 

(11)    Accessory use in compliance with the provision of §§ 151.135et seq. 

(12)    Existing Residential use, provided such use was existing at the time of the properties being rezoned to HC. 
Residential uses are not permitted on properties that were absent any structures at the time of being rezoned to HC.  

(13) Recreational Vehicle Parks, if they meet the conditions in Section 151.109. 

(D)      Other requirements. 

(1)       Unless otherwise specified elsewhere in this Chapter, uses permitted in HC Highway Commercial Zoning 
Districts shall be required to conform to the standards set forth in Appendices A through C; §§ 151.003 through 
151.005; 151.019; 151.060; 151.100et seq.; 151.120et seq.; 151.135et seq.; 151.150et seq.; 151.170et seq.; 
151.195et seq.; 151.220et seq.; 151.235et seq.; 151.250et seq.; 151.265et seq.; and 151.280et seq. and Chapter 
152.  

(2)       In addition, to minimize congestion at business access points, the following limitation shall apply to all major 
thoroughfares in the HC Highway Commercial District.  

(a)       There shall be no more than two access points on a major thoroughfare for every one lot of record provided, 
however, these accesses meet the requirements in §§ 151.056(D)(2)(b) through 151.056(D)(2)(d) below.  

(b)      If a primary access to a lot of record is available on an intersecting roadway, then access on the major 
thoroughfare shall be limited to one access per lot of record.  

(c)       Such access on a major thoroughfare is granted only provided that there is a minimum of 80 feet from such 
access to the right-of-way of an intersection roadway. This shall be limited to one access per lot of record.  

(d)      There shall be no more than one access point granted within a given 50 feet of frontage.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002; Am. Ord. 2010-07-20-04, passed 7-20-2010; Am. Ord. 2017-02-21-03, 
passed 2-21-2017; Am. Ord. 05-22-2018, passed 5-22-2018) 

 

§ 151.057 CC CORE COMMERCIAL DISTRICT. 

(A)      Purpose. The intent of the CC Core Commercial District is to encourage the maintenance of a centrally located 
trade and commercial, and community service area and to provide for the orderly expansion of such uses.  

(B)      Permitted uses. The following uses shall be permitted on a conditional basis in any CC Core Commercial 
District: Any use permitted in any HC Zoning District subject to the conditions of § 151.056(B).  

(C)       Conditional uses. The following uses shall be permitted on a conditional basis in any CC Core Commercial 
District:  

(1)       Any use permitted on a conditional basis in any HC District, subject to the conditions of § 151.056(C).  

(2)       Existing Residential use provided it is as set forth in all RM Districts, provided that it is not on the ground floor. 

(D)      Other requirements. Uses permitted in CC Core Commercial Zoning Districts shall be required to conform to 
the standards set forth in Appendices A through C; §§ 151.003 through 151.005; 151.019; 151.060; 151.100et seq.; 
151.120et seq.; 151.135et seq.; 151.150et seq.; 151.170et seq.; 151.195et seq.; 151.220et seq.; 151.235et seq.; 
151.250et seq.; 151.265et seq.; 151.280et seq.; and Chapter 152.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

Andrew’s Explanation (to be removed): After researching I do not think we can explicitly ban them but I would 
suggest removing the “community service” aspect of the CC definition and in reviewing HC (as that is cross 
referenced into CC), non-profits are not explicitly allowed but churches are so I think the way it is written would 



24 
 

already prevent non-profits. I suppose we could remove churches from HC if that is what Council wants but I think 
that would mean a fair amount of nonconforming use based on what exists currently. 

 

§ 151.058 LI LIGHT INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT. 

(A)      Purpose. The intent of the LI Zoning District is to provide areas for light industrial purposes, which are not 
significantly objectionable in terms of noise, odor, fumes, and the like, to surrounding properties. The regulations 
which apply within this district are designed to encourage the formation and continuance of a compatible 
environment for use generally classified to be limited industrial in nature; protect and reserve undeveloped areas in 
the city which are suitable for such industries; arid discourage encroachment by those residential, commercial, or 
other uses capable of adversely affecting the basic industrial character of the district.  

(B)      Permitted uses. The following uses shall be permitted in any LI Zoning District:  

(1)       Research or experimental laboratory;  

(2)       Transportation Terminal;  

(3)       Public building, facility, or land other than a school, playground, hospital, clinic, care home or cultural facility;  

(4)       Public utility installation;  

(5)       [Reserved.]  

(6)       Office building and/or offices for governmental, business, professional, or general purposes;  

(7)       Commercial trade or vocational school.  

(8)       Off-street commercial parking lot or garage, as well as off-street parking or storage area for customer, client, or 
employee owned vehicles; and  

(9)       Land fill or the Mining to include the extraction of natural materials or the placement or removal of fill dirt 
from such property (temporary and accessory uses).  

(C)       Conditional uses. The following uses shall be permitted on a conditional basis in any LI Zoning District, 
subject to the conditions set forth in §§ 151.220et seq. 

(1)       Any industrial use which involves manufacturing, processing, assembly, storage operations, provided said 
manufacturing, processing, assembly or storage in no way involves any junk or salvage operations; provided that 
any noise, vibration, smoke, gas, fumes, odor, dust, fire hazard, dangerous radiation or other injurious or obnoxious 
conditions related to the operation are not sufficient to create a nuisance beyond the premises.  

(2)       Warehouse or other storage facility, provided that there is no open storage of junk or salvage materials of any 
type in conjunction with the operation.  

(3)       Wholesale business outlet, provided that there is no open storage or junk or salvage material of any type in 
conjunction with the operation.  

(4)       Automobile service station provided that all pumps are set back at least 25 feet from the right-of-way line of 
any street; and provided that there is no open storage of any type in conjunction with the operation.  

(5)       Any industrial use which may produce injurious or obnoxious noise, vibration, smoke, gas, fumes, odor, dust, 
fire hazard, dangerous radiation or other objectionable conditions provided:  

(a)       Such objectionable conditions does not constitute a nuisance to adjoining properties;  

(b)      That such use is located at least 200 feet from any abutting property line; and  

(c)       That such use is located on a site at least 5 acres in size.  



25 
 

(6)       Open yard use for the sale, rental and/or storage of new, used or salvaged materials, or equipment, provided:  

(a)       That such use is conducted in a manner that it will be located on a site no less than one acre in size; and  

(b)      That no burning of materials or products is conducted on the premises except by means approved by the Fire 
Chief or Fire Inspector; and in the case of open storage of used or salvaged materials and/or equipment, provided a 
suitable screen of at least six feet in height above finished grade will be required along all property lines.  

(7)       Bulk storage of petroleum products.  

(8)       Garage or shop for the repair and servicing of motor vehicles, equipment or machine parts provided any open 
yard storage incidental to such an operation conforms to the provisions of § 151.058(C)(9); and provided no sound, 
vibration, heat glare or electrical disturbance is created which creates a nuisance beyond the premises. 

(9)       Temporary use in compliance with the provisions of §§ 151.220et seq. 

(10) Recreational Vehicle Parks, if they meet the conditions in Section 151.109. 

(D)      Other requirements. Uses permitted in the LI Light Industrial Districts shall be required to conform to the 
standards set forth in Appendices A through C; §§ 151.003 through 151.005; 151.019; 151.060; 151.100et seq.; 
151.120et seq.; 151.135et seq.; 151.150et seq.; 151.170et seq.; 151.195et seq.; 151.220et seq.; 151.235et seq.; 
151.250et seq.; 151.265et seq.; 151.280et seq.; and Chapter 152.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002; Am. Ord. 2017-02-21-03, passed 2-21-2017) 

 

§ 151.059 PUD PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT 

(A)      Intent of district. It is the intent of this Section that the PUD Zoning District be developed to encourage 
flexibility in the design process, and to promote a mix of residential types and neighborhood convenience facilities 
while preserving open space and making more efficient use of the land.  

(B)      Permitted uses. The following uses shall be permitted in any PUD Zoning District:  

(1)       One-family detached dwelling (other than a mobile home).  

(2)       One-family attached dwelling (town house).  

(3)       Two-family dwelling accommodating no more than two families per building.  

(4)       Multi-family dwelling.  

(5)       Retail and business facilities permitted in the NC District, as shown in § 151.055, to the extent that they are to 
be designed or intended for the use of the residents of the PUD.  

(6)       Customary home occupations.  

(7)       Temporary uses in compliance with §§ 151.220et seq. 

(8)       Accessory uses, provided such uses meet all requirements for PUD Zoning District.  

(C)       Conditional uses. The following uses shall be permitted on a conditional basis in any PUD Zoning District 
subject to the provisions set forth in §§ 151.220et seq.: All conditional uses permitted in the GR Zoning District, as 
shown in § 151.056(C).  

(D)      Other requirements. 

(1)       Site criteria. To be eligible for consideration as a Planned Unit Development, the site of such proposed 
development must meet the following criteria:  

(a)       The system of streets serving the site and its surrounding area must be adequate to handle traffic volumes 
expected to be generated by the proposed development.  



26 
 

(b)      The location of the site and the character of the proposed development must be compatible with existing 
development in the surrounding area.  

(c)       The location and nature of the proposed development must conform to the goals and principles of the city.  

(d)      The site must be accessible to public water and sewer service or a feasible method of providing such service 
must be demonstrated.  

(e)      The site must not be susceptible to flooding.  

(2)       Minimum development area. Two acres.  

(3)       Maximum dwelling units per acre. 

(a)       One-family dwellings: Eight units per gross acre  

(b)      Two-family dwellings: Twelve units per gross acre  

(c)       Multi-family dwellings: Twenty units per gross acre.  

(4)       Minimum yard requirements. There are no specified minimum yard requirements in the PUD. Approval of a 
proposed PUD is based in part on the adequacy of yards for allowing sufficient light and air to reach each 
structure.  

(5)       Maximum building height: Thirty-five feet. Multi-family dwellings may exceed 35 feet with approval from the 
Fire Chief, and Building Official.  

(6)       Open space and recreation area. A minimum of 20% of the gross site area of a PUD shall be preserved as open 
space and recreation areas. The open space area shall be continuous and evenly distributed throughout the 
development and shall be directly connected with any recreation area.  

(7)       Streets and driveways. Refer to the Subdivision and Regulations, §§ 151.003 through 151.005; 151.019; 
151.060; 151.100et seq.; 151.120et seq.; 151.135et seq.; 151.150et seq.; 151.170et seq.; 151.195et seq.; 151.220et 
seq.; 151.235et seq.; 151.250et seq.; and 151.265et seq.;  

(8)       Underground placement of utility lines. All telephone, cable television, and electrical service lines within a 
PUD shall be underground.  

(9)       Street lighting. All streets, driveways, and parking facilities within a PUD shall be adequately lighted at night.  

(10)    Walkways. All PUD'S shall provide safe, convenient, all-season pedestrian walkways between dwellings, streets, 
parking facilities, and open space and recreation areas.  

(11)    Additional requirements. Uses permitted in PUD Zoning Districts shall meet all standards set forth in §§ 
151.003 through 151.005; 151.019; 151.060; 151.100et seq.; 151.120et seq.; 151.135et seq.; 151.150et seq.; 
151.170et seq.; 151.195et seq.; 151.220et seq.; 151.235et seq.; 151.250et seq.; and 151.265et seq.;  

(E)       Procedures for Approving a Planned Unit Development. The following procedures shall be followed in 
reviewing and approving a PUD Zoning Change, the process for which shall be consistent with Sec 151.338 
“Procedures for Amendments”. 

(1)       Application for planned unit development. 

(a)       A request for a PUD shall be in letterform and shall clearly state the applicant's name, address, and interest in 
the application; and the name, address, and interest of every other person whom the applicant represents in the case 
of a joint interest application or representative as the applicant. The applicant shall submit with the letter of 
application four copies of a vicinity map and four copies of a preliminary site plan of the area proposed as a PUD 
to the Building Official.  

(b)      The vicinity map shall be on a scale of one inch equals 400 feet, shall encompass an area within a 1/2-mile 
radius of the site, and shall show:  



27 
 

1.        Existing streets and roads.  

2.        Existing water resources.  

3.        Existing land uses on the site and in the area surrounding the site.  

(c)       The vicinity map may be included on the same sheet as the preliminary site plan.  

1.        Existing and proposed topographic contours at vertical intervals no greater than five feet.  

2.        The location and approximate outline of all existing and proposed building and structures.  

3.        The location and width of all existing and proposed roads and parking facilities.  

4.        The proposed use of each building and open area and the materials proposed to be used in the construction of 
buildings and in the surfacing of roads and parking areas.  

5.        An indication of the number and type of dwellings proposed per acre.  

6.        Plans for drainage of the site and for water and sewer service.  

7.        Plans for fencing, screening, or otherwise separating the proposed development from adjacent areas.  

8.        Proposed schedule of development for the various sections of the development.  

9.        Such other information as required showing the full development intentions of the applicant and the effect of the 
proposal on adjacent development.  

(d)      The applicant shall also submit 4 copies of engineering data and any other documentation necessary to 
demonstrate the adequacy of existing or proposed water and sewage facilities.  

(2)       Application fee. An application fee of $200 shall accompany the application to cover the cost of processing the 
application.   

            (a) Initiation of amendments. A proposed amendment to the Zoning Code may be initiated by the City Council, 
the Planning Commission, or by application filed with the Planning Department by the owner or owners of the 
property proposed to be changed, provided, however, that action shall not be initiated for a zoning amendment 
affecting the same parcel or parcels of property, or any part thereof, and requesting the same change in district 
classification by a property owner or owners more often than once every 12 months. Initiation of the Public 
Hearing Procedures commences upon payment of the $75 application fee.  

            (b)       Application procedure. 

            1.               Application forms for amendment requests shall be obtained from the Zoning Administrator. 
Completed forms, together with an application fee to cover administrative costs, plus any additional information 
the applicant feels to be pertinent will be filed with the Zoning Administrator. Any communication purporting to 
be an application for an amendment shall be regarded as mere notice to seek relief until it is made in the form 
required.  

            2.               Applications for amendments must be submitted, in proper form, at least three weeks prior to a 
Planning Commission meeting in order to be heard at that meeting.  

            3.               The Zoning Administrator shall forward application fees to the City Clerk who shall supervise the 
application of same to the costs of advertising and other administrative expenses. 

            4.         Administrative examination. Upon receipt of the application, the Building Official shall examine it to 
determine its completeness. The Building Official shall have 15 days to either return the application to the 
applicants for additional information or to forward it to the Planning Commission for review and recommendation.  

  

(c) Planning Commission Review and Recommendation: 



28 
 

1.        The Secretary of the Planning Commission shall transmit all papers and other data submitted by the applicant on 
behalf of the amendment request to the Planning Commission. The Planning Commission, at a regular meeting, 
shall review and prepare a report, including its recommendation for transmittal to the City Council. All meetings of 
the Planning Commission shall be open to the public. At a meeting, any party may appear in person, by agent, or 
by attorney.  

2.        No member of the Planning Commission shall participate in a matter in which he or she has any pecuniary or 
special interest.  

 

(3)       Review by planning commission. The Planning Commission shall meet within 30 days  after receipt of the PUD 
application from the Building Official to review the proposal; consider the adequacy of the site plan; evaluate the 
probable effect of the proposed development on thee surrounding area and the city as a whole; determine the need 
and desirability of the development at the proposed location; and prepare and submit a written recommendation to 
the Mayor and City Council. If the Commission fails to submit a report within this 30-day period or is not granted 
an extension for further study, it shall be deemed to have recommended approval of the application.  

            Report of the Planning Commission. 

(1)      Following each public hearing the Planning Commission shall hold a regular meeting to review and prepare a 
written record of the conduct of each public hearing. A copy of the record shall be filed with the City Clerk for the 
public record and a copy shall accompany the Planning Commission's recommendation of the Mayor and City 
Council.  

(2)      The recommendation of the Planning Commission shall be in written form and should evaluate the proposed 
zoning amendment by answering the following questions:  

(a)       How does the proposed zoning amendment relate to and affect the City's Comprehensive Plan?  

(b)       Are development objectives and recommendations of the City's Comprehensive Plan for the area under 
consideration still valid or have conditions changed to such a degree that deviation from the Plan is warranted?  

(c)       Will the proposed amendment correct an error or deficiency in the zoning regulations?  

(d)       What benefits would the city as a whole receive from development effectuated under the proposed amendment?  

(e)       Does the cost-benefit relationship indicate that the proposed zoning amendment would be in the public interest 
cover the long-term?  

(f)        Following action by the Planning Commission, all papers, and data pertinent to the application shall be 
transmitted to the City Council for final action.  

  

Public hearing by City Council. Before enacting an amendment to the Zoning Code, the City Council shall hold a 
public hearing. There shall be at least a minimum of 15-days' notice of the time and place of which shall be 
published in a newspaper of general circulation in the municipality. The City shall post notice of the hearing on 
social media. The property shall also be posted in a prominent place 15 days prior to the date of the public hearing. 
The adjacent and adjoining property owners shall be notified by first class mail 15 days prior to the public hearing. 
The City Council may, at its discretion, delegate the power and responsibility to hold the required public hearing to 
the Planning Commission for any or all amendments. In such cases as the Planning Commission conducts the 
Public Hearing, the City Council shall not be required to hold another before acting on the recommendation. This 
is permissive, however, and certainly does not preclude the City Council from conducting its own public hearing 
on the amendment.  

            Changes in the zoning map. Following final action by the City Council, any necessary changes shall be made in 
the Zoning Map. A written record of the type and date of such change shall be maintained by the Planning 
Department. Refer to § 151.016.  



29 
 

  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

  

(4)       Public Hearing Disposition by Mayor and City Council. The Mayor and City Council may vote to approve or 
deny the PUD request, may refer it back to the Planning Commission for further study, may recommend changes 
and modifications in the proposal, may attach appropriate conditions, or may take other action as it may deem 
necessary. Approval by Ordinance is required, with two approved readings, prior to PUD amendment going into 
effect. 

However, prior to approval, the Mayor and City Council shall find:  

(a)       That the use and the plan for development are consistent with the goals and principals of the city's 
Comprehensive Plan and with the intent and purpose of this Chapter.  

(b)      That the use will not endanger the public health or safety if located where proposed and developed according to 
the proposed plan.  

(c)       That the use will not injure the value of surrounding properties.  

(d)      That the location and character of the use, if developed according to the plan as submitted will be in harmony 
with the area in which it is located.  

(5)       Registration of approved plan. 

(a)       After approval of the PUD site plan, all building construction and use of buildings and land shall be in 
conformity with the approved site plan. The site plan and all conditions appended thereto shall be recorded in the 
Office of the County Registrar and shall thereafter be binding upon the applicants, their heirs, successors, and 
assigns.  

(b)      A copy of the approved site plan shall be filed with the Building Official and no Certificate of Occupancy shall 
be issued for any building or use within the PUD area unless the Building Official finds that such buildings or uses 
conform to the approved site plan.  

(c)       In the event of failure to comply with the approved site plan and the conditions attached thereto, the Mayor and 
City Council may, on its own motion or at the request of any interested citizens, in addition to other remedies, 
institute injunctions, mandamus, or other appropriate action in proceeding to prevent the occupancy or continuance 
of such violations. The full penalty for violation of this Chapter shall apply.  

(d)      The Mayor and City Council The Zoning Administrator may authorize minor modifications, as to design, 
placement of the approved uses, or replacement of similar types of uses in the approved site plan and the 
conditions attached thereto after review and recommendations by the Planning Commission. All major changes, as 
to density increases or increase in intensity of uses, will need to be resubmitted as an amendment, using the same 
process as the original PUD approval. 

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.060 TWO-FAMILY DWELLING UNITS. 

Two-family dwelling units can be in any GR, RM, or PUD district, and shall meet the requirements of the district that 
they are in.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 



30 
 

§ 151.061 G-1 GOVERNMENT DISTRICT (OFFICE/INSTITUTIONAL). 

(A)      Purpose. The intent of the G-1 zoning district is to provide areas for buildings used by local, state, or federal 
governmental entities for routine office/administration or training/classroom functions. Setbacks and other 
restrictions/requirements will be determined on a case-by-case basis considering the specific use of the planned 
facilities and the zoning classifications of adjacent and neighboring properties.  

(B)      Permitted uses. The following uses shall be permitted in the G-1 zoning district (including, but not limited to):  

(1)       City Hall;  

(2)       Police Department;  

(3)       Recreation facilities (swimming pool, parks, ball fields, and the like); and  

(4)       Public schools.  

(Ord. 2008-12-16-02, passed 12-16-2008) 

 

§ 151.062 G-2 GOVERNMENT DISTRICT (FACILITIES WITH LARGE VEHICLES/EQUIPMENT). 

(A)      Purpose. The intent of the G-2 zoning district is to provide areas for buildings used by local, state, or federal 
governmental entities for operations that involve work crews and/or heavy equipment. Setbacks and other 
restrictions/requirements will be determined on a case-by-case basis considering the specific use of the planned 
facilities and the zoning classifications of adjacent and neighboring properties.  

(B)      Permitted uses. The following uses shall be permitted in the G-2 zoning district (including, but not limited to):  

(1)       Fire Department;  

(2)       Street Department shop; and  

(3)       Utilities Department shop.  

(Ord. 2008-12-16-02, passed 12-16-2008) 

 

§ 151.063 G-3 GOVERNMENT DISTRICT (INFRASTRUCTURE/FACILITIES). 

(A)      Purpose. The intent of the G-3 zoning district is to provide areas for infrastructure associated with local, state, 
or federal governmental uses that may or may not be manned. Setbacks and other restrictions/requirements will be 
determined on a case-by-case basis considering the specific use of the planned facilities and the zoning 
classifications of adjacent and neighboring properties.  

(B)      Permitted uses. The following uses shall be permitted in the G-3 zoning district (including, but not limited to):  

(1)       Electric substations;  

(2)       Water treatment plants;  

(3)       Water pumping stations; and  

(4)       Sewer lift stations.  

(Ord. 2008-12-16-02, passed 12-16-2008) 

 

LAND USES CONDITIONS GENERALLY 



31 
 

 
  
—————————- 
 

§ 151.100 USES NOT PERMITTED BY RIGHT OR WITH CONDITIONS ARE PROHIBITED. 

For the purpose of this Chapter, permitted uses are listed for the various districts. Unless the contrary is clear from the 
context of the lists or other regulations of this Chapter, uses not specifically listed as uses of right or conditional 
uses are prohibited.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.101 CARE OF PREMISES. 

It shall be unlawful for the owner or occupant of a building, structure, or property to utilize the premises of such 
property for the open storage of any abandoned motor vehicle, ice box, refrigerator, stove, glass, building material, 
building rubbish or similar items. It shall be the duty and responsibility of every such owner or occupant to keep 
the premises of such property clear, and to remove from the premises all such abandoned items as listed above, and 
including but not limited to weeds, dead trees, trash, garbage, etc. upon notice from the Planning Director's or 
Building Official's office. All developed property shall be maintained in accordance to the Zoning Code.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.102 STRIPPING OF TOP SOIL PROHIBITED. 

It shall be unlawful to strip, excavate, or otherwise remove topsoil in any district except in conjunction with 
development for which a permit has been issued.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 
  
§ 151.103 BOARDING HOUSES & SHORT TERM RENTALS 

  

151.103.01 Purpose. The City of Westminster believes in the importance of preserving quality of life and the character 
of overall neighborhoods, while maximizing the individual use of a property within these parameters.  Concerns 
about short-term rentals include increased noise, traffic, trash, parking, negative impact on long-term housing 
stock, and undesirable changes to the traditional nature of the City’s neighborhoods.  This chapter provides a 
process to balance the protection of existing neighborhoods while allowing limited use as boarding houses and 
short-term rentals.   

  

151.103.02 Definitions.  

A.     Short-Term Rental means the legally permitted accessory use of a dwelling unit or portion thereof for a fee or 
other compensation for a period of less than 30 consecutive rental days.  Short-term rentals do not include hotels, 
motels, bed and breakfast, [boarding houses if you’re keeping this section], inns, or other commercial 
accommodations.  



32 
 

B.     Owner means a person who holds at least a 50 percent ownership in the premises or at least a 50 percent 
ownership in a life estate on the premises.   

C.     BOARDING HOUSE. A house at which board and lodging may be obtained for payment on a monthly basis.  

  

151.103.03 Requirements.  An Owner who wishes to advertise a property as a boarding home or for short-term rental 
or accept compensation is responsible for the following requirements.  Failure to meet these requirements prior to 
advertisement or accepting compensation, whichever occurs first, constitutes a violation of this chapter.   

A.     Business License & Registration: An Owner must complete and sign the license and registration application form 
provided by the City and pay the fee that shall be established periodically by City Council for short-term rentals.  
The registration must be renewed annually prior to April 30.  

B.     The Owner must attest that: 
a.      All zoning requirements in both the underlying base zoning district and the zoning requirements in 151.103.04 

have been met; and  
b.      That the property has received a 4% primary residential assessment from the County Assessor’s Office; and  
c.      That the property has passed its annual business license inspection  
d.      That there are no recorded deed restrictions or restrictive covenants that apply to the property that would prohibit, 

conflict with, or be contrary to the activity. 
e.       That the home will not be advertised or used as an event location or party house.  This includes use for weddings, 

bachelor/bachelorette parties, or other special events. 
  

151.103.04 Zoning Requirements for Short-Term Rentals. Short-term rentals and boarding houses are only permitted in 
residential districts if the structure and lot meet the following criteria: 

A.     The property cannot exceed four rental rooms, nor can it exceed four tenants. Furthermore, no more than six 
individuals can be staying overnight on the property at any time, including owners and their family members, so 
that if an owner has a spouse and dependent living in the residence, he may only have three tenants. 

B.     The property may not contain any sign, permanent or temporary, advertising the short-term rental. 
C.     The owner must have adequate insurance to protect the tenants, their property and guests. 
D.     There must be no more than one kitchen and meals can only be served to monthly boarders and their guests, 

except that if there is a separate living area and kitchen associated with the bedroom, or what is commonly referred 
to as an "in-law suite", the owner may provide that separate rental, but it shall count as two and one-half rental 
rooms, such that if you have one "in-law suite" you may have only one other rented room, and if you have two "in-
law suites" you may have no other rented rooms on the property. 

E.      The facility must meet all State and Federal laws and regulations and must have an annual business license. 
F.     There must be adequate off street parking, such that there should be at a minimum one parking space per 

bedroom.  Parking must be behind or on the side of the residence; it cannot be forward of the front building line of 
the residence located on the subject property. 

  

151.103.05 Penalties for Violations 

A.     Whoever violates any provision of this article shall, upon first offense, be subject to a fine or $500.00, or 
imprisoned not more than 30 days, or both.  

B.     If, after any conviction or any lawful order issued pursuant thereto, such person continues the violation or 
noncompliance, each subsequent day of violation may be considered a separate offense punishable by $500.00 or 
imprisonment up to 30 days, or both.   

C.     In addition, violations may result in revocation or denial of future business license pursuant to Business License 
code.   

  



33 
 

151.104 RULES FOR MOBILE HOME PARKS  

I. Dimensional and Lot Requirements 
 

A. “Mobile Home Park” shall be defined as a use of land in which lots or spaces are offered for rent or lease 
for the placement of four (4) or more manufactured homes exclusive of a mobile home occupied by the 
property owner as a legal residence, that are located within the vicinity of one another and operated in any 
coordinated manner. The park may be located on a single parcel, or multiple parcels, in the same or 
different ownership and in which the primary use of the park is residential and the owner thereof receives 
renumeration by the occupants thereof. 

B.  The minimum area for a mobile home park shall be two (2) acres. 
C. The maximum number of mobile homes per acre shall not exceed six (6). 
D. No mobile homes in the park may be located closer than twenty-five (25) feet from the property lines. 

This twenty-five (25) feet shall not be used for parking or refuse receptacles. 
E. All new mobile home parks shall reserve and develop a minimum of ten (10) percent of its land for 

common grounds. This recreational area shall not be less than three hundred (300) square feet in area. 
1.  If an existing park is expanded, a recreational area equal to ten (10) percent of the 

gross park area must be provided. 
II. General Requirements 

A. The mobile home park shall be located in a well-drained area.  A mobile home park shall not be located in 
an identified flood area. 

B. A mobile home park shall be screened along its sides as deemed appropriate by the Building Inspector 
Coes Enforcement Officer. Required screening may be: evergreen trees or shrubs, walls, or any other type 
of proper screening. 

C. Signs shall not exceed a combined total area of one hundred (100) square feet per mobile home park. 
D. Each dwelling unit in the park shall meet the Building Requirements in Section 150.01(B), Special Rules 

for Manufactured or Mobile Homes. 
E. The Building Inspector, Health Authorities, or other authorized employees of the City of 

Westminster, South Carolina, are authorized to enter mobile home parks or individual lots and 
inspect them within the jurisdiction of this ordinance at a reasonable time of the day. 

III. SEWAGE DISPOSAL 
A. Where the sewer lines of the mobile home park are not connected to a public sewer, a method of sewage 

disposal approved by the health authority shall be provided. The design of the treatment facility shall be 
based on the maximum design population of the mobile home park. 

IV. REFUSE DISPOSAL 
A. A. The storage, collection and disposal of refuse in the mobile home park shall be controlled so that it 

creates no health hazards, rodent or insect breeding areas, or accident or fire hazards. 
B. All refuse shall be stored in fly-tight, water-tight, rodent-proof containers. Racks or holders Good faith 

efforts shall be provided made for the containers to minimize spillage. 
C. All refuse shall be collected at least once weekly. Accumulations of debris which may provide harborage 

for insects, rodents, or any animal shall not be permitted. 
V. UTILITY DISTRIBUTION 

A. Every mobile home park shall contain an electrical system which shall be installed and maintained in 
accordance with applicable codes and regulations. 

B. Main power lines not located underground shall be suspended at least eighteen (18) feet above the ground. 
There shall be a minimum horizontal clearance of three (3)feet between overhead wiring and any mobile 
home. 

VI. APPLICATIONS FOR NEW MOBILE HOME PARKS 
A. An applicant must present an application to the Building Official for approval of any new Manufactured 

or Mobile Home Parks.  The application must include:  
1.  Name and address of mobile home park. 



34 
 

2. Location and legal description of the property. 
3.  One copy of the site plan showing the area, existing and proposed structures, 

topography, parking, roadways and utilities. 
B.  The City Planning Commission shall review each application based on the following criteria:  

1. The Building Inspector has thirty (30) business days for review of permit request 
and must submit his recommendations to the Planning Commission for action. 

2. After receiving the recommendation of the Building Inspector, the City Planning 
Commission must act to either approve or disapprove the building permit request 
within forty-five (45) days. 

3. 3.    If the Planning Commission disapproves a request for a building permit, the 
applicant must be notified, in writing, and given the reasons for disapproval. The 
decision of the Planning Commission is final and may only be appealed to Circuit 
Court. 

VII. AMORTIZATION OF NONCONFORMING STRUCTURES 
A. All mobile homes not located in mobile home parks and all mobile home parks in place at the 

time of the enactment of this Chapter shall be brought into conformity with the requirements of 
this chapter within 12 months from the date of the enactment of this Chapter and/or notification 
by the Building Official. 

 

§ 151.105 PUBLIC OR COMMERCIAL RECREATIONAL FACILITIES ADJACENT TO RESIDENTIAL USES. 

Public or commercial recreational facilities adjacent to lots, which are zoned or used for residential purposes, shall 
comply with the following standards:  

(A)      They shall not be closer than 50 feet from the property line.  

(B)       No lighting used in connection with such activities shall be closer than 50 feet from the property line, and must 
be shielded or directed to face away from adjoining residences, such that direct rays from the lights shall not be 
visible from adjacent properties.  

(C)       A solid wall or fence or vegetative screening, which furnished protection against noise and light, shall be 
provided.  

(D) No broadcasting system is used for the purpose of advertising the operation of the pool or for the attraction of 
persons to the premises.   

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.106 CERTAIN PUBLIC SERVICES USES. 

(A)      Uses that may be located in any zoning district. Due to the unique nature of certain public service uses and the 
need to locate such uses in certain areas of the city irrespective of prevailing district regulations, the following list 
of uses may be established in any zoning district in the city provided such uses meet all dimensional requirements 
of the district, except height, within which they will be located: 

(1)       Post Office;  

(2)       Police and Fire Stations, and other municipal buildings;  

(3)       Sewerage Treatment Facilities;  



35 
 

(4)       Water Treatment and Storage Facilities;  

(5)       Telephone Exchange and Repeater Stations;  

(6)       Radio and TV Station Masts;  

(B)      Buffer yards. Post offices, police, fire, telephone repeater stations, and municipal recreational facilities shall 
observe the buffer yard requirements as required in § 151.268.  

(C)       Public hearing. 

(1)       Prior to the granting of a building permit for any of the above listed uses, the Planning and Zoning Commission 
shall hold a public hearing on the matter at least 15-days' notice of time and place of which shall be published in a 
newspaper of general circulation in the city. The city shall notice the hearing on Social Media. 

(2)       Based on the hearing and the probable impact of such uses on contiguous uses and conditions, the Planning 
Commission may elect to recommend denial of deny such request in favor of a more acceptable site elsewhere.  

(3) City Council shall review the recommendation of the Planning Commission and make the final determination 
regarding the placement of the public service use.   

 

 
  
151.107  CERTIFICATE OF OCCUPANCY REQUIRED.  

(1)       No nonconforming structure or use shall be maintained, renewed, changed, or extended until the Zoning 
Administrator or Building Official shall have issued a certificate of occupancy. The certificate of occupancy shall 
state specifically wherein the nonconforming use differs from the provisions of this Chapter, provided that upon 
enactment or amendment of the Zoning Code, owners or occupants of nonconforming uses or structures shall have 
three months to apply for certificates of occupancy. Failure to make such application within three months shall be 
considered as a statement by the property owner that the property was in conformance at the time of enactment or 
amendment of this Chapter.  

(2)       No permit for erection, alteration, moving or repair of any building in which temporary occupancy is expected 
during the above activities shall be issued until an application for a temporary certificate of occupancy has been 
made and received. Such temporary certificate shall be for a period not to exceed six months during the alterations 
or partial occupancy of a building pending its completion. Such temporary certificates may include such conditions 
and safeguards as will protect the safety of the occupants and the general public.  

(3)       The Zoning Administrator or Building Official shall maintain a record of all certificates of occupancy and a cop 
shall be furnished upon request to any person.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002; Am. Ord. 2013-11-19-02, passed 11-19-2013) 

 

§ 151.108 COMMUNICATION TOWERS. 

(1)       Authority of article provisions. The authority to regulate communication towers in the city is pursuant to S.C. 
Code 1976, §§ 6-29-310 et seq. 

(2)       Definitions. The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this article, shall have the meanings ascribed 
to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:  

ANTENNA means a device, dish or array used to transmit or receive telecommunications signals.  

BOARD means the City of Westminster Board of Zoning Appeals zoning board of appeals. 



36 
 

COMMUNICATION TOWER means a tower, pole, or similar structure which supports or performs as a 
telecommunications antenna operated for commercial purposes above the ground in a fixed location, freestanding, 
guyed, or on a building.  

HEIGHT (of a communication tower) means the distance from the base of the communication tower to the top of the 
communication tower.  

STEALTH TOWER means a communication tower designed and installed in a manner such that the antenna, 
supporting apparatus and associated structures are aesthetically and architecturally complimentary and appropriate 
with regard to an existing structure or immediate environment in which the communication tower is located. 
Examples include, without limitation, church steeples, bell towers, flagpoles, etc.  

TELECOMMUNICATIONS (as defined in the Federal Telecommunications Act of 1996) means the transmission, 
between or among points specified by the user, of information of the user's choosing, without change in the form or 
content of the information as sent and received.  

Cross reference(s)—Definitions generally, §§ 151.280—151.281.  

(3)       Communications tower and antenna permitted.  

(a)       Determination by Zoning Administrator. All applications for tower placement must be submitted to the Zoning 
Administrator for review. Applications must be complete and shall include all of the materials required by this 
article (application requirements) and must meet all applicable requirements and/or conditions in this article before 
an application will be processed. Incomplete applications will be returned to the applicant. Under the following 
circumstances, the Zoning administrator may administratively approve applications for placement of towers:  

(1)      As a communication tower and/or antenna in any district co-located on existing towers or structures.  

(2)      As co-locations, reconstruction or new construction in any district within the footprints of existing electric utility 
company transmission line towers (such as Duke Power Company transmission line towers).  

(3)      As co-locations on existing electric utility company transmission line towers (such as Duke Power Company 
towers) which increase the height of the towers by no more than 20 feet.  

(4)      Applications approved by the Zoning Administrator must comply with all other requirements of this article. The 
Zoning Administrator may refer any application to the board for final review and approval as a special exception.  

 

  

(b)       Special exceptions granted by the board Board of Zoning Appeals. Communication towers are permitted in NC, 
HC, LI, G1, G2, and G3 Zoning Districts for use only as a special exception. Applications for tower construction 
are subject to review and approval by the board. Priority in approving additional telecommunications facilities in 
the City shall be given to:  

(1)      Co-location on existing towers or structures, including electric utility company transmission line towers:  

(2)      Reconstruction of, or new construction within the footprints of existing electric utility company transmission 
line towers:  

(3)      Only when these possibilities have been exhausted or when it can be demonstrated by an applicant that the 
alternatives are not technically feasible to provide adequate coverage for the surrounding area, or when it can be 
documented by the applicant that the cost of the proposed lease for a site or location is more than 20 percent above 
the prevailing rate of leases in comparable Metropolitan Statistical Areas (M.S.A.'s) in the southeast, shall other 
sites be considered for approval. Towers in other districts may, at the discretion of the board, be required to be 
constructed as a stealth design depending on the impact of the tower on the surrounding area. Under no 
circumstances are communication towers permitted in locally designated historic districts or residential districts.  



37 
 

(c)       Appeals to the Zoning board. Whenever there is an alleged error by the Zoning Administrator in an order, 
requirement, decision, or determination, an applicant may request a hearing before the board. The board has the 
authority to correct, reverse, or uphold the decision of the planning director. The applicant must exhaust this 
remedy regardless of whether applicant feels the Zoning Administrator is in error, the ordinance is unlawful or too 
restrictive, or for any other reason. 

(d)       Time limit for determination. Failure of the Zoning Administrator to act within 45 days from the date of the 
submission of a properly completed application, unless extended by mutual agreement, may be considered by 
applicant to be a denial of a permit and may be appealed to the board.  

(e)       Co-locations. Co-locations on existing communication towers or other structures such as existing electric utility 
company towers which do not increase the height of the existing communication tower or structure are strongly 
encouraged. Co-locations, construction of freestanding structures (such as monopoles) which are located within the 
footprint of the existing tower or reconstruction of existing towers, any of which increase the height of the existing 
tower by more than 20 feet may be approved by special exception if they do not exceed the total tower height 
permitted in § 151.108(5). All new towers shall be designed to accommodate the principal provider and at least 
two additional carriers. At the discretion of the board, new stealth towers shall also be designed to accommodate 
additional carriers. The City, prior to final approval, must be satisfied that the tower does make reasonable 
accommodations for an additional user. The applicant shall make unused tower space available at fair market 
value.  

(4)       General requirements. 

(a)       Illumination. Communication towers shall be illuminated only as required by the Federal Communication 
Commission (FCC) and/or the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA).  

(b)       Color. Communication towers shall only be painted with a gray, nonreflective paint unless otherwise required 
by state or federal regulations. This does not include stealth towers, unless it is a requirement of the Zoning 
Administrator or Board.  

(c)       Signs. A single sign, two square feet in size which included the names of the companies operating the 
equipment and a phone number for emergencies shall be displayed in a visible location on or near the 
communication tower. No advertising of any type may be attached to a communication tower.  

(d)       Removal. A communication tower which use has been discontinued for a continuous period of one year, shall 
be removed within 120 days of the date of the end of such period. Companies must notify the city within 30 days if 
telecommunications cease operations at a tower or antenna. All structures, fencing, screening and other 
improvements must be removed, and the site must be returned to its original condition at the company's expense.  

(e)       Security. A freestanding communication tower and associated structures shall be appropriately secured by 
means of a wall, fence or other device at least eight feet in height.  

(f)        Screening. The purpose of this subsection is to establish control for the visual quality of communication towers 
from the ground level. A communication tower, as pertains to this subsection, includes the tower and the land and 
everything within the required security fencing including any other building and equipment. The screen shall be a 
minimum of ten feet of land surrounding the tower except for one service access. An appropriate plant material 
screen shall be evergreen plants of a quality and planted in accordance with the standards of the American 
Nurserymen Association that are indigenous or native to the county area. Such plantings shall be appropriately 
spaced and of such a size so as to achieve a dense screen with a minimum height of six feet within a three-year 
period from erection of a tower. Additional screening with deciduous or evergreen trees is desirable and 
encouraged. Existing trees shall be preserved unless a waiver has been granted by the Zoning Administrator to 
selectively cut specified trees. If in extreme or unusual situations and where it is proven impossible to properly 
construct the plant material screen, the Zoning Administrator may grant permission to construct the security fence 
as a solid masonry wall, either brick or stucco-type finish with a minimum height of six feet above ground level 
and constructed in accordance with applicable construction codes. A certificate of occupancy shall not be issued by 



38 
 

the codes department until the required planting is completed. When the occupancy of a structure is desired prior to 
the completion of the required planting, a certificate of occupancy may be issued only if the owners or developers 
provide to the City a form of surety satisfactory to the City attorney and in an amount equal to 125 percent of the 
costs of the remaining plant materials, related materials, and installation (with the costs agreed to by the planning 
director or designee). The form of the surety shall be in conformity with the land development regulations for 
Oconee County. All required planting must be installed and approved by the first planting season following 
issuance of the certificate of occupancy or bond will be forfeited to the City. The owners and their agents shall be 
responsible for providing, protecting, and maintaining all required plant material in healthy condition, replacing 
unhealthy or dead plants within one year or by the next planting season, whichever comes first. Replacement 
material shall conform to the original intent of the approved plan.  

(g)       Antenna capacity; wind load. The communication tower shall be designed to withstand winds in accordance 
with ANSI/EIA/TIA 222 (latest revision) standards. Certification from a structural engineer registered in the state 
shall constitute proof that such standard has been met.  

(h)       FCC license. The owner of a communication tower shall possess a valid FCC license for the proposed activity, 
or at the discretion of the board, the owner shall provide other substantial documentation in lieu of FCC licensing 
proving to the board that the owner has a verifiable history of satisfactory communications tower construction and 
operation.  

(i)        Design for multiple use. A new communication tower shall be designed to accommodate additional antennae as 
provided for elsewhere in this article.  

(j)        Safety codes. A communication tower shall comply with all applicable health, nuisance, noise, fire, building 
and safety code requirements.  

(k)       Distance between towers. A proposed communication tower shall not be permitted within a mile of an existing 
communication tower, water tower, or similar structure unless the applicant certifies to the board, and the board 
subsequently finds, that the existing structure would completely fail to meet applicant's structural specifications 
and applicant's technical design requirements, or that a co-location agreement could not be obtained. If a current 
structure is available and will meet a substantial portion of the applicant's requirements, that structure must be 
used. Furthermore, as provided for elsewhere in this article, existing structures must allow multiple use, if at all 
possible.  

(l)        Minimum setbacks. Minimum setbacks of communication tower (not including guy anchors) must be a 
minimum distance equal to one foot horizontally for every one foot in height plus 50 feet from:  

(1)      All lot lines of residential or commercial property.  

(2)      The nearest point of any structure meeting minimum standards for human occupation as put forth in applicable 
building codes adopted by the county and city.  

(3)      Properties or districts designated historic.  

(4)      Properties containing churches, schools, colleges, children's homes and shelters, hospitals and nursing homes; 
except that communication facilities which meet the definition of stealth tower may be permitted by special 
exception on these properties.  

(5)      The right-of-way of all streets and roads.  

(6)      All guy cables and anchors must be set back at a minimum of 20 feet from all lot lines.  

(5)       Maximum height of freestanding communication towers. The maximum height of freestanding communication 
towers shall be as follows:  

District  Maximum Height  
Commercial NC, HC, LI, G1, G2, G3  Not exceeding 200 feet  

Light (LI) Industrial  Not exceeding 250 feet  



39 
 

  

(6)       Permitted height of building-mounted communication towers. 

(a)       A communication tower shall not exceed 20 feet in height if mounted on a building or any structure other than a 
freestanding or guyed communications tower.  

(7)       The following information shall be submitted for all applications for approval of a communication tower:  

(a)       Specifications. Two copies of the specifications for proposed structures and antennae, including description of 
design characteristics and material.  

(b)       Site plan. Two copies of a site plan drawn to scale showing property boundaries, communication tower 
location, communication tower height, guy wires and anchors, existing structures, photographs or elevation 
drawings depicting typical design of proposed structures, parking, fences, landscape plan, and existing land uses on 
adjacent property. A site plan is not required if antenna is to be mounted on an approved existing structure. 
Prototypical drawings indicating various types of equipment to be located on the communication tower may be 
submitted at the time of the permit application. Identification of the owners of all antennae and equipment to be 
located on the site. Other equipment may be added to the communication tower without additional permits or 
inspections as long as electrical wiring is not required.  

(c)       Location map. Two copies of a current map, or update for an existing map on file, showing locations of 
applicant's antennae, coverage areas, facilities, existing communication towers, and proposed communication 
towers, serving any property within the City are required. An applicant may request that specific proprietary or 
confidential information be withheld from the public record.  

(d)       Owner authorization. Proof of ownership and written authorization from the site owner for the application.  

(e)       Visual impact analysis. A line of sight analysis showing the potential visual and aesthetic impact on adjacent 
residential districts.  

(f)        Alternative to co-location or stealth design. Co-located or stealth designs shall be required unless satisfactory 
documented evidence can be provided indicating that:  

i.          The proposed antenna and equipment cannot be accommodated and function as required;  

ii.        The applicant's technical design requirements are such that without unreasonable modifications they cannot 
function on any existing structure or communication tower under the control of applicant; and  

iii.       The applicant has considered all available publicly owned sites, and available privately owned sites occupied by 
a compatible use, including all applicable sites or locations or a combination of sites and locations as described 
under § 151.108(3)(b) for priority of approval and the applicant has demonstrated that for the reasons described in 
that section that these sites and/or locations are unsuitable for operation of the facility under applicable state and 
federal communications regulations, the applicant's technical design requirements and/or valid economic reasons.  

(g)       Indemnity. The applicant must show by certificate from a registered engineer that the proposed facility will 
contain only equipment meeting FCC rules, and must file with the Zoning Administrator a written indemnification 
of the City and proof of liability insurance or financial ability to respond to claims up to $1,000,000 in the 
aggregate which may arise from operation of the facility during its life, at no cost to the City in a form approved by 
the City attorney.  

(h)       Application fees. All communication tower applications shall include a check made out to the City in an amount 
to be determined by the Zoning Administrator, based upon a schedule of fees enacted by the City Council. 
Additional fees may be imposed in order to offset the costs associated with processing applications for special 
exceptions, appeals, or variances.  

  

(8)       Special exceptions, variances and appeals. 



40 
 

(a)       Special exception. Communications towers are permitted in the City only by special exception, approved by the 
board, within the criteria of the General Requirements. The board shall conduct a public hearing on each request 
for a special exception. All public hearings shall be advertised by the applicant in a form pre-approved by the 
Zoning Administrator in a newspaper of general circulation in the Oconee County at least 15 days in advance of 
the hearing.  

(b)       Variance. An applicant may submit a request to the board for a variance from this or any other applicable land 
use ordinance. The board shall hear and decide appeals for a variance from the requirements of the ordinance when 
strict application of the provisions of the article would result in unnecessary hardship. A variance may be granted 
in an individual case of unnecessary hardship if the board makes and explains in writing a unique, exceptional and 
otherwise unusual circumstance as provided for in general criteria for granting a variance in § 151.319 as from 
time to time may be amended.  

(c)       Appeals. Applications for appeal shall be submitted through the Zoning Administrator to the board. All appeals 
shall be accompanied by copies of the original application, supporting maps and documentation and shall include a 
detailed written summary of the alleged error or misinterpretation of this article by the Zoning Administrator in not 
granting approval to the original application. A copy shall be provided for each board member and the Zoning 
Administrator, and other copies as may be required by the Zoning Administrator. Appeals shall be heard by the 
board within 45 days of submission of the completed application to the Zoning Administrator. The applicant must 
exhaust this remedy regardless of whether applicant feels the Zoning Administrator is in error, the ordinance is 
unlawful or too restrictive, or for any other reason.  

(9)       Additional criteria for evaluating special exceptions and variances. 

(a)       Application: conditions. All application requirements imposed by the Zoning Administrator must be met.  

(b)       Setback requirements; additional conditions. The applicant must demonstrate that the proposed communication 
tower location is sufficient to satisfy setback requirements and must satisfy such other additional conditions, if any, 
necessary to remove dangers to safety and to protect adjacent property.  

(c)       Priority of approval. If a location is requested which does not meet the requirements under § 151.108(3)(b) for 
priority of approval the applicant must demonstrate that all alternative sites and locations or combinations thereof 
provided for in that section have been considered by the applicant, and the applicant has demonstrated that for the 
reasons described these sites and/or locations or combinations thereof cannot adequately serve the area for valid 
technical or economic reasons and are unsuitable for operation of the facility under applicable communications 
regulations.  

(d)       Denial on substantial evidence. The Federal Telecommunications Act of 1996 requires that a denial of a permit 
be supported by substantial evidence. The board shall maintain a written record of all appeal proceedings and shall 
maintain supporting documentation for any and all decisions. 

(10)    Annual report required. All companies that operate or maintain ownership of communication towers in the City 
shall submit an annual report to the Zoning Administrator no later than January 15 of each year. The report shall 
include a description of all of its active and inactive facilities located in the City, co-locations of its own 
equipment, co-locations of other companies using its facilities, and shall include telephone numbers and addresses 
for company officials and maintenance personnel.  

(11)    Technical assistance required. The Zoning Administrator (prior to issuing a permit) and the board (prior to 
issuing a permit by special exception or deciding an appeal or request for variance) may make use of technical 
consultants to review applications and to determine if the standards in this article are met. The permit applicant 
shall be required to bear the cost of the required technical services. The Zoning Administrator shall estimate any 
expenses and shall require payment with the completed application. Additional expenses shall be invoiced by the 
City finance department to the applicant. Amounts in excess of required fees and actual expenses shall be returned 
to the applicant.  

(Ord. 2017-02-21-03, passed 2-21-2017) 



41 
 

§ 151.109 Recreational Vehicle Parks 
A.     Location and Access. Recreational Vehicle Parks shall be located in a public park or with direct access to a state 

or federal numbered highway or an approved County Road. No entrance to or exit from a Recreational Vehicle 
Park shall be through an established residential neighborhood and are allowed only in the Rural Residential and 
Highway Commercial Districts. 

                  B. Site Conditions. Condition of soil, groundwater level, drainage, and topography shall not create       
hazards to the property or the health or safety of the occupants. No portion of the site that is subject        to 
unpredictable and/or sudden flooding, subsidence, or erosion shall be used for any purpose that     would expose 
Persons or property to hazards. Stormwater drainage facilities shall be designed and                  installed in 
accordance with all City regulations. 

                  C. Spaces for Occupancy; Uses Permitted; Lengths Of Stay. Spaces in a Recreational Vehicle                
Park may be used by Recreation Vehicles, as defined herein. Spaces shall be rented by the day, week, or month 
only, and no Recreational Vehicle shall remain in the same park for more than ninety (90)    days. The Recreational 
Vehicle Park owner shall be responsible for maintaining records of all Recreational Vehicles and their lengths of 
stay and shall make these records available to the Zoning Administrator for review upon request. Recreational 
Vehicles shall not be used as Short-Term Rental Properties. 

  
                  D.  Site Planning and Required Improvements. Site Planning and Improvements shall provide for: 
1.     Facilities and amenities appropriate to the needs of the occupants; 
2.     Safe, comfortable, convenient and sanitary use by occupants under all weather conditions to be expected during 

periods of occupancy; and 
3.     Protection of occupants from adverse environmental influences, and where appropriate, protection of the 

neighborhood from potential adverse influences within the Recreational Vehicle Park. 
                  E. No permanent Use: A travel trailer or recreational vehicle shall not under any circumstances be                       

considered as a dwelling unit and shall not be allowed as a principal or accessory residential structure  in any 
zoning district. When set up for use, a travel trailer or recreational vehicle shall not be installed  on any type of 
permanent foundation such as a masonry foundation nor have the running lights,  moving hitch, wheels or axle 
removed. Continuous occupancy extending beyond three continuous months (90 days) shall be presumed to be 
permanent occupancy and is prohibited by this Section. 

 
                  F. Limited Conventional Construction: One recreational vehicle on each approved lot or space. No   

manufactured homes or dwelling units or buildings of conventional construction shall be permitted  on a lot or 
space for living purposes, except as specified below: 

                                    1.  Manager's office and residence, which may be of conventional construction. 

                                    2. Recreation and social centers, which may be used for dancing, crafts, hobbies, games,                                                
child\care, meetings, banquets, theatrical performances, movie viewing, and similar                                                                     
entertainment uses which are intended and used primarily as a resident amenity. Such                                            
facility may be of conventional construction. 

                                    3. Outdoor recreation facilities, such as parks, swimming pools, playground equipment,                                                 
shuffleboard and tennis courts, putting greens, and similar recreational uses intended for                                      use 
by the campground occupants.  

                                    4. Common use laundry facilities, maintenance buildings, and security guard houses that                                              
may be of conventional construction.  

                                    5. Recreation center parking lots and guest parking areas. 

   G. Development Requirements: Recreational vehicle parks shall meet the following requirements: 

https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/charlestoncounty-sc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=1086
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/charlestoncounty-sc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=1121
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/charlestoncounty-sc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=1121


42 
 

                                    1. Minimum site area. The minimum site shall be 1 acres in the HC District and 6 Acres in the 
RR District. 

                                    2. Site frontage, access and minimum width. Properties containing recreation vehicle parks                                        
shall have a minimum of 200 feet of property frontage on a public street. The recreation vehicle park shall have a 
minimum lot width of 200 feet throughout the entire depth of the developed portion of the property. No space shall 
be located so that any part intended for occupancy for sleeping purposes shall be within 50 feet of the Right-of-Way 
line of any major thoroughfare or Collector Street, or within 25 feet of the Right-of-Way line of any                                     
other Street. No RV shall be parked for sleeping purposes within 50’ of the edge of the property line. 

                                    3.  Perimeter buffer or landscape screen. 

                                    (a) A minimum landscape buffer of 10’ wide must be planted and/or fenced so as to obscure the 
visibility of the park from any public adjacent street.   A landscape buffer meeting the requirements for landscape 
buffers for a multi-family use in the Landscaping and Buffers Article of this Code shall be provided.  

                                    (b) A minimum 10-foot wide landscape strip shall be provided and maintained along any                                             
side or rear property line comprising the perimeter of the development wherever no buffer                                                
is required, except for approved access and utility crossings. 

                                    (c) A minimum 10-foot wide landscape strip shall be provided and maintained along any                                              
street right-of-way line abutting the property, which shall contain a six-foot high decorative                                             
masonry wall, except for approved access and utility crossings. 

                                    4. Open space and recreational areas. A minimum of 20 percent of the site area shall be open                                     
space and recreational area, excluding any required buffer or perimeter landscape strip. A                                                     
minimum of eight percent of the total site area, counted as part of the required 20 percent                                                       
site area that is open space and recreation area, shall be devoted to one or more active                                                  
recreation facilities. 

                                    5. Interior access roads, addresses and signing. The road system within the recreational                                                
vehicle park shall be designed as follows: 

                                    (a) All interior roads shall be private but constructed and paved to public road standards                                      
as to the thickness of the base and paving courses. Roads shall be located within 50-foot-wide access and utility 
easements. 

                                    (b) Two-way interior roads shall be constructed with a minimum surface width of 20 feet,                                           
and shall be designated “no parking,” or 24 feet if on-street parking is to be allowed. 

                                    (c) Interior roads shall be clearly marked at each intersection with signs to identify traffic                                           
directions and space numbers served by the road. 

                                    (d) Driveways shall be provided on the site where necessary for convenient access to                                                     
service entrances of buildings, to delivery and collection points for refuse and other material,                                   
and elsewhere as needed. 

                                    6. Walkways. Sidewalks shall be required along one side of all interior streets and in areas                                           
where pedestrian traffic is expected, such as around recreation, management, mailbox                                       
groupings if provided, and community services areas. 

  

 

NONCONFORMING SITUATIONS 
 

https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/charlestoncounty-sc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=1147
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/charlestoncounty-sc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=1147
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/charlestoncounty-sc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=1232
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/charlestoncounty-sc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=1232


43 
 

§ 151.120 NONCONFORMING BUILDINGS AND/OR USES. 

§ 151.120 NONCONFORMING USES. 

151.121  Purpose. The City of Westminster is committed to its planning and land use goals in order to create 
harmonious living and working regions throughout the City.  As the City updates land uses, reasonable 
continuation of pre-existing legal uses, while over time bringing a property’s use into conformity naturally.  For 
example, the City may wishes to allow a business to continue operation or a family to continue living in their home 
even if the surrounding zoning is changed for different, future uses. This chapter outlines continuation and 
maintenance requirements for nonconforming structures and uses. However, should such a structure no longer be 
used as a business or residence, this chapter outlines when it must be brought into conformity.  

151.122  Buildings or uses legally existing on the effective date of this chapter, not conforming to the provisions 
thereof, are declared non-conforming.  However, such uses may be continued, except as outlined in 151.124, 
below.  

Continuance.  Continuance of existing uses which are non-conforming may be continued except as specified below, 
unless the use or structure was established in violation of the Zoning Ordinance previously in effect and has not 
since been brought into conformance. 

A.     Maintenance.  Repairs, alterations and maintenance of a non-structural nature may be made to a non-conforming 
structure to maintain its sound condition.  Nothing in this section shall be deemed to prevent the strengthening or 
restoring to a safe condition of any building or part thereof declared to be unsafe by any official charged with 
protecting the public safety, upon order of such official. 

B.     Expansion.  A non-conforming use shall not be expanded or extended beyond the floor area or lot area that it 
occupied on the effective date of this chapter or the effective date of any amendment to this chapter rendering the 
use nonconforming.   

  

151.123  The following conditions shall discontinue the use of a nonconforming use or structure. 

A.     Change of Use. A nonconforming use shall not be changed to any other nonconforming use, but may be 
converted to a conforming use.  

B.     Discontinuance or Abandonment.  A nonconforming use shall not be re-established after vacancy, abandonment, 
or discontinuance for any 12 consecutive months. 

C.     Damage or Destruction.  Any nonconforming use that is damaged or destroyed, by any means, to the extent of 
more than 50% of fair market value, shall only be restored in a manner that conforms with these requirements..  
The building may be restored if damaged less than 50% of fair market value, provided restoration is begun within 
six months, and completed within one year of the date of the destructive occurrence.  Fair market value is 
determined by the assessed value or the appraised value as determined by a state-certified appraiser. 

D.    Substantial Improvement.  Substantial improvement is defined as any combination of repairs, reconstruction, 
alteration, or improvements to a building over a5 year/10 year period for which the cumulative cost exceeds 50% 
of the market value of the building prior to the first instance of repairs, reconstruction, alteration, or improvements. 

151.124 Amortization of Certain Uses.  [Taken from Current Westminster Code] In accordance with the provisions of 
the South Carolina Code of Laws, 1968 Supplement, Volume 3, Article 3, Section 14-350.17, Sec. 6-29-730 SC 
Code of Laws 1976, as amended and notwithstanding other provisions of this Chapter, certain nonconforming 
building and/or land uses, after this Chapter is enacted into law, shall be discontinued, and/or shall be torn down, 
altered or otherwise made to conform to this Chapter within the periods of time set below or established by the 
Board of Appeals.  

a.      In particular, those nonconformities to be discontinued, removed, altered, or made to conform with this Chapter 
shall consist of, but not be limited to:  



44 
 

                                                         i.     Wrecking, junk, scrap, or salvage yards and other such open uses of land; 
signs, outdoor advertising structures; automotive storage yards or outdoor storage yards for lumber, building 
materials, contractor's equipment;  

                                                       ii.     Nonconforming fences, hedges, signs, (add) storage sheds, billboards/or other 
obstructions impeding vision at intersections.  

b.      Nonconformities listed above shall be discontinued within 180 days, with all other nonconformities having a 
maximum of two and a half years to comply. The Board of Appeals shall determine, on an individual case basis, a 
fair termination period in which to allow for amortization of property.  

c.      The Board of Zoning Appeals may also exercise an option to determine what marginal conditions could be met in 
order to bring the use into conformance or near conformance, and may stipulate that specified use or uses can meet 
the revised standards in lieu of termination of the use or compliance with revised standards, on an individual case 
basis, shall be dependent upon consideration of:  

                                                       i.     The nature and extent of the use;  

                                                       ii.     The amount of actual investment;  

                                                      iii.     The number, size and costs of improvements; and  

                                                      iv.     The detriment to the particular area caused by such nonconforming use.  

d.      In such cases as time limitations or termination dates are set, the Board of Appeals, either according to general 
rule or findings in a specific case, may permit not more than one extension period beyond the established date. 
These extensions are limited to 30 days for subdivision (D)(3) nonconformities, and six months for all others.  

e.      Notice shall be sent by the Zoning Administrator to all nonconforming users stating wherein they do not conform 
to said Chapter, and stating the date by which they must comply, meet revised standards, or cease to exist. The date 
for compliance or termination shall be measured from the date of enactment of this Chapter.  

f.       The date for meeting revised standards for marginal conformity shall be measured from date of notice from the 
Board of Appeals as to the standards. These dates shall be observed regardless of whether notice of nonconformity 
is sent by the Zoning Administrator or received by the affected owner, and shall be bound by no other date or 
extension date unless set by the Board of Appeals. Application for relief from such termination shall be made to 
the Board of Appeals within one year of the adoption of this Chapter. Should the Board fail to make a decision 
concerning said appeal within six months of the application by the affected owner, then the termination date shall 
be automatically extended one year. If a decision is not forthcoming within one year of the application then 
termination requirements shall be void. (Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

E.     Accessory uses.  Once a nonconforming principal use is discontinued, all associated accessory uses shall cease 
operations within 30 days. 

  

(A)      Nonconforming buildings or land uses are declared by this Chapter to be incompatible with permitted uses in 
the districts involved. However, to avoid undue hardship, the lawful use of any building and/or land uses at the 
time of the enactment of this Chapter may be continued (notwithstanding provisions in § 151.121), even though 
such use does not conform with the provisions of this Chapter, except that the nonconforming buildings and/or 
land use or portions thereof, shall not be:  

(1)       Changed to another nonconforming use;  



45 
 

(2)       Reestablished, reoccupied, or replaced with the same or similar buildings, and/or land use after physical 
removal or relocation from its specific site location at the time of passage of this Chapter.  

(3)       Repaired, rebuilt, or altered after damage except for a use of the same type. Reconstruction or repair, when 
legal, must begin within 90 days after damage is incurred.  

(B)      Nothing in this section shall be deemed to prevent the strengthening or restoring to a safe condition of any 
building or part thereof declared to be unsafe by any official charged with protecting the public safety, upon order 
of such official.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002; Am. Ord. 2010-07-20-02, passed 7-20-2010) 

 

§ 151.121 NONCONFORMING BUILDING AND/OR USE DISCONTINUANCE. 

(A)      In accordance with the provisions of the South Carolina Code of Laws, Section 6-29-730 1968 Supplement, 
Volume 3, Article 3, Section 14-350.17, and notwithstanding other provisions of this Chapter, certain 
nonconforming building and/or land uses, after this Chapter is enacted into law, shall be discontinued, and/or shall 
be torn down, altered or otherwise made to conform to this Chapter within the periods of time set below or 
established by the Board of Appeals.  

(B)      In particular, those nonconformities to be discontinued, removed, altered, or made to conform with this Chapter 
shall consist of, but not be limited to:  

(1)       Wrecking, junk, scrap, or salvage yards and other such open uses of land; signs, outdoor advertising structures; 
automotive storage yards or outdoor storage yards for lumber, building materials, contractor's equipment;  

(2)       Nonconforming fences, hedges, signs, or other obstructions impeding vision at intersections.  

(C)       Nonconformities in (B)(2) above shall be discontinued within 180 days, with all other nonconformities having 
a maximum of two and a half years to comply. The Board of Appeals shall determine, on an individual case basis, 
a fair termination period in which to allow for amortization of property.  

(D)      The Board may also exercise an option to determine what marginal conditions could be met in order to bring the 
use into conformance or near conformance, and may stipulate that specified use or uses can meet the revised 
standards in lieu of termination of the use or compliance with revised standards, on an individual case basis, shall 
be dependent upon consideration of:  

(1)       The nature and extent of the use;  

(2)       The amount of actual investment;  

(3)       The number, size and costs of improvements;  

(4)       The detriment to the particular area caused by such nonconforming use.  

(E)       In such cases as time limitations or termination dates are set, the Board of Appeals, either according to general 
rule or findings in a specific case, may permit not more than one extension period beyond the established date. 
These extensions are limited to 30 days for subdivision (D)(3) nonconformities, and six months for all others.  

(F)       Notice shall be sent by the Zoning Administrator to all nonconforming users stating wherein they do not 
conform to said Chapter, and stating the date by which they must comply, meet revised standards, or cease to exist. 
The date for compliance or termination shall be measured from the date of enactment of this Chapter.  

(G)      The date for meeting revised standards for marginal conformity shall be measured from date of notice from the 
Board of Appeals as to the standards. These dates shall be observed regardless of whether notice of nonconformity 
is sent by the Zoning Administrator or received by the affected owner, and shall be bound by no other date or 
extension date unless set by the Board of Appeals. Application for relief from such termination shall be made to 



46 
 

the Board of Appeals within one year of the adoption of this Chapter. Should the Board fail to make a decision 
concerning said appeal within six months of the application by the affected owner, then the termination date shall 
be automatically extended one year. If a decision is not forthcoming within one year of the application then 
termination requirements shall be void.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

ACCESSORY USES 
 

§ 151.135 ACCESSORY USES. 

In addition to the principal uses, each of the following uses is considered to be a customary accessory use, and as such, 
may be situated on the same lot with the principal use or uses to which it serves as an accessory.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.136 USES CUSTOMARILY ACCESSORY TO PUBLIC USES, BUILDING OR ACTIVITIES. 

(A)      Uses customarily accessory to public uses, building or activities. There shall be no limitations regarding 
accessory uses to any use, building or activity operated within the public domain except that such uses, buildings 
or activities must be directly related and subordinate to the principal public use.  

(B)      Uses customarily accessory to dwellings. 

(1)       Private garage not to exceed the following storage capacities:  

(a)       One- or two-family dwelling: Four automobiles;  

(b)      Multiple-family dwelling: Two automobiles per dwelling unit.  

(2)       Open storage space or parking area for motor vehicles provided that such space does not exceed the maximum 
respective storage capacities listed under subdivision (B)(1) above; and one commercial vehicle licensed as one-
ton or less in capacity per family residing on the premises.  

(3)       Shed or tool room for the storage of equipment used in grounds or building maintenance.  

(4)       Noncommercial horticulture or agriculture, (primary income is not derived from horticulture/agriculture 
operation). Poultry and farm animals must be fenced in and out buildings must be 200 feet from property lines and 
kept 50 feet from any well, water and residences.  

(5)       Private swimming pool, bathhouse, or other recreational facility customarily accessory to dwelling units, 
provided conditions in § 151.138 are met.   

(6)       Structures designed and used for purposes of shelter in the event of man-made or natural catastrophes.  

(7)       Noncommercial flower, ornamental shrub or vegetable garden, greenhouse or slat house not over eight feet in 
height.  

(8)       A satellite receiving dish, only one per lot, to be placed in the rear lot only, and such dish shall not be located 
nearer than ten feet from the side and rear lot line. 

(9)       All garages and carports shall be located at the rear of the dwelling. However, if the carport or garage is built to 
match the dwelling, it may be on the side of the dwelling.  



47 
 

(10)    Land-sea freight containers must be screened from public view by a walled containment area or an enclosed 
privacy fence. Any non-complying containers in existence shall be removed within 60 days from the date of 
enactment of this Chapter at the sole expense of the property owner.  

(11)    Accessory Dwelling Unit that meets the criteria set out in Section 151.37, only in the RR, R-1acre, and R-25 
Districts. 

(C)       Uses customarily accessory to church buildings. 

(1)       Religious education or activity building;  

(2)       Parsonage, pastorium, or parish house, together with any use accessory to a dwelling as listed under § 
151.136(B).  

(3)       Off street parking area for the use without charge of members and visitors to the church.  

(D)      Uses customarily accessory to retail businesses, office uses and commercial, recreation facilities, and light 
industrial. 

(1)       Off street parking or storage area for customers, clients, or employee owned vehicles.  

(2)       Completely enclosed building for the storage of supplies, stock of merchandise.  

(3)       Light manufacturing and/or repair facility incidental to the principal use provided that dust, odor, smoke, noise, 
vibration, heat or glare produced as a result of such manufacturing or repair operation is not perceptible from any 
boundary line of the lot on which said principal and accessory uses are located and provided such operation is not 
otherwise specifically prohibited in the district in which the principal use is located.  

(4)       Sheds or tool rooms for the storage of equipment used in operations or maintenance.  

(5)       Boat marina.  

(6)       Private docks, boathouses.  

(7)       Private swimming pools, bathhouses, or cabanas.  

(8)       Swimming beach.  

(9)       Bait house.  

(10)    Golf course.  

(11)    Land-sea freight containers must be screened from public view by a walled containment area or an enclosed 
privacy fence. Any non-complying containers in existence shall be removed within 60 days from the date of 
enactment of this Chapter at the sole expense of the property owner.  

(12)    Industrial zoned areas shall be exempt from subdivision (D)(11) above.  

(E)       Location and setbacks. 

All accessory uses shall be in the rear yard only for residential, and ten feet from lot lines. All others are to be ten feet 
from lot lines and confirmed by zoning first.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002; Am. Ord. 2013-01-15-01, passed 1-15-2013) 

151.137 Accessory Dwelling Units 

  

An accessory dwelling unit (ADU) is a smaller, independent residential dwelling unit located on the same lot as a 
stand-alone (i.e., detached) single-family home.  ADU’s are only permitted in the RR, R-1 Acre, and R-25 
Districts. An ADU may be approved as an accessory use to a principal single-family dwelling unit, if all of the 
following conditions are met: 



48 
 

a.      A scaled site plan must be submitted which shall show the ADU, the principal single-family dwelling, and 
compliance with: 

1.      Required  parking,  
2.      Required setbacks, as applicable in the base zoning district; in addition all accessory dwelling units must be 

located in the rear yard only, 10’ from any lot lines 
3.      Acknowledgement that the ADU would not conflict with any restrictive covenants applicable to the property 
4.      Acknowledgement that the property is connected to sewer or a certificate from the South Carolina Department of 

Health and Environmental Control that the septic tank is approved for the number of bedrooms onsite, including 
the bedrooms in the ADU.   

  
c. There shall be a limit of one ADU per lot, subject to meeting all other requirements contained in this section, and the 

total number of dwelling units, including the ADU, shall not exceed two dwelling units per lot. The ADU may be 
separately metered for all utilities.  

d. Each ADU shall be limited to 800 square feet of conditioned floor area. 

e. One (1) off street parking space shall be provided for the occupants of the ADU on the subject property, in addition 
to providing, on the subject property, required off street parking for existing uses on the property. The parking 
space provided for the ADU may be situated in tandem with the required spaces for other uses.  

g. The following conditions shall be memorialized in a recorded covenant to run with the property. Prior to the 
issuance of a building permit, the owner shall provide a copy of the recorded covenants to the Zoning Department 

1.      Either the principal structure or the accessory dwelling unit, hereinafter ADU, must be owner-occupied and serve 
as the owner's primary residence. If neither unit is owner-occupied, the ADU may not be rented separately from the 
principal dwelling unit. No subleases of the ADU are permitted;  

2.      Occupancy of an ADU shall be limited to no more than two (2) adults with "adult" defined as any person 
eighteen years of age or older;  

3.      Under no circumstances shall the property be subdivided or converted to a horizontal ownership regime;  
4.      The ADU may only be used as a short-term rental if all requirements are met and the underlying district allows 

short-term rentals. 
5.      The covenants shall accord the City of Westminster, or its assignee, rights to enforcement by any legal and/or 

equitable means, including the revocation of a certificate of occupancy. 
§ 151.138 SWIMMING POOLS.  

1.     A swimming pool may be constructed and operated when:  

2.     (A)   It is not located in any front yard.  

3.     (B)   A side yard pool must be a minimum of ten feet from any structure and a minimum of ten feet from the 
property line.  

4.     (C)    A wall or fence, no less than four feet in height, with self-latching gates at all entrances which completely 
encloses either the pool area or the surrounding yard area is provided.  

5.     (D)   All lighting of the pool is shielded or directed to face away from adjoining residences. If lights are not 
individually shielded they shall be so placed, or the enclosing wall or fence shall be so designed, that direct rays 
from the lights shall not be visible from adjacent properties.  

6.     (E)    No broadcasting system is used for the purpose of advertising the operation of the pool or for the attraction 
of persons to the premises.  

7.     (F)    And meet the requirements of the swimming pool code book.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

  



49 
 

§ 151.139 HOME OCCUPATION.  

A home occupation shall be permitted in any residential district provided that such occupation:  

(A)      Is conducted either wholly or in part, by no other persons than members of the family residing on the premises;  

(B)       Is conducted within the principal building; except swim lessons and small outdoor recreation lessons not to 
exceed 2 clients may be offered. 

(C)       Utilizes not more than 25% of the total floor area of the principal building;  

(D)      Produces no alteration or change in the character or exterior appearance of the principal building from that of a 
dwelling;  

(E)       No display of products shall be visible from the street and only articles made on the premises may be sold;  

(F)       Creates no disturbing or offensive noise, vibration, smoke, dust, odor, heat, glare, traffic hazard, unhealthy or 
unsightly condition;  

(G)      Is not visibly evident from outside the dwelling except for a sign of four square feet or smaller in size and 
mounted against a wall of the principal building;  

(H)      Shall not create any more traffic other than residences in the area.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

  
—————————————————————————————————————————————— 
 

  



50 
 

LOTS AND PARCELS 
                                                                         

 

§ 151.150 CORNER LOTS. 

On lots having frontage on more than one street at an intersection, the minimum front yard setback may be reduced on 
one side to a side yard setback, if the two backyards are back to back.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.151 LOCATION OF BUILDINGS ON LOTS AND RESIDENTIAL LIMITATIONS. 

Every building or use hereafter erected or established shall be located on a lot or lots of record; and every one- and 
two-family residential structure, except as herein provided, shall be located on an individual lot or lots of record. In 
all cases, the principal buildings on a lot shall be located within the area formed by the building lines at outer 
boundaries and, in no case, shall such building infringe beyond the building lines into the respective front, side, 
rear yards or other setbacks required for the district in which the lot is located.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.152 DOUBLE FRONTAGE LOTS. 

On lots having frontage on two streets, but not located on a corner, the minimum front yard shall be provided on each 
street in accordance with the provisions of this Chapter. On lots having frontage on more than two streets, the 
minimum front yard shall be provided in accordance with the regulations set forth in this Chapter on at least two of 
the street frontages. The minimum front yard on the other frontage or frontages may be reduced along the other 
streets in accordance with the provisions of § 151.150.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.153 FRONT YARD REQUIREMENTS. 

The setback requirements of this Chapter shall not apply to any lot where the average setback on already built upon 
lots located wholly or in part within 100 feet on each such lot and within the block and zoning district and fronting 
on the same street as such lot, is less than the minimum required setback. In such cases, the setback on such a lot 
may be less than the required setback but not less than the average of the existing setbacks on the developed lots. 
However, in no case, shall setbacks be less than 15 feet.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.154 LOT OF RECORD. 

There shall be only one single-family dwelling per lot of record, except for § 151.150 and all GR Districts, where more 
than one principal structure may be erected on a lot, for every 5,000 square feet of area, but in no case more than 
two. Provided that yard and other requirements of this Chapter shall be met for each structure as though it were on 
an individual lot.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 



51 
 

 

§ 151.155 ACREAGE PARCELS. 

(A)      Acreage parcels of two acres or more must meet the district requirements that they are  it is in, except parcels of 
ten acres or more.  

(B)      Acreage parcels of five acres or more, and which may qualify for agricultural tax status for forested or timber 
growth, must meet the district requirements that they are in.  

(B)      Acreage parcels of ten acres or more, and which may qualify for agricultural tax status, may be used for normal 
horticultural and/ agricultural/produce uses including the keeping of cows and horses.  

(C)       Acreage parcels of two to nine acres, if divided, shall meet the requirements of the district it is in. Parcels of ten 
acres or more shall meet the requirements of R-1 Acre R-25 District unless it is first rezoned.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002 

  
—————————————————————————————————————————————— 
 

  
  

PARKING REQUIREMENTS 
 

§ 151.170 OFF-STREET PARKING REQUIREMENTS. 

(A)      Off-street automobile storage or parking space shall be provided on every lot on which any of the following 
uses are hereafter established except in the CC, Core Commercial District where off street parking and loading are 
not required except for residential uses. The number of parking spaces provided shall be at least as great as the 
number specified below for the particular use(s). See Appendix D: Off-street parking requirements, which is 
incorporated herein by reference and made a part hereof as if appearing in total, for said requirements.  

(B)      When application of said provision results in a fractional space requirement, the next larger requirement shall 
prevail  

(C)       Except for shopping centers, mixed uses, uses with different parking requirements occupying the same building 
or premises, or in the case of joint use of a building or premises by more than one use having the same parking 
requirements, the parking spaces required shall equal the sum of the requirement of the various uses computed 
separately.  

(D)      Whenever a building or use, constructed or established after the effective date of these regulations is changed or 
enlarged in floor area, number of employees, number of dwelling units, seating capacity or otherwise, to create a 
need for an increase of 10% or more in the number of existing parking spaces, such spaces shall be provided on the 
basis of the enlargement or change.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.171 PARKING SPACE FOR THE PHYSICALLY HANDICAPPED. 



52 
 

(A)      When off-street parking is required for any building or use, with the exception of single-family dwellings and 
rental apartment complexes of less than 20 units, parking may be included when calculating the overall parking 
requirements for a building or use.  

Number of Required Spaces Number of Spaces Reserved for 
Handicapped Persons 

Up to 25  1  
26 to 50  2  
51 to 75  3  
76 to 100  4  

101 to 150  5  
151 to 200  6  
201 to 300  7  
301 to 400  8  
401 to 500  9  

501 to 1,000  2% of total required  
Over 1,000  20, plus 1 space for each 100 or 1,000  

  

(B)      Parking spaces for the physically handicapped shall measure 12 feet by 20 feet and shall be located as close as 
possible to ramps, walkways, and entrances. Parking spaces should be located so that physically handicapped 
persons are not compelled to wheel or walk behind parked cars to reach entrances, ramps, and walkways.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.172 PARKING SPACE AREA REQUIREMENTS. 

Including aisles, entrances, and exits, each required off-street parking area, lot, or other facility shall contain a 
minimum of 300 square feet of space for each automobile to be accommodated.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.173 LOCATIONS ON OTHER PROPERTY. 

If the required automobile parking space cannot reasonably be provided on the same lot on which the principal use is 
conducted, such spaces may be provided on other off-street property provided such property lines within 400 feet 
of the main entrance to such principal use. Such automobile parking space shall be associated with the principal 
use and shall not thereafter be reduced or encroached upon in any manner.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.174 COMMON OFF-STREET PARKING AREAS. 

Two or more principal uses may utilize a common area in order to comply with off-street requirements, provided that 
the total number of individual spaces available in such common area is not less than the sum of the spaces required 
for the individual uses as separately computed in accordance with the provisions of this section, and provided that 
the owner of said lot relinquish his or her development rights over the property until such time as parking space is 
provided elsewhere.  



53 
 

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.175 EXTENSION OF PARKING SPACE INTO A RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT. 

Required parking space may extend up to 120 feet into a residential zoning district, provided that:  

(A)      The parking space adjoins a commercial or industrial district,  

(B)       Has its only access to or fronts upon the same street as the property in the commercial or industrial district for 
which it provides the required parking space, and  

(C)       Is separated from abutting properties in the residential district by a ten-foot wide evergreen buffer strip.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.176 PARKING SPACE FOR DWELLING UNITS. 

Off street parking facilities for dwelling units shall not occupy any part of a required front yard.  Any residential unit 
used as a short-term rental or boarding house must have one parking space per bedroom, including the bedrooms 
used by the owner of the property.   

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.177 DESIGN STANDARDS. 

(A)      Minimum area. For the purpose of these regulations an of-street parking space is an all-weather surfaced area, 
not in a street alley, permanently reserved for the temporary storage of one automobile and connected with a street 
or alley by an asphalt or concrete driveway, which affords ingress and egress.  

(B)      Drainage and maintenance. Off-street parking facilities shall be properly graded for drainage to prevent damage 
to abutting property and/or public streets and alleys and surfaced with asphalt, concrete, bituminous, or other 
impervious material. Off-street parking areas shall be maintained in a clean, orderly, dust-free, and weed-free 
condition at the expense of the owner or lessee and not used for sale, repair or dismantling or servicing of any 
vehicles, equipment, materials, or supplies.  

(C)       Separation from walkways and streets. Off-street parking spaces shall be separated from walkways, sidewalks, 
streets, or alleys, and required yards by a wall, fence, curbing, or other approved protective device.  

(D)      Entrance and exits. Landscaping, curbing or other approved barriers shall be provided along boundaries to 
control entrance and exit of vehicles and pedestrians. All parking facilities, except those serving single-family 
detached and two-family dwellings, shall be designed so that all existing movements onto a public street are in a 
forward motion. Entrance and exit driveways to public streets and alleys in the vicinity of street intersections must 
be located at least 50 feet, measured along the curb line, from the intersection of the nearest curb lines. Entrance 
and exit driveways at other locations or at intersections not covered by the above restrictions may be denied if such 
a location will create an accident hazard for normal traffic.  

(E)       Marking. Painted lines, curbs or other means to indicate individual spaces, shall mark parking spaces in lots of 
more than ten spaces. Signs or markers, as approved by the Zoning Administrator, shall be used as necessary to 
insure efficient traffic operation of the lot.  

(F)       Lighting. Adequate lighting shall be provided in off-street parking spaces, which are to be used at night. 
Equipment for lighting parking facilities shall be arranged so that light does not interfere with traffic or adjoining 
residential areas.  



54 
 

(G)      Landscaping. 

(1)       Where off street, developed in conjunction with a permitted use or as a separate use occupying an individual lot 
or lots, comprises 20 or more off-street parking spaces, at least 10% of the impervious surface area shall be open 
and landscaped in such a manner as to divide and break up the expanse of paving with islands and barriers.  

(2)       The natural landscape shall be preserved in all possible instances. Wherever healthy plant material exists on a 
site, the minimum planting standards may be adjusted for such plant material, if in the opinion of the Planning 
Commission such adjustment is in the best interests of the city, and preserves all intents of this Chapter.  

(H)      Dimensions. Parking stalls shall be not less than nine feet, except that a maximum of 10% of the total number of 
stalls may be 8½ feet by 19 feet. However, the dimensions of all parallel parking stalls shall be not less than 9 feet 
by 24 feet. All parking spaces shall be located so as to insure off-street maneuvering space.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.178 PARKING, STORAGE AND USE OF RECREATIONAL VEHICLES. 

(A)      Residential districts. No major recreational equipment shall be parked or stored on any lot in a residential 
district for more than a 24-hour period except in a carport or enclosed building or behind the nearest portion of a 
building to a street. In the case of a "double-frontage" lot, the "behind the nearest portion of a building to a street" 
shall apply to only one street. Such equipment shall observe all setbacks, yard and other requirements set forth 
within the residential districts in which they are located. No such equipment shall be used for living, sleeping, or 
housekeeping purposes when parked or stored on a residential lot, or in any location not approved for such uses. 
Automotive vehicles of any kind or type without current license plates shall not be parked or stored on any 
residentially zoned property other than in completely enclosed building.  

(B)      Non-residential districts. No major recreational equipment shall be parked or stored on any lot in a non-
residential district except where the sale of such recreational vehicles or operation of a residential vehicle park, 
Section 151.109 is a primary activity of a business located thereon, with that business possessing a valid city 
business license.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002; Am. Ord. 2011-04-21-01, passed 4-21-2011) 

 

§ 151.179 OFF-STREET LOADING AND UNLOADING SPACES. 

(A)      Except in the CC Core Commercial District every lot on which a business, trade or industry is hereafter 
established, shall provide permanent paved of street loading and unloading space as indicated herein. Such space 
shall have access to an alley, or if there is no alley, to a street.  

(B)      For the purpose of this section, an off-street loading space shall be at least 12 feet by 40 feet in area and be clear 
and free of obstructions at all times. Required space shall be considered as follows:  

(1)       Retail business. One space for each 5,000 square feet of gross floor area.  

(2)       Whole, industrial, governmental, and institutional uses, including public assembly places, hospitals, and 
educational institutions. One space for the first 25,000 square feet the following schedule shall apply:  

Square Feet No. Spaces 
25,001 to 99,999  2  

100,000 to 159,999  3  
160,000 to 239,999  4  
140,000 to 349,999   for each additional 100,000 or fraction thereof  



55 
 

  

(3)       Multi-family residences with ten or more dwelling units. One space.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.180 USE OF PUBLIC RIGHTS-OF-WAY FOR MANEUVERING. 

When determining parking area requirements for individual used, portions of the public rights-of-ways on minor streets 
may be considered as permissible for maneuvering incidental to parking. On major streets, parking facilities shall 
provide space outside the public rights-of-way for maneuvering incidental to parking.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.181 ON STREET PARKING OR STORAGE. 

No major equipment or trucks used for commercial purposes, either public or private, shall be parked or stored on a 
public street right-of-way in a residential district; nor shall the above equipment or trucks be parked or stored on a 
residential lot except in a carport or enclosed building or concealed by the portion of a building nearest to the 
street; nor shall a public or private vehicle be stored on a public street right-of-way or a residential lot except in a 
carport or enclosed building or concealed by the portion of a building nearest to the street; all these provided, 
however, that such equipment, trucks or vehicles may be parked in the prohibited areas for a period not to exceed 
24 hours in a given ten-day period. During such hours, said equipment, trucks, or vehicles shall observe the 
minimum setbacks, yard and other requirements set forth for the residential districts in which they are located.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

STREETS 
 

§ 151.195 STREET ACCESS. 

Except as herein provided, no building shall hereafter be erected, constructed, moved or relocated on a lot, located on a 
publicly dedicated, accepted and maintained street with a right-of-way of not less than 50 feet, except for streets 
that were under 50 feet at the time of passage of the Zoning Code.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.196 CLASSIFICATION OF STREETS. 

For purposes of this Chapter, all public streets in the city are hereby classified as being either major or minor streets. 
All streets, at this time, are classified minor streets, except for the following: US-76, US-123, SC-24, SC-183, 
North Avenue, Main Street, Doyle Street, King Street, Campbell, Retreat Street, Lucky Street, Hampton Street, 
Bibb Street, and Windsor Street, which are major streets.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 



56 
 

§ 151.197 VISIBILITY AT STREET INTERSECTIONS. 

Except in the CC Core Commercial District, no structure or object capable of obstructing driver vision between the 
heights of two and a half feet and ten feet above the finished street level shall be permitted on a corner lot within 
25 feet of the point formed by the intersection of the street right-of-way lines (or such lines extended in case of a 
rounded corner) which bound said lot.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.198 VISIBILITY AT PRIVATE DRIVES AND ENTRANCES WITH PUBLIC STREETS. 

At the intersection of any private drive or entrance or exit with a public street, no impediment to visibility over the 
height of two and a half feet shall be permitted.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.199 EXCEPTIONS TO HEIGHT LIMITS. 

The height limitations of this Chapter shall not apply to church spires, belfries, cupolas and domes not intended for 
human occupancy; monuments, water towers, observation towers, silos, chimneys, smoke stacks, conveyors, flag 
poles, masts and aerials.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002; Am. Ord. 2017-02-21-03, passed 2-21-2017) 

 

§ 151.200 STREET RIGHT-OF-WAY WIDTH. 

For the purpose of this Chapter, street rights-of-way under 50 feet wide shall be considered 50 feet wide for the 
purpose of front yard setbacks.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.201 NEW STREET RIGHT-OF-WAY. 

All new street right-of-ways shall be a minimum of 50 feet. 

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.202 PARKING AND STORAGE OF UNLICENSED VEHICLES. 

Automotive vehicles or trailers of any kind or type without current license plates shall not be parked or stored on any 
residentially zoned property other than in completely enclosed buildings.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.203 CURB CUTS AND ACCESS POINTS. 



57 
 

Ingress-egress openings in concrete, asphalt, rock or other street curbing provisions, commonly referred to as curb cuts, 
as well as other means of vehicular access to and from private property, shall be regulated in the several zoning 
districts established by this Chapter in accordance with the following requirements:  

(A)      Size and spacing of curb cuts and other access points. In no case shall a curb cut or other access point be less 
than nine feet nor more than 50 feet in length. No two curb cuts or other access points shall be closer than 20 feet 
from each other except in residential zoning districts. (Special requirements for HC Zoning District in § 
151.056(D)(2)).  

(B)       Location of curb cuts and other access points. At street intersections no curb or other access point shall be 
located closer than 25 feet from the intersection point of the two-street right-of-way or property lines involved (or 
such lines extended in case of a rounded corner).  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.204 DELIVERIES BY TRUCK. 

All deliveries to commercial and industrial places shall be made off major roads, as per § 151.196.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.205 SIZE OF TRUCKS ON MINOR STREETS. 

No trucks bigger larger than U.P.S. typical delivery trucks shall be on any minor street in the city, unless they are there 
to make deliveries, a pickup, or moving something, except for emergency or utility vehicles conducting operating  
in the area.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

___________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

CONDITIONAL AND TEMPORARY USES 
 

§ 151.220 CONDITIONAL AND TEMPORARY USES.  

(A)      Conditional uses, as set forth in §§ 151.003 through 151.005; 151.019; 151.060; 151.100et seq.; 151.120et seq.; 
151.135et seq.; 151.150et seq.; 151.170et seq.; 151.195et seq.; 151.220et seq.; 151.235et seq.; 151.250et seq.; and 
151.265et seq. are declared to possess characteristics, which require certain controls in order to insure 
compatibility with other uses in the district within which they are proposed for location.  

(B)      General requirements. The Zoning Administrator or Building Official that they conform to all regulations set 
forth herein and elsewhere in this Chapter, with particular reference to those requirements established for those 
districts in which they are proposed for location, shall permit conditional uses subject to a determination.  

(C)       Conditional use administration and duration. Applications for permission to build, erect, or located a 
conditional use shall be submitted and processed in accordance with the regulations set forth in §§ 151.003 through 
151.005; 151.019; 151.060; 151.100et seq.; 151.120et seq.; 151.135et seq.; 151.150et seq.; 151.170et seq.; 
151.195et seq.; 151.220et seq.; 151.235et seq.; 151.250et seq.; and 151.265et seq. prior to the issuance of any 
permits.  



58 
 

(D)      Temporary uses. The Zoning Administrator or Building Official is authorized to issue a temporary certificate of 
zoning compliance for temporary uses, as follows:  

(1)       Carnival or circus for a period not to exceed 21 days, subject to the approval of City Council.  

(2)       Religious meeting in a tent or other temporary structure in HC, LI Districts, for a period not to exceed 60 days.  

(3)       Open lot sale of Christmas trees, in the NC, CC, HC, LI Districts for a period not to exceed 45 days.  

(4)       Real estate sales office, in any district, for a period not to exceed one year, provided no cooking or sleeping 
accommodations are maintained in the structure.  

(5)       Contractor's Office and equipment sheds, in any district, for a period of one year, provided that such office be 
placed on the property to which it is appurtenant.  

(6)       The installation of a mobile home on a temporary basis to serve a special personal or humanitarian need based 
on the following conditions:  

(a)       The request to establish conditional use of a mobile home shall be based on special personal or humanitarian 
need.  

(b)      The request shall be directed to the Planning Commission, and full explanation with any applicable 
documentation, shall be provided at the time the request is presented. 

(c)       The use, if approved, shall be for a period not to exceed 12 months, and any extension in time must be reviewed 
by the Planning Commission on a yearly basis.  

(d)      The use must remain the same use as originally requested and cannot be changed at any time during its duration.  

(e)      Once the need for the original request no longer exists, the nonconforming building and/or use shall be 
discontinued not later than 90 days after the need no longer exists. This includes removing any nonconforming 
buildings and returning the site to full compliance with the existing Zoning Code.  

(7)       The placement of a Recreational Vehicle (RV) is allowed as a temporary living quarters on a piece of property 
not to exceed seven days, based on the following conditions:  

(a)       Notwithstanding, the definitions of § 151.281 of "Camper" and " Trailer", an RV is defined as a vehicle built on 
a single chassis, containing 400 square feet or less when measured at the largest horizontal projections and 
designed to be self-propelled or towed by a passenger vehicle with six wheels or less. A recreational vehicle is not 
designed or intended for use as a permanent dwelling;  

(b)      No one besides the visiting guest, their spouse and dependents are allowed to reside in the RV overnight;  

(c)       The recreational vehicle must be parked and located in the side or rear yard of the subject property. The RV is 
not permitted in the front yard, that is, forward of the front building line of the facility located on the subject 
property;  

(d)      If utility connections are used, they must be consistent with any related code requirements and appropriately 
used in the opinion of the Zoning Administrator or his designee;  

(e)      Not more than one RV shall be permitted on any residential lot or adjoining lots at one time. 

(8)       All temporary certificates of zoning compliance may be renewed one time for a period not to exceed the initial 
time period, provided that it is determined that said use is clearly of a temporary nature, will cause no traffic 
congestion, and will not create a nuisance to surrounding uses; the Zoning Administrator may deny the renewal or 
limit the time period of the temporary use of a renewal if the original reason for the temporary use could have been 
completed within the original time frame.  

(E)       Sexually oriented businesses. See § 151.221, below.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002; Am. Ord. 2017-03-21-02, passed 3-21-2017) 



59 
 

 

§ 151.221 SEXUALLY ORIENTED BUSINESSES.           

(A)      Purpose and intent. It is the purpose of this Chapter to regulate the secondary effects of sexually oriented 
businesses to promote the health, safety, morals, and general welfare of the citizens of the city, and to establish 
reasonable and uniform regulations to prevent the continued deleterious location and concentration  location and 
appearance of sexually oriented businesses within the city. The provisions of this Chapter have neither the purpose 
nor effect of imposing a limitation or restriction on the content of any communicative materials including sexually 
oriented materials. Similarly, it is not the intent or effect of this Chapter to restrict or deny access by adults to 
sexually oriented materials protected by the First Amendment, or to deny access by the distributors and exhibitors 
of sexually oriented entertainment to their intended market. Neither is it the intent or effect of this Chapter to 
condone or legitimize the distribution of obscene material. This Chapter is an Amendment to The Zoning 
Ordinance of the City of Westminster of July 1989.  

(B)      Definitions. 

ADULT ARCADE. Any place to which the public is permitted or invited wherein coin-operated or slug-operated or 
electronically, electrically, or mechanically controlled still or motion picture machines, projectors, or other image-
producing devices are maintained to show images to five or fewer persons per machine at any one time, and where 
the images so displayed are distinguished or characterized by the depicting or describing of specified sexual 
activities or specified anatomical areas.  

ADULT BOOKSTORE or ADULT VIDEO STORE. A commercial establishment which, as one of its principal 
business purposes, offers for sale or rental for any form of consideration any one or more of the following:  

(1)       Books, magazines, periodicals, or other printed matter, or photographs, films, motion picture, video cassettes or 
video reproductions, slides, or other visual representations which depict or describe specified sexual activities or 
specified anatomical areas; or  

(2)       Instruments, devices, or paraphernalia, which are designed for use in connection with specified sexual activities. 
A commercial establishment may have other principal business purposes that do not involve the offering for sale or 
rental of material depicting or describing specified sexual activities or specified anatomical areas and still be 
categorized as adult bookstore or adult video store. Such other business purposes will not serve to exempt such 
commercial establishment from being categorized as an ADULT BOOKSTORE or ADULT VIDEO STORE so 
long as one of its principal business purposes is the offering for sale or rental for consideration the specified 
materials which depict or describe specified sexual activities or specified anatomical areas.  

(3)       Movie rental establishments offering the rental of adult movies.  

ADULT CABARET. A nightclub, bar, private club, restaurant, or similar commercial establishment which features:  

(1)       Persons who appear in a state of nudity; or  

(2)       Live performances which are characterized by the exposure of specified anatomical areas or by specified sexual 
activities; or  

(3)       Films, motion pictures, video cassettes, slides, or other photographic reproductions, which are characterized by 
the depiction or description of specified sexual activities or specified anatomical areas.  

(4)       Activities such as wet T-shirt contests, negligee or lingerie shows, or similar-type activities.  

ADULT MOTEL. A hotel, motel or similar commercial establishment which:  

(1)       Offers accommodations to the public for any form of consideration; provides patrons with closed-circuit 
television transmissions, films, motion pictures, video cassettes, slides, or other photographic reproductions which 
are characterized by the depiction or description of specified sexual activities or specified anatomical areas; and 



60 
 

has a sign visible from the public right of way which advertises the availability of this adult type of photographic 
reproductions; or  

(2)       Offers a sleeping room for rent for a period of time that is less than ten hours; or  

(3)       Allows a tenant or occupant of a sleeping room to sub rent the room for a period of time that is less than ten 
hours.  

ADULT MOTION PICTURE THEATER. A commercial establishment where, for any form of consideration, films, 
motion pictures, video cassettes, slides, or similar photographic reproductions are regularly shown which are 
characterized by the depiction or description of specified sexual activities or specified anatomical areas.  

ADULT THEATER. A theater, concert hall, auditorium, or similar commercial establishment which regularly features 
persons who appear in a state of nudity or live performances which are characterized by the exposure or specified 
anatomical areas or by specified sexual activities.  

ESCORT. A person who, for consideration, agrees or offers to act as a companion, guide, or date for another person, or 
who agrees or offers to privately model lingerie or to privately perform a striptease for another person.  

ESCORT AGENCY. A person or business association who furnishes, offers to furnish, or advertises to furnish escorts 
as one of its primary business purposes for a fee, tip, or other consideration.  

ESTABLISHMENT. Any of the following:  

(1)       The opening or commencement of any sexually oriented business as a new business;  

(2)       The conversion of an existing business, whether or not a sexually oriented business, to any sexually oriented 
business;  

(3)       The additions of any sexually oriented business to any other existing sexually oriented business; or  

(4)       The relocation of any sexually oriented business.  

PERMITTEE and/or LICENSEE. A person in whose name a permit and/or license to operate a sexually oriented 
business has been issued, as well as the individual listed as an applicant on the application for a permit and/or 
license.  

NUDE MODEL STUDIO. Nude model studio means any place where a person who appears in a state of nudity or 
displays specified anatomical areas is provided to be observed, sketched, drawn, painted, sculptured, 
photographed, or similarly depicted by other persons who pay money or any form of consideration.  

NUDITY or STATE OF NUDITY. The appearance of a human bare buttock, anus, male genitals, female genitals, or 
female breast.  

PERSON. An individual, proprietorship, private club, partnership, corporation, association, or other legal entity.  

SEMI-NUDE. A state of dress in which clothing covers no more than the genitals, pubic region, and areola of the 
female breast, as well as portions of the body covered by supporting straps or devices.  

SEXUAL ENCOUNTER CENTER. A business or commercial enterprise that, as one of its primary business purposes, 
offers for any form of consideration:  

(1)       Physical contact in the form of wrestling or tumbling between persons of the opposite sex; or  

(2)       Activities between male and female persons and/or persons of the same sex when one or more of the persons is 
in a state of nudity or semi-nude.  

SEXUALLY ORIENTED BUSINESS. An adult arcade, adult bookstore or adult video store, adult cabaret, adult 
motel, adult motion picture theater, adult theater, escort agency, nude model studio, or sexual encounter center.  

SPECIFIED ANATOMICAL AREAS. The male genitals in a state of sexual arousal and or the vulva or more intimate 
parts of the female genitals.  



61 
 

SPECIFIED SEXUAL ACTIVITIES. Any of the following:  

(1)       The fondling or other erotic touching of human genitals, pubic region, buttocks, anus, or female breasts;  

(2)       Sex acts, normal or perverted, actual or simulated, including intercourse, oral copulation, or sodomy;  

(3)       Masturbation, actual or simulated; or  

(4)       Excretory functions as part of or in connection with any of the activities set forth in (1) through (3) above.  

SUBSTANTIAL ENLARGEMENT OF A SEXUALLY ORIENTED BUSINESS. The increase in floor areas 
occupied by the business by more than 25%, as the floor areas exists as of the date of the passage of this code.  

TRANSFER OF OWNERSHIP OR CONTROL OF A SEXUALLY ORIENTED BUSINESS. Any of the following:  

(1)       The sale, lease, or sublease of the business;  

(2)       The transfer of securities which constitute a controlling interest in the business, whether by sale, exchange, or 
similar means; or  

(3)       The establishment of a trust, gift, or other similar legal device which transfers the ownership or control of the 
business, except for transfer by bequest or other operation of law upon the death of the person possessing the 
ownership or control.  

(C)       Clarification. 

(1)       Sexually oriented businesses are classified as follows:  

(a)       Adult arcades; 

(b)      Adult bookstores or adult video stores;  

(c)       Adult cabarets;  

(d)      Adult motels;  

(e)      Adult motion picture theaters;  

(f)       Adult theaters;  

(g)       Escort agencies;  

(h)      Nude model studios, and  

(i)        Sexual encounter centers.  

(2)       A person commits a misdemeanor if he or she operates a sexually oriented business without a valid permit 
and/or license, issued by the city for the particular type of business.  

(3)       Sexually-oriented businesses are permitted as a Special Exception with the HC district.  All Special Exceptions 
must be heard before the Board of Zoning Appeals.  The application for a special exception and/or license must be 
made on a form provided by the City Zoning Administrator or Building Official. If approved by the Board of 
Zoning Appeals, the City Administrator may grant the permit or license if all conditions, regulations, and laws are 
otherwise met.  The application must be accompanied by a sketch or diagram showing the configuration of the 
premises, including a statement of total floor space occupied by the business. The sketch or diagram need not be 
professionally prepared but must be drawn to a designated scale or drawn with marked dimensions of the interior 
of the premises to an accuracy of plus or minus six inches. The application must also provide evidence of 
compliance with the requirements of this chapter.    

(4)       The applicant must be qualified according to the provisions of this Chapter and the premises must be inspected 
and found to be in compliance with the law by the health department South Carolina Department of Health and 
Environmental Control as applicable, fire department, and the City Building Official. 



62 
 

(5)       If a person who wishes to operate a sexually oriented business is an individual, he or she must sign the 
application for a permit and/or license as applicant. If a person who wishes to operate a sexually oriented business 
is other than an individual, each individual who has a 10% or greater interest in the business must sign the 
application for a permit and/or license as applicant. If a corporation is listed as owner of a sexually oriented 
business or as the entity which wishes to operate such a business, each individual having a 10% or greater interest 
in the corporation must sign the application for a permit and/or license as applicant.  

(6)       The fact that a person possesses other types of state or city permits and/or licenses does not exempt him or her 
from the requirement of obtaining a sexually oriented business permit and/or license.  

(D)      Issuance of permit and/or license. The City of Westminster Zoning Administrator or Building Official shall 
approve the issuance of a permit and/or license to an applicant within 30 days after receipt of an application unless 
he or she finds one or more of the following to be true:  

(1)       An applicant is under 18 years of age.  

(2)       An applicant or an applicant's spouse is overdue in his or her payment to the city of taxes, fees, fines, or 
penalties assessed against him or her or imposed upon him or her in relation to a sexually oriented business.  

(3)       An applicant has failed to provide information reasonably necessary for issuance of the permit and/or license or 
has falsely answered a question or request for information on the applicant form.  

(4)       An applicant is residing with a person who has been denied a permit and/or license by the city to operate a 
sexually oriented business within the preceding 12 months, or residing with a person whose license to operate a 
sexually oriented business has been revoked within the preceding 12 months.  

(5)       The premises to be used for the sexually oriented business have not been approved by SCDHEC, fire 
department, and the building official as being in compliance with applicable laws and Chapters.  

(6)       The permit and/or license fee required by this Chapter has not been paid.  

(7)       An applicant of the proposed establishment is in violation of or is not in compliance with state law or any of the 
provisions of this Chapter.  

(8)       The permit and/or license, if granted, shall state on its face the name of the person or persons to whom it is 
granted, the expiration date, land the address of the sexually oriented business. The permit and/or license shall be 
posted in a conspicuous place at or near the entrance to the sexually oriented business so that it may be easily read 
at any time.  

(E)       Fees. The annual fee for a sexually oriented business permit and/or license is $500.  

(F)       Inspection. 

(1)       An applicant or permittee and/or licensee shall permit representatives of the police department, health 
department, fire department, zoning (planning commission) department, or other city departments or agencies to 
inspect the premises of a sexually oriented business for the purpose of ensuring compliance with the law, at any 
time it is occupied or open for business.  

(2)       A person who operated a sexually oriented business or his or her agent or employee commits a misdemeanor if 
he or she refuses to permit such lawful inspection of the premises at any time it is occupied or open for business.  

(G)      Expiration of permit and/or license. 

(1)       Each permit and/or license shall expire one year from the date of issuance and may be renewed only by making 
application as provided in subdivision (D) above. Application for renewal should be made at least 30 days before 
the expiration date, and when made less than 30 days before the expiration date, the expiration of the permit and/or 
license will not be affected.  

(2)       When the City Zoning Administrator or Building Official denies renewal of a license, the applicant shall not be 
issued a permit and/or license for one year from the date of denial. If, subsequent to denial, the City Zoning 



63 
 

Administrator or Building Official finds that the basis for denial of the renewal permit and/or license has been 
corrected or abated, the applicant may be granted a permit and/or license if at least 90 days have elapsed since the 
date denial became final.  

(H)      Suspension. The City Zoning Administrator or Building Official shall suspend a permit and/or licensee or an 
employee of a permittee and/or licensee has:  

(1)       Violated or is not in compliance with any section of this Chapter or any state laws;  

(2)       Engaged in excessive use of alcoholic beverages while on the sexually oriented premises;  

(3)       Refused to allow an inspection of the sexually oriented business premises as authorized by this Chapter;  

(4)       Knowingly or negligently permitted gambling by any person on the sexually oriented business premises.  

(I)        Revocation. 

(1)       The City Zoning Administrator or Building Official shall revoke a permit and/or license of a cause of 
suspension in subdivision (H) occurs and the permit and/or license has been suspended within the preceding 12 
months.  

(2)       The City Zoning Administrator or Building Official shall revoke a permit and/or license if he or she determines 
that:  

(a)       A permittee and/or licensee gave false or misleading information in the material submitted to the zoning 
administrator or building official during the application process;  

(b)      A permittee and/or licensee or an employee has knowingly allowed possession, use, or sale of controlled 
substances on the premises;  

(c)       A permittee and/or licensee or an employee has knowingly allowed prostitution on the premises;  

(d)      A permittee and/or licensee or an employee knowingly operated the sexually oriented business during a period 
of time when the permittee's and/or licensee's permit and/or license was suspended;  

(e)      A permittee and/or licensee or an employee has knowingly allowed any act of sexual intercourse, sodomy, oral 
copulation, masturbation, or other sexual conduct to occur in or on the permitted and/or licensed premises;  

(f)       A permittee and/or licensee is delinquent in payment to the county or state for any taxes for fees past due.  

(3)       When the City Zoning Administrator or Building Official revokes a permit and/or license, the revocation shall 
continue for one year, and the permittee and/or licensee shall not be issued a sexually oriented permit and/or 
license for one year from the date revocation became effective. If, subsequent to revocation the City Zoning 
Administrator or Building Official finds that the basis for the revocation has been corrected or abated, the applicant 
may be granted a permit and/or license if at least six months have elapsed since the date the revocation became 
effective.  

(J)        Transfer of permit and/or license. A permittee and/or licensee shall not transfer his or her permit and/or license 
to another, nor shall a permittee and/or licensee operate a sexually oriented business under the authority of a permit 
and/or license at any place other than the address designated in the application.  

(K)       Location of sexually oriented businesses. 

(1)       A person commits a misdemeanor if he or she operates or causes to be operated a sexually oriented business 
outside of a designated HC or LI district. All sexually oriented businesses shall be located within a HC or LI 
district.  

(2)       A person commits a misdemeanor if he or she operates or causes to be operated a sexually oriented business 
within 300 feet of:  

(a)       A church;  



64 
 

(b)      A public or private elementary or secondary school;  

(c)       A boundary of any residential district;  

(d)      A public park adjacent to any residential district, PUD, or NC district;  

(e)      The property line of a lot devoted to residential use.  

(3)       A person commits a misdemeanor if he or she causes or permits the operation, establishment, substantial 
enlargement, or transfer of ownership or control of a sexually oriented business within 1,000 feet of another 
sexually oriented business.  

(4)       A person commits a misdemeanor if he or she causes or permits the operation, establishment, or maintenance of 
more than one sexually oriented business in the same building, structure, or portion thereof, or the increase of floor 
areas of any sexually oriented business in any building, structure, or portion thereof containing another sexually 
oriented business.  

(5)       For the purpose of this Chapter, measurement shall be made in a straight line, without regard to intervening 
structures or objects, from the nearest portion of the building or structure used as a part of the premises where a 
sexually oriented business is conducted, to the nearest property line of the premises of a church or public or private 
elementary or secondary school, or to the nearest boundary of an affected public park, residential district, 
residential lot or NC district.  

(6)       For purposes of subdivision (K)(3), above, of this section, the distance between any two sexually oriented 
businesses shall be measured in a straight line, without regard to intervening structures or objects, from the closest 
exterior wall of the structure in which each business is located.  

(7)       Any sexually oriented business lawfully operating on that is in violation of subdivision (K)(1) through (K)(6) of 
this section shall be deemed a nonconforming use. The nonconforming use will be permitted to continue for a 
period not to exceed two years, unless sooner terminated for any reason or voluntarily discontinued for a period of 
30 days or more. Such nonconforming uses shall not be increased, enlarged, extended, or altered except that the 
use may be changed to a conforming use. If two or more sexually oriented businesses are within 1,000 feet of one 
another and otherwise in a permissible location, the sexually oriented business which was first established and 
continually operating at a particular location is the conforming use and the later-established business(es) is 
nonconforming.  

(8)       A sexually oriented business lawfully operating as a conforming use is not rendered a nonconforming use by 
the location, subsequent to the grant or renewal of the sexually oriented business permit and/or license, of a church, 
public park, residential district, or a residential lot within 1,000 feet of the sexually oriented business. This 
provision applies only to the renewal of a valid permit and/or license is submitted after a permit and/or license has 
expired or has been revoked.  

(L)       Additional regulations for adult motels. 

(1)       Evidence that a sleeping room in a hotel, motel, or a similar commercial establishment has been rented and 
vacated two or more times in a period of time that is less than ten hours creates a rebuttable presumption that the 
establishment is an adult motel as that term is defined, in this Chapter.  

(2)       A person commits a misdemeanor if, as the person in control of a sleeping room in a hotel, motel, or similar 
commercial establishment that does not have a sexually oriented permit and/or license, he or she rents or sub rents 
a sleeping room to a person and, within ten hours from the time the room is rented, he or she rents or sub rents the 
same sleeping room again.  

(3)       For purposes of subdivision (L)(2) of this section, the terms RENT or SUB RENT, mean the act of permitting a 
room to be occupied for any form of consideration.  

(M)     Regulations pertaining to exhibition of sexually explicit films or videos. 



65 
 

(1)       A person who operates or causes to be operated a sexually oriented business, other than an adult motel, which 
exhibits on the premises in a viewing room of less than 150 square feet of floor space, a film, video cassette, or 
other video reproduction which depicts specified sexual activities or specified anatomical areas, shall comply with 
the following requirements:  

(a)       Upon application for a sexually oriented permit and/or license, the application shall be accompanied by a 
diagram of the premises showing a plan thereof specifying the location of one or more manager's stations and the 
location of all overhead lighting fixtures and designating any portion of the premises in which patrons will not be 
permitted. A manager's station may not exceed 32 square feet of floor area. The diagram shall also designate the 
place at which the permit will be conspicuously posted, if granted. A professionally prepared diagram in the nature 
of an engineer's or architect's blueprint shall not be required; however, each diagram should be oriented to the 
north or to some designated street or object and should be drawn to a designated scale or with marked dimensions 
sufficient to show the various internal dimensions of all areas of the interior of the premises to an accuracy of plus 
or minus six inches. The City Zoning Administrator or Building Official may waive the foregoing diagram for 
renewal applications if the applicant adopts a diagram that was previously submitted and certifies that the 
configuration of the premises has not been altered since it was prepared.  

(b)      The application shall be sworn to be true and correct by the applicant.  

(c)       No alteration in the configuration or location of a manager's station may be made without the prior approval of 
the zoning administrator or building official.  

(d)      It is the duty of the owners and operator of the premises to ensure that at least one employee is on duty and 
situated in each manager's station at all times that any patron is present inside the premises.  

(e)      The interior of the premises shall be configured in such a manner that there is an unobstructed view from a 
manager's station of every area of the premises to which any patron is permitted access for any purpose excluding 
restrooms. Restrooms may not contain video reproduction equipment. If the premises has two or more manager's 
stations designated, then the interior of the premises shall be configured in such a manner that there is an 
unobstructed view of each area of the premises to which any patron is permitted access for any purpose from at 
least one of the manager's stations. The view required in this subsection must be by direct line of sight from the 
manager's station.  

(f)       It shall be the duty of the owners and operator, and it shall also be the duty of any agents and employees present 
in the premises to ensure that the view area specified in subdivision (M)(1)(e) above remains unobstructed by any 
doors, walls, merchandise, display racks or other materials at all times and to ensure that no patron is permitted 
access to any area of the premises which has been designated as an area in which patrons will not be permitted in 
the application filed pursuant to subdivision (M)(1)(a) of this section.  

(g)       No viewing room may be occupied by more than one person at any time.  

(h)      The premises shall be equipped with overhead lighting fixtures of sufficient intensity to illuminate every place 
to which patrons are permitted access at an illumination of not less than one foot candle as measured at the floor 
level.  

(i)        It shall be the duty of the owners and operator and it shall also be the duty of any agents and employees present 
in the premises to ensure that the illumination described above, is maintained at all times that any patron is present 
in the premises.  

(2)       A person having a duty under subdivision (M)(1)(a) through (M)(1)(i) above commits a misdemeanor if he or 
she knowingly fails to fulfill that duty.  

(N)      Exemptions. It is a defense to prosecution under subdivisions (D) and (K) above that a person appearing in a 
state of nudity did so in a modeling class operated:  

(1)       By a proprietary school, licensed by the state of South Carolina; a college, junior college, or university 
supported entirely or partly by taxation;  



66 
 

(2)       By a private college or university which maintains and operates educational programs in which credits are 
transferable to a college, junior college, or university supported entirely or partly by taxation; or  

(3)       In a structure: 

(a)       Which has no sign visible from the exterior of the structure and no other advertising that indicates a nude person 
is available for viewing; and  

(b)      Where, in order to participate in a class a student must enroll at least three days in advance of the class; and  

(c)       Where no more than one nude model is on the premises at any one time.  

(O)      Injunction. A person who operates or causes to be operated a sexually oriented business without a valid permit 
and/or license or in violation § 151.221(K) of this Chapter is subject to a suit for injunction as well as prosecution 
for criminal violations. Such violations shall be punishable by a fine of $200 $500 or 30 days imprisonment.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

———————————————————————————————————————————————
——— 

 

COMMON OPEN SPACE 
 

§ 151.235 DEFINITION. 

OPEN SPACE is land and/or water bodies used for recreation amenity or buffer; it shall be freely accessible to all 
residents of a development, where required by this Chapter. Buildings or structures, road, parking or road right-of-
way shall not occupy open space; nor shall it include the yards or lots of residential dwelling units required to meet 
minimum lot area or parking area requirements.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.236 WHERE REQUIRED. 

Where specifically required by this Chapter, an open space plan shall be submitted as part of the application for a 
building permit. The plan shall:  

(A)      Designate areas to be reserved as open space. The specific design of open space areas shall be sensitive to the 
physical and design characteristics of the site.  

(B)       Designate the type of open space, which will be provided.  

(C)       Specify the manner in which the open space shall be perpetuated, maintained, and administered.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.237 PRESERVATION AND MAINTENANCE OF OPEN SPACE. 

(A)      Land designated as common open space may not be separately sold, subdivided, or developed. Open space 
areas shall be maintained so that their use and enjoyment as open space is not diminished or destroyed.  

(B)      Open space areas may be owned, preserved, and maintained as required by the section, by any of the following 
mechanisms, or combinations thereof:  



67 
 

(1)       Dedication of open space on acceptance by the city.  

(2)       Common ownership of the open space by a homeowner's association, which assumes full responsibility for its 
maintenance.  

(3)       Deed restricted, private ownership, which shall prevent development and/or subsequent subdivision of the open, 
space lane and provide the maintenance responsibility.  

(C)       In the event that any private owner of open space fails to maintain same, the city may, in accordance with the 
Open Space Plan and following reasonable notice and demand that deficiency of maintenance be corrected, enter 
the open space to maintain same. The cost of such maintenance shall be charged to those persons having the 
primary responsibility for maintenance of the open space.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

FLOOD HAZARD AREAS 
 

§ 151.250 BUILDING REQUIREMENTS IN ESTABLISHED FLOOD HAZARD AREAS. 

In the Flood Hazard Areas of Westminster, as established on Flood Hazard Boundary Maps furnished by the Federal 
Flood Insurance Agency, and on file in the office of the City Clerk, the following additional requirements shall be 
observed.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.251 PERMIT REQUIRED. 

(A)      All proposed development in a Flood Hazard Area shall require a permit, which shall be reviewed to determine 
if such development adversely affects the flood-carrying capacity of the flood plain. For purposes of this Chapter, 
ADVERSELY AFFECTSmeans damage to adjacent properties because of rises in flood stages attributed to 
physical changes of the channel and the adjacent over bank areas.  

(B)      If it is determined that there is no adverse effect, and the development is not a building, then the permit shall be 
granted without further consideration.  

(C)       If it is determined that there is an adverse effect, then technical justification (such as, a registered professional 
engineering analysis) for the proposed development shall be required.  

(D)      If the proposed development is a building, then the following requirement are applicable:  

(1)       Residential construction. New construction or substantial improvement of a residential structure shall have the 
lowest floor, including basement, elevated to or above base flood elevation.  

(2)       Non-residential construction. New construction or substantial improvement and commercial, industrial or other 
nonresidential structure shall either have the lowest floor, including basement, elevated to the level of the base 
flood elevation, or together with attendant utility and sanitary facilities, be flood-proofed so that below the base 
flood level the structure is water tight with walls substantially impermeable to the passage of water with structural 
components having the capability of resisting hydrostatic and hydrodynamic loads and effect of buoyancy. A 
registered professional engineer or architect shall certify that the standards of this subsection are satisfied. Such 
certification shall be provided to the building official.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 



68 
 

 

§ 151.252 DATA TO ACCOMPANY PERMIT REQUEST. 

All applications for development in a Flood Hazard Area shall be accompanied by the following information:  

(A)      Elevation in relation to Mean Sea Level (MSL) of the lowest floor (including basement) of all proposed 
structures.  

(B)       Elevation in relation to Mean Sea Level (MSL) to which any nonresidential structure will be flood-proofed.  

(C)       Certification by a registered professional engineer or architect that the non-residential flood-proofed structure is 
suitably flood-proofed.  

(D)      Description of the extent to which any watercourse will be altered or relocated as a result of proposed 
development.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.253 MOBILE HOME PARKS AND MOBILE HOME SUBDIVISIONS. 

Mobile home parks and mobile home subdivisions are specifically prohibited in any designated flood hazard area.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

SCREENING AND BUFFER YARDS  
 

§ 151.265 PURPOSE AND DEFINITION. 

(A)      The BUFFER YARD is a unit of yard together with the planting required thereon. Both amount of land and the 
type and amount of planting specified for each buffer yard required by this Chapter are designed to ameliorate 
nuisances between adjacent land uses where NC, HC, LI, G-1, G-2, and G-3 districts are contiguous to any of the 
residential districts.  

(B)      Buffer yards shall be required to separate non-residential uses from residential uses in order to screen, eliminate, 
or minimize potential nuisances such as dirt, litter, noise, flare of lights, signs, and unsightly buildings or parking 
areas, or to provide spacing to reduce adverse impacts of noise, odor, or danger from fires of explosions.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002; Am. Ord. 2013-11-19-02, passed 11-19-2013) 

 

§ 151.266 LOCATION OF SCREENING AND BUFFER YARDS. 

Buffer yards shall be located on the outer perimeter of a lot or parcel, extending to the lot or parcel boundary line. 
Buffer yards shall not be located on any portion of an existing public or private street or right-of-way.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.267 SCREENING AND BUFFER YARDS PART OF REQUIRED YARDS. 



69 
 

Where front, side and rear yards are required by this Chapter buffer yards may be established within such required 
yards.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.268 SCREENING AND BUFFER YARDS PART OF NC, HC, LI, G-1, G-2, AND G-3 YARDS ALONG 
COMMON PROPERTY LINES. 

In all NC, HC, LI, G-1, G-2, and G-3 districts, there shall be a minimum of ten feet of greenbelt between any and all 
property lines that abut residential districts and any build area (including parking lots). In lieu of the required ten-
foot-wide, six-foot-high (at the time of planting) greenbelt, a solid, six-foot-high stockade fence shall be allowed. 
As the greenbelt must be maintained and replaced as necessary, so shall the optional stockade fence.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002; Am. Ord. 2013-11-19-02, passed 11-19-2013) 

 

INTERPRETATION AND DEFINITIONS 
 

§ 151.280 INTERPRETATION OF CERTAIN WORDS. 

(A)      Except when definitions are specifically included in the text, words in the text or tables of this Chapter shall be 
interpreted in accordance with the definitions set forth in this section. When words are not defined, standard 
dictionary definitions shall prevail. In every case, the Zoning Administrator or Building Official shall have the 
authority to define any word or interpret any definition in order to fulfill the intent and purpose of this Chapter.  

(1)       Words used in the present tense include the future tense. Words used in the singular include the plural, and 
words used in the plural include the singular.  

(2)       The term BOARD OF ADJUSTMENTS AND APPEALS or BOARD OF ADJUSTMENTS or BOARD OF 
APPEALS refers to the Board of Zoning Appeals of the City of Westminster.  

(3)       The term CITY APPEARANCE COMMITTEE refers to that committee so designated by City Council to 
review any design, landmark, or historical criteria regulations as set forth by City Council.  

(4)       The term COUNCIL, CITY COUNCIL, or MAYOR and COUNCIL refer to the legally constituted and elected 
governing body of the City of Westminster.  

(5)       The word LOT includes the word PLOT or PARCEL. 

(6)       The word MAP or ZONING MAP shall mean the Official Zoning Map of the City of Westminster, South 
Carolina.  

(7)       The word MAY is permissive.  

(8)       The word PERSON includes a firm, association, organization, partnership, trust company, or corporation, as 
well as an individual.  

(9)       The term PLANNING COMMISSION refers to the Westminster Planning Commission.  

(10)    The word SHALL is always mandatory.  

(11)    The word STRUCTURE includes the word BUILDING. 

(12)    The word USED or OCCUPIED as applied to any land or building shall be construed to imply that said land or 
building is in actual use or occupancy.  



70 
 

(13)    The term ZONING ADMINISTRATOR refers to that person or persons so designated by the City Council to 
administer this Chapter.  

(B)      Where circumstances may not clearly conform to the standards or definitions herein, then the Board of Appeals 
shall interpret such standards or definitions.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.281 DEFINITIONS. 

For the purpose of this Chapter, certain words or terms used herein are defined as follows:  

ABANDONED VEHICLE. Any vehicle found or left on a public street, parking lot, or wrecker lot for which the 
owner cannot be identified and/or located within a period of seven days.  

ACCESSORY. A use or building subordinate to the principal building on a lot and used for purposes customarily 
incidental to the main or principal use or building and located on the same lot therewith.  

ACCESSORY DWELLING UNIT. An accessory dwelling unit (ADU) is a smaller, independent residential dwelling 
unit located on the same lot as a stand-alone (i.e., detached) single-family home.  

ALL WEATHER SURFACE. This surface shall meet one of the following criteria:  

(1)       Shall consist of at least a four-inch layer of coarse aggregate, such as crushed stone, slag or gravel, or 
thoroughly compacted sub layer of clay or other firm subsoil, or  

(2)       Shall be at least a four-inch layer of coarse concrete over an intermediate layer of coarse aggregate at least two 
inches thick when compacted, and both layers over a thoroughly compacted sub layer as above, or  

(3)       Shall be at least a three-layer of Bituminous asphalt over an intermediate layer and sub layer as above.  

ALLEY. A secondary way, which affords access to the side or rear of abutting property.  

ALTERATION OF BUILDING. Any change in the supporting members of a building (such as bearing walls, 
columns, or girders), any addition or reduction to a building; any change in use; or any relocation of a building 
from one location or position to another.  

AUTOMOBILE SERVICE STATION. Building and premises on any parcel or lot where gasoline, oils, grease, 
batteries, tires and limited automobile accessories may be supplied, dispensed, or installed. No part of the premises 
may be used for storage or dismantled parts of major automotive repairs.  

BOARDING HOUSE. A house at which board and lodging may be obtained for payment on a monthly basis.  

BUILDABLE AREA. That portion of any lot which may be used or build upon in accordance with regulations 
governing the given zoning district within which the particular lot is located once the various front, side, and rear 
yard requirements required for the District have been subtracted from the total lot area. For instructions related to 
the determination of BUILDABLE AREA, see § 151.120.  

BUILDING. A structure which is completely enclosed by a roof and by solid exterior walls along whose outside faces 
can be traced by an unbroken line for the complete circumference of the structure, which is permanently affixed to 
a lot or lots, land used or intended for the shelter, support or enclosure of persons, animals or property of any kind.  

BUILDING LINE. That line which represents the distance a building or structure must be set back from a lot 
boundary line or a street right-of-way line or street centerline according to the terms of this Chapter. In all cases 
the building lines of a lot shall be determined to run parallel to and set back the appropriate distance required 
within the district in which the lot is located from street right-of-way lines, street center lines or other lot boundary 
lines.  



71 
 

BUILDING, PRINCIPAL. A building in which is conducted the principal use of the lot on which said building is 
situated.  

CAMPER/RV (Recreational Vehicle) A highway vehicular, portable Structure designed as a temporary dwelling for 
travel, recreational, and vacation uses. The term includes camping trailer, motor home, travel trailer, and truck 
campers, tent, trailer, or other self-contained vehicle or structure designed for recreational or moving purposes, of 
metal or other materials, mounted or designed for mounting on one or more wheels and/or jacks or similar 
supports, and either self-propelled or rigged for towing or transporting, provided such structure or vehicle is less 
than 30 feet in length and is not used for residential purposes in the city (in other than an established campground). 
The term does not include Manufactured Housing Units. 

CAR WASH, AUTOMOBILE LAUNDRY. Buildings and premises on any lot where the cleaning of an automobile is 
operated automatically, manually, or by coin. No part of the premises shall be used for the storage of dismantled or 
wrecked vehicle parts nor shall any automobile repairs of accessory sales take place.  

CARE HOME. A rest home, nursing home, convalescent home, home for the aged, or similar use established and 
operated on a profit or nonprofit basis to provide lodging and/or meals and/or domiciliary care for aged, infirm, 
chronically ill or convalescent persons.  

CLINIC. An establishment where medical or dental patients, who are not lodged overnight, are admitted for 
examination or treatment.  

CONDOMINIUM, CONDO. See DWELLING, CONDOMINIUM. 

DAY CARE CENTER, AGED ADULTS. Any home center, which regularly provides day care for aged adults 
unattended by a legal guardian in a residential setting. These centers shall meet all county and state requirements.  

DENSITY, GROSS. The number of dwelling units per acre of the total acreage developed or used.  

DENSITY, NET. The number of dwelling units per acre of land developed or used for residential purposes exclusive 
of land utilized for streets, alleys, parks, playgrounds, or other public uses. Unless otherwise stated, density 
requirements in this Chapter are expressed in units per net acre.  

DERELICT VEHICLE. Any vehicle that is inoperative (unable to be driven under its own power), is unlicensed and 
fails to display a current license tag.  

DISTRICT. The term applied to various geographical areas of the city the purpose of interpreting the provisions of this 
Chapter. The Districts are designated with the use of symbols on the Official Zoning Map. Regulations controlling 
land use in the various districts within the city are set forth in §§ 151.050et seq. The terms DISTRICT and 
ZONING DISTRICT are synonymous and are used interchangeably throughout this Chapter.  

DRIVE-IN. A retail or service enterprise oriented to automobile driving patrons wherein service is provided to the 
consumer on the outside and/or inside of the principal building. The term DRIVE-IN includes drive-in restaurants, 
and dairy bars, theaters, banks, laundries, food stores, car washes, or other similar retail service activities.  

DWELLING. A building or portion of a building arranged or designed to provide living and/or sleeping quarters for 
one or more families. The term DWELLING and RESIDENCE shall be interchangeable.  

DWELLING CLUSTER. The grouping of dwelling units, frequently on lots of different sizes and shape, surrounded 
by a large expanse of open space with the streets and utilities customized to the needs of the individual cluster.  

DWELLING CONDOMINIUM. A building or series of buildings on the same lot or portions thereof containing more 
than one dwelling unit under private or separate ownership, joint ownership of common open spaces.  

DWELLING, GROUP. A building or portion of building occupied or intended for occupancy by several unrelated 
persons or families, but in which separate cooking facilities are not provided for such resident persons or families. 
The term GROUP DWELLINGincludes but is not limited to the terms ROOM HOUSE, Y.M.C.A. or Y.W.C.A. A 
hotel, motel, or tourist home shall not be deemed to be a group dwelling as herein defined.  

https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/charlestoncounty-sc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=3236
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/charlestoncounty-sc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=3032


72 
 

DWELLING, ONE-FAMILY. A detached dwelling other than a mobile home designed for or occupied exclusively by 
one family on a single lot.  

DWELLING, MULTIPLE-FAMILY. A building or series of buildings on the same lot portions thereof used or 
designed as dwellings for two or more families living independently of each other, with the number of families in 
residence not exceeding the number of dwelling units provided. The terms MULTIPLE-FAMILY and MULTI-
FAMILY are synonymous and are used interchangeably throughout this Chapter.  

DWELLING, SINGLE-FAMILY ATTACHED, TOWNHOUSE. A single-family dwelling unit construct in a series or 
group of attached units with property lines separating such unit. Firewalls separating each dwelling unit shall 
extend from the foundation through the roof.  

DWELLING, TWO-FAMILY. A dwelling arranged or designed to be occupied by two families in separate dwelling 
units living independently of each other on a single lot.  

DWELLING, UNITS. One or more rooms connected together and constituting a separate, independent housekeeping 
establishment with provision for cooking, eating, and sleeping, and physically set apart from any other rooms or 
dwelling units in the same structure or another structure.  

FAMILY. One or more persons occupying a single dwelling unit provided that unless all members are related by blood 
or marriage, no such family shall contain over five persons, but further provided that domestic servants employed 
on the premises may be housed on the premises.  

GARAGE, PRIVATE. An accessory building or portion of a principal building used only for the private storage of 
motor vehicles as an accessory use.  

GARAGE PUBLIC. Any garage other than a private garage which is used for storage, minor repair, servicing, 
washing, adjusting or equipping of automobiles or other vehicles.  

GARAGE REPAIR. Buildings and premises designed or used for purposes indicated under automobile service station 
and/or major commercial repairs provided that body work and painting shall be conducted within fully enclosed 
buildings and provided further that self-propelled vehicles in process of repair shall be stored in a fully enclosed 
and secluded area.  

GREENBELT. Synonymous with a BUFFER YARD. See §§ 151.265 through 151.268.  

HOME OCCUPATION. Any use in a residential area, conducted solely by the occupants of a dwelling, and contained 
entirely within the dwelling or serving as a base of operations or office. This use shall be clearly incidental to the 
residential purpose and it shall not change the character thereof. Only residents of the dwelling shall be employed 
in connection with this activity, except the following: a non-resident assistant may be employed by a lawyer, 
physician, dentist, chiropractor, or similar professional. No more than 25% of the total floor space of any structure 
may be used in a home occupation.  

HOTEL. A building or buildings in which lodging, with or without meals is provided and offered to the public for 
compensation, which is open to transient or permanent guests. The word HOTEL includes the terms MOTEL and 
TOURIST COURT. 

JUNK or SALVAGE YARDS. The use of any part of a lot, whether inside or outside of a building, for the storage, 
keeping, abandonment, sale or resale of junk, salvage, or scrap materials; or the dismantling, demolition or 
abandonment of automobiles and other vehicles, machinery, equipment or parts thereof.  

KINDERGARTEN, NURSERY. Any public or private school, operated on a profit or nonprofit basis for preschool 
children, wherein a specific curriculum is prepared and presented by qualified instructors for educational purposes, 
but specifically excluding Day Care Centers.  

LANDSCAPED STRIP. A greenery space consisting of a year-round planted ground cover, properly maintained, and 
having an appropriate selection of bushes or shrubs placed at least every five feet of the strip length.  



73 
 

LOADING SPACE, OFF-STREET. Space logically and conveniently located for pickups and deliveries, scaled to 
delivery vehicles expected to be used, and accessible to such vehicles when required off-street parking spaces are 
filled.  

LOT, CORNER. A lot located at the intersection of two or more streets.  

LOT, DEPTH. The mean horizontal distance between front and rear lot lines.  

LOT, DOUBLE FRONTAGE. A lot which has frontage on more than one street, provided, however, that no corner lot 
shall qualify as a double frontage lot unless said corner lot has frontage on three or more streets.  

LOT, INTERIOR. A lot, other than a corner lot, which has frontage on only one street other than an alley.  

LOT, LOT OF RECORD. An area designated as a separate and distinct parcel of land on a legally recorded 
subdivision plat or in a legally recorded deed as filed in the official records of Oconee County, as maintained in the 
Oconee County Courthouse. The terms LOT, PLOT, LOT OF RECORD, PROPERTY, or TRACT whenever used 
in this Chapter, are interchangeable.  

LOT WIDTH. The distance between side lot lines measured at and along the front building line.  

MANUFACTURED HOME/MOBILE HOME PARK. Premises where two or more mobile homes at the time this 
Chapter comes into effect, are parked for living or sleeping purposes, or where spaces are set aside or offered for 
sale or rent for use for mobile homes for living in or sleeping purposes, including any land, building, structure, or 
facility used by occupants of mobile homes on such premises.  

MANUFACTURED HOME/MOBILE HOME SPACE. A plot of ground within a mobile home park designed for the 
accommodation of one mobile home.  

MANUFACTURED HOMES/MOBILE HOMES. Any structure transportable in one or more sections, which is built 
on a permanent chassis and designed to be used with or without a permanent foundation. A MOBILE HOME shall 
bear the label or seal of compliance with the Federal Mobile Home Construction and Safety standards approved by 
the Department of Housing and Urban Development of the United States of America.  

MOBILE HOME PARK. A use of land in which lots or spaces are offered for rent or lease for the placement of four 
(4) or more manufactured homes exclusive of a mobile home occupied by the property owner as a legal residence, 
that are located within the vicinity of one another and operated in any coordinated manner. The park may be 
located on a single parcel, or multiple parcels, in the same or different ownership and in which the primary use of 
the park is residential, and the owner thereof receives renumeration by the occupants thereof. 

MODULAR BUILDING. A building manufactured off site and transported to the point of use for installation as a 
finished building not designed for removal to another site. A MODULAR BUILDING shall comply with the 
standards set forth in the South Carolina Modular Buildings Construction Act of 1984 and bear the certification 
seal of the South Carolina Building Code Council.  

MOTEL. A building or buildings in which lodging, with or without meals, is provided and offered to the public for 
compensation, which is open to transient or permanent guests. The word MOTEL includes the terms HOTEL and 
TOURIST COURT. 

NET ACRE. The amount of land devoted to residential use exclusive of land utilized for streets, alleys, parks, 
playgrounds, or other public uses. (See DENSITY, NET).  

NONCONFORMING STRUCTURE OR USE. A structure or use of land lawfully occupied by an existing use which 
does not conform with size/setback/lot coverage requirements or the permitted uses for the zoning district in which 
it is situated, either at the effective date of this Chapter or as the result of subsequent amendments to this Chapter. 
A NONCONFORMING USE, or characteristic of use shall not be reestablished after vacancy, abandonment, or 
discontinuance for any period of twelve consecutive months.  

OPEN SPACE, IMPROVED. Those changes which will enhance the utilization of the property other than the 
existence of natural flora.  



74 
 

OPEN SPACE, UNIMPROVED. Those areas left in their natural state.  

PARCEL. See LOT. 

PARKING LOT. Any public or private open area used for the express purpose of parking automobiles and other 
vehicles, with the exception of areas on the premises of single-family dwellings used for parking purposes 
incidental to the principal use. Otherwise, parking lots may be the principal use on a given lot.  

PARKING SPACE. A space within a parking lot or on a single-family dwelling lot expressly provided for purposes of 
parking an automobile or other vehicle.  

PLOT. An area designated as a separate and distinct parcel or land on a legally recorded subdivision plat or in a legally 
recorded deed as filed in the official records of Oconee County, as maintained in the Oconee County Courthouse.  

RESIDENCE. A building or portion of a building arranged or designed to provide living and/or sleeping quarters for 
one or more families. The terms DWELLING and RESIDENCE shall be interchangeable.  

RV (Recreational Vehicle) Park Any Lot of land upon which two or more Recreational Vehicle sites, or Campground 
sites, are located, established, or maintained for occupancy as temporary living quarters for purposes of recreation 
or vacation. This term does not include any premises on which unoccupied Recreational Vehicles, whether new or 
used, are parked for the purposes of inspection, sale, storage, or repair.  

SERVICE STATION. See definition of AUTOMOBILE SERVICE STATION. 

SETBACK. The depth or width of any required yard. The minimum linear distance from any designated property line 
or right-of-way to a structure on a lot.  

SHORT TERM RENTAL means the legally permitted accessory use of a dwelling unit or portion thereof for a fee or 
other compensation for a period of less than 30 consecutive rental days.  Short-term rentals do not include hotels, 
motels, bed and breakfast, boarding houses, inns, or other commercial accommodations.   

  
SIGN. The term SIGN shall mean and include every SIGN, billboard, poster, panel, freestanding ground sign, roof 

sign, projecting sign, pylon sign, illuminating sign, sign painted on a wall, window marquee, awning or canopy, 
and shall include any announcement, declaration, demonstration, display, ribbon, banner, illustration or insignia 
used to advertise or promote the interests of any persons when the same is placed in view of the general public, 
traveling along a public street right-of-way. See Sign Definitions In 152.002 

SOCIAL ORGANIZATION. An incorporated or unincorporated association for civic, cultural, religious, literary, 
political, recreational or like activity operated for the benefit of the members and not generally open to the public.  

SPECIAL EXCEPTION. A use so specifically designated in this Chapter, that would not be appropriate for location 
generally or without restriction throughout a given zoning district but which, if controlled as to number, area, 
location, or relation to the neighborhood, would in the opinion of the Board of Appeals, promote the public health, 
safety, welfare, morals, order, comfort, convenience, appearance, prosperity, or general welfare.  

SPOT ZONING. An illegal action; a rezoning that is:  

(1)       Inconsistent with existing zoning patterns;  

(2)       For the benefit of the landowner;  

(3)       Detrimental to neighborhood; and  

(4)       Without any substantial public purpose.  

STORY. That portion of building included between the surface of any floor and the surface of the floor next above it, 
or if there is no floor above it, then the space between the floor and ceiling next above it.  

STREET. A dedicated and accepted public right-of-way for vehicular traffic, which affords the principal means of 
access to abutting properties.  

https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/charlestoncounty-sc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=3121
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/charlestoncounty-sc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=2509
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/charlestoncounty-sc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=3121


75 
 

STREET CENTERLINE. That line surveyed and monumented by the governing body shall be the centerline of a 
street; or in the event that no centerline has been so determined, it shall be that line running midway between, and 
parallel to the general direction of the outside right-of-way lines of such streets.  

STRUCTURE. Anything constructed or erected, the use of which requires more or less permanent location on the 
ground or which is attached to something having more or less permanent location on the ground. A BUILDING, as 
defined herein, is a STRUCTURE. 

SUBDIVISION. All divisions of a tract or parcel of land into two or more lots, building sites, or other divisions for the 
purpose, whether immediate or future, of sale, legacy, or building development, and includes all division of land 
involving a new street or a change in existing streets, and includes resubdivision and, where appropriate, to the 
process of subdivided provided, however, that the following exceptions are included within this definition only for 
the purpose of requiring that the local Planning Commission be informed and have record of such subdivisions:  

(1)       The combination or recombination of portions or previously platted lots where the total number of lots is not 
increased and the resultant lots are equal to the standards of the governing authority.  

(2)       The division of land into parcels of four acres or more where no new street is involved.  

SUITABLE PLANTING SCREEN. A properly planted strip composed of evergreen greenery which possesses growth 
characteristics of such a nature as to produce a dense, compact mass, such as, opaque barrier, that is suitable for 
blocking or impeding vision to such an extent that images are not generally distinguishable from one side of the 
mass to the other. The planting screen shall be a minimum of ten feet in width and a minimum of six feet in height 
at the time of planting. Such barriers shall be maintained and replaced if any of the plantings shall perish. This term 
shall be synonymous with BUFFER YARD and GREENBELT. 

TOURIST HOME. A dwelling in which sleeping accommodations in less than ten rooms are provided or offered for 
the use of guests in return for compensation, and meals may or may not be offered. A dwelling in which such 
accommodations are offered in ten or more rooms shall be deemed to be a hotel as herein defined. The use of a 
dwelling as a TOURIST HOME shall not be considered an accessory use or a customary home occupation.  

TRACT. See LOT. 

TRAILER. Any vehicle or structure capable of moving, or being moved, over streets and highways on its own wheels 
or on flat beds or other carriers, which is designed or utilized to:  

(1)       Provide temporary or permanent quarters;  

(2)       Serve as a carrier of people, new or used goods, products, or equipment; and  

(3)       Be used as a selling, advertising or display device.  

For purposes of this Chapter, the term TRAILER shall not include the terms camper, mobile home, or house trailer.  

TRAILER, HOUSE. The term HOUSE TRAILER, for purposes of this Chapter, shall be interchangeable with the 
term MANUFACTURED HOME/MOBILE HOME, as defined herein.  

USE, ACCESSORY. Purpose for which a lot is occupied and used when criteria is met and approved.  

VARIANCE. A modification of the strict terms of this Chapter granted by the Board of Zoning Appeals where such 
modification will not be contrary to the public interest, and where, owing to conditions peculiar to the property 
owner, a literal enforcement of the Chapter would result in unnecessary and undue hardship, and where such 
modification will not authorize a principal or accessory use of the property which is not permitted within the 
zoning district in which the property is located.  

YARD. A space on the same lot with a principal building, open, unoccupied and unobstructed by buildings or 
structures from ground to sky except where encroachments and accessory buildings and structures are expressly 
permitted.  



76 
 

YARD, FRONT. A yard situated between the front building line and the front lot lone extending the full width of the 
lot.  

YARD, REAR. A yard situated between the rear building line and the rear lot line extending the full width of the lot.  

YARD, SIDE. A yard situated between a side building line and a side lot line and extending from the front yard to the 
rear yard.  

ZONING DISTRICT. See DISTRICT. 

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002; Am. Ord. 2007-04-17-02, passed 6-19-2007; Am. Ord. 2013-11-19-02, 
passed 11-19-2013; Am. Ord. 2017-03-21-01, passed 3-21-2017) 

 

ADMINISTRATION, ENFORCEMENT, APPEAL, COMPLAINTS AND REMEDIES 
 

§ 151.295 ADMINISTRATION. 

(A)      The duty of administering and enforcing the provisions of this Chapter is hereby conferred upon the duly 
appointed Planning Director of the city. It shall also be the duty of all officers and employees of the city, and 
especially of all members of the police and fire departments, to assist the Director by reporting to him or her new 
construction, reconstruction, or new land uses and apparent violations of this Chapter.  

(B)      If at anytime the Planning Director feels he or she needs help in administering this Chapter or if the position is 
currently not occupied, a Zoning Official and/or Building Official may be appointed with approval from City 
Council to administer this Chapter.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.296 ENFORCEMENT. 

(A)      Pursuant to S.C. Code 6-29-950, if the Planning Director shall find that any of the provisions of the Chapter are 
being violated, he or she shall notify in writing the person and/or persons responsible for such violations, 
indicating the nature of the violation and ordering the action necessary to correct it. He or she shall order 
discontinuances of illegal uses of land, buildings, or structures; removal or illegal buildings or structures with 
illegal additions, or structural changes, and discontinuance of any illegal work being done; and shall take any other 
action authorized by this Chapter to ensure compliance with, or to prevent violation of its provisions.  

(B)      In accordance with S.C. Code § 56-7-80, the Zoning Administrator may issue an ordinance summons for 
violations of the zoning regulations when all other remedies have failed to remove the violation.  

(C)      Each day that the violation exists constitutes a separate offense, pursuant to SC Code 6-29-950 (A). 

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002; Am. Ord. 2012-01-17-01, passed 1-17-2012) 

 

§ 151.297 BUILDING CODES, PERMITS AND CERTIFICATES OF OCCUPANCY. 

The above is to be administered per §§ 151.003 through 151.005; 151.019; 151.060; 151.100et seq.; 151.120et seq.; 
151.135et seq.; 151.150et seq.; 151.170et seq.; 151.195et seq.; 151.220et seq.; 151.235et seq.; 151.250et seq.; and 
151.265et seq.; and the 2000 International Building Codes as adopted by City Ordinances 2001-09-18-01 and 
2001-09-18-02.  



77 
 

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.298 COMPLAINTS. 

Whenever a violation of this Chapter occurs, or is alleged to have occurred, any person may file a written complaint. 
Such complaint stating fully the causes and basis thereof shall be filed with the Planning Director, who shall 
properly record such complaint, forthwith investigate, and take action thereon as provided by this Chapter.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.299 REMEDIES. 

In the event any building or structure is proposed to be or is erected, constructed, reconstructed, altered, maintained or 
used, or any land is proposed to be or is used in violation of this Chapter, the Planning Director, the City Council, 
the City Attorney, or any other person aggrieved may, in addition to other remedies provided by law, institute 
injunction, abatement, or any other appropriate action, or proceeding to prevent, enjoin, abate, or remove such 
unlawful erection, construction, reconstruction, alteration, maintenance, or use.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.300 APPEAL FROM THE DECISION OF THE PLANNING DIRECTOR. 

It is the intention of this Chapter that all questions arising in connection with the enforcement of this Chapter shall be 
presented first to the Planning Director and such questions shall be presented to the Board of Zoning Appeals only 
on appeal from the decision of the Planning Director.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS 
 

§ 151.315 ESTABLISHMENT OF BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS. 

(A)      A five member Board of Zoning Appeals is hereby established.  

(1)       All Board Members shall be a resident of the city. Initial appointment shall be as follows: one for five years; 
one for four years; one for three years; one for two years; and one for one year.  

(2)       Thereafter, each new member shall serve for a term of five years or until a successor has been appointed.  

(3)       The Building Official shall be an ex officio member of said board but shall have no vote on any matter before 
the board.  

(4)       Wherever possible, the members shall be architects, engineers, building contractors, and/or building material 
suppliers, and one Member at Large. If there is none of the above available, members should have as closely 
related occupations as possible or other Members at Large.  

(5)       The applicable governing body shall appoint the said Board. Members shall serve without pay, but may be 
reimbursed for any expenses incurred while representing the Board.  



78 
 

(B)      Vacancies shall be filled for unexpired terms; no members shall be appointed for a term in excess of five years. 
A vacancy in a term of office shall occur whenever it is found that a member has resigned or has not maintained 
the qualifications required for appointment; or whenever a member:  

(1)       Has repeatedly failed to attend properly called meeting of the Board without just cause; or  

(2)       Has been guilty of malfeasance or misconduct in office and based upon such findings has been removed from 
office;  

(3)       Shall be removed for cause by the Mayor or City Council upon written charges and after public hearing.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.316 PROCEEDINGS OF THE BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS. 

(A)      The Board of Zoning Appeals shall elect a chairman and a vice-chairman from its members who shall serve for 
one year or until reelected or until their successors are elected. The Board shall appoint a secretary, who may be a 
City Officer, an employee of the city, a member of the Planning Commission or a member of the Board or 
Appeals.  

(B)      The Board shall adopt rules and bylaws in accordance with the provisions of this Chapter and the South 
Carolina Code of Laws, Title 6 chapter 29 (2000 Supplement), being S.C. Code § 6-29-790, et seq. 

(C)       Meetings of the Board shall be held at the call of the Chairman and at such other times as the Board may 
determine. All meetings of the Board shall be open to the public. The Board shall meet within 15 days after receipt 
by City Hall of the notice of appeal and the $75 application fee. Notifications of the public and neighboring 
property owners shall be in accordance with § 152.318(D) and Sec. 6-29-800 et seq. 

(D)      Every decision shall be made by the Board in accordance with § 151.317, and promptly filed in writing in the 
office of the Planning Director and shall be open to public inspection; a certified copy shall be sent by mail or 
otherwise to the applicant.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002; Am. Ord. 2006-01-17-02, passed 2-14-2006) 

 

§ 151.317 DECISIONS OF THE BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS. 

(A)      The concurring vote of three members of the Board of Appeals shall be necessary to reverse any order, 
requirement, decision or determination of the Planning Director or to decide in favor of the applicant on any matter 
upon which it is required to pass under this Chapter or to affect any variation of the Chapter.  

(B)      The Board shall keep minutes of its proceedings, showing the vote of each member upon each question, or if 
absent or failing to vote, indicating such fact, and shall keep records of its examinations and other official actions, 
all of which shall be immediately filed in the office of the Board and shall be a public record.  

(C)       On all appeals, applications and matters brought before the Board of Appeals, the Board shall inform in writing 
all the parties involved by Certified Mail  of its decisions and the reasons therefore.  

(D)      Written decisions of the Board of Zoning Appeals shall be in writing and must include Findings of Fact and 
Conclusions of Law, pursuant to S.C. Code 6-29-800(F). 

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.318 APPEALS, HEARINGS AND NOTICE. 



79 
 

(A)      Appeals to the Board may be taken by any person aggrieved or by any officer, department, board, or bureau of 
the municipality or county. Such appeal shall be taken within a reasonable time, as provided by the rules of the 
Board, by filing with the officer from whom the appeal is taken and with the Board of Appeals notice of appeal 
specifying the ground thereof. The Planning Director shall forthwith transmit to the Board all the papers 
constituting the record upon which the action appealed from was taken.  

(B)      An appeal stays all legal proceedings in furtherance of the action appealed from, unless the officer from whom 
the appeal is taken certifies to the Board, after the notice of appeal shall have been filed with him, that by reason of 
facts stated in the certificate of stay would, in his or her opinion, cause imminent peril to life and property. In such 
case, proceedings shall not be stayed otherwise than by a restraining order which may be granted by the Board or 
by a court of record on application.  

(C)       Each applicant for an appeal, or variance, shall at the time of making application pay a fee for the cost of 
advertising and mailing notices, as required by this Chapter, and the rules of the Board of Appeals. The appeal 
process will commence with the payment of the $75 application fee.  

(D)      The Board shall fix a reasonable time for the hearing of the appeal or other matter referred to it, and give public 
notice thereof by advertising for a minimum of one week in a newspaper of general circulation in the community, 
as well as due notice to the parties in interest, including all property owners within a minimum of 200 feet of the 
affected property, and decide the same within a reasonable time. Mailed notices shall be certified with a return 
receipt requested. At the hearing any party may appear in person or by agent or by attorney.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002; Am. Ord. 2006-01-17-03, passed 2-14-2006) 

 

§ 151.319 POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS. 

Pursuant to S.C. Code 6-29-780, the Board of Zoning Appeals shall have the following powers and duties:  

(A)      ADMINISTRATIVE APPEALS: To hear and decide appeals where it is alleged there is error in any order, 
requirements, decision, or determination made by the Planning Director/Zoning Administrator in the enforcement 
of this act.  

(B)       VARIANCES: To authorize upon appeal in specific cases a variance from the terms of the Chapter as will not 
be contrary to the public interest, where, owning to special conditions, a literal enforcement of the provisions of the 
Chapter will, in an individual case, result in unnecessary hardship, so that the spirit of the Chapter shall be 
observed, public safety and welfare secured, and substantial justice done. Such variance may be granted in such 
individual cases of unnecessary hardship upon a finding by the Board of Appeals that:  

(1)      There are extraordinary and exceptional conditions pertaining to the particular piece of property in question 
because of its size, shape, or topography;  

(2)      The application of the Chapter on this particular piece of property would create an unnecessary hardship;  

(3)      Such conditions are peculiar to the particular piece of property involved;  

(4)      Relief, if granted, would not cause substantial detriment to the public good or impair the purpose and intent of 
the Chapter or the comprehensive plan, provided, however, that no variance may be granted for use of land or 
building or structure that is prohibited in a given district, except as provided in § 151.107.  

A.     (C)       SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS: Special Exceptions may be approved only if the Board of Zoning Appeals finds 
that the proposed use: 

1.     Is consistent with the recommendations contained in the City’s Comprehensive Plan and the character of the base 
Zoning District “Purpose and Intent”; 

2.     Is compatible with existing uses in the vicinity and will not adversely affect the general welfare or character of the 
immediate community; 

https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/charlestoncounty-sc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=3223
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/charlestoncounty-sc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=3136
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/charlestoncounty-sc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=3289
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/charlestoncounty-sc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=3289


80 
 

3.     Adequate provision is made for such items as Setbacks and buffering (including fences and/or landscaping) to 
protect adjacent properties from the possible adverse influence of the proposed use, such as noise, Vibration, dust, 
glare, odor, traffic congestion, and similar factors; 

4.     Where applicable, will be developed in a way that will preserve and incorporate any important natural features; 
5.     Complies with all applicable rules, regulations, laws and standards of this Ordinance, including but not limited to, 

any use conditions, Zoning District standards, or Site Plan Review requirements of this Ordinance; and 
              6.     Does not hinder or endanger vehicular traffic and pedestrian movement on adjacent roads. 
  
              7.     In granting a Special Exception, the Board of Zoning Appeals may attach to it such conditions                           

regarding the location, character, or other features of the proposed Building or Structure as             the Board may 
consider advisable to protect established property values in the surrounding                             area or to promote the 
public health, safety, or general welfare. 

  
  
(D)            REMAND TO PLANNING DEPARTMENT: To review specific cases for administrative appeals, 

variances, and special exceptions, upon motion by a party or the board's own motion, and in the opinion of the 
Board, a decision to remand the case to the Planning Department/Zoning staff  if the board determines the record, 
including testimony and evidence presented is insufficient for review. A party's motion for remand may be denied 
if the board determines that the record is sufficient for review. The board must set a rehearing on the remanded 
matter without further public notice for a time certain within sixty days unless otherwise agreed to by the parties. 
The board must maintain a list of persons who express an interest in being informed when the remanded matter is 
set for rehearing, and notice of the rehearing must be mailed to these persons prior to the rehearing. Pursuant to SC 
Code 6-29-800(4) 

  

            To decide on other such maters where a decision of the Board of Zoning Appeals may be specifically required 
by the provisions of the Chapter.  

(E)       In exercising the above powers, the Board of Zoning Appeals may, in conformity with the provisions of this 
act, reverse or affirm wholly or inn part, or may modify the order, requirements, decision, or determination, and, to 
the end, shall have all the powers of the officer from whom the appeal is taken and may issue or direct the issuance 
of a permit. The Board, in execution of the duties for which appointed, may administer oaths, may subpoena 
witnesses, may take testimony, and in case of contempt, may certify such fact to the circuit court in and for the 
County of Oconee.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.320 APPEALS FROM DECISION OF THE BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS. 

Pursuant to S.C. Code 6-29-820 (A), any person who may have a substantial interest in any decision of the Board of 
Appeals may appeal any decision of the Board to the circuit court in and for the County of Oconee by filing with 
the clerk of such court a petition in writing setting forth plainly, fully and distinctly wherein such decision is 
contrary to law. Such appeal shall be filed within 30 days after the decision of the Board is rendered. Such appeal 
shall be filed within 30 days after receipt the date of the certified mailing of the decision the Board has rendered in 
your case.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/charlestoncounty-sc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=3167
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/charlestoncounty-sc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=3136
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/charlestoncounty-sc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=3273
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/charlestoncounty-sc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=3136
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/charlestoncounty-sc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=3289
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/charlestoncounty-sc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=3289
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/charlestoncounty-sc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=3223
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/charlestoncounty-sc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=2844
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/charlestoncounty-sc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=3236


81 
 

AMENDMENTS 
 

§ 151.335 AUTHORITY. 

The Zoning Code, including the Official Zoning Map of Westminster, South Carolina, may be amended from time to 
time by the City Council as herein specified, but no amendment shall become effective unless it shall have been 
proposed by or shall first have been submitted to the Planning Commission for review and recommendation. The 
Planning Commission shall have 30 days from public hearing date, within which to submit its report. If the 
Planning Commission fails to submit a report within the 30-day period, it shall be deemed to have approved the 
proposed amendment.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.336 REQUIREMENTS FOR CHANGE. 

When the public necessity, convenience, general welfare, or good zoning practice justify such action, and after the 
required review and report by the Planning Commission, the City Council may undertake the necessary steps to 
amend the Zoning Code.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.337 LIMITATIONS TO PARCELS TO BE REZONED. 

(A)      There shall be no limitation to the shape or quality of any parcel that City Council may consider for amendment 
to the Zoning Code provided the requested district is contiguous to the parcel under consideration. The requirement 
for being contiguous shall not apply to Government Districts, G-1, G-2, or G-3.  

(B)      In order to determine the contiguous nature of properties separated by railroads, streets, street intersections or 
other such dividing entities within the city, those entities should be "collapsed" thereby making the dividing entity 
nonexistent.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002; Am. Ord. 2008-12-16-02, passed 12-16-2008) 

 

§ 151.338 PROCEDURE FOR AMENDMENTS. 

Requests to amend the Zoning Code shall be processed in accordance with the following requirements:  

(A)      Initiation of amendments. A proposed amendment to the Zoning Code may be initiated by the City Council, the 
Planning Commission, or by application filed with the Planning Department, or by the owner or owners of the 
property proposed to be changed, provided, however, that action shall not be initiated for a zoning amendment 
affecting the same parcel or parcels of property, or any part thereof, and requesting the same change in district 
classification by a property owner or owners more often than once every 12 months. Initiation of the Public 
Hearing Procedures commences upon payment of the $75 application fee.  

(B)       Application procedure. 

(1)      Application forms for amendment requests shall be obtained from the Zoning Administrator. Completed forms, 
together with an application fee to cover administrative costs, plus any additional information the applicant feels to 
be pertinent will be filed with the Zoning Administrator. Any communication purporting to be an application for an 
amendment shall be regarded as mere notice to seek relief until it is made in the form required.  



82 
 

(2)      Applications for amendments must be submitted, in proper form, at least three weeks prior to a Planning 
Commission meeting in order to be heard at that meeting.  

(3)      The Zoning Administrator shall forward application fees to the City Clerk who shall supervise the application of 
same to the costs of advertising and other administrative expenses.  

(C)       Hearings by the Planning Commission Review and Recommendation 

(1)      The Secretary of the Planning Commission shall transmit all papers and other data submitted by the applicant on 
behalf of the amendment request to the Planning Commission. The Planning Commission, at a regular meeting, 
shall review and prepare a report, including its recommendation for transmittal to the City Council. All meetings of 
the Planning Commission shall be open to the public. At a meeting, any party may appear in person, by agent, or 
by attorney.  

(2)      No member of the Planning Commission shall participate in a matter in which he or she has any pecuniary or 
special interest.  

(3)      Following action by the Planning Commission, all papers, and data pertinent to the application shall be 
transmitted to the City Council for final action.  

(D)      Report of the Planning Commission.   

(1)      Following each public hearing the Planning Commission shall hold a regular meeting to review and prepare a 
written record of the conduct of each public hearing. A copy of the record shall be filed with the City Clerk for the 
public record and a copy shall accompany the Planning Commission's recommendation of the Mayor and City 
Council.  

(2)      The recommendation of the Planning Commission shall be in written form and should evaluate the proposed 
zoning amendment by answering the following questions:  

(a)       How does the proposed zoning amendment relate to and affect the City's Comprehensive Plan?  

(b)       Are development objectives and recommendations of the City's Comprehensive Plan for the area under 
consideration still valid or have conditions changed to such a degree that deviation from the Plan is warranted?  

(c)       Will the proposed amendment correct an error or deficiency in the zoning regulations?  

(d)       What benefits would the city as a whole receive from development effectuated under the proposed amendment?  

(e)       Does the cost-benefit relationship indicate that the proposed zoning amendment would be in the public interest 
cover the long-term? 

(E)       Public hearing by City Council. Before enacting an amendment to the Zoning Code, the City Council shall hold 
a public hearing. There shall be at least a minimum of 15-days' notice of the time and place of which shall be 
published in a newspaper of general circulation in the municipality. The property shall also be posted in a 
prominent place 15 days prior to the date of the public hearing. The adjacent and adjoining property owners shall 
be notified by first class mail 15 days prior to the public hearing. The City Council may, at its discretion, delegate 
the power and responsibility to hold the required public hearing to the Planning Commission for any or all 
amendments. In such cases as the Planning Commission conducts the Public Hearing, the City Council shall not be 
required to hold another before acting on the recommendation. This is permissive, however, and certainly does not 
preclude the City Council from conducting its own public hearing on the amendment.  

(Pursuant to SC Code 6-29-760, 1976 as amended) 

(F)       Changes in the zoning map. Following final action by the City Council, any necessary changes shall be made in 
the Zoning Map. A written record of the type and date of such change shall be maintained by the Planning 
Department. Refer to § 151.016.  

  



83 
 

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

§ 151.999 PENALTY. 

Any person violating any provision of this Chapter shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction, shall be 
fined up to $200 or up to 30 days in jail or both, as determined by the court for each offense. Each day such 
violation continues shall constitute a separate offense.  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

APPENDIX A: REQUIREMENTS BY DISTRICT; RR, R-1 Acre; R-25, R-20, R-15, and R-6:   
 

  
  



84 
 

  

 

 

           Zoning District:  Rural 
Residential 

R-1 Acre 
One-family 

R-25 
One-family 

R-20 
One-family 

R-15 
One-family 

R-6 
One-family 

Minimum 
lot per size 

Minimum. 
Area 

in sq. ft.  
6 acres 1 acre 25,000 20,000 15,000 6,000 

Width 
in ft. 100 C 100 C 100 C 80 C 70 C 70 C 

Minimum yard 
setback 

per lot in ft. 

Front 50 50 50 40 35 5 

Side 15 15 15 15 10 10 

Rear 40 40 40 40 35 35 

Maximum height 
of building in ft.  35 35 35 35 35 35 

Maximum 
percentage 

of lot 
coverage by 
all buildings 

 35% 35% 35% 35% 35% 30% 

Minimum sq. ft. 
per home  1400 1400 1400 1200 1800 800 

    Notes:  
A - Side yard setback to be 10 feet for the first story and five feet for each story thereafter.  

B - Total for both is a minimum of 25 feet.  
C - Width of lot to be measured at the front setback line, but in no case is the lot to 

be less than 25 feet at the right-of-way line.  

  

          



85 
 

APPENDIX B: REQUIREMENTS BY DISTRICT; GR, RM, NC  

Zoning District   GR 
Two families 

RM 
Multiple families 

NC 
Neighborhood 
Commercial 

Minimum lot per size  nimum area in 
 sq. ft.  

5,000  15,000  8,000  

Width in ft.  60 C  75 C  60  

imum yard setback per lot in ft.  Front  30  35  40  
Side  10  10 A  10 B  

Rear  25  35  20  

ximum height of building in ft.    35  50  40  
um percentage of lot coverage by all 

buildings  
  35%  35%  NA  

Minimum sq. ft. per home    480  NA  NA  
Notes:  

A - Side yard setback to be 10 feet for the first story and five feet for each story thereafter.  
B - Total for both is a minimum for 25 feet.  

  Width of lot to be measured at the front setback line, but in no case is the lot to be less than 25 feet at the 
right-of-way line.  

  

APPENDIX C: REQUIREMENTS FOR COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS & PLANNED UNIT 
DEVELOPMENTS 



86 
 

  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002; Am. Ord. 2008-12-16-04, passed 12-16-2008; Am. Ord. 2010-07-02-05, 
passed 7-20-2010) 

 

APPENDIX D: OFF-STREET PARKING REQUIREMENTS 
Principal Use Required Off-Street Parking 

Auditorium, theater, places of public assembly   pace for each four seats based on maximum capacity  
Auto service station, full service   ces for each gasoline pump, plus three spaces for each 

service rack or wash rack  
Auto service station, self-service  Two spaces for each gasoline pump  

 service station self-service with convenience store   aces for each gasoline pump plus one space for each 
300 square feet of gross floor area  

Child care centers   space for each four children per maximum capacity  
Church   pace for each four seats based on maximum capacity  

mitory, fraternity or sorority house, or other group 
dwelling  

One space for each bedroom or sleeping room  

Dwelling unit, multi-family   d one-half spaces for each efficiency or one-bedroom 
nit; two spaces for each two-bedroom unit and one 

additional space for each additional bedroom  
Dwelling unit, single-family and two-family  Two spaces for each dwelling unit  

Financial institution  ne spacer per 300 square feet of gross floor area  

Zoning District   HC Highway 
Commercial 

CC Core 
Industrial 

LI Light 
Industrial 

PUD Planned 
Unit 

Developments 
Minimum 

 lot per size  
inimum area  
in sq. ft.  

5,000  NA  40,000  87,120  

Width in ft.  100  NA  100  NA  

Minimum yard  
setback  

per lot in ft.  

Front  40  NA  100  NA  

Side  10 B  NA  50  NA  

Rear  10  NA  10 B  NA  

Maximum height  
of building in ft.  

  40  55  55  35  

Maximum percentage  
of lot coverage 
 by all buildings  

  NA  NA  NA  35%  

Minimum sq. ft.  
per home  

  NA  NA  NA  NA  

Notes:  
A - Side yard setback to be 10 feet for the first story and five feet for each story thereafter.  

B - Total for both is a minimum for 25 feet.  
C - Width of lot to be measured at the front setback line, but in no case to be less than 25 feet at the right-of-way line.  



87 
 

Funeral home   paces minimum, plus one space for each four seating 
capacity in the main assembly room  

Grocery, convenient   space for each 100 square feet of gross floor space  
Grocery or supermarket   space for each 150 square feet of gross floor space  

Hospital   ace for each patient, bed, plus one space for each 300 
square feet of office and administrative area  

Hotel, motel, or motor court   d one tenth space per rental unit plus requirement for 
any uses associated with the establishment  

ndustrial, manufacturing, and processing uses  ne spacer per 600 square feet of gross floor area  
Mobile home park   aces for each mobile home space, plus one space for 

each two employees  
Nursing home  One and one tenth space for each patient bed  

Office and professional building  ne space per 250 square feet of gross floor area  
Office, medical or dental  Five spaces per doctor or dentist  

 or private club, not dispensing alcoholic beverages   space for each 300 square feet of gross floor area  
Public utility building  ne space per 300 square feet of gross floor area  

Recreation    
 Bowling alleys  Five spaces for each bowling lane  

 neral outdoor recreational areas, parks, and the like  ne space for each 5,000 square feet of land area  
 Golf course   paces for each hole, plus requirements for any other 

associated use  
 r or outdoor swimming pools (except when built as an 

accessory to a residential use)  
 ace for 100 square feet of water area or one space per 

four spectator seats, whichever is greater  
 Softball, baseball, or football fields  ce per 3,000 square feet of field area or one space per 

six spectator seats, whichever is greater  
 nis courts: Indoor or outdoor (except when built as an 

accessory)  
 paces per court or one space per four spectator seats, 

whichever is greater  
Residential, for Boarding House & Short-Term Rental Use One space per bedroom, including the bedrooms 

 belonging to the Owner and dependents  

Restaurants, all others   space for each 100 square feet of gross floor area  
urants, fast-food types including those with drive-ins 

and/or distinguished by disposable dishware  
One space for each 50 150 square feet of  

gross floor area  
Retail store and personal service shops ne space per 200 square feet of gross floor area  
Sales and service not listed elsewhere  ne space per 200 square feet of gross floor area  

Schools    
 Colleges or Universities   n comparable building uses as prescribed elsewhere in 

this schedule  
 Elementary and Junior High  wo spaces per 200 square feet of gross floor area  

 Senior High, Business and Vocational   ce for each vehicle operated by or for the school, plus 
 spaces per classroom, plus two spaces per office plus 
one space for every four seats of maximum seating 

capacity in the main assembly room  
Shopping Center   space for each 200 square feet of gross floor space  

ns, discos, night clubs and/or public or private clubs 
(dispensing alcoholic beverages)  

king spaces equal to 30% of capacity in persons as 
determined by the fire marshal  

olesaling, warehousing and distribution operations  ne space per 500 square feet of gross floor area  
 king space requirements for a use not specifically listed above shall be the same as for listed use of similar 

characteristics of parking demand generations.  



88 
 

  

(Am. Ord. 2002-07-16-01, passed 8-20-2002) 

 

CHAPTER 152: SIGN REGULATIONS 
 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 

§ 152.001 PURPOSE. 

(A)      The regulations herein shall apply and govern all signs located in the city. This section establishes the standards 
for the design, location, and characteristics of signs that are permitted as principal or accessory uses. No sign is 
permitted in the city except in conformity with this section.  

(B)      The purposes of these sign regulations are to:  

(1)       Encourage effective communication. Encourage the effective use of signs as a means of communication in the 
city;  

(2)       Maintain a pleasing appearance. Maintain and enhance the pleasing look of the city, which attracts to the city 
major events of local, regional, and statewide interest;  

(3)       Attract business. Preserve Westminster as a community that is attractive to business;  

(4)       Improve safety. Improve pedestrian and traffic safety;  

(5)       Minimize adverse effects. Minimize the possible adverse effects of signs on nearby public and private property; 
and  

(6)       Ensure compatibility. Ensure that signs in the community are compatible with the high quality image that the 
city seeks and in which the city continuously invests.  

(7)       Freedom of speech. It is not the purpose or intent of this chapter to impede or diminish any Constitutional 
Rights afforded to any individual or entity.  

(Ord. 2011-07-26-01, passed 7-26-2011) 

 

§ 152.002 SIGN DEFINITIONS.  

(1)       BUSINESS IDENTIFICATION PYLON SIGN. A BUSINESS IDENTIFICATION PYLON SIGN is a sign 
that contains the name of the business enterprise located on the same premises as the sign erected on a single pole 
or multiple poles, which contains only the names, or the nature of the business conducted in the premises on which 
it is located.  

(2)       BUSINESS IDENTIFICATION SIGN. A BUSINESS IDENTIFICATION SIGN is a sign that contains the 
name of the business enterprise located on the same premises as the sign and the nature of the business conducted 
there.  

(3)       FREESTANDING SIGN STRUCTURE. A FREESTANDING SIGN STRUCTURE may contain a sign or 
signs on one side only or it may be an A-shaped structure or one containing signs back to back. A 
FREESTANDING SIGN STRUCTURE is one sign.  



89 
 

(4)       ILLUMINATED SIGN. When artificial illumination techniques are used in any fashion to project the message 
on a sign, that sign shall be an ILLUMINATED SIGN. 

(5)       PORTABLE SIGN. A moveable sign placed on a temporary basis on a lot, such sign being attached to a chassis 
with wheels or to a vehicle or designed to be transported from one location to another for uses generally accorded 
to signs.  

(6)       SIGN AREA. The area of a sign is the area of the face of the sign formed by a perimeter consisting of a series 
of straight lines enclosing all parts of the sign. The area of a freestanding sign structure is the area of the face or 
faces on one side only. 

  

For the purposes of this section, certain terms and words are hereby defined. As used in this section, unless the context 
otherwise indicates, the following words and terms shall have the meaning ascribed to them:  

ABANDONED SIGN. A permanent principal use sign on property containing a building or activity that has ceased 
operations. Permanent principal use signs on property shall be considered abandoned when there is clear evidence 
that a business or activity has vacated the building or grounds; provided, however, that this definition shall not 
apply to any case where a business or activity is temporarily suspended and there is evidence that the business or 
activity will resume operations within a six-month period.  

ADVERTISING DEVICE. Any structure or device erected or intended for the purpose of displaying advertising or for 
which is designed to or attracts attention to the premises, situated upon or attached to real property. For purposes of 
this chapter, an advertising device is a "sign."  

ANIMATED SIGN. A sign with action, motion, sound, or changing colors which accomplishes such action, motion, 
sound, or changing colors with or without electrical energy. This includes signs with lights or other illuminating 
devices that blink, flash, fluctuate, or have a changing light intensity, brightness, or color. This definition does not 
include a "swinging sign" or "multiple message sign" as defined by this section.  

AREA OF SIGN. The area within a continuous perimeter enclosing the limits of writing, representation, emblem, 
figure, or character together with any frame, other material, open space, or color forming an integral part of the 
display or used to differentiate such writing, representation, emblem, figure, or character from the background 
against which it is placed. For double-faced signs, only the largest display face shall be measured in computing the 
sign area, or only one face shall be measured in computing sign area if the display faces are the same size. The 
display of street address on a ground sign, wall, or window shall not be computed in determining the maximum 
allowable area of a ground, wall, or window sign.  

AWNING. An architectural projection or shelter projecting from and supported by the exterior wall of a building and 
composed of a covering of rigid or non-rigid materials and/or fabric on a supporting framework that may be either 
permanent or retractable.  

AWNING SIGN. An awning that contains letters, numbers, symbols, pictures, logos, or visual display, or other 
communication, attached, painted on, or made an integral part of an awning. For purposes of this section, "awning 
signs" shall be considered "wall signs."  

BANNER. A sign with or without characters, letters, illustrations, or ornamentation applied to cloth, paper, plastic, or 
natural or synthetic fabric of any kind with only such material for a backing. For purposes of this code section, a 
"banner" is a "sign" and as such shall be considered only as a temporary sign when used outdoors.  

BUILDING MARKER. Any sign cut into a masonry surface or made of bronze or other permanent material.  

BUSINESS IDENTIFICATION PYLON SIGN. A BUSINESS IDENTIFICATION PYLON SIGN is a sign that 
contains the name of the business enterprise located on the same premises as the sign erected on a single pole or 
multiple poles, which contains only the names, or the nature of the business conducted in the premises on which it 
is located.  



90 
 

BUSINESS IDENTIFICATION SIGN. A BUSINESS IDENTIFICATION SIGN is a sign that contains the name of 
the business enterprise located on the same premises as the sign and the nature of the business conducted there.  

  

CANOPY, ATTACHED. A multi-sided structure or architectural projection supported by attachment to a building on 
one or more sides and also supported by columns at additional points. Signs placed on attached canopies are 
considered "wall signs" for the purposes of this section.  

CANOPY, FREESTANDING. A multi-sided structure or architectural projection supported by columns. Signs placed 
on freestanding canopies are considered "wall signs" for the purposes of this section.  

CANOPY SIGN. A sign on a canopy. For purposes of this section, a sign on a canopy is a "wall sign" (see figure, 
"Types of Attached Signs").  

DERELICT SIGN. A sign that is dilapidated or in such condition as to create a hazard or nuisance, or to be unsafe or 
fail to comply with the building or electrical codes applicable in the jurisdiction.  

DIRECTORY SIGN FOR MULTI-TENANT DEVELOPMENT. A sign, distinguished from a project entrance sign, 
which is allowed on a premise with more than one tenant or occupants of a building. It may be freestanding or a 
building (wall) sign. Such signs are not usually visible from the public street right-of-way of a development which 
provides initial access to the property, but rather are located within the development, along a driveway, access 
way, or parking aisle.  

DOUBLE-FACED SIGN. A sign which has two display areas against each other or where the interior angle formed by 
the display areas is 60 degrees or less, where one face is designed to be seen from one direction and the other face 
from another direction. Only one face shall be used in computing allowable sign area.  

ERECT. To construct, build, raise, assemble, place, affix, attach, create, paint, draw, or in any other way bring into 
being or establish, but it shall not include any of the foregoing activities when performed as an incident to the 
change of advertising message or the normal maintenance or repair of a sign structure.  

FLAG. A sign with or without characters, letters, illustrations, or ornamentation applied to cloth, paper, plastic, or 
natural or synthetic fabric of any kind with only such material for a backing. For purposes of this chapter, except as 
otherwise provided herein, a FLAG is a "sign."  

FREESTANDING SIGN STRUCTURE. A FREESTANDING SIGN STRUCTURE may contain a sign or signs on 
one side only or it may be an A-shaped structure or one containing signs back to back. A FREESTANDING SIGN 
STRUCTURE is one sign.  

  

FRONTAGE, BUILDING. The width in linear feet of the front exterior wall of a particular building in which an 
establishment is located.  

FRONTAGE, ROAD. The distance in linear feet of each lot where it abuts the right-of-way of any public street.  

GROUND SIGN. A permanently affixed sign which is wholly independent of a building for support (i.e., 
freestanding). A ground sign may consist of more than one sign panel, provided all such sign panels are attached to 
or integrated into one sign structure.  

HEIGHT OF SIGN. The distance in vertical feet from the ground to the highest point of the sign, whether that highest 
point is the frame of the sign face or panel or the support of the sign.  

HOLIDAY DECORATIONS. Displays erected on a seasonal basis in observance of religious, national, or state 
holidays, which are not intended to be permanent.  

ILLUMINATED SIGN. When artificial illumination techniques are used in any fashion to project the message on a 
sign, that sign shall be an ILLUMINATED SIGN. 



91 
 

  

INFLATABLE SIGN. Any sign that is or can be filled with three cubic feet or more of air or gas.  

INTERNALLY ILLUMINATED SIGN. A sign illuminated by an internal light source which is viewed through a 
translucent panel.  

LANDSCAPED ISLAND. The area directly under and surrounding a sign. This area may be landscaped with grass; 
mulch (natural or synthetic); gravel or any such material as to provide coverage of the area disturbed during the 
erection of any sign.  

MARQUEE SIGN. A sign painted on, attached to, or hung from a marquee. For purposes of this chapter, MARQUEE 
SIGNS shall be considered "wall signs."  

MONUMENT SIGN. A sign where the structural part of the sign below the sign face encompasses an area at least 
40% of the area of the sign face but no more than one and one half times the area of the sign face, and which is 
composed of brick, stone, or other material approved by the Zoning Official. A MONUMENT SIGN is a ground 
sign.  

MULTIPLE MESSAGE SIGN. A sign, display, or device which changes the message or copy on the sign 
electronically by movement or rotation of panels or slats.  

NONCONFORMING SIGN. Any sign which lawfully existed on the effective date of this chapter but which does not 
conform to the provisions of this chapter, or which does not comply with this chapter due to amendments to this 
chapter since the date of erection of the sign.  

PENNANT. A small, triangular or rectangular flag or multiples thereof, made of lightweight plastic, fabric, or other 
material, individually supported or attached to each other by means of a string, rope, or other material and meant to 
be stretched across or fastened to buildings, or between poles and/or structures, and which is designed to move in 
the wind. For purposes of this chapter, pennants are "signs."  

  

PORTABLE SIGN. A moveable sign placed on a temporary basis on a lot, such sign being attached to a chassis with 
wheels or to a vehicle or designed to be transported from one location to another for uses generally accorded to 
signs.  

(1)       Any sign whether on its own trailer, wheels, or otherwise, which is designed to be transported from one place to 
another. It is characteristic of a portable sign that the space provided for advertising messages may be changed at 
will by the replacement of lettering or symbols (i.e., a changeable copy sign). Even if the wheels or supports of 
such sign are removed and the sign converted and attached, temporarily or permanently, to the ground or other 
structure, said sign shall remain a portable sign.  

(2)       In addition, the following shall be deemed a portable sign: A sign mounted or painted upon a parked vehicle 
that is positioned for the primary purpose of acting as a sign exposed to the public and is not in use in the ordinary 
course of carrying out its transportation function.  

PORTICO. A porch or walkway, open to the outside air, that is covered by a roof supported by columns or pillars, 
typically leading to the entrance of a building. Signs attached to porticos are considered "wall signs" for purposes 
of this chapter.  

PRINCIPAL USE SIGN. Any notice or advertisement, which is permitted in conjunction with (but not necessarily 
containing copy specifically related to a single principal use or single principal building located on the property, 
and which may display a noncommercial, commercial, or other message, the content of which is not regulated by 
this chapter.  

PROJECT ENTRANCE SIGN. A sign located at a discernible entrance into a property consisting of more than one 
subdivided lot or developed with more than one principal building (e.g., a particular residential subdivision, multi-
family residential development, or office or industrial park.  



92 
 

PROJECTING SIGN. A sign projecting more than 14 inches from the outside wall or walls of any building, or 
canopy, portico, or awning, upon which it is located (see also figure, "Types of Attached Signs").  

ROOF SIGN. A sign projecting higher than the front building wall or any sign supported by or attached to said roof.  

  

SIDEWALK SIGN. A movable sign not secured or attached to the ground or surface upon which it is located.  

SANDWICHBOARD SIGN. Any sign designated or constructed in such a manner that it is hinged at the top and can 
be moved or relocated without involving any structural or support changes.  

SIGN. A lettered, numbered, symbolic, pictorial, illuminated, or colored visual display, device, or communication 
designed or used for the purpose of identifying, announcing, directing, informing, or bring to the attention of others 
the subject thereon, that is visible from the public right-of-way, a driveway or parking lot with access to a public 
right-of-way, or from an adjacent property, except as specifically noted otherwise in this chapter. For purposes of 
this chapter, the term "sign" includes but is not limited to "banners," "balloons," "flags," "pennants," "streamers," 
"windblown devices," and "advertising devices." Furthermore, the term "sign" includes the sign structure, supports, 
lighting system, and any attachments, ornaments, or other features used to draw the attention of the observers. 
Signable area: In the case of a wall sign, signable area shall be the building face on which the sign is proposed, 
excluding windows and doors. In the case of marquees or canopies, signable area shall be the area of the marquee 
or canopy wall on which the sign is proposed. For window signs, signable area shall be measured and calculated on 
the basis of the proportion of area within each individual window frame, not the total window area of all building 
windows visible from a street.  

SIGN AREA. The area of a sign is the area of the face of the sign formed by a perimeter consisting of a series of 
straight lines enclosing all parts of the sign. The area of a freestanding sign structure is the area of the face or faces 
on one side only. 

  

SIGN FACE. That part of a sign that is or can be used for advertising purposes.  

STREAMERS. See "Pennants."  

SWINGING SIGN. A sign other than an animated sign as defined by this chapter, where the sign copy area is attached 
to a sign structure in a way that can be set in motion with pressure, and where the sign structure is attached to a 
building at a height above normal eye level. This term does not include any freestanding signs. A SWINGING 
SIGN may be considered in lieu of permitted wall signage.  

TEMPORARY SIGN. A sign of a nonpermanent nature and erected for a limited duration.  

VISIBLE. Capable of being seen (whether or not legible) without visual aid by a person of normal visual acuity.  

WALL SIGN. A single-sided sign with one visible face applied to or mounted to the wall or surface of a building or 
structure, the display surface of which if attached to a wall or portico and does not project more than 14 inches 
from the outside wall of such building or structure, or if on an awning or canopy, is flush with the material of said 
awning or canopy (see also figure, "Types of Attached Signs").  

WINDBLOWN OR AIR-BLOWN DEVICE. Any device not otherwise specifically defined in this Code Section, that 
is designed to inform or attract, whether or not such device carries a message, and which all or part of the device is 
set in motion by wind or mechanically compressed air. For purposes of this Code Section, windblown devices are 
"signs."  

WINDOW SIGN. A sign installed on or within two feet of an exterior window or door and intended to be visible from 
the exterior of the building. Displays which show products or depict services sold on the premises and which are 
more than two feet from an exterior window or door shall not be classified as window signs (see also figure, 
"Types of Attached Signs").  



93 
 

(Ord. 2011-07-26-01, passed 7-26-2011; Am. Ord. 2012-04-17-02, passed 4-17-2012) 

 

  

SIGN STANDARDS 
 

§ 152.010 GENERAL PROVISIONS.  

(A)      A permit shall be required for the erection, alteration, or reconstruction of any sign intended for view from the 
public right-of-way unless otherwise noted, and shall be issued by the Zoning Administrator in accordance with 
this chapter.  

(B)      All signs shall be constructed and installed in accordance with the structural and safety requirements of the 
International Building Code. All signs shall be maintained in sound structural condition. No sign shall be allowed 
to deteriorate to a condition in which it requires repairs or renovations in an amount that exceeds 50% of its current 
replacement cost. This includes signs which are defaced, missing some or all illumination or characters, and whose 
finishes or facings are chipping, peeling, cracking, or broken in any way shall be deemed to be in disrepair. Signs 
that deteriorate to such a condition that they are in violation of this chapter shall be removed, repaired, or replaced 
within 60 days. If a sign is repaired or replaced, it shall comply with the standards in this section at the time of 
replacement.  

(C)       No part of a freestanding sign, while permitted in required setbacks, shall be located closer than ten feet to any 
property line.  

(D)      No signs, except as otherwise provided, shall exceed the height limitations of the district in which they are 
located.  

(E)       Illuminated signs or sign lighting devices shall employ only lights emitting a light of constant intensity and no 
sign shall be illuminated by or contain flashing, intermittent rotating or moving light or lights. No sign or lighting 
device shall be placed or directed to permit the beams and illumination to be directed or beamed upon a public 
road, highway, sidewalk or adjacent premises or residence, or skyward so as to cause a traffic hazard or nuisance.  

(F)       The placement of signs shall ensure visibility at intersections and ingress and egress drives in accordance with § 
152.068.  

(Ord. 2011-07-26-01, passed 7-26-2011; Am. Ord. 2012-04-17-02, passed 4-17-2012) 

 

§ 152.011 APPLICABILITY. 

(A)      General. Unless exempted in accordance with this chapter, no sign allowed by this section shall be erected, 
repaired, altered, relocated, maintained or displayed without first being issued a sign permit and complying with 
the relevant standards of this section.  

(B)      Responsibility for compliance. Review for compliance with the standards of this section shall occur at the time 
of application for a sign permit, site plan, minor subdivision, and preliminary plat for subdivision, planned 
development or zoning permit, whichever is appropriate.  

(C)       Termination. If a business discontinues the use of a site, signs used by the business that were previously erected 
on the site, or off-premise freestanding signs shall be considered as abandoned and shall be removed or covered 
within 180 days of vacation of the site. It shall be the responsibility of the owner of the land to remove all 
abandoned signs.  



94 
 

(Ord. 2011-07-26-01, passed 7-26-2011) 

 

§ 152.012 PROHIBITED SIGNS. 

The following signs are prohibited in the city unless otherwise permitted by City Council.  

(A)      Signs imitating warning signals. No sign shall display intermittent lights resembling the flashing lights 
customarily used in traffic signals or in police, fire, ambulance, or rescue vehicles, nor shall any sign use the words 
"stop", "danger", or any other phrase, symbol, or character in a manner that might mislead or confuse the driver of 
a motor vehicle.  

(B)      Flashing, animated or moving signs. Flashing, animated, non-stationary or rotating signs or appurtenances to 
signs, or signs that are not effectively shielded to prevent beams or rays of light from being directed at the main-
traveled way of the street and that are of such intensity or brilliance as to cause glare or to impair the vision of any 
driver of any motor vehicle, or which may otherwise interfere with any driver's operation of a motor vehicle or 
pose a hazard to traffic safety. This includes signs or other displays with either kinetic or illusionary motion 
powered by natural, manual, mechanical, electrical or other means, including but not limited to flags having 
commercial messages, and all pennants, banners, streamers, propellers, and discs, as well as flashing signs, signs 
with illuminated elements that are used to simulate the impression of motion, and searchlights or beacons.  

(C)       Signs in the public rights-of-way. No signs, whether temporary or permanent, except traffic signs, signals, or 
information signs erected by a public agency approved by the Zoning Administrator are permitted within any street 
or highway right-of-way including bridges and overpasses.  

(D)      Signs obscuring official signage/signals. Signs located or illuminated to interfere with the effectiveness of or 
obscure an official traffic sign, device or signal, such as by providing a background of colored lights blending with 
traffic signal lights or that might otherwise reasonably confuse a motorist when viewed from a normal approach 
position of a vehicle at a distance of up to 400 feet.  

(E)       Signs inside sight triangles. On any corner lot no sign shall be erected or placed in a manner to impede or 
obstruct vision between a height of two and one-half and eight feet above the center line grades of the intersecting 
streets in the area bounded by the street lines of such corner lots and a line joining points along said street lines 50 
feet from the point of the intersection.  

(F)       Certain attached and painted signs. Signs painted on or attached to trees, fence posts, and telephone or other 
utility poles, rocks or other natural features, the roofs of buildings, pavement of any street or sidewalk, or on other 
unapproved supporting structures outside of the public right-of-way.  

(G)      Fluttering ribbons and banners. Fluttering ribbons, banners, wind-blown or air-blown devices, or similar 
devices are prohibited within the NC, HC, CC, and LI Districts, except the flags of governments and their agencies 
or as otherwise listed in this chapter for special events. Placement of banners on or between sign supports, 
buildings, utility poles, or otherwise outside of the allowed sign face is prohibited.  

(H)      Vehicular signs. Any sign displayed on a parked trailer or other vehicle where the primary purpose of the 
vehicle is to advertise a product, service, business, or other activity. This regulation shall permit the use of business 
logos, identification or advertising on vehicles primarily and actively used for business purposes.  

(I)        Portable signs. Portable signs will not be allowed as freestanding on-premises signs within the city limits.  

(J)        Billboards. New billboards are prohibited. Billboards, for the purposes of this chapter, are signs used for off-
site advertising for hire or general advertising; and the sign is a principal use of a parcel. Companies have the right 
to maintain any non-conforming billboard sign in existence at the time of adoption of this chapter. However, this 
right shall be terminated and cease to exist when the billboard structure is destroyed or is damaged. A billboard 
structure is considered damaged when the structural support has failed either by fracture or exceeding its yield 
point. No nonconforming billboard shall be structurally altered, enlarged, moved or replaced.  



95 
 

(K)       Roof signs. No signs are permitted on the roofs of any building.  

(Ord. 2011-07-26-01, passed 7-26-2011) 

 

§ 152.013 SIGNS FOR WHICH A PERMIT IS NOT REQUIRED. 

(A)      Including one home occupation sign as allowed in this division (17).  

(B)      A permit is not required for the following types of signs in any zoning district. However, such signs shall 
conform to the applicable requirements set forth in this section.  

(1)       Traffic, directional, warning, or information signs authorized by any public agency.  

(2)       Traffic safety and traffic directional signs (including direction of travel, speed limits, and the like) along private 
streets and driveways, and in off-street parking lots that are installed per the requirements of the Zoning 
Administrator and which do not exceed four square feet each.  

(3)       Public notice signs and signs of a public interest, erected by or on the order of a public officer in the 
performance of their duty.  

(4)       One non-illuminated "for sale,", "for rent", or "for lease" sign not exceeding six square feet in area in residential 
districts and 20 square feet in other than residential districts and located at least ten feet back from the street right-
of-way line, unless attached to the front wall of a building. In addition, realty directional signs not to exceed two 
square feet are allowed from 6:00 a.m. Friday until 6:00 a.m. Monday of any calendar week at the intersections or 
subdivision entrance leading to the property being advertised. Real estate signs must be removed within seven days 
following the property closing.  

(5)       Signs erected in connection with elections or political campaigns. A "Political Sign Application" must be 
completed with an accompanying map indicating the locations of all the signs. A cash (or money order) 
performance bond must be posted with the City Treasurer in the amount of $250. This is refundable in its entirety 
after the city has been notified of the removal and has verified such removal of all the candidate's signs. Such signs 
shall be removed within seven days following the election or conclusion of the campaign. After the seven days 
have expired and all of the signs have not been removed, the bond will be cashed by the city and the city will use 
those funds to defray the costs of removal and disposal. No such sign may exceed 16 square feet in surface area. In 
accordance with S.C. law, no such political signs shall be placed within 200 feet of any building in which an 
election poll is being conducted. Signs are not permitted in the public right-of-way and must be confined to private 
property with the permission of the property owner. Efforts shall be made to contact the campaign headquarters for 
any signs that shall appear within the city limits that have not been covered by a performance bond. When 
contacted, notice shall be given to the campaign headquarters that the required performance bond payment shall be 
made within ten days of the notice or the campaign signs will be removed. If efforts to contact the campaign 
headquarters are unsuccessful, the efforts to contact them shall be documented and the campaign signs will be 
removed after ten days. Furthermore, any such campaign signs that have been removed by the city shall be held for 
an additional ten days and then, if not retrieved by the campaign personnel, the signs shall be discarded.  

(6) (a) On site directional signs provided such sign bears no commercial message and does not exceed four square feet 
in area. Also, signs not oriented or intended to be legible from a public right-of-way, private road or private 
driveway, including signs or stickers which are designed to be read only from close range (i.e., five feet), attached 
to a device or structure more than 25 feet from the right-of-way of a road, not to exceed four square feet each sign 
or sticker. Examples include but are not limited to the following: lettering, credit card stickers, and inspection 
certificates on gasoline pumps; "flammable" signs on enclosures for fuel canisters, and similar information.  

(b)      Signs attached or integrated into a gasoline pump, automatic bank teller machine, or drive through component of 
a fast food restaurant, which give operational instructions to users, the price of the product, the brand name of the 
product, or descriptive information about the product. Display/ menu boards located next to drive-through lanes are 



96 
 

allowed provided they do not exceed six feet in height or 36 square feet in area and shall be limited to one per 
ordering station. 

(7)       Sandwich board signs are allowed in all commercial zoning districts. They will be limited to a maximum area 
of nine square feet in area per side and cannot exceed 42 inches in height. They shall not be placed more than five 
feet from the front primary entrance of the business and be displayed only during business hours of the business 
utilizing the sandwich board. Only one sandwich board sign per business is allowed and they shall not be allowed 
within a roadway or public right of way, except in cases where the Zoning Administrator may approve a permit for 
it to be located within a public sidewalk directly adjacent to a business. In such cases it shall not be placed so as to 
cause the width of the sidewalk to be reduced below four feet in width, not shall it prevent free ingress or egress 
from any door, window or fire escape.  

(8)       Street address identifiers and building identification numbers on multi-tenant buildings located in the NC, HC, 
CC, and LI Districts, which are essential to the location of such buildings as long as such sign does not exceed four 
square feet of copy area and do not contain a commercial message.  

(9)       Bulletin boards, which are defined as permanent signs which primarily display the name of a noncommercial 
place of public assembly and announces the upcoming events of that organization but is not intended to be read 
from the public right of way. To not require a permit, such a sign shall not exceed 15 square feet of copy area or 
five feet in height. Signs of this type shall be restricted to one per parcel of land.  

(10)    Signs to identify a new subdivision development or announcing new buildings or projects, erected after the 
commencement of construction. Signs will not exceed 25 square feet in residential districts, or 100 square feet in 
non-residential zones, is not illuminated and shall be set back at least ten feet from any street right of way or 
boundary line of the subdivision land. The signs may not be illuminated and must be removed prior to the 
completion of 90% of the development or upon erection of the approved subdivision ground sign, whichever 
occurs first.  

(11)    Signs identifying a project under construction which denote the name of the project, the architect, engineer, 
contractor, owner, etc., as long as such sign does not exceed 25 square feet in residential districts, or 100 square 
feet in non-residential zones, is not illuminated, and is removed within 30 days of receipt of certificate of 
occupancy. Each construction site shall be limited to one construction sign per road frontage.  

(12)    Signs on the interior side of window glass are permitted. Signs may be hung inside the window, painted, affixed, 
or etched on the glass, or included within stained glass. The signage shall cover no more than 25% of the total 
window area on the side of the building on which it is displayed. For commercial zoning districts and uses, such 
signs can advertise the business, merchandise, services, and/or events within the business/institute or within the 
community, help wanted, coming soon, open/closed, going out of business, real estate, contractor/builder, auction, 
warning, directions, short-term personal information/event signs, and expressive/seasonal signs.  

(13)    Decorative flags and banners which contain no commercial message when displayed on a residence or at the 
entrance to a subdivision or apartment complex.  

(14)    Holiday lights and decorations.  

(15)    Handicapped parking signs, when required per local, state or federal law.  

(16) (a) Murals may be painted on the walls of buildings provided that said murals are non-advertising and do not 
display lewd or illegal portrayals. Murals depicting historical events from the city, the state or the nation are 
encouraged. All murals must receive prior approval from the Planning Commission.  

(b)      In any case where a sign of a certain size is exempted by this section and an applicant desires to erect a larger 
size sign than the area of sign exempted but said sign is not allowed, said sign shall only be permitted upon 
approval of a variance in accordance with the provisions of this chapter.  

(17)    One allowable home occupation sign, provided it is non-illuminating, no larger than four square feet and 
mounted against a wall of the principal building shall be allowed.  



97 
 

(Ord. 2011-07-26-01, passed 7-26-2011; Am. Ord. 2012-03-20-01, passed 3-20-2012) 

  
  
  
  
 

REGULATIONS APPLYING TO SPECIFIC TYPES OF SIGNS 
 

§ 152.020 GENERAL PROVISIONS. 

A permit shall be obtained prior to the erection, installation, or display of any signs except those as described in § 
152.012. The following permanent signs and no others shall be allowed, subject to the issuance of a sign permit 
and compliance with all applicable development standards of this article. The following regulations apply to the 
following specified types of signs.  

(Ord. 2011-07-26-01, passed 7-26-2011) 

 

§ 152.021 WALL SIGNS. 

Signs on the wall of a building (including signs attached flat against the wall, painted wall signs and projecting signs) 
shall meet the following requirements:  

(A)      Allowable area. If there is no ground sign on the site or developed lot, one and one-half square feet of wall 
signage shall be permitted for each lineal foot of the building front of the principal building. If a ground sign is on 
the site or developed lot, then only one square foot of wall signage shall be permitted for each lineal foot of the 
building front of the principal building.  

(B)       Double frontage lots. With regard to wall sign allowances, if a building, structure, or freestanding canopy faces 
more than one road frontage, each wall facing a road frontage shall be permitted to have the sign area specified for 
such building, structure, or freestanding canopy in this section.  

(C)       Signs on the front surface of a building. The total area of signs on the exterior front surface of a building shall 
not exceed 20% of the front surface of the building, as long as the figure does not exceed the total amount of sign 
area permitted within the zoning district where the sign or signs are to be located.  

(D)      Signs on the side and rear surface of a building. The total area of signs on a side or rear surface of a building 
shall not exceed 25% of the exterior side or rear surface of the building, respectively, as long as this figure does not 
exceed the total amount of sign area permitted within the Zoning District where the sign or signs are to be located.  

(E)       Projecting signs. Wall signs attached flat against a wall may extend not more than 24 inches from the wall. 
Signs projecting from a wall may be located no closer than 18 inches to a vertical plane at the street curb line. A 
projecting sign shall not extend above the top of the structure. In no case shall signs project beyond property lines 
except that signs may project over public sidewalks in the CC district provided that the minimum height above 
grade or sidewalk level of such signs shall be at least ten feet.  

(Ord. 2011-07-26-01, passed 7-26-2011) 

 

§152.022 GROUND SIGNS. 



98 
 

(A)      One ground sign is allowed for each developed site, lot or parcel. Where a site or parcel fronts on more than one 
street, one additional ground sign is permitted for each additional street upon which is fronts.  

(B)      With regard to ground sign allowances, if a property faces more than one road frontage, each road frontage shall 
be permitted to have the number of signs and sign area specified for such property in this chapter.  

(C)       Where two or more detached buildings occupy the same lot or parcel, only one ground sign for the aggregate 
business shall be permitted per street frontage.  

(D)      Where two or more attached buildings occupy the same site, lot or parcel, only one ground sign for the 
aggregate business shall be permitted per street frontage.  

(E)       The sign area allotted to one road frontage or building frontage shall not be transferred to another road frontage 
or building frontage.  

(F)       Landscaped islands shall be required to be placed around all new signs within 30 days of sign erection. 
Shrubbery and/or plantings must not exceed a height that would interfere with foot or vehicle traffic or visibility of 
the sign. At any time an existing sign is altered or improved, not including regular maintenance, the landscaped 
island must be installed in accordance with the requirements for a new sign within 90 days of notification from the 
Zoning Official.  

(G)      Free-standing signs shall meet International Building Code structural provisions and UL (Underwriter's 
Laboratories) electrical requirements.  

(Ord. 2011-07-26-01, passed 7-26-2011) 

 

§ 152.023 SIGNS ON CORNER AND DOUBLE-FRONTAGE LOTS. 

(A)      Wall signs. With regard to wall sign allowances, if a building, structure, or freestanding canopy faces more than 
one road frontage, each wall facing a road frontage shall be permitted to have the sign area specified for such 
building, structure, or freestanding canopy in this section.  

(B)      Ground signs. With regard to ground sign allowances, if a property faces more than one road frontage, each 
road frontage shall be permitted to have the number of signs and sign area specified for such property in this 
chapter.  

(C)       Transfer of allowances between road frontages. The sign area allotted to one road frontage or building frontage 
shall not be transferred to another road frontage or building frontage.  

(Ord. 2011-07-26-01, passed 7-26-2011) 

 

§ 152.024 SIGNS PERMITTED IN RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS. 

Within residential districts as delineated by the Westminster Zoning Ordinance, permanent signs are permitted subject 
to the provisions as set forth herein.  

(A)      Signs for which permits are not required.  

(B)       Signs may be permitted at the main entrances to subdivisions or to planned unit or multi-family developments 
that consist of 36 or more dwelling units subject to the approval of the Westminster Zoning Official. One sign may 
be permitted, on each side of any entrance, if such sign is on private property. No such sign may be located in a 
median unless approved by the Westminster Zoning Official.  

(1)      All large residential signs shall be integrally designed as a part of a permanently constructed and maintained 
wall, fence, or similar feature or shall be a ground sign. All such areas shall be landscaped. A large residential sign 



99 
 

shall not exceed 75 square feet in size. The maximum height of such sign shall be four feet when constructed as a 
ground sign. A ground sign which is integrated into a brick, stone, or wood architectural feature or an earth berm, 
all of which shall be permanently landscaped, may exceed four feet in height to a maximum of seven feet.  

(2)      Any large residential sign and the attendant landscaped area shall be owned and maintained either by the 
owner/developer or by a legally established homeowner's association. Any lighting on such signs shall be 
integrated into the entrance feature and shall be subdued and shall light only such sign. No light shall shine or 
reflect on or into any nearby residential structure.  

(C)       For multiple family dwellings, group dwellings, mobile home parks, attached dwellings/ duplexes and for 
buildings other than dwellings, one non-illuminated business identification sign or bulletin board per entrance, not 
exceeding 24 square feet in area. Such sign or bulletin board shall be set back at least ten feet from any street right-
of-way line.  

(D) (1) A public facilities activity as defined by Chapter 94, may have one civic sign constructed as a ground sign and 
one as a wall sign. A ground sign shall not exceed four feet in height and 48 square feet in size. Ground signs 
which are integrated into a brick, stone, or wood architectural feature or an earth berm, all of which shall be 
permanently landscaped, may exceed four feet in height to a maximum of seven feet. Ground signs may not be 
located in the right-of-way. Civic signs shall be set back from the street right-of-way a minimum of ten feet.  

(2)      A wall sign shall not exceed 32 square feet in size. Civic signs may be illuminated by indirect means or with 
luminous background. Indirect lighting shall not exceed 50 foot candles, and a luminous background shall not 
exceed 90 foot lamberts in brightness. In no event shall the light from any sign exceed one foot candle at the lot 
line.  

(E)       A home occupation sign in a residential district is permitted provided the dimensions do not exceed four square 
feet. Only one sign per residence is authorized.  

(Ord. 2011-07-26-01, passed 7-26-2011) 

 

SIGNS PERMITTED IN NON-RESIDENTIAL ZONING DISTRICTS 
 

§ 152.030 PERMITTED SIGNS AND CONDITIONS. 

The following types of signs are permitted in the commercial and industrial districts:  

(A)      Permitted signs. All signs permitted in residential districts are permitted in commercial and industrial districts.  

(B)       Allowable area. In addition to the limitations addressed in §§ 152.021, 152.022, and 152.023, freestanding 
signs are allowed in commercial districts with allowable space as set forth by the following table:  

Zoning District  Number or Street Frontages  

One Street  Two Streets  

NC, Neighborhood Commercial  75  75 each street  
HC, Highway Commercial  32  75 each street  

CC, Core Commercial  75  75 each street  
LI, Light Industrial  32  75 each street  

    
  

(C)       Electronic message boards. Electronic message boards (EMB) are signs that convey a changing message 
intended to be viewed off-site or attract the attention of motorists including but not limited to EMBs specifically 



100 
 

designed to enhance motorist safety and performance; EMBs intended for on-site viewing located outside of all 
building setbacks; time and/or temperature signs located outside all building setbacks, and EMBs similar to that of 
a manually changeable sign face on traditional commercial signage. EMBs are permitted with the following 
conditions:  

(1)      Only one such sign shall be permitted per developed lot whether installed as a wall sign or part of a free standing 
sign on the site.  

(2)      The maximum square footage allowed is 1/2 of the maximum square footage allowed by the zoning 
classification.  

(3)      To protect the integrity of the Downtown District, no EMBs will be allowed within the CC District.  

(4)      Off-premise advertising is prohibited.  

(D)      Illuminated signs in commercial districts. Signs in commercial districts may be illuminated subject to the 
following standards:  

(1)      Exposed bulbs are prohibited with the exception of neon lights meeting the following illumination requirements.  

(2)      No sign shall change color or intensity.  

(3)      The brightness and surface illumination shall not exceed:  

(a)       Luminous background - 150 foot lamberts.  

(b)       Indirect Illumination - 50 foot candles.  

(4)      In no event shall the light from any illuminated sign exceed one foot-candle at the property line of any lot that is 
zoned residential.  

(5)      The light from any illuminated sign shall be shaded, shielded, or directed so that the light intensity or brightness 
shall not adversely affect the surrounding or facing premises nor adversely affect safe vision of operators of 
vehicles moving on public or private streets or parking areas. Light shall not shine or reflect on or into any 
residential structure.  

(6)      This section shall apply only to those uses engaged in the retail petroleum and petroleum products business. The 
following additional (supplemental) provisions shall apply:  

(a)       One permanent price sign per street frontage. Such sign shall be affixed to or made part of the permitted pole 
sign and shall not exceed 20 square feet in size. Such sign shall be setback from the right-of-way a minimum of ten 
feet.  

(b)       Two non-illuminated self-service or full-service signs per pump island. Such signs shall not exceed 160 square 
inches per sign and shall be located at the ends of the pump island perpendicular to the street. Also, a "pump 
topper" sign no larger than 80 square inches per sign shall be allowed on each pump.  

(Ord. 2011-07-26-01, passed 7-26-2011; Am. Ord. 2013-03-12-02, passed 3-12-2013) 

 

§ 152.031 SIGNS IN THE CORE COMMERCIAL DISTRICT. 

The following regulations shall apply to all signs located within the Core Commercial District.  

(Ord. 2011-07-26-01, passed 7-26-2011) 

 

§ 152.032 DESIGN GUIDELINES FOR SIGNS. 



101 
 

(A)      When feasible, place a wall sign such that it aligns with others on the block. If decorative moldings exist that 
could define a sign panel, locate a flush-mounted sign to fit within the panel formed by the moldings or transom 
panels.  

(B)      Window signs may be painted on the glass or hung inside the window and should cover no more than 25 
percent of the total window area.  

(C)       Projecting signs may be considered. Small projecting signs should be located near the business entrance, just 
above the door or to the side of it while large projecting signs should be mounted higher and centered on the façade 
or positioned at the corner.  

(D)      Signs not attached to buildings should be ground mounted signs that are no more than 20 square feet in area and 
five feet in height All ground mounted signs shall be located a minimum of five feet behind the street right-of way. 
No ground-mounted sign greater than five square feet in area shall be located closer than ten feet to any adjacent 
lot line. A 15 foot side-yard setback shall be required if the side lot line abuts a residential district. An arm sign 
may be substituted for a ground mounted sign but shall meet all height and area requirements as provided. The 
height of a sign shall be measured from the highest point of a sign to the point of ground surface beneath it. 
Ornamentation such as caps and spires are not included in this measurement. The use of berms or raised landscape 
areas is only permitted to raise the base of the sign to the mean elevation of the fronting street.  

(E)       All lighted signs shall have their lighting directed in such a manner as to illuminate only the face of the sign.  

(F)       No commercial sign within 100 linear feet of a pre-existing residential structure may be illuminated between 
the hours of 12:00 midnight and 6:00 a.m. A residence shall be deemed "pre-existing" for purposes of this Section 
if it has a valid building permit in effect for construction of said structure or if construction of said structure was 
complete on or prior to the effective date of this provision.  

(G)      Flashing signs, signs with flashing or reflective disks, signs with flashing lights or lights of changing degree of 
intensity or color (except government signs and signs which give time and temperature information) are prohibited. 
If a time and temperature sign alternates between a time message and a temperature message it shall continuously 
show one message a minimum of three seconds in time before switching to the other message.  

(Ord. 2011-07-26-01, passed 7-26-2011; Am. Ord. 2012-04-17-02, passed 4-17-2012) 

 

TEMPORARY SIGN PROVISIONS 
 

§ 152.040 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS. 

Temporary signs shall be allowed for any lawful activity on a lot or parcel subject to the provisions set forth herein.  

(A)      A permit shall be required for all temporary signs except as permitted in this chapter.  

(B)       The sign permit for banners that are used outdoors shall be limited to 30 days. Thereafter, the permit may be 
renewed for additional six-month periods with the payment of additional permit fees. Banners which are used 
indoors do not need a sign permit but if hung within one foot of the interior side of window glass must conform to 
the window coverage limitation cited in § 152.032.  

(C)       All such signs shall be securely installed or fastened and positioned in place so as not to constitute a hazard of 
any kind.  

(D)      No temporary sign shall be displayed on a roof.  



102 
 

(E)       Temporary signs are permitted at construction sites for the purpose of identifying names of contractors, 
consultants, and the like, and shall be limited to one signs per road frontage. Signs must be removed within 30 days 
of receipt of certificate of occupancy.  

(F)       Temporary development signs are permitted to announce the name, developer, and type of development for a 
new development which has either a plot (site) plan, or preliminary master plan approval.  

(Ord. 2011-07-26-01, passed 7-26-2011; Am. Ord. 2012-04-17-02, passed 4-17-2012) 

 

§ 152.041 SPECIAL EVENT SIGNAGE. 

Temporary signs and advertising devices may be permitted on properties in the HC, NC, CC, and LI Districts subject 
to the issuance of a special event sign permit by the Zoning Official. Such temporary signs and advertising devices 
shall conform to the following:  

(A)      Three special event sign shall be allowed per approved event. Shall it become necessary, the Event Chairperson 
or designee, shall make a request to the Zoning Official for any additional sign requirements. It shall be at the 
discretion of the Zoning Official to approve or disapprove the additional sign request. Special Event signage will 
be limited to six special events per year for each applicant.  

(B)       No special event sign permit shall be valid for more than 30 days.  

(C)       One banner shall be permitted per lot, which shall not exceed 32 square feet in area or 15 feet in height. Such 
banner may be temporarily placed or attached to a building wall, window, or ground sign, or it may be freestanding 
between two poles or stakes; or  

(D)      One gas or air-filled advertising device may be permitted per lot, not to exceed a height of 15 feet.  

(E)       Pennants, streamers, and other wind-blown devices shall not be permitted as part of a special event sign permit.  

(Ord. 2011-07-26-01, passed 7-26-2011) 

 

§ 152.042 DISPLAY SURFACE AREA, HEIGHT, AND ILLUMINATION. 

(A)      Maximum display surface area shall be 32 square feet total on any lot except for street banners which shall not 
be limited.  

(B)      Temporary signs shall not be illuminated except in commercial or industrial districts.  

(Ord. 2011-07-26-01, passed 7-26-2011) 

 

§ 152.043 LOCATION OF TEMPORARY SIGNS. 

No temporary sign shall be located closer than ten feet from any public right of way except in zoning districts as 
established by the Westminster Zoning Ordinance which have a front building setback established at less than ten 
feet. In these districts, the front setback for the temporary sign shall be equal to the front setback as established for 
the zoning district.  

(Ord. 2011-07-26-01, passed 7-26-2011) 

 

NONCONFORMING AND NON-COMPLYING SIGN PROVISIONS 



103 
 

 

§ 152.050 GENERAL PROVISIONS. 

Any sign lawfully existing at the time of the enactment of this chapter or any amendment thereto but which is not 
permitted either by type of sign, location, or district or which fails to meet the standards or regulations herein shall 
be classified as either nonconforming or non-complying as per definitions. Nonconforming signs shall be classified 
as "grand-fathered" signs, and shall be removed only when the Enforcing Officer utilizing certain appropriate 
sections of the adopted building code, the Westminster Code of Ordinances, and/or various provisions of this 
chapter deem such signs as being dilapidated or constituting a hazard to the public. Nonconforming signs which 
are exempted from the requirements of this chapter by reason of their existence prior to the enactment of this 
chapter shall no longer be exempted from compliance in the event that ownership of the premises where the sign is 
displayed changes. Signs that do not conform to § 152.012(E) and § 152.068 are not given "grand-fathering" 
protection.  

(Ord. 2011-07-26-01, passed 7-26-2011; Am. Ord. 2012-04-17-02, passed 4-17-2012) 

 

§ 152.051 BILLBOARDS. 

Billboards, for the purposes of this chapter, are signs used for off-site advertising for hire or general advertising; and 
the sign is a principal use of a parcel. Companies have the right to maintain any non-conforming billboard sign in 
existence at the time of adoption of this chapter. However, this right shall be terminated and cease to exist when 
the billboard structure is destroyed or is damaged. A billboard structure is considered damaged when the structural 
support has failed either by fracture or exceeding its yield point. No nonconforming billboard shall be structurally 
altered, enlarged, moved or replaced. Upon adoption of this chapter, no billboards, other than those existing at the 
time of enactment, shall be allowed within the municipal limits.  

(Ord. 2011-07-26-01, passed 7-26-2011) 

 

§ 152.052 ALTERATIONS TO NONCONFORMING AND NON-COMPLYING SIGNS. 

A nonconforming or non-complying sign may be altered subject to the following conditions:  

(A)      That the degree of nonconformance or noncompliance is not increased as applied to on-premises signs. Such 
alterations are limited to the changing of a copy of a permitted changeable copy sign, or the painting or refinishing 
of the surface of a sign face or sign structure so as to maintain an adequate appearance. The alterations of 
advertising signs which are nonconforming or non-complying must adhere to all the requirements cited in the 
chapter. In all cases, the business owner shall obtain a sign permit in accordance with the terms of this chapter.  

(B)       If any nonconforming sign is removed as per the requirements of this chapter or for any other reason, with the 
exception of billboards, any new sign shall be required to conform with this chapter upon replacement of the sign.  

(C)       If any non-complying sign is removed it can only be reconstructed if it is brought into compliance with all 
applicable yard, setback, size, and height requirements as stipulated within this section.  

(Ord. 2011-07-26-01, passed 7-26-2011) 

 

CALCULATION OF DISPLAY AREA FOR SIGNAGE 
 



104 
 

§ 152.060 GENERAL PROVISIONS. 

The sign face area shall be the advertising display surface of the sign.  

(Ord. 2011-07-26-01, passed 7-26-2011) 

 

§ 152.061 SIZE OF SIGN FACE AREA. 

In the case of freestanding signs, the sign face area consists of the entire surface area of the sign on which copy could 
be placed.  

(Ord. 2011-07-26-01, passed 7-26-2011) 

 

§ 152.062 SUPPORTING STRUCTURE NOT COUNTED. 

The supporting structure or bracing of a sign shall not be counted as part of sign face area unless such structure or 
bracing is made a part of the sign's message.  

(Ord. 2011-07-26-01, passed 7-26-2011) 

 

§ 152.063 COLLOCATION. 

Individual uses on adjoining lands may place their individual freestanding signage on a single sign support structure 
provided the combined sign face area does not exceed the amount of sign face area permitted if the freestanding 
signs would have been constructed separately. Sign support structures shall comply with the height limits 
regardless of the number of collocated signage.  

(Ord. 2011-07-26-01, passed 7-26-2011) 

 

§ 152.064 TWO-SIDED SIGNS. 

Where a sign has two display faces back to back, the area of only one face shall be considered the sign face area. 
Where a sign has more than one display face, all areas that can be viewed simultaneously shall be considered the 
sign face area as depicted in Figure 2, Two-Sided Sign:  

(Ord. 2011-07-26-01, passed 7-26-2011) 

 

§ 152.065 SIGNS WITH A BACKGROUND. 

In the case of a sign whose message is fabricated together with the background which borders or frames that message, 
the sign face area shall be the total area of the entire background as depicted in Figure 3, Signs with a Background:  

Figure 3: Signs with a Background 

Sign Area = (A) x (B) 

(Ord. 2011-07-26-01, passed 7-26-2011) 

 



105 
 

§ 152.066 SIGNS WITH NO BORDER OR FRAME. 

In the case of a sign whose message is applied to a background which provides no border or frame, sign face area shall 
be the area of the smallest rectangle that can encompass all words, letters, figures, emblems, and other elements of 
the sign message as depicted in Figure 4.  

Figure 4: Signs with No Border or Frame:  

Sign Area = (A) X (B)  

(Ord. 2011-07-26-01, passed 7-26-2011) 

 

§ 152.067 SIGN HEIGHT. 

(A)      No freestanding sign shall exceed 35 feet in height as measured from the base of the sign in any district. All 
signs in all districts shall be maintained.  

(B)      Sign height shall be measured from the base of the sign at normal grade to the highest point of the sign support 
structure, or sign face, whichever is higher. For the purposes of this subsection, "normal grade" shall mean the 
newly established grade after construction, not including any filling, berming, mounding, or excavating solely for 
the purpose of locating the sign. In cases where the normal grade is below the grade of the street to which the sign 
is oriented, sign height shall be computed on the assumption that the elevation of the normal grade at the base of 
the sign is equal to the elevation of the crown of the adjacent street as depicted in Figure 5.  

Figure 5: Sign Height  

(Ord. 2011-07-26-01, passed 7-26-2011) 

 

§ 152.068 VISIBILITY. 

All signs shall conform to both the sight distance and the sight triangle standards and no sign shall be erected so it 
obstructs vision or sight distances at driveway entrances and exits.  

(Ord. 2011-07-26-01, passed 7-26-2011) 

 

SIGN APPLICATION PROCESS 
 

§ 152.080 GENERAL PROVISIONS. 

Applications for sign permits shall include a scaled drawing of the sign, which depicts and describes:  

(A)      Size.  

(B)       Shape.  

(C)       Colors.  

(D)      Materials to be utilized.  

(E)       Copy/wording and designs.  

(F)       Illumination type and electrical detail.  

(G)      Location on building, if wall sign.  



106 
 

(Ord. 2011-07-26-01, passed 7-26-2011) 

 

§ 152.081 GROUND SIGNS. 

In addition, permit applications for detached signs shall be accompanied by a plot plan or sketch of the site, to show:  

(A)      The location of the sign on the lot.  

(B)       Scale.  

(C)       Dimensions of parcel lines.  

(D)      Height of the sign.  

(E)       Any support structure to be utilized.  

(F)       Electrical sources.  

(G)      Base landscaping.  

(Ord. 2011-07-26-01, passed 7-26-2011) 

 

§ 152.082 APPLICATION DETERMINATION. 

The following shall apply to all permitted signs in the city:  

(A)      A permit shall be required for the erection, alteration or reconstruction of any sign unless otherwise noted and 
shall be issued by the Zoning Official. A sign application shall be required for each sign. The sign application fee 
shall be $50 for all signs other than banners. The sign application fee for banner shall be $25. The fee is per 
application and the fee is non-refundable.  

(Ord. 2011-07-26-01, passed 7-26-2011; Am. Ord. 2012-04-17-02, passed 4-17-2012) 

 

ENFORCEMENT 
 

§ 152.090 ENFORCEMENT. 

(A)      Signs which are found to be in violation of the provisions of this article shall be subject to the following 
provisions. Where notice is required, such notice shall be by regular mail or by facsimile or by phone call, or all, as 
may be reasonable under the circumstances surrounding the violation. Notices sent by mail shall be addressed to 
the last known address of the business for which the sign represents.  

(B)      The Zoning Official and/or his or her assignees shall have the authority to enter upon the premises of any 
nonconforming and/or violating property to address the sign issue or to remove the non-compliant sign from the 
premises.  

(C)       The Zoning Official may send notice to the sign owner and/or the business for which the sign represents, 
stating the nature of the violation and granting an appropriate period of time to correct the violation. Continued 
violation may be subject to the following:  

(1)       Impoundment. The Zoning Official or other authorized city staff may impound the sign. The zoning official 
shall have the authority to dispose of such sign without compensation to the sign owner/business for which the sign 
represents.  



107 
 

(2)       Payment of costs of sign removal. If the Zoning Official determines that it is necessary under the terms of this 
article to remove a sign, he shall use either city staff or a private contractor, depending on the availability of 
budgeted funds and /or manpower and equipment to undertake this work. The sign owner/business for which the 
sign represents shall pay all costs incurred directly to the city or the cost will become a lien against the real 
property upon which such cost was incurred, and such costs shall be collected in the same manner as city taxes are 
collected, or by such other method as applicable law may permit. When private contractors are utilized, the lowest 
bidder shall be awarded the contract.  

(Ord. 2011-07-26-01, passed 7-26-2011) 

 

§ 152.091 VARIANCE. 

Recognizing that the strict application of the requirements of this chapter may cause an undue hardship on certain 
applicants, variances from strict application of the provisions of this chapter may be granted as set out in the 
Variance Procedures for the Zoning Ordinance by the Board of Zoning Appeals. Each application shall be made a 
part of the public records of the duly assigned committee's minutes. The Board of Zoning Appeals meets as 
warranted. Application to appear before this committee must be submitted to the City Administrator or to the city's 
Zoning Administrator.  

(Ord. 2011-07-26-01, passed 7-26-2011) 

 

§ 152.999 PENALTY. 

Whenever in this chapter the doing of an act is required or failure to any act is declared to be unlawful or an offense, 
where no specific penalty is provided therefore, the violation of any such provision of this chapter shall be 
punished by a fine of not more than $500 or imprisonment for a period not exceeding 30 days, plus any additional 
state assessments; provided, that such penalty shall not exceed the penalty provided by state law for similar 
offenses. Except where otherwise provided, each day any violation of any provision of this chapter shall continue 
shall constitute a separate offense. Violator has the right to appeal to the Planning Commission. If not satisfied 
with the results of this appeal, violator has the right to appeal to the City Council.  

(Ord. 2011-07-26-01, passed 7-26-2011) 

 

 

 



ORDINANCE # 12-12-2023-02 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMMEND ORDINANCE NO. 09-12-2023-04 TO IMPROVE PROCEDURES 
AND CLARIFY LANGUAGE RELATING TO THE VACANT AND ABANDONED BUILDING REGISTRY, 

AND OTHER MATTERS THERETO. 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Westminster passed an ordinance to establish a vacant building registry at 
its September 12, 2023 regular and meeting (Ordinance No. 09-12-2023-04); 

WHEREAS, the City of Westminster has identified the need to amend Ordinance No. 09-12-2023-
04 to better reflect the needs of the city; 

WHEREAS, staff has begun to implement the ordinance, and recommends improvements in 
process for consideration by City Council, 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Westminster, as 
follows: 

SECTION 1. Amend Chapter 153 of the Westminster Code of Ordinances as follows (colors to 
highlight text change only, not to be transcribed): 

(a) 153.02 (A) to read: 
(A) Except as provided in subsection (B) below, all Vacant Buildings shall be 

registered with the Code Enforcement Official within 30 days of becoming a 
Vacant Building as defined in § 153.01. Registration is valid for one year or a 
pro-rated portion thereof and must be renewed annually on November 6th or 
the next closest business day of the 6th falls on a weekend. 
 

(b) 153.03 (C) to read (the second paragraph of 153.03(c) shall be unchanged):  
(C) A Vacant Building Plan and Rehabilitation Plan, if applicable, shall be subject 

to the approval of the Code Enforcement Official, as applicable. The Code 
Enforcement Official, as applicable, may reject a Vacant Building Plan or 
Rehabilitation Plan, or any term thereof, by providing the Owner with written 
notification of such rejection, which shall include the reasons therefor, and 
may provide suggested revisions that would be acceptable. In such an event, 
the Owner shall revise the plan and resubmit to the Code Enforcement Official 
within 15 Days. 

 
(c) 153.04 (A) to read:   

(A) Annual Registration Fees are based on the type of Vacant Building, the 
applicable Vacant Building Category, and the number of years that a Vacant 
Building has remained continuously vacant (commencing upon the effective 
date of Ordinance No. 09-12-2023-04. pursuant to which this Chapter was 
enacted). All fees are due at the time of registration or renewal. 



 

 

(d) 153.06 to read: 

Any person aggrieved by the requirements of this Chapter or any 
determination or finding of the Code Enforcement Official, as applicable 
hereunder may file an appeal with City Council. Any such appeal must be made 
in writing to the Code Enforcement Official, as applicable, must include the 
specific requirement, finding, or determination for which such appeal is 
sought, and must contain documentation or other information as may be 
necessary to support such appeal, and must be made within 30 days of the 
date on which the final decision of the Code Enforcement Official, as applicable 
with respect to such requirement, determination, or finding is made.  Any 
person aggrieved by a final decision issued under this Section by City Council, 
may seek relief in any court of competent jurisdiction, as provided by the law. 

(e) 153.04 (D) to read:  

(D) An Owner may seek an exemptions from a Registration Fees for special 
circumstances not listed in § 153.04(C) by application, in writing, to City 
Council, which shall include the specific justification for the exemption and 
documentation substantiating such justification. 

 
(f)  Section 3 to read:  

Effective Date. This Ordinance is to be effective as of the date of its second 
and final reading. Owners have until January 22, 2024, to comply with the 
terms of the Chapter of the City’s Code of Ordinances enacted hereby. 

 

SECTION 2. Remove from text: 

(A) 151.01- Definitions 

Construction Board of Appeals Means the City of Westminster Construction 
Board of Appeals. 

 

SECTION 2. Effective Date 

The herein amendment of Ordinance 09-12-2023-04 shall take effect 
immediately upon adoption and posting as provided by law. 
 
 
 



 
CITY OF WESTMINSTER, SOUTH CAROLINA 

 

      _________________________________________ 
Brian Ramey, Mayor 

[SEAL] 

 

       
Rebecca Overton, City Clerk 

First Reading:   
Public Hearing:  
Second Reading:  

Reviewed by City Attorney and approved as to form. 

 

       

Andrew Holliday, City Attorney 

 



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-01-09-01 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMMEND CERTAIN SECTIONS OF THE WESTMINSTER 
CODE OF ORDINANCES RELATED TO THE CITY ADMINISTRTOR, THE CITY 

ATTORNEY, POLICE CHIEF, THE CITY CLERK, THE UTILITIES DIRECTOR AND 
OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO 

WHEREAS, the City of Westminster’s Code of Ordinances contains directing the actions and 
compensation of the City Administrator and City Attorney; 

WHEREAS, the City of Westminster’s Code of Ordinances contains provisions for the 
appointment of and responsibility of duties for the Police Chief, and the City Clerk; 

WHEREAS, the City of Westminster’s Code of Ordinances contains provisions for the 
responsibility of duties for situations encountered by and the duties of the Utilities Director; 

WHEREAS, the City of Westminster City Council has identified the need to amend the Code of 
Ordinances to reflect the appointment of and administrative oversight of the Police Chief and the 
City Clerk, and other matters related thereto, 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Council of the City of 
Westminster, as follows: 

Title III: Administration  
Chapter 31: City Officials and Employees 

City Administrator 31.25 Removal From Office 
The City Administrator may be removed from office by a majority vote of the 
Council. Those members voting for removal shall state their reasons for such 
vote. The action of the Council in removing the City Administrator shall be final. 
In all cases the City Administrator shall receive 90-days' notice of his or her 
removal or severance pay for 30 days where such removal is made effective 
immediately by a majority of the City Council.  
 
Clerk and Treasurer 31.40 Election; Term 
There shall be elected by the Council an officer known as the Clerk and Treasurer 
of the city who shall hold offices for such period of time as is provided by § 
31.01. 
 
City Attorney  31.57 Compensation 
The City Attorney shall be paid at a rate, as set from time to time, as determined 
by the City Council. the hourly rate of $85 per hour, $50 of which shall be paid 
from the General Funds of the city and $50 from the funds in the hands of the 
Commissioners of Public Works. The City Attorney shall be paid in addition 
thereto a reasonable amount for specific services rendered to the city, for 
appearances at trials, preparing resolutions, ordinances and other similar matters. 

 
Chapter 33: Police and Fire Departments 

Police Department 33.01 Composition; Appointment; Term of Office; 
Compensation 



The Police Department of the City of Westminster shall consist of a Chief and 
such other number of police officers as the Council may from time to time 
determine necessary to provide adequate police protection for the city. The Chief 
of Police and all police officers of the Department shall be appointed by the 
Council and shall hold office for the period of time as is provided by § 31.01 and 
shall receive such compensation for the performance of their duties as the Council 
may from time to time designate. 
 
Police Department 33.05 Suspension of Chief, of Police Officers; Final 
Determination by Council  
The Mayor may peremptorily suspend the Chief of Police for neglect of duty or 
failure to perform any duty of his or her office. The Chief may likewise suspend 
any member of the Department. All such suspensions shall be reported to the 
Council within 24 hours, who shall either affirm or revoke such suspension. The 
Council may, at any time, remove any member of the Department from office for 
cause. 
 
Police Department; Chapter 33.02 Chief to be commander of Police Force; 
Acting Chief 
The Chief of Police shall at all times be recognized and respected by members of 
the Police Department as their commander and superior officer, and they shall 
obey all orders of the Chief. In the event of the temporary absence or disability of 
the Chief, the Council City Administrator shall appoint an acting chief who shall 
have all the powers, duties and responsibilities of the Chief. 
 
Police Department; Chapter 33.20 Composition, Supervision, Appointments 
and Removal 
(A) The Fire Department of the City of Westminster shall consist of a Fire Chief 
and such other number of officers/firefighters as the City Council may from time 
to time determine as necessary to provide adequate fire protection to the city. 
With the concurrence of the City Council, Tthe Fire Chief shall be appointed by 
the City Administrator… 
 

Title IX: General Regulations;  
Chapter 91 Streets and Sidewalks  

 
Chapter 91.01 Public Parades and Assembles, Approvals and Restrictions 

(B)The requests shall be forwarded to the Police Chief for review and comment. 
Upon review of the Chief of Police, such requests shall be forwarded to the City 
Council for approval. In the event the requested activity will use public roadways, 
the South Carolina Department of Transportation shall be notified of such request 
and their approval shall be required. 
 

Chapter 91.31 Superintendent of Street Department 
(A) It shall be the responsibility of the Utilities Director Superintendent of the 

Street Department to coordinate all aspects of the Ssnow and Iice Rremoval 



Plan. This individual shall work closely with the Commission of Public 
Works, Police Department, Fire Department, Mayor, appropriate Council 
members and City Hall employees to ensure the plan has been put into place 
after a snow or ice storm. The Street Department Superintendent will 
communicate with the Superintendent of Public Works and Police Chief to 
determine the level of implementation of the Snow and Ice Plan. 

(B) It shall be the responsibility of the Mayor City Administrator of the City of 
Westminster to notify the appropriate news media of the opening and closing 
schedule of the City Hall. These announcements are to advise the public at what 
level of service the city is operating. The Street Superintendent will notify the 
Mayor of the conditions of the city streets and plans for removal of ice or snow. 
The Mayor will notify the appropriate news media. This will allow the public to 
modify their conduct and travel plans accordingly 
 

Chapter 91.33 Crew 
A Commission of Public Works crew and a Street Department crew will be 
established to accomplish the goals of the Snow and Ice Removal Plan. These 
crews will work in conjunction with the Police Department. See attachment #1 to 
Ord. 920408A for a list of these crews.  

 
Chapter 91.36 Traffic Restrictions 

The Police Chief will coordinate all traffic restrictions. Parking will be restricted 
in intersections, stop lights and at stop signs during inclement weather due to 
snow and ice. The Police Chief will submit to the City Clerk a report on all 
accidents due to snow or icy conditions. The Police Chief will notify the Utilities 
Director Street Department Superintendent of any roads that need to be closed. 
The Police Chief will also coordinate emergency services.  
 

Chapter 91.37  Priority Routes 
Priority routes will be based on road importance, traffic volume, functional 
classifications and critical facilities. See attachment #2 to Ord. 920408A for 
priority routes. 
 
 

CITY OF WESTMINSTER, SOUTH CAROLINA 

 

      _________________________________________ 
Brian Ramey, Mayor 

[SEAL] 

 

       
Rebecca Overton, City Clerk 



First Reading:   
Public Hearing:  
Second Reading:  

Reviewed by City Attorney and approved as to form. 

 

       

Andrew Holliday, City Attorney 

 



RESOLUTION NO. 12-12-2023-01 
 
A RESOLUTION IN SUPPORT OF THE CITY OF WESTMINSTER’S LAND & WATER 
CONSERVATION FUND GRANT APPLICATION TO THE SC DEPARTMENT OF 
PARKS, RECREATION & TOURISM FOR $967,866.00 FOR THE HALL STREET 
COMMUNITY PARK DEVELOPMENT; PROVIDING FOR THE MATCHING FUNDS 
AS REQUIRED AND PETITIONING THE SC DEPARTMENT OF PARKS, 
RECREATION & TOURISM TO WAIVE THE $300,000 MAXIMUM GRANT AMOUNT 
 

 WHEREAS, the City of Westminster, South Carolina (the “City”) is a legally constituted 
municipal corporation incorporated by Act No. 744 of the Acts and Joint Resolutions of the 
General Assembly of the State of South Carolina for the year 1875, and maintains a combined 
utility system (the “System”); and  
 

 WHEREAS, the City’s Hall Street Community Park Development project is estimated at 
$967,866.00; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the City is submitting a grant application to the SC Department of Parks, 

Recreation & Tourism requesting $300,000 in LWCF reimbursement funds to undertake this 
important community project; and 
  

 WHEREAS, the City would like to request the maximum LWCF grant amount of 
$300,000 to be waived and allow for an increase of $483,000 to be reimbursed; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the City’s Hall Street Community Park Development project is estimated at 

$967,866.00; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City is requesting $483,000 in LWCF reimbursement funds, or just under 

50-percent of the total project amount; 
 

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of 

Westminster (the “Council”), the governing body of the City, in a meeting duly assembled: 
 

 Hereby adopts this resolution committing to provide $967,866.00 which will fully fund the 
park project, in anticipation of a $300,000 LWCF grant reimbursement; and authorizes the City 
Administrator to sign the two letters dated December 13, 2023 that are attached (Westminster 
Hall Street Community Park Development / LWCF; and Westminster Hall Street 
Community Park Development / LWCF maximum). 
 
 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 



DONE AND ADOPTED IN COUNCIL ASSEMBLED, this 12th day of December 
2023. 
 

 
 
CITY OF WESTMINSTER, SOUTH CAROLINA 

 
      _________________________________________ 

Brian Ramey, Mayor 
 
 
 
[SEAL] 
 
 
 
 
     
Rebecca Overton, City Clerk 
 
 
 



                       

City of Westminster| PO Box 399 | Westminster, SC 29693 | 864.647.3200 |www.westminstersc.org 

 
 

 

 

December 13, 2023 

 

 
SC Department of Parks, Recreation & Tourism 
Land & Water Conservation Fund 
1205 Pendleton Street 
Columbia, South Carolina 29201  
 
Subject: Westminster Hall Street Community Park Development / LWCF 
 
 
To whom it may concern,  

The City of Westminster’s Hall Street Community Park Development project is estimated 
at $967,866.00. The City of Westminster is submitting a grant application requesting 
$300,000 in LWCF reimbursement funds to undertake this important community project. 

Westminster City Council met on December 12, 2023, and voted to pass a resolution 
committing to provide $967,866.00 which will fully fund the park project, in anticipation 
of a $300,000 LWCF grant reimbursement. The source of funds is a FY2024 South 
Carolina state budget appropriation to the City and are available now. 

 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
Kevin Bronson 
City of Westminster Administrator         
 
 
 



                       

City of Westminster| PO Box 399 | Westminster, SC 29693 | 864.647.3200 |www.westminstersc.org 

 
 

 

December 13, 2023 

 

 
SC Department of Parks, Recreation & Tourism 
Land & Water Conservation Fund 
1205 Pendleton Street 
Columbia, South Carolina 29201  
 
Subject: Westminster Hall Street Community Park Development / LWCF maximum 
 
 
To whom it may concern,  

The City of Westminster would like to request the maximum LWCF grant amount of 
$300,000 to be waived and allow for an increase of $483,000 to be reimbursed.  

The City of Westminster’s Hall Street Community Park Development project is estimated 
at $967,866.00. Westminster is requesting $483,000 in LWCF reimbursement funds, or 
just under 50-percent of the total project amount. 

The Hall Street Community Park Development will have regional significance when 
completed as the property will be one of the largest recreational facilities in the area. The 
park development is meeting a crucial community recreation need not just for the City of 
Westminster, but Oconee County as a whole.  
 
Thank you for your consideration. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
Kevin Bronson 
City of Westminster Administrator        
 



 
 

 Rosa Clark Health Center 
301 Memorial Drive   Seneca, SC 29672 864-882-4664 FAX 864-882-4478 

 
Mayor Brian Ramey 
Councilor Adam Dunn 
Councilor Dale Glymph 
Councilor Ruth May 
Councilor Jimmy Powell 
Councilor Audrey Reese 
Councilor Daby Snipes 
In Care of 
Kevin Bronson, City Administrator 
100 East Windsor Street 
PO Box 399 
Westminster, SC 29693 
 
Dear Councilors, 

 
Rosa Clark Health Center has been providing health care to people with low income and people who 
are uninsured or underinsured since 1982.  We are a non-profit organization, governed by a nine 
member volunteer Board of Directors, all from Oconee County.  Rosa Clark provides services in the 
areas of primary care, mental health, dental health, pharmacy, radiology, and specialty care - all on a 
sliding fee scale.  
 
In 2016, Rosa Clark became a Federally Qualified Health Center, providing us with base grant 
operational funding from the Health, Resources, and Services Administration (HRSA).  It also 
provided us with an opportunity to apply for additional grants as they became available.  
 
Last year, Rosa Clark received a grant in the amount of $532,000 to increase our capacity and 
infrastructure. The Rosa Clark Board of Directors unanimously agreed to use this Federal grant to 
open a satellite office in Westminster, recognizing the lack of access to health care in this part of 
Oconee County.  Westminster has only one medical office for over 14 thousand people . 
 
At the request of our Board, Oconee County agreed to lease us their building at 1608 East Main 
Street for this new satellite location. We are now in the process of renovating that building.   
 
This building was built in 1970 and we have run into unexpected expenses, such as termite treatment 
and asbestos abatement.  Construction costs are higher than expected and now we have learned that 
we will have to spend an additional $25,000 to pay for a new water meter, new water and sewer lines, 
and asphalt removal and replacement for water and sewer lines.  
 
We are writing this letter to respectfully request that you consider waiving the $2,200 City of 
Westminster water tap fee. This would help us immensely as we are currently over budget, and we 
need to get these costs down as much as possible.   
 
I am also requesting that the General Contractor obtain additional quotes from subcontractors for the 
plumbing and asphalt work in the hope of getting this work completed at a cheaper rate.  
 



Your contribution of waiving this fee will help us transform this building into a place that will offer 
affordable quality health care for the people in the Westminster area.  
 
We thank you in advance for your consideration and we hope to see you all soon at our grand 
opening next spring! 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
 
Vicki Thompson, CEO 
Rosa Clark Health Center 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  
 

 
 

 

 

 

6101 Carnegie Boulevard, Suite 210 
Charlotte, NC 28209 

  
WORK ORDER NUMBER 1 

 

WORK ORDER to the Agreement dated November 29, 2023, by and between the City of Westminster, South 
Carolina (the “Client”) and First Tryon Advisors, LLC (the “Advisor”).  

SERVICES 

The Advisor will provide the following Services under this Work Order: 

▪ Develop a comprehensive capital planning model (the “model”) to assist in the prioritization and 
phasing of the Client’s capital improvement needs, taking the following variables into consideration: 
 

o Project timing and amounts 
o Existing and projected revenues and expenditures 
o Available funding structures 
o Financing term 
o Amortization/debt service structure 
o Impact of projects on financial ratios, coverages, rates, etc. 

 
▪ Work hand-in-hand with the Client’s staff to refine the model to help forecast future financial 

performance, evaluate the Client’s debt capacity and affordability and assess the sensitivity of the 
Client’s various planning assumptions. 
 

▪ Attend meetings of the governing body of the Client, its staff, representatives or committees as 
requested, whether in person or virtually, when First Tryon may be of assistance or service and the 
subject of capital planning and potential financings or related topics are to be discussed. 

 
▪ Provide ongoing responses to routine/miscellaneous questions. 

 

TERM 

The term with respect to the Services to be performed under this Work Order shall end 30 days after the 
completion of the Services described above, unless terminated earlier in accordance with the Agreement. 

 

COMPENSATION 

In establishing fees, the Advisor considers multiple factors, including the efficiency with which the work was done, 
the result achieved, the complexity of the matter and any special experience or expertise applied to it, any 
extraordinary scheduling or preemptive attention devoted to the project, and the degree of professional 
responsibility or liability undertaken by the firm.  

For services to be performed in connection with this Work Order, the Advisor proposes a fee range of $15,000 to 
$20,000 to deliver a completed model.  Any additional work on, or updates to, the model after development and 
delivery of a final, working model would be billed at an hourly rate of $350 per hour for 2024.  After 2024, First 
Tryon’s hourly rates are subject to adjustment from time to time as agreed upon by the Client.  If at any time we 
believe circumstances require an adjustment of our fees, we will consult with you and any adjustment will be left 
to the sole discretion of the Client. 

If at any time the Client believes that the Services provided are not consistent with the fees First Tryon has 
charged, the Client may adjust the fee for such Services to any amount the Client deems appropriate. 



City of Westminster, South Carolina 

Work Order Number 1 

November 29, 2023 

Page 2 of 2 
 
Such fee may vary if (1) the contemplated assignment changes materially during the course of the Term or (2) 
unusual or unforeseen circumstances arise which require a significant increase in the type or scope of the 
Advisor’s responsibilities.  The Advisor will consult with the Client if at any time the Advisor believes that 
circumstances require an adjustment to its fees.  Fees will not be increased without the written consent of the 
Client. 

In addition to the compensation outlined above, the Client will reimburse the Advisor for out-of-pocket expenses 
incurred in connection with the Services. Customary out-of-pocket expenses include, without limitation, costs of 
travel, meals, lodging, printing/copying, etc.  The Advisor will bill the Client for such expenses at cost, with no 
mark-up.  The Advisor will not bill the Client for indirect costs such as telephone, fax, and conference call services; 
instead, the Client will pay the Advisor an administrative expense fee equal to 4% of any invoiced fee for Services 
as reimbursement for costs not reasonably allocable on a client-by-client basis. 

AGREED AND ACCEPTED this _______ day of November, 2023: 

CITY OF WESTMINSTER, SOUTH CAROLINA 

By:       
Name: Kevin Bronson 
Title: City Administrator 
 
 
FIRST TRYON ADVISORS, LLC 

 
 
By:       
Name: J. Walter Goldsmith 
Title: President & COO 

 



Page 1 of 15

Revenue Report
City Of Westminster

00400 PROPERTY TAXES

100 ADMINISTRATION

010 CITY GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Adjusted 

Budget

Current Pd

Revenue

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Revenue

YTD

Pct

Budget

BalanceAccounts

010 CITY GENERAL FUND

100 ADMINISTRATION

00400 PROPERTY TAXES

40000 PROPERTY TAXES $510,000.00 $0.00 $510,000.00 $0.00  0 $50,397.74  10 $459,602.26 

40001 DELIQUENT TAXES $46,525.00 $0.00 $46,525.00 $0.00  0 $11,279.50  24 $35,245.50 

40002 VEHICLE TAXES $84,000.00 $0.00 $84,000.00 $0.00  0 $41,867.62  50 $42,132.38 

40003 HOMESTEAD EXPT. STATE $55,000.00 $0.00 $55,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $55,000.00 

40004 MERCHANTS INVT. TAX $7,500.00 $0.00 $7,500.00 $0.00  0 $4,215.26  56 $3,284.74 

40005 WATERCRAFT TAX $3,500.00 $0.00 $3,500.00 $0.00  0 $2,119.08  61 $1,380.92 

$706,525.00 $706,525.00 $0.00 $0.00 $109,879.20 $596,645.80  0  16 Total Property Taxes

00401 INTERGOVENMENTAL REV

40100 C FUNDS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40102 AID TO SUBDIVISION $56,000.00 $0.00 $56,000.00 $0.00  0 $28,948.98  52 $27,051.02 

40104 OCONEE VOLUNTEER BONUS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40105 TRANSPORTATION NETWORK ACT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $23.80  0 $23.80  0 ($23.80)

40106 C FUNDS - SIDEWALKS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40107 C FUNDS - ROADWAY RESURFACING $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

$56,000.00 $56,000.00 $0.00 $23.80 $28,972.78 $27,027.22  0  52 Total Intergovenmental Rev

00402 LICENSE, PERMITS, & FEES

40200 BUSINESS LICENSE $98,275.00 $0.00 $98,275.00 $377.85  0 $23,141.42  24 $75,133.58 

40202 TELECOM. TAX MASC $6,800.00 $0.00 $6,800.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $6,800.00 

40203 BROKER TAX MASC $6,000.00 $0.00 $6,000.00 $0.00  0 $9,563.73  159 ($3,563.73)

40204 MANUFACTURERS TAX $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40205 INSURANCE TAX $220,000.00 $0.00 $220,000.00 $0.00  0 $38,403.87  17 $181,596.13 

40210 GARBAGE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

Revenue Report  Page 1 of 1512/8/2023 



00402 LICENSE, PERMITS, & FEES

100 ADMINISTRATION

010 CITY GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Revenue Report

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Adjusted 

Budget

Current Pd

Revenue

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Revenue

YTD

Pct

Budget

BalanceAccounts

40214  CELL TOWER RENT $26,700.00 $0.00 $26,700.00 $0.00  0 $11,125.00  42 $15,575.00 

40215 FACILITY RENTAL $21,550.00 $0.00 $21,550.00 $500.00  2 $4,650.00  22 $16,900.00 

40216 FOIA REQUEST FEES $500.00 $0.00 $500.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $500.00 

40217 VACANT BUILDING REGIST FEE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

$379,825.00 $379,825.00 $0.00 $877.85 $86,884.02 $292,940.98  0  23 Total License, Permits, & Fees

00404 PYMT IN LIEU OF TAX & FRAN FEE

40400 PAYMENT IN LIEU OF TAX $3,600.00 $0.00 $3,600.00 $0.00  0 $6,534.32  182 ($2,934.32)

40401 FRANCHISE FEES $52,575.00 $0.00 $52,575.00 $0.00  0 $338.97  1 $52,236.03 

40402 WUD FRANCISE FEE $410,021.00 $0.00 $410,021.00 $0.00  0 $170,842.10  42 $239,178.90 

$466,196.00 $466,196.00 $0.00 $0.00 $177,715.39 $288,480.61  0  38 Total Pymt In Lieu Of Tax & Fran Fee

00405 INTEREST INCOME

40500 INTEREST INCOME $1,000.00 $0.00 $1,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $1,000.00 

$1,000.00 $1,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,000.00  0  0 Total Interest Income

00406 GRANT INCOME

40602 STATE GRANTS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $5,000,000.00  0 ($5,000,000.00)

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $5,000,000.00 ($5,000,000.00) 0  0 Total Grant Income

00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER

40700 SERVICE CHARGES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40701 PROCEEDS FROM BORROWING $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40703 SALE OF EQUIP/MATERIAL/SCRAP $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40707 MISCELLANEOUS REV $2,500.00 $0.00 $2,500.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $2,500.00 

40708 INTERFUND TRANSFER $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40709 SKATEBOARD PARK $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40719 CAPITAL LEASE PROCEEDS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40720 SALE OF PROPERTY (EASEMENTS) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

Revenue Report  Page 2 of 1512/8/2023 



00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER

100 ADMINISTRATION

010 CITY GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Revenue Report

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Adjusted 

Budget

Current Pd

Revenue

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Revenue

YTD

Pct

Budget

BalanceAccounts

40721 NON GOVERNMENTAL GRANTS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40734 COURT ORDERED RESTITUTION $1,000.00 $0.00 $1,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $1,000.00 

40735 INSURANCE PAID CLAIMS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40736 GHS FACILITY REIMBURSEMENT $4,200.00 $0.00 $4,200.00 $0.00  0 $1,400.00  33 $2,800.00 

40737 REFUNDS/REIMBURSEMENTS $15,875.00 $0.00 $15,875.00 $0.00  0 $890.24  6 $14,984.76 

40745 OLD VOIDED CHECKS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

$23,575.00 $23,575.00 $0.00 $0.00 $2,290.24 $21,284.76  0  10 Total Miscellaneous & Other

$1,633,121.00 $1,633,121.00 $0.00 $901.65 $5,405,741.63 ($3,772,620.63) 0  331 Total ADMINISTRATION

200 FIRE DEPARTMENT

00401 INTERGOVENMENTAL REV

40101 COUNTY ALLOCATION $785,000.00 $0.00 $785,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $785,000.00 

$785,000.00 $785,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $785,000.00  0  0 Total Intergovenmental Rev

00405 INTEREST INCOME

40500 INTEREST INCOME $1,000.00 $0.00 $1,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $1,000.00 

$1,000.00 $1,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,000.00  0  0 Total Interest Income

00406 GRANT INCOME

40601 SC MUNI TRUST $2,000.00 $0.00 $2,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $2,000.00 

40602 STATE GRANTS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

$2,000.00 $2,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $2,000.00  0  0 Total Grant Income

00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER

40703 SALE OF EQUIP/MATERIAL/SCRAP $2,000.00 $0.00 $2,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $2,000.00 

40705 FD TRAINING FUND $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40706 FD DRINK MACHINE FUND $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40707 MISCELLANEOUS REV $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40716 FIRE PREVENTION $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

Revenue Report  Page 3 of 1512/8/2023 



00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER

200 FIRE DEPARTMENT

010 CITY GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Revenue Report

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Adjusted 

Budget

Current Pd

Revenue

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Revenue

YTD

Pct

Budget

BalanceAccounts

40717 FIRE DEPARTMENT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40735 INSURANCE PAID CLAIMS $6,000.00 $0.00 $6,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $6,000.00 

40737 REFUNDS/REIMBURSEMENTS $1,000.00 $0.00 $1,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $1,000.00 

$9,000.00 $9,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $9,000.00  0  0 Total Miscellaneous & Other

$797,000.00 $797,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $797,000.00  0  0 Total FIRE DEPARTMENT

296 NO DESCRIPTION FOUND

00404 PYMT IN LIEU OF TAX & FRAN FEE

40402 WUD FRANCISE FEE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0  0 Total Pymt In Lieu Of Tax & Fran Fee

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0  0 Total NO DESCRIPTION FOUND

300 POLICE

00403 FINES & FORFEITURES

40300 POLICE FINES $36,150.00 $0.00 $36,150.00 $0.00  0 $13,017.71  36 $23,132.29 

40302 DRUG SEIZURES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $10.00  0 ($10.00)

$36,150.00 $36,150.00 $0.00 $0.00 $13,027.71 $23,122.29  0  36 Total Fines & Forfeitures

00405 INTEREST INCOME

40500 INTEREST INCOME $5.00 $0.00 $5.00 $0.00  0 $2.30  46 $2.70 

$5.00 $5.00 $0.00 $0.00 $2.30 $2.70  0  46 Total Interest Income

00406 GRANT INCOME

40601 SC MUNI TRUST $2,000.00 $0.00 $2,000.00 $0.00  0 $4,165.74  208 ($2,165.74)

40602 STATE GRANTS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $33,245.64  0 ($33,245.64)

40603 MISC GRANTS $5,000.00 $0.00 $5,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $5,000.00 

$7,000.00 $7,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $37,411.38 ($30,411.38) 0  534 Total Grant Income

00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER

40702 DONATIONS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40703 SALE OF EQUIP/MATERIAL/SCRAP $15,250.00 $0.00 $15,250.00 $0.00  0 $2,550.00  17 $12,700.00 

40704 POLICE FUND $1,100.00 $0.00 $1,100.00 $0.00  0 $100.00  9 $1,000.00 

Revenue Report  Page 4 of 1512/8/2023 



00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER

300 POLICE

010 CITY GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Revenue Report

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Adjusted 

Budget

Current Pd

Revenue

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Revenue

YTD

Pct

Budget

BalanceAccounts

40735 INSURANCE PAID CLAIMS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $3,853.43  0 ($3,853.43)

40737 REFUNDS/REIMBURSEMENTS $1,500.00 $0.00 $1,500.00 $7,677.14  512 $9,332.14  622 ($7,832.14)

$17,850.00 $17,850.00 $0.00 $7,677.14 $15,835.57 $2,014.43  43  89 Total Miscellaneous & Other

$61,005.00 $61,005.00 $0.00 $7,677.14 $66,276.96 ($5,271.96) 13  109 Total POLICE

400 RECREATION

00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER

40745 OLD VOIDED CHECKS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0  0 Total Miscellaneous & Other

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0  0 Total RECREATION

500 CODES

00402 LICENSE, PERMITS, & FEES

40211 SIGN PERMIT FEES $900.00 $0.00 $900.00 $0.00  0 $100.00  11 $800.00 

40212 ZONING HEARINGS $750.00 $0.00 $750.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $750.00 

$1,650.00 $1,650.00 $0.00 $0.00 $100.00 $1,550.00  0  6 Total License, Permits, & Fees

00403 FINES & FORFEITURES

40301 CODE ENFORCEMENT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0  0 Total Fines & Forfeitures

$1,650.00 $1,650.00 $0.00 $0.00 $100.00 $1,550.00  0  6 Total CODES

600 PUBLIC WORKS

00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER

40703 SALE OF EQUIP/MATERIAL/SCRAP $20,175.00 $0.00 $20,175.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $20,175.00 

$20,175.00 $20,175.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $20,175.00  0  0 Total Miscellaneous & Other

$20,175.00 $20,175.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $20,175.00  0  0 Total PUBLIC WORKS

700 NON DEPARTMENTAL

00405 INTEREST INCOME

40500 INTEREST INCOME $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0  0 Total Interest Income

00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER

Revenue Report  Page 5 of 1512/8/2023 



00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER

700 NON DEPARTMENTAL

010 CITY GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Revenue Report

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Adjusted 

Budget

Current Pd

Revenue

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Revenue

YTD

Pct

Budget

BalanceAccounts

40707 MISCELLANEOUS REV $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40728 FUND BALANCE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40730 HTAX TRANSFER $100,000.00 $0.00 $100,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $100,000.00 

40742 CAPITAL LEASE PURCHASE REVENUE $134,045.00 $0.00 $134,045.00 $0.00  0 $112,153.00  84 $21,892.00 

40744 ARC GRANT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40751 TRANSFER FROM SOLID WASTE $167,576.00 $0.00 $167,576.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $167,576.00 

$401,621.00 $401,621.00 $0.00 $0.00 $112,153.00 $289,468.00  0  28 Total Miscellaneous & Other

$401,621.00 $401,621.00 $0.00 $0.00 $112,153.00 $289,468.00  0  28 Total NON DEPARTMENTAL

$2,914,572.00 $2,914,572.00 $0.00 $8,578.79 $5,584,271.59 ($2,669,699.59)Total CITY GENERAL FUND  0  192 

Revenue Report  Page 6 of 1512/8/2023 



00405 INTEREST INCOME

150 UTILITY ADMINISTRATION

020 UTILITY DEPT. GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Revenue Report

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Adjusted 

Budget

Current Pd

Revenue

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Revenue

YTD

Pct

Budget

BalanceAccounts

020 UTILITY DEPT. GENERAL FUND

150 UTILITY ADMINISTRATION

00405 INTEREST INCOME

40500 INTEREST INCOME $500.00 $0.00 $500.00 $0.00  0 $713.12  143 ($213.12)

$500.00 $500.00 $0.00 $0.00 $713.12 ($213.12) 0  143 Total Interest Income

00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER

40700 SERVICE CHARGES $55,000.00 $0.00 $55,000.00 $250.00  0 $25,125.00  46 $29,875.00 

40701 PROCEEDS FROM BORROWING $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40707 MISCELLANEOUS REV $60,000.00 $0.00 $60,000.00 $0.00  0 $100.00  0 $59,900.00 

40708 INTERFUND TRANSFER $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40710 PENALTIES $70,000.00 $0.00 $70,000.00 $0.00  0 $28,579.73  41 $41,420.27 

40712 DEBT SET OFF FEES $1,000.00 $0.00 $1,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $1,000.00 

40713 PMPA ECONOMIC DEV. $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40714 GARBAGE FEES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40719 CAPITAL LEASE PROCEEDS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40723 AMI FEES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40734 COURT ORDERED RESTITUTION $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40735 INSURANCE PAID CLAIMS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40737 REFUNDS/REIMBURSEMENTS $30,000.00 $0.00 $30,000.00 $0.00  0 $68.70  0 $29,931.30 

40746 PMPA TRAINING REIMBURSEMENT $15,000.00 $0.00 $15,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $15,000.00 

$231,000.00 $231,000.00 $0.00 $250.00 $53,873.43 $177,126.57  0  23 Total Miscellaneous & Other

00412 OTHER REVENUE

41200 GRANTS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0  0 Total Other Revenue

$231,500.00 $231,500.00 $0.00 $250.00 $54,586.55 $176,913.45  0  24 Total UTILITY ADMINISTRATION

Revenue Report  Page 7 of 1512/8/2023 



00406 GRANT INCOME

250 ELECTRIC

020 UTILITY DEPT. GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Revenue Report

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Adjusted 

Budget

Current Pd

Revenue

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Revenue

YTD

Pct

Budget

BalanceAccounts

250 ELECTRIC

00406 GRANT INCOME

40602 STATE GRANTS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0  0 Total Grant Income

00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER

40703 SALE OF EQUIP/MATERIAL/SCRAP $15,000.00 $0.00 $15,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $15,000.00 

40707 MISCELLANEOUS REV $30,000.00 $0.00 $30,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $30,000.00 

40711 POLE RENTAL FEES $10,000.00 $0.00 $10,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $10,000.00 

40733 TRANSFER FROM HOSPITALITY FUND $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40735 INSURANCE PAID CLAIMS $1,000.00 $0.00 $1,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $1,000.00 

40737 REFUNDS/REIMBURSEMENTS $12,000.00 $0.00 $12,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $12,000.00 

$68,000.00 $68,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $68,000.00  0  0 Total Miscellaneous & Other

00408 ELECTRIC

40800 COMMERCIAL ELECTRIC $1,865,676.00 $0.00 $1,865,676.00 $119,514.76  6 $815,197.24  44 $1,050,478.76 

40801 RESIDENTIAL ELECTRIC $2,297,796.00 $0.00 $2,297,796.00 $144,564.30  6 $1,103,136.78  48 $1,194,659.22 

40802 SC SALES TAX $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40803 COMMERCIAL ELE NTX $375,000.00 $0.00 $375,000.00 $51,490.24  14 $305,184.35  81 $69,815.65 

40804 TEMP POWER/UNDERGRND PW $25,000.00 $0.00 $25,000.00 $0.00  0 $140.00  1 $24,860.00 

$4,563,472.00 $4,563,472.00 $0.00 $315,569.30 $2,223,658.37 $2,339,813.63  7  49 Total Electric

$4,631,472.00 $4,631,472.00 $0.00 $315,569.30 $2,223,658.37 $2,407,813.63  7  48 Total ELECTRIC

350 WATER

00406 GRANT INCOME

40601 SC MUNI TRUST $2,000.00 $0.00 $2,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $2,000.00 

$2,000.00 $2,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $2,000.00  0  0 Total Grant Income

00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER

40703 SALE OF EQUIP/MATERIAL/SCRAP $10,000.00 $0.00 $10,000.00 $500.00  5 $2,587.00  26 $7,413.00 

Revenue Report  Page 8 of 1512/8/2023 



00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER

350 WATER

020 UTILITY DEPT. GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Revenue Report

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Adjusted 

Budget

Current Pd

Revenue

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Revenue

YTD

Pct

Budget

BalanceAccounts

40707 MISCELLANEOUS REV $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40715 ELEVATED TANK MAINTENANCE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40737 REFUNDS/REIMBURSEMENTS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40743 DR. JOHNS RIA PROJECT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

$10,000.00 $10,000.00 $0.00 $500.00 $2,587.00 $7,413.00  5  26 Total Miscellaneous & Other

00409 WATER

40900 WATER SALES $2,230,204.00 $0.00 $2,230,204.00 $192,549.47  9 $1,189,261.98  53 $1,040,942.02 

40901 WATER TAPS $187,300.00 $0.00 $187,300.00 $4,000.00  2 $24,400.00  13 $162,900.00 

40902 DHEC $15,000.00 $0.00 $15,000.00 $1,196.30  8 $7,188.30  48 $7,811.70 

$2,432,504.00 $2,432,504.00 $0.00 $197,745.77 $1,220,850.28 $1,211,653.72  8  50 Total Water

00411 PROJECT OPERATIONS

41100 WATER LINE EXTENSION $2,000.00 $0.00 $2,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $2,000.00 

$2,000.00 $2,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $2,000.00  0  0 Total Project Operations

$2,446,504.00 $2,446,504.00 $0.00 $198,245.77 $1,223,437.28 $1,223,066.72  8  50 Total WATER

400 RECREATION

00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER

40745 OLD VOIDED CHECKS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0  0 Total Miscellaneous & Other

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0  0 Total RECREATION

450 SEWER

00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER

40701 PROCEEDS FROM BORROWING $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40703 SALE OF EQUIP/MATERIAL/SCRAP $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $77.20  0 ($77.20)

40707 MISCELLANEOUS REV $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $425.36  0 ($425.36)

40722 MISCELLANEOUS GRANTS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40732 PRITCHARD/PARK GRANT PROJECT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

Revenue Report  Page 9 of 1512/8/2023 



00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER

450 SEWER

020 UTILITY DEPT. GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Revenue Report

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Adjusted 

Budget

Current Pd

Revenue

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Revenue

YTD

Pct

Budget

BalanceAccounts

40737 REFUNDS/REIMBURSEMENTS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40739 BEACON MILL PROJECT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40740 SEWER PROJECT FUND $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $502.56 ($502.56) 0  0 Total Miscellaneous & Other

00410 SEWER

41000 SEWER SALES $784,439.00 $0.00 $784,439.00 $77,278.99  10 $474,492.60  60 $309,946.40 

41001 SEWER TAPS $100,500.00 $0.00 $100,500.00 $0.00  0 $1,300.00  1 $99,200.00 

$884,939.00 $884,939.00 $0.00 $77,278.99 $475,792.60 $409,146.40  9  54 Total Sewer

$884,939.00 $884,939.00 $0.00 $77,278.99 $476,295.16 $408,643.84  9  54 Total SEWER

550 WATER PLANT

00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER

40735 INSURANCE PAID CLAIMS $3,500.00 $0.00 $3,500.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $3,500.00 

40737 REFUNDS/REIMBURSEMENTS $2,500.00 $0.00 $2,500.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $2,500.00 

$6,000.00 $6,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $6,000.00  0  0 Total Miscellaneous & Other

$6,000.00 $6,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $6,000.00  0  0 Total WATER PLANT

650 NON DEPARTMENTAL

00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER

40742 CAPITAL LEASE PURCHASE REVENUE $101,000.00 $0.00 $101,000.00 $0.00  0 $46,374.89  46 $54,625.11 

$101,000.00 $101,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $46,374.89 $54,625.11  0  46 Total Miscellaneous & Other

$101,000.00 $101,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $46,374.89 $54,625.11  0  46 Total NON DEPARTMENTAL

$8,301,415.00 $8,301,415.00 $0.00 $591,344.06 $4,024,352.25 $4,277,062.75 Total UTILITY DEPT. GENERAL FUND  7  48 

Revenue Report  Page 10 of 1512/8/2023 



00405 INTEREST INCOME

900 SOLID WASTE

030 SOLID WASTE

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Revenue Report

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Adjusted 

Budget

Current Pd

Revenue

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Revenue

YTD

Pct

Budget

BalanceAccounts

030 SOLID WASTE

900 SOLID WASTE

00405 INTEREST INCOME

40500 INTEREST INCOME $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0  0 Total Interest Income

00406 GRANT INCOME

40601 SC MUNI TRUST $2,000.00 $0.00 $2,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $2,000.00 

$2,000.00 $2,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $2,000.00  0  0 Total Grant Income

00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER

40700 SERVICE CHARGES $449,250.00 $0.00 $449,250.00 $0.00  0 $185,794.72  41 $263,455.28 

40701 PROCEEDS FROM BORROWING $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40703 SALE OF EQUIP/MATERIAL/SCRAP $13,000.00 $0.00 $13,000.00 $0.00  0 $577.00  4 $12,423.00 

40707 MISCELLANEOUS REV $2,720.00 $0.00 $2,720.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $2,720.00 

40719 CAPITAL LEASE PROCEEDS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40728 FUND BALANCE $167,576.00 $0.00 $167,576.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $167,576.00 

40729 TRANSFER FROM GENERAL FUND $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40734 COURT ORDERED RESTITUTION $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40735 INSURANCE PAID CLAIMS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40737 REFUNDS/REIMBURSEMENTS $3,500.00 $0.00 $3,500.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $3,500.00 

40742 CAPITAL LEASE PURCHASE REVENUE $277,000.00 $0.00 $277,000.00 $0.00  0 $268,843.71  97 $8,156.29 

$913,046.00 $913,046.00 $0.00 $0.00 $455,215.43 $457,830.57  0  50 Total Miscellaneous & Other

$915,046.00 $915,046.00 $0.00 $0.00 $455,215.43 $459,830.57  0  50 Total SOLID WASTE

$915,046.00 $915,046.00 $0.00 $0.00 $455,215.43 $459,830.57 Total SOLID WASTE  0  50 

Revenue Report  Page 11 of 1512/8/2023 



00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER

004 REVENUE

040 FIRE DEPARTMENT 1% FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Revenue Report

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Adjusted 

Budget

Current Pd

Revenue

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Revenue

YTD

Pct

Budget

BalanceAccounts

040 FIRE DEPARTMENT 1% FUND

004 REVENUE

00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER

40707 MISCELLANEOUS REV $13,609.36 $0.00 $13,609.36 $0.00  0 $15,530.38  114 ($1,921.02)

$13,609.36 $13,609.36 $0.00 $0.00 $15,530.38 ($1,921.02) 0  114 Total Miscellaneous & Other

$13,609.36 $13,609.36 $0.00 $0.00 $15,530.38 ($1,921.02) 0  114 Total REVENUE

$13,609.36 $13,609.36 $0.00 $0.00 $15,530.38 ($1,921.02)Total FIRE DEPARTMENT 1% FUND  0  114 

Revenue Report  Page 12 of 1512/8/2023 



00406 GRANT INCOME

004 REVENUE

045 GRANT HOLDING ACCOUNT

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Revenue Report

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Adjusted 

Budget

Current Pd

Revenue

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Revenue

YTD

Pct

Budget

BalanceAccounts

045 GRANT HOLDING ACCOUNT

004 REVENUE

00406 GRANT INCOME

40604 CDBG ANDERSON PARK $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0  0 Total Grant Income

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0  0 Total REVENUE

100 ADMINISTRATION

00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER

40708 INTERFUND TRANSFER $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40730 HTAX TRANSFER $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0  0 Total Miscellaneous & Other

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0  0 Total ADMINISTRATION

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 Total GRANT HOLDING ACCOUNT  0  0 

Revenue Report  Page 13 of 1512/8/2023 



00401 INTERGOVENMENTAL REV

400 RECREATION

050 YOUTH RECREATION FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Revenue Report

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Adjusted 

Budget

Current Pd

Revenue

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Revenue

YTD

Pct

Budget

BalanceAccounts

050 YOUTH RECREATION FUND

400 RECREATION

00401 INTERGOVENMENTAL REV

40101 COUNTY ALLOCATION $50,000.00 $0.00 $50,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $50,000.00 

$50,000.00 $50,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $50,000.00  0  0 Total Intergovenmental Rev

00402 LICENSE, PERMITS, & FEES

40206 ADMISSION $74,750.00 $0.00 $74,750.00 $0.00  0 $3,365.00  5 $71,385.00 

40207 CONCESSIONS $48,200.00 $0.00 $48,200.00 $0.00  0 $11,852.50  25 $36,347.50 

40208 REGISTRATION $82,500.00 $0.00 $82,500.00 $0.00  0 $24,664.83  30 $57,835.17 

40209 SPONSOR FEES $41,600.00 $0.00 $41,600.00 $1,500.00  4 $7,706.28  19 $33,893.72 

40213 TOURNAMENT FEE $10,000.00 $0.00 $10,000.00 $0.00  0 $140.00  1 $9,860.00 

$257,050.00 $257,050.00 $0.00 $1,500.00 $47,728.61 $209,321.39  1  19 Total License, Permits, & Fees

00405 INTEREST INCOME

40500 INTEREST INCOME $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0  0 Total Interest Income

00406 GRANT INCOME

40600 PARD GRANT $10,000.00 $0.00 $10,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $10,000.00 

$10,000.00 $10,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $10,000.00  0  0 Total Grant Income

00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER

40700 SERVICE CHARGES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40702 DONATIONS $12,000.00 $0.00 $12,000.00 $0.00  0 $3,149.19  26 $8,850.81 

40703 SALE OF EQUIP/MATERIAL/SCRAP $6,500.00 $0.00 $6,500.00 $0.00  0 $2,063.00  32 $4,437.00 

40707 MISCELLANEOUS REV $2,720.00 $0.00 $2,720.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $2,720.00 

40709 SKATEBOARD PARK $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40729 TRANSFER FROM GENERAL FUND $119,099.00 $0.00 $119,099.00 $0.00  0 $59,549.50  50 $59,549.50 

40730 HTAX TRANSFER $117,950.00 $0.00 $117,950.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $117,950.00 

Revenue Report  Page 14 of 1512/8/2023 



00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER

400 RECREATION

050 YOUTH RECREATION FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Revenue Report

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Adjusted 

Budget

Current Pd

Revenue

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Revenue

YTD

Pct

Budget

BalanceAccounts

40734 COURT ORDERED RESTITUTION $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40735 INSURANCE PAID CLAIMS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

40737 REFUNDS/REIMBURSEMENTS $4,000.00 $0.00 $4,000.00 $0.00  0 $24.36  1 $3,975.64 

40745 OLD VOIDED CHECKS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 

$262,269.00 $262,269.00 $0.00 $0.00 $64,786.05 $197,482.95  0  25 Total Miscellaneous & Other

$579,319.00 $579,319.00 $0.00 $1,500.00 $112,514.66 $466,804.34  0  19 Total RECREATION

$579,319.00 $579,319.00 $0.00 $1,500.00 $112,514.66 $466,804.34 Total YOUTH RECREATION FUND  0  19 

$12,723,961.36 $12,723,961.36 $0.00 $601,422.85 $10,191,884.31 $2,532,077.05 TOTAL ALL FUNDS  5  80 

Revenue Report  Page 15 of 1512/8/2023 



Page 1 of 37

Expenditure Report
City Of Westminster

00100 PERSONAL SERVICES

100 ADMINISTRATION

010 CITY GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

Accounts

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Current Pd

Expenditures

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Expenditures

YTD

Pct

Unencumbered

Balance

Encumbered

Balance

Une

Pct

010 CITY GENERAL FUND

100 ADMINISTRATION

00100 PERSONAL SERVICES

05100 SALARIES $11,847.85 $152,590.00 $0.00  8 $141,070.23  92 $0.00 $11,519.77  8 

05101 OVERTIME $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05102 MAYOR SALARY $0.00 $12,000.00 $0.00  0 $2,300.00  19 $0.00 $9,700.00  81 

05103 ANNUAL BONUS $0.00 $1,560.00 $0.00  0 $1,510.00  97 $0.00 $50.00  3 

05104 SOCIAL SECURITY $880.95 $16,500.00 $0.00  5 $11,696.48  71 $0.00 $4,803.52  29 

05105 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTIONS $2,198.97 $40,013.00 $0.00  5 $26,980.82  67 $0.00 $13,032.18  33 

05106 HEALTH INSURANCE CONTRIBUTIONS $2,493.62 $24,174.00 $0.00  10 $15,441.90  64 $0.00 $8,732.10  36 

05107 WORKERS COMPENSATION $0.00 $2,000.00 $0.00  0 $1,000.00  50 $0.00 $1,000.00  50 

05108 EMPLOYEE BONDING $0.00 $5,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $5,000.00  100 

05109 PART TIME EMPLOYEES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05112 UNEMPLOYEMENT INSURANCE REIMBU $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05114 VEHICLE ALLOWANCE $800.00 $4,200.00 $0.00  19 $4,800.00  114 $0.00 ($600.00) (14)

05115 CELLPHONE ALLOWANCE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05157 COUNCIL SALARIES $0.00 $43,200.00 $0.00  0 $12,000.00  28 $0.00 $31,200.00  72 

05810 UNIFORM EXPENSE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $301,237.00 $18,221.39 $216,799.43 $0.00 $84,437.57  72  28  6 Total Personal Services

00200 COMMODITIES

05200 POSTAGE $0.00 $1,200.00 $0.00  0 $572.66  48 $0.00 $627.34  52 

05202 OFFICE SUPPLIES $0.00 $6,000.00 $0.00  0 $2,762.68  46 $0.00 $3,237.32  54 

05209 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES $0.00 $500.00 $0.00  0 $102.98  21 $0.00 $397.02  79 

05210 MISCELLANEOUS $0.00 $2,400.00 $0.00  0 $680.05  28 $0.00 $1,719.95  72 

05211 SERVICE FEES $28.50 $3,000.00 $0.00  1 $1,328.55  44 $0.00 $1,671.45  56 

Expenditure Report  Page 1 of 3712/8/2023 



00200 COMMODITIES

100 ADMINISTRATION

010 CITY GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Expenditure Report

Accounts

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Current Pd

Expenditures

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Expenditures

YTD

Pct

Unencumbered

Balance

Encumbered

Balance

Une

Pct

05212 EQUIPMENT PURCHASED $0.00 $3,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $3,000.00  100 

05214 PRINTING $0.00 $1,000.00 $0.00  0 $235.36  24 $0.00 $764.64  76 

05215 BUILDING MAINT. $0.00 $6,000.00 $0.00  0 $3,696.33  62 $0.00 $2,303.67  38 

05227 BANK RECON ADJUSTMENT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $23,100.00 $28.50 $9,378.61 $0.00 $13,721.39  41  59  0 Total Commodities

00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES

05300 CELLULAR/WIRELESS PHONES $0.00 $1,000.00 $0.00  0 $721.53  72 $0.00 $278.47  28 

05301 TELEPHONES $0.00 $3,000.00 $0.00  0 $993.77  33 $0.00 $2,006.23  67 

05302 TRAVEL AND TRAINING $0.00 $5,000.00 $0.00  0 $8,262.77  165 $0.00 ($3,262.77) (65)

05305 MEMBERSHIPS & SUBSCRIPTIONS $0.00 $5,000.00 $0.00  0 $1,364.46  27 $0.00 $3,635.54  73 

05306 ADVERTISING $0.00 $1,000.00 $0.00  0 $777.70  78 $0.00 $222.30  22 

05308 OFFICE EQUIP/RENTAL/LEASE $0.00 $2,100.00 $0.00  0 $587.42  28 $0.00 $1,512.58  72 

05310 MISCELLANEOUS $0.00 $3,200.00 $0.00  0 $871.17  27 $0.00 $2,328.83  73 

05313 UTILITIES PURCH FROM WUD $382.72 $9,000.00 $0.00  4 $1,575.21  18 $0.00 $7,424.79  82 

05314 UTILITIES PURCH FROM OTHER $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $130.84  0 $0.00 ($130.84)  0 

05319 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES $1,675.00 $20,000.00 $0.00  8 $46,924.10  235 $0.00 ($26,924.10) (135)

05320 MEDICAL PROFESS. SERVICES $0.00 $100.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $100.00  100 

05321  COMPUTER MAINTENANCE $0.00 $5,200.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $5,200.00  100 

05323 VEHICLE & PROPERTY INSURANCE $0.00 $51,227.00 $0.00  0 $25,372.25  50 $0.00 $25,854.75  50 

05328 CUSTOMER REFUNDS $0.00 $500.00 $0.00  0 $425.00  85 $0.00 $75.00  15 

05336 SC SALES TAX $0.00 $400.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $400.00  100 

05352 JANITORIAL EXPENSE $300.00 $3,000.00 $0.00  10 $1,436.00  48 $0.00 $1,564.00  52 

05356 TREE BOARD PROJECTS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05358 EQUIPMENT REPAIR & MAINT. $0.00 $100.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $100.00  100 

Expenditure Report  Page 2 of 3712/8/2023 



00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES

100 ADMINISTRATION

010 CITY GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Expenditure Report

Accounts

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Current Pd

Expenditures

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Expenditures

YTD

Pct

Unencumbered

Balance

Encumbered

Balance

Une

Pct

05362 MUNICIPAL COURT $1,350.00 $21,000.00 $0.00  6 $8,100.00  39 $0.00 $12,900.00  61 

05365 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES $3,471.46 $55,750.00 $0.00  6 $25,598.31  46 $0.00 $30,151.69  54 

05368 INTERFUND TRANSFER $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05372 ELECTION EXPENSE $1,920.28 $2,500.00 $0.00  77 $1,920.28  77 $0.00 $579.72  23 

05378 PRINTING $0.00 $500.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $500.00  100 

05379 LEGAL SERVICES $0.00 $20,000.00 $0.00  0 $28,311.00  142 $0.00 ($8,311.00) (42)

05380 DOWNTOWN EVENTS/REPAIRS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05383 PUBLIC RELATIONS/PROMOTIONS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05387 HALL ST PROPERTY PURCHASE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05394 CITY COUNCIL TRAVEL & TRAINING $806.31 $5,000.00 $0.00  16 $3,317.98  66 $0.00 $1,682.02  34 

05395 CITY COUNCIL MEMBER & SUBSCRIP $0.00 $2,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $2,000.00  100 

$0.00 $216,577.00 $9,905.77 $156,689.79 $0.00 $59,887.21  72  28  5 Total Contractual Services

00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY

05604 VEHICLES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05618 FIRE BAY DEMOLITION $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05646 C FUNDS - SIDEWALKS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05647 C FUNDS - ROADWAY RESURFACING $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0  0  0 Total Capital Outlay

$0.00 $540,914.00 $0.00 $158,046.17  71 $28,155.66 $382,867.83  29  5 Total ADMINISTRATION

200 FIRE DEPARTMENT

00100 PERSONAL SERVICES

05100 SALARIES $12,811.62 $556,885.00 $0.00  2 $135,025.21  24 $0.00 $421,859.79  76 

05101 OVERTIME $2,727.11 $22,000.00 $0.00  12 $17,984.94  82 $0.00 $4,015.06  18 

05103 ANNUAL BONUS $0.00 $2,070.00 $0.00  0 $1,630.00  79 $0.00 $440.00  21 

Expenditure Report  Page 3 of 3712/8/2023 



00100 PERSONAL SERVICES

200 FIRE DEPARTMENT

010 CITY GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Expenditure Report

Accounts

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Current Pd

Expenditures

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Expenditures

YTD

Pct

Unencumbered

Balance

Encumbered

Balance

Une

Pct

05104 SOCIAL SECURITY $1,240.40 $42,602.00 $0.00  3 $12,170.02  29 $0.00 $30,431.98  71 

05105 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTIONS $3,554.00 $118,283.00 $0.00  3 $34,862.75  29 $0.00 $83,420.25  71 

05106 HEALTH INSURANCE CONTRIBUTIONS $4,163.80 $141,787.00 $0.00  3 $29,146.60  21 $0.00 $112,640.40  79 

05107 WORKERS COMPENSATION $0.00 $19,700.00 $0.00  0 $13,681.00  69 $0.00 $6,019.00  31 

05109 PART TIME EMPLOYEES $1,269.10 $25,000.00 $0.00  5 $11,564.08  46 $0.00 $13,435.92  54 

05110 VOLUNTEER FIREFIGHTERS BONUS $0.00 $6,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $6,000.00  100 

05113 PAYROLL ADJUSTMENTS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $934,327.00 $25,766.03 $256,064.60 $0.00 $678,262.40  27  73  3 Total Personal Services

00200 COMMODITIES

05201 FUEL $762.63 $10,000.00 $0.00  8 $4,794.87  48 $0.00 $5,205.13  52 

05202 OFFICE SUPPLIES $0.00 $2,500.00 $0.00  0 $740.57  30 $0.00 $1,759.43  70 

05203 RADIO/PAGERS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05204 BUNKER / PPE GEAR $0.00 $7,500.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $7,500.00  100 

05205 AWARDS / FLOWERS $0.00 $1,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $1,000.00  100 

05207 VEHICLE SUPPLIES / PARTS $0.00 $3,000.00 $0.00  0 $555.43  19 $0.00 $2,444.57  81 

05208 UNIFORMS $0.00 $6,000.00 $0.00  0 $557.66  9 $0.00 $5,442.34  91 

05209 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES $0.00 $2,000.00 $0.00  0 $106.53  5 $0.00 $1,893.47  95 

05210 MISCELLANEOUS $0.00 $1,000.00 $0.00  0 $211.50  21 $0.00 $788.50  79 

05212 EQUIPMENT PURCHASED $0.00 $9,000.00 $0.00  0 $5,406.00  60 $1,752.89 $1,841.11  20 

05218 VOLUNTEER FUND EXPENSE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05219 FD DRINK FUND EXPENSE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05221 DEPRECIATION EXPENSE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05222 SUPPLIES $0.00 $2,500.00 $0.00  0 $651.84  26 $0.00 $1,848.16  74 

$0.00 $44,500.00 $762.63 $13,024.40 $1,752.89 $29,722.71  29  67  2 Total Commodities

Expenditure Report  Page 4 of 3712/8/2023 



00200 COMMODITIES

200 FIRE DEPARTMENT

010 CITY GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Expenditure Report

Accounts

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Current Pd

Expenditures

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Expenditures

YTD

Pct

Unencumbered

Balance

Encumbered

Balance

Une

Pct

00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES

05300 CELLULAR/WIRELESS PHONES $0.00 $3,500.00 $0.00  0 $950.90  27 $0.00 $2,549.10  73 

05301 TELEPHONES $596.64 $4,000.00 $0.00  15 $1,891.51  47 $0.00 $2,108.49  53 

05302 TRAVEL AND TRAINING $0.00 $4,500.00 $0.00  0 $2,808.66  62 $0.00 $1,691.34  38 

05303 RADIO/PAGER REPAIR $0.00 $500.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $500.00  100 

05304 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE $0.00 $15,000.00 $0.00  0 $10,404.81  69 $0.00 $4,595.19  31 

05305 MEMBERSHIPS & SUBSCRIPTIONS $0.00 $16,500.00 $0.00  0 $10,865.00  66 $375.00 $5,260.00  32 

05306 ADVERTISING $0.00 $300.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $300.00  100 

05309 FIRE EXTINGUISHER $0.00 $200.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $200.00  100 

05310 MISCELLANEOUS $41.27 $1,000.00 $0.00  4 $41.27  4 $0.00 $958.73  96 

05313 UTILITIES PURCH FROM WUD $2,078.25 $28,000.00 $0.00  7 $11,600.69  41 $0.00 $16,399.31  59 

05314 UTILITIES PURCH FROM OTHER $0.00 $4,200.00 $0.00  0 $284.69  7 $0.00 $3,915.31  93 

05319 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES $0.00 $200.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $200.00  100 

05320 MEDICAL PROFESS. SERVICES $95.00 $2,500.00 $0.00  4 $332.50  13 $0.00 $2,167.50  87 

05322 CABLE $0.00 $900.00 $0.00  0 $296.80  33 $0.00 $603.20  67 

05325 SECURITY MONITORING $0.00 $500.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $500.00  100 

05352 JANITORIAL EXPENSE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05354 FIRE PREVENTION $0.00 $1,500.00 $0.00  0 $1,402.50  94 $0.00 $97.50  7 

05355 BUNKER GEAR REPAIR $0.00 $500.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $500.00  100 

05357 EQUIPMENT RENTAL/LEASE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05358 EQUIPMENT REPAIR & MAINT. $63.60 $5,000.00 $0.00  1 $779.95  16 $0.00 $4,220.05  84 

05365 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES $0.00 $4,000.00 $0.00  0 $377.00  9 $0.00 $3,623.00  91 

05367 ZONING/COMP PLAN $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

Expenditure Report  Page 5 of 3712/8/2023 



00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES

200 FIRE DEPARTMENT

010 CITY GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Expenditure Report

Accounts

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Current Pd

Expenditures

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Expenditures

YTD

Pct

Unencumbered

Balance

Encumbered

Balance

Une

Pct

05369 TRAINING FUND EXPENSE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05370 DRINK FUND EXPENSE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $92,800.00 $2,874.76 $42,036.28 $375.00 $50,388.72  45  54  3 Total Contractual Services

00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY

05600 SCBA'S $0.00 $27,960.85 $0.00  0 $27,960.85  100 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05604 VEHICLES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05609 TRAILER FOR CRIBBING $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05620 BRUSH TRUCK $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05623 RADIO/PAGERS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05624 BUNKER/PPE GEAR $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05636 BUILDING/OTHER IMPROVEMENTS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05637 OTHER EQUIPMENT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $27,960.85 $0.00 $27,960.85 $0.00 $0.00  100  0  0 Total Capital Outlay

00700 DEBT SERVICE

05700 PRINCIPAL PAYMENT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05701 PAYOFF OF TRUCK BOND $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05702 FD PUMPER TRUCK $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0  0  0 Total Debt Service

$2,127.89 $1,099,587.85 $0.00 $758,373.83  31 $29,403.42 $339,086.13  69  3 Total FIRE DEPARTMENT

300 POLICE

00100 PERSONAL SERVICES

05100 SALARIES $11,345.84 $417,145.00 $0.00  3 $193,697.52  46 $0.00 $223,447.48  54 

05101 OVERTIME $0.00 $25,000.00 $0.00  0 $16,567.31  66 $0.00 $8,432.69  34 

05103 ANNUAL BONUS $0.00 $1,608.00 $0.00  0 $1,660.08  103 $0.00 ($52.08) (3)

05104 SOCIAL SECURITY $830.87 $31,912.00 $0.00  3 $15,615.46  49 $0.00 $16,296.54  51 

05105 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTIONS $2,409.85 $88,602.00 $0.00  3 $43,387.61  49 $0.00 $45,214.39  51 

Expenditure Report  Page 6 of 3712/8/2023 



00100 PERSONAL SERVICES

300 POLICE

010 CITY GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Expenditure Report

Accounts

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Current Pd

Expenditures

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Expenditures

YTD

Pct

Unencumbered

Balance

Encumbered

Balance

Une

Pct

05106 HEALTH INSURANCE CONTRIBUTIONS $4,387.38 $93,115.00 $0.00  5 $30,711.66  33 $0.00 $62,403.34  67 

05107 WORKERS COMPENSATION $0.00 $19,700.00 $0.00  0 $13,681.00  69 $0.00 $6,019.00  31 

05113 PAYROLL ADJUSTMENTS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $677,082.00 $18,973.94 $315,320.64 $0.00 $361,761.36  47  53  3 Total Personal Services

00200 COMMODITIES

05201 FUEL $2,608.55 $27,000.00 $0.00  10 $14,713.13  54 $0.00 $12,286.87  46 

05202 OFFICE SUPPLIES $0.00 $2,000.00 $0.00  0 $833.24  42 $0.00 $1,166.76  58 

05206 VEHICLE MAINT/REPAIR $795.00 $15,000.00 $0.00  5 $14,578.21  97 $0.00 $421.79  3 

05208 UNIFORMS $0.00 $3,000.00 $0.00  0 $1,683.06  56 $0.00 $1,316.94  44 

05209 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES $0.00 $1,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $1,000.00  100 

05210 MISCELLANEOUS $0.00 $500.00 $0.00  0 $362.76  73 $0.00 $137.24  27 

05215 BUILDING MAINT. $0.00 $1,000.00 $0.00  0 $755.65  76 $0.00 $244.35  24 

05222 SUPPLIES $0.00 $6,000.00 $0.00  0 $526.67  9 $164.00 $5,309.33  88 

05224 POLICE K9 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05226 DRUG SEIZURE EXPENSE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05232 MATERIAL/SCRAP RECOVERY $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $55,500.00 $3,403.55 $33,452.72 $164.00 $21,883.28  60  39  6 Total Commodities

00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES

05300 CELLULAR/WIRELESS PHONES $437.96 $4,100.00 $0.00  11 $1,195.39  29 $0.00 $2,904.61  71 

05301 TELEPHONES $0.00 $2,800.00 $0.00  0 $993.76  35 $0.00 $1,806.24  65 

05302 TRAVEL AND TRAINING $0.00 $5,000.00 $0.00  0 $1,623.02  32 $132.76 $3,244.22  65 

05305 MEMBERSHIPS & SUBSCRIPTIONS $11,900.00 $14,500.00 $0.00  82 $14,946.67  103 $0.00 ($446.67) (3)

05306 ADVERTISING $0.00 $500.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $500.00  100 

05307 PUBLIC RELATIONS $0.00 $500.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $500.00  100 

Expenditure Report  Page 7 of 3712/8/2023 



00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES

300 POLICE

010 CITY GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Expenditure Report

Accounts

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Current Pd

Expenditures

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Expenditures

YTD

Pct

Unencumbered

Balance

Encumbered

Balance

Une

Pct

05310 MISCELLANEOUS $0.00 $500.00 $0.00  0 $359.18  72 $0.00 $140.82  28 

05311 RADAR CERTIFICATION $0.00 $400.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $400.00  100 

05312 NARCOTICS BUY MONEY $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05313 UTILITIES PURCH FROM WUD $642.24 $13,200.00 $0.00  5 $3,218.42  24 $0.00 $9,981.58  76 

05315 POLICE FUND $0.00 $1,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $1,000.00  100 

05318 SOFTWARE $286.00 $9,000.00 $0.00  3 $1,430.00  16 $0.00 $7,570.00  84 

05319 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES $0.00 $2,500.00 $0.00  0 $400.00  16 $0.00 $2,100.00  84 

05320 MEDICAL PROFESS. SERVICES $95.00 $1,000.00 $0.00  10 $332.50  33 $0.00 $667.50  67 

05352 JANITORIAL EXPENSE $300.00 $2,500.00 $0.00  12 $1,268.75  51 $0.00 $1,231.25  49 

05357 EQUIPMENT RENTAL/LEASE $0.00 $9,000.00 $0.00  0 $7,717.09  86 $0.00 $1,282.91  14 

05358 EQUIPMENT REPAIR & MAINT. $0.00 $1,800.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $1,800.00  100 

05359 EQUIPMENT PURCHASE $0.00 $3,500.00 $0.00  0 $33,738.85  964 $0.00 ($30,238.85) (864)

05365 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05373 JUVENILE DETENTION $0.00 $2,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $2,000.00 $0.00  0 

05376 E-TICKET FOR VEHICLES $0.00 $1,500.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $1,500.00  100 

05381 DRUG SEIZURE EXPENSE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05389 DONATIONS EXPENSE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $75,300.00 $13,661.20 $67,223.63 $2,132.76 $5,943.61  89  8  18 Total Contractual Services

00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY

05601 VEHICLES/EQUIPMENT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05636 BUILDING/OTHER IMPROVEMENTS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05637 OTHER EQUIPMENT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0  0  0 Total Capital Outlay

Expenditure Report  Page 8 of 3712/8/2023 



00700 DEBT SERVICE

300 POLICE

010 CITY GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Expenditure Report

Accounts

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Current Pd

Expenditures

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Expenditures

YTD

Pct

Unencumbered

Balance

Encumbered

Balance

Une

Pct

00700 DEBT SERVICE

05703 PD VEHICLES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0  0  0 Total Debt Service

$2,296.76 $807,882.00 $0.00 $389,588.25  51 $36,038.69 $415,996.99  48  4 Total POLICE

400 RECREATION

00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY

05637 OTHER EQUIPMENT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0  0  0 Total Capital Outlay

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0  0 Total RECREATION

500 CODES

00100 PERSONAL SERVICES

05100 SALARIES $1,442.40 $18,761.00 $0.00  8 $17,308.80  92 $0.00 $1,452.20  8 

05101 OVERTIME $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05103 ANNUAL BONUS $0.00 $130.00 $0.00  0 $160.00  123 $0.00 ($30.00) (23)

05104 SOCIAL SECURITY $98.81 $1,436.00 $0.00  7 $1,197.96  83 $0.00 $238.04  17 

05105 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTIONS $267.71 $3,482.00 $0.00  8 $3,212.52  92 $0.00 $269.48  8 

05106 HEALTH INSURANCE CONTRIBUTIONS $981.96 $6,001.00 $0.00  16 $5,891.76  98 $0.00 $109.24  2 

05112 UNEMPLOYEMENT INSURANCE REIMBU $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $29,810.00 $2,790.88 $27,771.04 $0.00 $2,038.96  93  7  9 Total Personal Services

00200 COMMODITIES

05201 FUEL $42.26 $800.00 $0.00  5 $322.06  40 $0.00 $477.94  60 

05202 OFFICE SUPPLIES $0.00 $500.00 $0.00  0 $160.00  32 $0.00 $340.00  68 

05206 VEHICLE MAINT/REPAIR $0.00 $250.00 $0.00  0 $70.00  28 $0.00 $180.00  72 

05210 MISCELLANEOUS $0.00 $1,000.00 $0.00  0 $268.18  27 $0.00 $731.82  73 

05214 PRINTING $0.00 $500.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $500.00  100 

$0.00 $3,050.00 $42.26 $820.24 $0.00 $2,229.76  27  73  1 Total Commodities

00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES

Expenditure Report  Page 9 of 3712/8/2023 



00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES

500 CODES

010 CITY GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Expenditure Report

Accounts

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Current Pd

Expenditures

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Expenditures

YTD

Pct

Unencumbered

Balance

Encumbered

Balance

Une

Pct

05300 CELLULAR/WIRELESS PHONES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05301 TELEPHONES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05302 TRAVEL AND TRAINING $0.00 $500.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $500.00  100 

05305 MEMBERSHIPS & SUBSCRIPTIONS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05306 ADVERTISING $0.00 $500.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $500.00  100 

05318 SOFTWARE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05367 ZONING/COMP PLAN $0.00 $15,000.00 $0.00  0 $1,945.00  13 $0.00 $13,055.00  87 

05385 CODE SERVICES CONTRACT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05386 ABATEMENT EXPENSES $0.00 $15,000.00 $0.00  0 $800.00  5 $0.00 $14,200.00  95 

$0.00 $31,000.00 $0.00 $2,745.00 $0.00 $28,255.00  9  91  0 Total Contractual Services

00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY

05604 VEHICLES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0  0  0 Total Capital Outlay

$0.00 $63,860.00 $0.00 $32,523.72  49 $2,833.14 $31,336.28  51  4 Total CODES

600 PUBLIC WORKS

00100 PERSONAL SERVICES

05100 SALARIES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05101 OVERTIME $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05103 ANNUAL BONUS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05104 SOCIAL SECURITY $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05105 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTIONS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05106 HEALTH INSURANCE CONTRIBUTIONS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05107 WORKERS COMPENSATION $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05113 PAYROLL ADJUSTMENTS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0  0  0 Total Personal Services

Expenditure Report  Page 10 of 3712/8/2023 



00200 COMMODITIES

600 PUBLIC WORKS

010 CITY GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Expenditure Report

Accounts

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Current Pd

Expenditures

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Expenditures

YTD

Pct

Unencumbered

Balance

Encumbered

Balance

Une

Pct

00200 COMMODITIES

05201 FUEL $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05202 OFFICE SUPPLIES $0.00 $1,000.00 $0.00  0 $194.38  19 $0.00 $805.62  81 

05206 VEHICLE MAINT/REPAIR $0.00 $1,500.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $1,500.00  100 

05208 UNIFORMS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05209 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES $0.00 $400.00 $0.00  0 $81.49  20 $0.00 $318.51  80 

05210 MISCELLANEOUS $0.00 $1,000.00 $0.00  0 $61.90  6 $0.00 $938.10  94 

05212 EQUIPMENT PURCHASED $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05215 BUILDING MAINT. $0.00 $11,925.00 $0.00  0 $2,613.29  22 $0.00 $9,311.71  78 

05216 MATERIALS - MAINT. $84.14 $2,000.00 $0.00  4 $1,651.17  83 $77.32 $271.51  14 

05222 SUPPLIES $45.25 $1,000.00 $0.00  5 $241.08  24 $0.00 $758.92  76 

05223 TOOLS $57.22 $1,000.00 $0.00  6 $110.21  11 $0.00 $889.79  89 

$0.00 $19,825.00 $186.61 $4,953.52 $77.32 $14,794.16  25  75  1 Total Commodities

00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES

05300 CELLULAR/WIRELESS PHONES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05301 TELEPHONES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05302 TRAVEL AND TRAINING $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05305 MEMBERSHIPS & SUBSCRIPTIONS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05306 ADVERTISING $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05310 MISCELLANEOUS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05313 UTILITIES PURCH FROM WUD $1,277.16 $14,000.00 $0.00  9 $3,861.92  28 $0.00 $10,138.08  72 

05316 RAILROAD PROPERTY RENTAL $0.00 $900.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $900.00  100 

05319 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05320 MEDICAL PROFESS. SERVICES $47.50 $0.00 $0.00  0 $47.50  0 $0.00 ($47.50)  0 

Expenditure Report  Page 11 of 3712/8/2023 



00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES

600 PUBLIC WORKS

010 CITY GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Expenditure Report

Accounts

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Current Pd

Expenditures

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Expenditures

YTD

Pct

Unencumbered

Balance

Encumbered

Balance

Une

Pct

05325 SECURITY MONITORING $0.00 $3,000.00 $0.00  0 $240.00  8 $0.00 $2,760.00  92 

05341 ASPHALT/PAVING $111.07 $5,000.00 $0.00  2 $189.51  4 $0.00 $4,810.49  96 

05352 JANITORIAL EXPENSE $300.00 $6,000.00 $0.00  5 $2,380.40  40 $0.00 $3,619.60  60 

05357 EQUIPMENT RENTAL/LEASE $0.00 $500.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $500.00  100 

05358 EQUIPMENT REPAIR & MAINT. $0.00 $500.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $500.00  100 

05360 HAND POWER / HYDRAULIC TOOLS $0.00 $500.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $500.00  100 

05363 R.O.W. MAINTENANCE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05364 MOSQUITO SPRAYING $0.00 $8,000.00 $0.00  0 $7,233.34  90 $0.00 $766.66  10 

05365 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES $1,007.00 $1,000.00 $0.00  101 $1,270.00  127 $0.00 ($270.00) (27)

05374 GARBAGE PERMIT FEES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $39,400.00 $2,742.73 $15,222.67 $0.00 $24,177.33  39  61  7 Total Contractual Services

00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY

05604 VEHICLES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05607 FIELD/FACILITY  IMPROVEMENTS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05616 C FUNDS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05631 LEGION DRIVE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05636 BUILDING/OTHER IMPROVEMENTS $0.00 $4,800.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $4,800.00  100 

$0.00 $4,800.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $4,800.00  0  100  0 Total Capital Outlay

00700 DEBT SERVICE

05708 GARBAGE TRUCK PRINCIPAL $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0  0  0 Total Debt Service

$77.32 $64,025.00 $0.00 $43,771.49  32 $2,929.34 $20,176.19  68  5 Total PUBLIC WORKS

700 NON DEPARTMENTAL

00100 PERSONAL SERVICES

05113 PAYROLL ADJUSTMENTS $0.00 $12,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $12,000.00  100 

$0.00 $12,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $12,000.00  0  100  0 Total Personal Services

Expenditure Report  Page 12 of 3712/8/2023 



00100 PERSONAL SERVICES

700 NON DEPARTMENTAL

010 CITY GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Expenditure Report

Accounts

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Current Pd

Expenditures

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Expenditures

YTD

Pct

Unencumbered

Balance

Encumbered

Balance

Une

Pct

00200 COMMODITIES

05209 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05210 MISCELLANEOUS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05222 SUPPLIES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0  0  0 Total Commodities

00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES

05317 TRANSFER TO CHAMBER $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05377 SOLID WASTE TRANSFER $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05384 TRANSFER TO YOUTH RECREATION $0.00 $119,099.00 $0.00  0 $59,549.50  50 $0.00 $59,549.50  50 

05388 GRANT MATCH $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $119,099.00 $0.00 $59,549.50 $0.00 $59,549.50  50  50  0 Total Contractual Services

00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY

05602 DEPOT HANDRAIL $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05604 VEHICLES $0.00 $134,045.00 $0.00  0 $89,653.00  67 $35,719.00 $8,673.00  6 

05616 C FUNDS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05617 CAPITAL EXPENDITURES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05622 ARCHITECTURAL STUDY CITY HALL $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05648 PUBLIC SAFETY VEHICLES UPFIT $0.00 $11,000.00 $0.00  0 $10,281.59  93 $0.00 $718.41  7 

05653 ARC DOWTOWN MASTER PLAN $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $145,045.00 $0.00 $99,934.59 $35,719.00 $9,391.41  69  6  0 Total Capital Outlay

00700 DEBT SERVICE

05717 2023 LEASE/PURCHASE $0.00 $50,659.22 $0.00  0 $50,659.22  100 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05718 2024 LEASE PURCHASE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $50,659.22 $0.00 $50,659.22 $0.00 $0.00  100  0  0 Total Debt Service

00800 OTHER

05800 GRANTS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

Expenditure Report  Page 13 of 3712/8/2023 



00800 OTHER

700 NON DEPARTMENTAL

010 CITY GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Expenditure Report

Accounts

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Current Pd

Expenditures

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Expenditures

YTD

Pct

Unencumbered

Balance

Encumbered

Balance

Une

Pct

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0  0  0 Total Other

$35,719.00 $326,803.22 $0.00 $80,940.91  64 $0.00 $210,143.31  25  0 Total NON DEPARTMENTAL

800 ANDERSON PARK

00200 COMMODITIES

05209 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES $0.00 $1,500.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $1,500.00  100 

05210 MISCELLANEOUS $0.00 $1,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $1,000.00  100 

05215 BUILDING MAINT. $0.00 $3,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $3,000.00  100 

05216 MATERIALS - MAINT. $0.00 $1,000.00 $0.00  0 $463.04  46 $0.00 $536.96  54 

05222 SUPPLIES $0.00 $1,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $1,000.00  100 

05313 UTILITIES PURCH FROM WUD $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05319 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05365 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES $0.00 $4,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $4,000.00  100 

$0.00 $11,500.00 $0.00 $463.04 $0.00 $11,036.96  4  96  0 Total Commodities

$0.00 $11,500.00 $0.00 $11,036.96  4 $0.00 $463.04  96  0 Total ANDERSON PARK

$40,220.97 Total CITY GENERAL FUND $1,474,281.33 $0.00  48 $2,914,572.07 $99,360.25 $1,400,069.77  51  3 

Expenditure Report  Page 14 of 3712/8/2023 



00100 PERSONAL SERVICES

150 UTILITY ADMINISTRATION

020 UTILITY DEPT. GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Expenditure Report

Accounts

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Current Pd

Expenditures

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Expenditures

YTD

Pct

Unencumbered

Balance

Encumbered

Balance

Une

Pct

020 UTILITY DEPT. GENERAL FUND

150 UTILITY ADMINISTRATION

00100 PERSONAL SERVICES

05100 SALARIES $7,895.81 $336,750.00 $0.00  2 $95,598.54  28 $0.00 $241,151.46  72 

05101 OVERTIME $151.58 $1,500.00 $0.00  10 $742.73  50 $0.00 $757.27  50 

05103 ANNUAL BONUS $0.00 $1,384.00 $0.00  0 $1,150.00  83 $0.00 $234.00  17 

05104 SOCIAL SECURITY $586.90 $25,762.00 $0.00  2 $7,143.82  28 $0.00 $18,618.18  72 

05105 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTIONS $1,493.59 $62,500.00 $0.00  2 $17,880.98  29 $0.00 $44,619.02  71 

05106 HEALTH INSURANCE CONTRIBUTIONS $2,716.24 $48,440.00 $0.00  6 $20,503.74  42 $0.00 $27,936.26  58 

05107 WORKERS COMPENSATION $0.00 $6,000.00 $0.00  0 $3,000.00  50 $0.00 $3,000.00  50 

05108 EMPLOYEE BONDING $0.00 $700.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $700.00  100 

05112 UNEMPLOYEMENT INSURANCE REIMBU $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05114 VEHICLE ALLOWANCE $0.00 $6,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $6,000.00  100 

$0.00 $489,036.00 $12,844.12 $146,019.81 $0.00 $343,016.19  30  70  3 Total Personal Services

00200 COMMODITIES

05200 POSTAGE $0.00 $1,500.00 $0.00  0 $521.14  35 $0.00 $978.86  65 

05201 FUEL $385.41 $5,000.00 $0.00  8 $1,761.21  35 $0.00 $3,238.79  65 

05202 OFFICE SUPPLIES $0.00 $6,000.00 $0.00  0 $2,186.63  36 $0.00 $3,813.37  64 

05205 AWARDS / FLOWERS $0.00 $150.00 $0.00  0 $212.00  141 $0.00 ($62.00) (41)

05206 VEHICLE MAINT/REPAIR $899.43 $3,000.00 $0.00  30 $1,241.19  41 $0.00 $1,758.81  59 

05208 UNIFORMS $0.00 $4,000.00 $0.00  0 $1,952.71  49 $0.00 $2,047.29  51 

05209 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES $0.00 $900.00 $0.00  0 $178.62  20 $51.57 $669.81  74 

05210 MISCELLANEOUS $0.00 $1,500.00 $0.00  0 $575.14  38 $0.00 $924.86  62 

05211 SERVICE FEES $28.50 $45,000.00 $0.00  0 $42,645.79  95 $0.00 $2,354.21  5 

05212 EQUIPMENT PURCHASED $0.00 $2,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $2,000.00  100 

Expenditure Report  Page 15 of 3712/8/2023 



00200 COMMODITIES

150 UTILITY ADMINISTRATION

020 UTILITY DEPT. GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Expenditure Report

Accounts

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Current Pd

Expenditures

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Expenditures

YTD

Pct

Unencumbered

Balance

Encumbered

Balance

Une

Pct

05215 BUILDING MAINT. $0.00 $1,000.00 $0.00  0 $110.81  11 $0.00 $889.19  89 

05216 MATERIALS - MAINT. $0.00 $500.00 $0.00  0 $11.64  2 $0.00 $488.36  98 

05222 SUPPLIES $109.76 $1,500.00 $0.00  7 $220.53  15 $0.00 $1,279.47  85 

05223 TOOLS $0.00 $100.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $100.00  100 

05227 BANK RECON ADJUSTMENT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 ($3,450.24)  0 $0.00 $3,450.24  0 

05228 BANK ADJUSTMENTS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $72,150.00 $1,423.10 $48,167.17 $51.57 $23,931.26  67  33  2 Total Commodities

00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES

05300 CELLULAR/WIRELESS PHONES $0.00 $1,500.00 $0.00  0 $637.74  43 $0.00 $862.26  57 

05301 TELEPHONES $0.00 $3,500.00 $0.00  0 $993.77  28 $0.00 $2,506.23  72 

05302 TRAVEL AND TRAINING $0.00 $3,000.00 $0.00  0 $915.94  31 $0.00 $2,084.06  69 

05305 MEMBERSHIPS & SUBSCRIPTIONS $74.16 $3,000.00 $0.00  2 $1,356.89  45 $0.00 $1,643.11  55 

05306 ADVERTISING $0.00 $200.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $200.00  100 

05308 OFFICE EQUIP/RENTAL/LEASE $0.00 $2,000.00 $0.00  0 $853.23  43 $0.00 $1,146.77  57 

05310 MISCELLANEOUS $0.00 $3,500.00 $0.00  0 $100.00  3 $0.00 $3,400.00  97 

05313 UTILITIES PURCH FROM WUD $188.99 $8,700.00 $0.00  2 $909.12  10 $0.00 $7,790.88  90 

05319 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES $0.00 $46,000.00 $0.00  0 $27,085.59  59 $0.00 $18,914.41  41 

05320 MEDICAL PROFESS. SERVICES $0.00 $250.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $250.00  100 

05321  COMPUTER MAINTENANCE $0.00 $7,500.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $7,500.00  100 

05323 VEHICLE & PROPERTY INSURANCE $0.00 $51,227.00 $0.00  0 $25,372.25  50 $0.00 $25,854.75  50 

05324 ALLOCATION TO CITY $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05326 FRANCHISE FEE $34,168.42 $410,021.00 $0.00  8 $205,010.52  50 $0.00 $205,010.48  50 

05327 ONLINE UTILITY EXCHANGE $55.10 $1,000.00 $0.00  6 $295.70  30 $0.00 $704.30  70 

05328 CUSTOMER REFUNDS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

Expenditure Report  Page 16 of 3712/8/2023 



00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES

150 UTILITY ADMINISTRATION

020 UTILITY DEPT. GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Expenditure Report

Accounts

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Current Pd

Expenditures

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Expenditures

YTD

Pct

Unencumbered

Balance

Encumbered

Balance

Une

Pct

05336 SC SALES TAX $0.00 $1,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $1,000.00  100 

05352 JANITORIAL EXPENSE $300.00 $4,356.00 $0.00  7 $2,114.85  49 $0.00 $2,241.15  51 

05358 EQUIPMENT REPAIR & MAINT. $0.00 $500.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $500.00  100 

05360 HAND POWER / HYDRAULIC TOOLS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05363 R.O.W. MAINTENANCE $0.00 $25,374.00 $0.00  0 $24,281.80  96 $0.00 $1,092.20  4 

05365 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES $3,911.66 $58,000.00 $0.00  7 $41,499.89  72 $0.00 $16,500.11  28 

05366 EV CHARGING $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05368 INTERFUND TRANSFER $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05375 RECORDS CHECK $0.00 $50.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $50.00  100 

05379 LEGAL SERVICES $0.00 $30,000.00 $0.00  0 $3,959.50  13 $0.00 $26,040.50  87 

05393 SCAMPS $0.00 $2,200.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $2,200.00  100 

05394 CITY COUNCIL TRAVEL & TRAINING $0.00 $15,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $15,000.00  100 

05395 CITY COUNCIL MEMBER & SUBSCRIP $0.00 $2,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $2,000.00  100 

$0.00 $679,878.00 $38,698.33 $335,386.79 $0.00 $344,491.21  49  51  6 Total Contractual Services

00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER

40745 OLD VOIDED CHECKS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0  0  0 Total Miscellaneous & Other

00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY

05601 VEHICLES/EQUIPMENT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05603 OPEN $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05604 VEHICLES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05618 FIRE BAY DEMOLITION $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0  0  0 Total Capital Outlay

$51.57 $1,241,064.00 $0.00 $711,438.66  43 $52,965.55 $529,573.77  57  4 Total UTILITY ADMINISTRATION

Expenditure Report  Page 17 of 3712/8/2023 



00100 PERSONAL SERVICES

250 ELECTRIC

020 UTILITY DEPT. GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Expenditure Report

Accounts

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Current Pd

Expenditures

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Expenditures

YTD

Pct

Unencumbered

Balance

Encumbered

Balance

Une

Pct

250 ELECTRIC

00100 PERSONAL SERVICES

05100 SALARIES $8,163.90 $248,933.00 $0.00  3 $117,538.09  47 $0.00 $131,394.91  53 

05101 OVERTIME $274.04 $13,000.00 $0.00  2 $4,534.23  35 $0.00 $8,465.77  65 

05103 ANNUAL BONUS $0.00 $1,084.00 $0.00  0 $730.00  67 $0.00 $354.00  33 

05104 SOCIAL SECURITY $628.42 $19,044.00 $0.00  3 $9,161.42  48 $0.00 $9,882.58  52 

05105 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTIONS $1,566.07 $46,202.00 $0.00  3 $22,656.61  49 $0.00 $23,545.39  51 

05106 HEALTH INSURANCE CONTRIBUTIONS $1,239.52 $26,844.00 $0.00  5 $14,438.80  54 $0.00 $12,405.20  46 

05107 WORKERS COMPENSATION $0.00 $20,000.00 $0.00  0 $13,683.00  68 $0.00 $6,317.00  32 

05113 PAYROLL ADJUSTMENTS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $375,107.00 $11,871.95 $182,742.15 $0.00 $192,364.85  49  51  3 Total Personal Services

00200 COMMODITIES

05201 FUEL $1,074.52 $20,000.00 $0.00  5 $8,576.40  43 $0.00 $11,423.60  57 

05202 OFFICE SUPPLIES $0.00 $2,000.00 $0.00  0 $47.52  2 $0.00 $1,952.48  98 

05206 VEHICLE MAINT/REPAIR $0.00 $40,000.00 $0.00  0 $13,209.25  33 $0.00 $26,790.75  67 

05208 UNIFORMS $0.00 $8,500.00 $0.00  0 $3,507.94  41 $480.00 $4,512.06  53 

05209 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES $61.48 $500.00 $0.00  12 $265.45  53 $0.00 $234.55  47 

05210 MISCELLANEOUS $0.00 $200.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $200.00  100 

05212 EQUIPMENT PURCHASED $0.00 $1,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $1,000.00  100 

05216 MATERIALS - MAINT. $24.99 $150,000.00 $0.00  0 $43,951.48  29 $121.86 $105,926.66  71 

05217 MATERIALS - EXTENSION $0.00 $2,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $2,000.00  100 

05222 SUPPLIES $34.33 $1,000.00 $0.00  3 $149.83  15 $0.00 $850.17  85 

05223 TOOLS $0.00 $20,000.00 $0.00  0 $137.77  1 $213.51 $19,648.72  98 

05229 ELECTRIC DEPRECIATION $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05232 MATERIAL/SCRAP RECOVERY $0.00 $13,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $13,000.00  100 

Expenditure Report  Page 18 of 3712/8/2023 



00200 COMMODITIES

250 ELECTRIC

020 UTILITY DEPT. GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Expenditure Report

Accounts

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Current Pd

Expenditures

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Expenditures

YTD

Pct

Unencumbered

Balance

Encumbered

Balance

Une

Pct

05233 METER MAINTENANCE $0.00 $20,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $4,324.80 $15,675.20  78 

$0.00 $278,200.00 $1,195.32 $69,845.64 $5,140.17 $203,214.19  25  73  0 Total Commodities

00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES

05300 CELLULAR/WIRELESS PHONES $12.33 $3,500.00 $0.00  0 $1,465.25  42 $0.00 $2,034.75  58 

05301 TELEPHONES $0.00 $1,900.00 $0.00  0 $993.76  52 $0.00 $906.24  48 

05302 TRAVEL AND TRAINING $0.00 $25,000.00 $0.00  0 $7,011.27  28 $0.00 $17,988.73  72 

05310 MISCELLANEOUS $0.00 $3,200.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $3,200.00  100 

05313 UTILITIES PURCH FROM WUD $225.23 $5,000.00 $0.00  5 $1,028.18  21 $0.00 $3,971.82  79 

05319 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES $0.00 $65,000.00 $0.00  0 $35,473.23  55 $0.00 $29,526.77  45 

05320 MEDICAL PROFESS. SERVICES $0.00 $500.00 $0.00  0 $82.50  17 $0.00 $417.50  84 

05336 SC SALES TAX $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05338 ROW LIABILITIES $0.00 $2,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $2,000.00  100 

05340 ENERGY PURCHASED $0.00 $2,570,000.00 $0.00  0 $933,284.37  36 $0.00 $1,636,715.63  64 

05352 JANITORIAL EXPENSE $0.00 $100.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $100.00  100 

05358 EQUIPMENT REPAIR & MAINT. $0.00 $5,000.00 $0.00  0 $1,255.20  25 $0.00 $3,744.80  75 

05360 HAND POWER / HYDRAULIC TOOLS $0.00 $5,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $5,000.00  100 

05361 HEAVY DUTY EQUIP RENT/LEASE $0.00 $1,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $1,000.00  100 

05365 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES $0.00 $80,000.00 $0.00  0 $61,887.42  77 $0.00 $18,112.58  23 

05366 EV CHARGING $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $46.78  0 $0.00 ($46.78)  0 

05371 CUT LINES $0.00 $1,500.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $1,500.00  100 

$0.00 $2,768,700.00 $237.56 $1,042,527.96 $0.00 $1,726,172.04  38  62  0 Total Contractual Services

00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY

05604 VEHICLES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $245,801.08 ($245,801.08)  0 

05608 TRANSFORMERS $0.00 $25,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $25,000.00  100 

Expenditure Report  Page 19 of 3712/8/2023 



00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY

250 ELECTRIC

020 UTILITY DEPT. GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Expenditure Report

Accounts

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Current Pd

Expenditures

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Expenditures

YTD

Pct

Unencumbered

Balance

Encumbered

Balance

Une

Pct

05632 RECONDUCTOR TO RAW WATER STATI $0.00 $2,500.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $2,500.00  100 

05633 TRANSFORMER INSTALLATION $0.00 $10,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $10,000.00  100 

05634 SCIIP (RIA) GRANT PROJECT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05636 BUILDING/OTHER IMPROVEMENTS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05637 OTHER EQUIPMENT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05639 WESTMINSTER CROSSING PROJECT $0.00 $5,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $5,000.00  100 

05642 SUBSTATION REPAIRS $0.00 $15,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $15,000.00  100 

$0.00 $57,500.00 $0.00 $0.00 $245,801.08 ($188,301.08) 0 (327) 0 Total Capital Outlay

$250,941.25 $3,479,507.00 $0.00 $1,933,450.00  37 $13,304.83 $1,295,115.75  56  0 Total ELECTRIC

350 WATER

00100 PERSONAL SERVICES

05100 SALARIES $9,074.18 $195,321.00 $0.00  5 $100,182.62  51 $0.00 $95,138.38  49 

05101 OVERTIME $599.69 $15,000.00 $0.00  4 $9,036.29  60 $0.00 $5,963.71  40 

05103 ANNUAL BONUS $0.00 $1,262.00 $0.00  0 $1,010.00  80 $0.00 $252.00  20 

05104 SOCIAL SECURITY $716.09 $14,950.00 $0.00  5 $8,154.32  55 $0.00 $6,795.68  45 

05105 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTIONS $1,795.47 $36,252.00 $0.00  5 $20,271.05  56 $0.00 $15,980.95  44 

05106 HEALTH INSURANCE CONTRIBUTIONS $1,920.72 $23,608.00 $0.00  8 $13,287.22  56 $0.00 $10,320.78  44 

05107 WORKERS COMPENSATION $0.00 $14,800.00 $0.00  0 $5,000.00  34 $0.00 $9,800.00  66 

05113 PAYROLL ADJUSTMENTS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $301,193.00 $14,106.15 $156,941.50 $0.00 $144,251.50  52  48  5 Total Personal Services

00200 COMMODITIES

05200 POSTAGE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05201 FUEL $949.26 $20,000.00 $0.00  5 $8,500.98  43 $0.00 $11,499.02  57 

05202 OFFICE SUPPLIES $0.00 $4,000.00 $0.00  0 $219.17  5 $0.00 $3,780.83  95 

Expenditure Report  Page 20 of 3712/8/2023 



00200 COMMODITIES

350 WATER

020 UTILITY DEPT. GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Expenditure Report

Accounts

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Current Pd

Expenditures

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Expenditures

YTD

Pct

Unencumbered

Balance

Encumbered

Balance

Une

Pct

05206 VEHICLE MAINT/REPAIR $1,004.50 $20,000.00 $0.00  5 $6,764.08  34 $0.00 $13,235.92  66 

05208 UNIFORMS $0.00 $5,800.00 $0.00  0 $3,073.88  53 $0.00 $2,726.12  47 

05209 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES $0.00 $500.00 $0.00  0 $125.79  25 $0.00 $374.21  75 

05210 MISCELLANEOUS $0.00 $200.00 $0.00  0 $174.01  87 $0.00 $25.99  13 

05212 EQUIPMENT PURCHASED $0.00 $6,500.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $6,500.00  100 

05213 CHEMICALS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05215 BUILDING MAINT. $0.00 $3,000.00 $0.00  0 $290.42  10 $0.00 $2,709.58  90 

05216 MATERIALS - MAINT. $3,889.82 $175,000.00 $0.00  2 $91,426.32  52 $0.00 $83,573.68  48 

05217 MATERIALS - EXTENSION $0.00 $10,000.00 $0.00  0 $9,764.72  98 $0.00 $235.28  2 

05222 SUPPLIES $34.33 $4,500.00 $0.00  1 $2,973.75  66 $33.91 $1,492.34  33 

05223 TOOLS $44.50 $3,500.00 $0.00  1 $401.17  11 $64.36 $3,034.47  87 

05230 WATER DEPRECIATION $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05232 MATERIAL/SCRAP RECOVERY $0.00 $3,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $3,000.00  100 

05233 METER MAINTENANCE $0.00 $60,000.00 $0.00  0 $33,449.56  56 $0.00 $26,550.44  44 

$0.00 $316,000.00 $5,922.41 $157,163.85 $98.27 $158,737.88  50  50  2 Total Commodities

00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES

05300 CELLULAR/WIRELESS PHONES $12.33 $3,300.00 $0.00  0 $997.55  30 $0.00 $2,302.45  70 

05301 TELEPHONES $0.00 $2,200.00 $0.00  0 $993.76  45 $0.00 $1,206.24  55 

05302 TRAVEL AND TRAINING $0.00 $6,000.00 $0.00  0 $1,618.61  27 $0.00 $4,381.39  73 

05305 MEMBERSHIPS & SUBSCRIPTIONS $0.00 $500.00 $0.00  0 $45.00  9 $185.49 $269.51  54 

05306 ADVERTISING $0.00 $300.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $300.00  100 

05310 MISCELLANEOUS $0.00 $100.00 $0.00  0 $26.00  26 $0.00 $74.00  74 

05313 UTILITIES PURCH FROM WUD $3,471.28 $50,000.00 $0.00  7 $13,003.80  26 $0.00 $36,996.20  74 

05314 UTILITIES PURCH FROM OTHER $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

Expenditure Report  Page 21 of 3712/8/2023 



00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES

350 WATER

020 UTILITY DEPT. GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Expenditure Report

Accounts

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Current Pd

Expenditures

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Expenditures

YTD

Pct

Unencumbered

Balance

Encumbered

Balance

Une

Pct

05319 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES $0.00 $10,000.00 $0.00  0 $73.22  1 $0.00 $9,926.78  99 

05320 MEDICAL PROFESS. SERVICES $0.00 $400.00 $0.00  0 $267.50  67 $0.00 $132.50  33 

05338 ROW LIABILITIES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05339 PURCHASED WATER $0.00 $2,500.00 $0.00  0 $1,300.00  52 $0.00 $1,200.00  48 

05341 ASPHALT/PAVING $0.00 $30,000.00 $0.00  0 $9,678.44  32 $0.00 $20,321.56  68 

05342 H2O QUALITY REPORT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05343 WATER SAMPLING $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05344 DHEC/INTERAL FEES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05345 LAB EXPENSE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05346 PUMP STATION RAW WATER $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05347 WASTE HANDLING $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05348 GENERATOR $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05349 SCADA MAINTENANCE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $1,868.50  0 $0.00 ($1,868.50)  0 

05350 PUMP STATION MAINT/REPAIR $0.00 $20,000.00 $0.00  0 $8,317.10  42 $0.00 $11,682.90  58 

05351 ELEVATED TANK MAINT. $0.00 $45,000.00 $0.00  0 $23,153.78  51 $18,846.22 $3,000.00  7 

05352 JANITORIAL EXPENSE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05353 HYDRANT MAINTENANCE $0.00 $20,000.00 $0.00  0 $24,616.09  123 $4,600.00 ($9,216.09) (46)

05358 EQUIPMENT REPAIR & MAINT. $400.00 $12,500.00 $0.00  3 $1,447.50  12 $800.00 $10,252.50  82 

05360 HAND POWER / HYDRAULIC TOOLS $0.00 $2,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $2,000.00  100 

05361 HEAVY DUTY EQUIP RENT/LEASE $0.00 $3,500.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $3,500.00  100 

05365 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES $0.00 $23,000.00 $0.00  0 $1,424.00  6 $0.00 $21,576.00  94 

05371 CUT LINES $0.00 $2,500.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $2,500.00  100 

$0.00 $233,800.00 $3,883.61 $88,830.85 $24,431.71 $120,537.44  38  52  2 Total Contractual Services

Expenditure Report  Page 22 of 3712/8/2023 



00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES

350 WATER

020 UTILITY DEPT. GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Expenditure Report

Accounts

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Current Pd

Expenditures

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Expenditures

YTD

Pct

Unencumbered

Balance

Encumbered

Balance

Une

Pct

00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY

05604 VEHICLES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05605 HWY 76 WATER LINE MATCH $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05606 COBB BRIDGE RD WATER LINE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05636 BUILDING/OTHER IMPROVEMENTS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05637 OTHER EQUIPMENT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05640 WATER LINE LONG CRK HWY/US 76 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05649 RIA GRANT EXPENSE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05651 LOCAL RIA MATCH EXPENSE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0  0  0 Total Capital Outlay

00700 DEBT SERVICE

05704 2005 WATER PROJECT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05706 2014 UTILITY REV BOND PRINCIPA $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05710 2015 UTILITY REV BOND INTEREST $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05711 2014 UTILITY BOND REV INTEREST $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05716 CONSERFUND LOAN $0.00 $40,114.92 $0.00  0 $40,114.92  100 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $40,114.92 $0.00 $40,114.92 $0.00 $0.00  100  0  0 Total Debt Service

$24,529.98 $891,107.92 $0.00 $423,526.82  50 $23,912.17 $443,051.12  48  3 Total WATER

450 SEWER

00100 PERSONAL SERVICES

05100 SALARIES $3,232.00 $112,274.00 $0.00  3 $39,128.96  35 $0.00 $73,145.04  65 

05101 OVERTIME $198.45 $13,000.00 $0.00  2 $1,760.36  14 $0.00 $11,239.64  86 

05103 ANNUAL BONUS $0.00 $657.00 $0.00  0 $650.00  99 $0.00 $7.00  1 

05104 SOCIAL SECURITY $239.41 $8,589.00 $0.00  3 $2,901.55  34 $0.00 $5,687.45  66 

05105 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTIONS $636.69 $20,840.00 $0.00  3 $7,589.08  36 $0.00 $13,250.92  64 

Expenditure Report  Page 23 of 3712/8/2023 



00100 PERSONAL SERVICES

450 SEWER

020 UTILITY DEPT. GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Expenditure Report

Accounts

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Current Pd

Expenditures

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Expenditures

YTD

Pct

Unencumbered

Balance

Encumbered

Balance

Une

Pct

05106 HEALTH INSURANCE CONTRIBUTIONS $2,221.48 $33,152.00 $0.00  7 $14,791.02  45 $0.00 $18,360.98  55 

05107 WORKERS COMPENSATION $0.00 $10,000.00 $0.00  0 $5,000.00  50 $0.00 $5,000.00  50 

05113 PAYROLL ADJUSTMENTS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $198,512.00 $6,528.03 $71,820.97 $0.00 $126,691.03  36  64  3 Total Personal Services

00200 COMMODITIES

05201 FUEL $949.25 $18,000.00 $0.00  5 $7,529.53  42 $0.00 $10,470.47  58 

05202 OFFICE SUPPLIES $0.00 $1,000.00 $0.00  0 $47.53  5 $0.00 $952.47  95 

05203 RADIO/PAGERS $0.00 $3,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $3,000.00  100 

05206 VEHICLE MAINT/REPAIR $266.34 $10,500.00 $0.00  3 $7,315.73  70 $0.00 $3,184.27  30 

05208 UNIFORMS $0.00 $5,000.00 $0.00  0 $2,259.89  45 $0.00 $2,740.11  55 

05209 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES $0.00 $300.00 $0.00  0 $290.61  97 $0.00 $9.39  3 

05210 MISCELLANEOUS $6.02 $100.00 $0.00  6 $46.19  46 $0.00 $53.81  54 

05212 EQUIPMENT PURCHASED $0.00 $4,500.00 $0.00  0 $2,872.60  64 $0.00 $1,627.40  36 

05216 MATERIALS - MAINT. $975.20 $10,000.00 $0.00  10 $13,612.75  136 $0.00 ($3,612.75) (36)

05222 SUPPLIES $34.33 $2,000.00 $0.00  2 $4,220.00  211 $0.00 ($2,220.00) (111)

05223 TOOLS $69.93 $4,300.00 $0.00  2 $3,668.70  85 $0.00 $631.30  15 

05231 SEWER DEPRECIATION $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05232 MATERIAL/SCRAP RECOVERY $0.00 $3,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $3,000.00  100 

$0.00 $61,700.00 $2,301.07 $41,863.53 $0.00 $19,836.47  68  32  4 Total Commodities

00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES

05300 CELLULAR/WIRELESS PHONES $12.33 $1,500.00 $0.00  1 $798.01  53 $0.00 $701.99  47 

05301 TELEPHONES $0.00 $2,000.00 $0.00  0 $993.76  50 $0.00 $1,006.24  50 

05302 TRAVEL AND TRAINING $0.00 $1,000.00 $0.00  0 $815.00  82 $0.00 $185.00  19 

05310 MISCELLANEOUS $0.00 $300.00 $0.00  0 $218.00  73 $0.00 $82.00  27 

Expenditure Report  Page 24 of 3712/8/2023 



00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES

450 SEWER

020 UTILITY DEPT. GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Expenditure Report

Accounts

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Current Pd

Expenditures

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Expenditures

YTD

Pct

Unencumbered

Balance

Encumbered

Balance

Une

Pct

05313 UTILITIES PURCH FROM WUD $189.02 $3,000.00 $0.00  6 $875.82  29 $0.00 $2,124.18  71 

05319 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES $0.00 $1,500.00 $0.00  0 $73.22  5 $0.00 $1,426.78  95 

05320 MEDICAL PROFESS. SERVICES $47.50 $500.00 $0.00  10 $72.50  15 $0.00 $427.50  86 

05329 OCONEE COUNTY SEWER BILL $48,849.72 $555,009.00 $0.00  9 $235,817.96  42 $0.00 $319,191.04  58 

05341 ASPHALT/PAVING $0.00 $15,000.00 $0.00  0 $1,503.28  10 $0.00 $13,496.72  90 

05352 JANITORIAL EXPENSE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05357 EQUIPMENT RENTAL/LEASE $0.00 $3,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $3,000.00  100 

05358 EQUIPMENT REPAIR & MAINT. $0.00 $15,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $15,000.00  100 

05360 HAND POWER / HYDRAULIC TOOLS $0.00 $1,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $1,000.00  100 

05365 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES $0.00 $35,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $35,000.00  100 

05388 GRANT MATCH $0.00 $491,147.50 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $491,147.50  100 

$0.00 $1,124,956.50 $49,098.57 $241,167.55 $0.00 $883,788.95  21  79  4 Total Contractual Services

00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY

05604 VEHICLES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05610 HWY 183 SEWER RE-ROUTE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05611 MIMOSA SEWER REPLACEMENT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05612 FLOW METERS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05613 HAMPTON STREET SEWER MATCH $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05621 BACKHOE PURCHASE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05625 PRITCHARD/PARK AVE REHAB $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05626 SEWER RIGHT-A-WAY CLEARING $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05637 OTHER EQUIPMENT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05641 BEACON MILL PROJECT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0  0  0 Total Capital Outlay

Expenditure Report  Page 25 of 3712/8/2023 



00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY

450 SEWER

020 UTILITY DEPT. GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Expenditure Report

Accounts

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Current Pd

Expenditures

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Expenditures

YTD

Pct

Unencumbered

Balance

Encumbered

Balance

Une

Pct

$0.00 $1,385,168.50 $0.00 $1,030,316.45  26 $57,927.67 $354,852.05  74  4 Total SEWER

550 WATER PLANT

00100 PERSONAL SERVICES

05100 SALARIES $8,604.57 $159,468.00 $0.00  5 $90,961.51  57 $0.00 $68,506.49  43 

05101 OVERTIME $230.74 $5,000.00 $0.00  5 $2,062.56  41 $0.00 $2,937.44  59 

05103 ANNUAL BONUS $0.00 $1,175.00 $0.00  0 $1,230.00  105 $0.00 ($55.00) (5)

05104 SOCIAL SECURITY $724.82 $16,730.00 $0.00  4 $8,163.89  49 $0.00 $8,566.11  51 

05105 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTIONS $1,803.13 $40,585.00 $0.00  4 $20,058.00  49 $0.00 $20,527.00  51 

05106 HEALTH INSURANCE CONTRIBUTIONS $1,920.72 $17,607.00 $0.00  11 $11,524.32  65 $0.00 $6,082.68  35 

05107 WORKERS COMPENSATION $0.00 $8,000.00 $0.00  0 $4,000.00  50 $0.00 $4,000.00  50 

05109 PART TIME EMPLOYEES $879.84 $22,500.00 $0.00  4 $15,047.37  67 $0.00 $7,452.63  33 

$0.00 $271,065.00 $14,163.82 $153,047.65 $0.00 $118,017.35  56  44  5 Total Personal Services

00200 COMMODITIES

05200 POSTAGE $0.00 $1,750.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $1,750.00  100 

05201 FUEL $143.48 $4,500.00 $0.00  3 $1,067.37  24 $3,000.00 $432.63  10 

05202 OFFICE SUPPLIES $0.00 $3,000.00 $0.00  0 $864.82  29 $834.85 $1,300.33  43 

05206 VEHICLE MAINT/REPAIR $0.00 $2,500.00 $0.00  0 $59.27  2 $0.00 $2,440.73  98 

05208 UNIFORMS $0.00 $1,500.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $158.95 $1,341.05  89 

05209 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES $14.06 $1,500.00 $0.00  1 $449.20  30 $1,064.86 ($14.06) (1)

05210 MISCELLANEOUS $0.00 $250.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $250.00  100 

05213 CHEMICALS $8,801.10 $65,000.00 $0.00  14 $47,691.59  73 $3,257.84 $14,050.57  22 

05215 BUILDING MAINT. $415.11 $42,500.00 $0.00  1 $24,668.34  58 $7,424.66 $10,407.00  24 

05222 SUPPLIES $0.00 $500.00 $0.00  0 $184.30  37 $0.00 $315.70  63 

05232 MATERIAL/SCRAP RECOVERY $0.00 $1,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $1,000.00  100 

$0.00 $124,000.00 $9,373.75 $74,984.89 $15,741.16 $33,273.95  60  27  8 Total Commodities

Expenditure Report  Page 26 of 3712/8/2023 



00200 COMMODITIES

550 WATER PLANT

020 UTILITY DEPT. GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Expenditure Report

Accounts

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Current Pd

Expenditures

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Expenditures

YTD

Pct

Unencumbered

Balance

Encumbered

Balance

Une

Pct

00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES

05300 CELLULAR/WIRELESS PHONES $186.66 $3,000.00 $0.00  6 $1,501.07  50 $816.66 $682.27  23 

05301 TELEPHONES $0.00 $1,800.00 $0.00  0 $993.75  55 $0.00 $806.25  45 

05302 TRAVEL AND TRAINING $0.00 $5,000.00 $0.00  0 $2,749.88  55 $228.00 $2,022.12  40 

05305 MEMBERSHIPS & SUBSCRIPTIONS $0.00 $1,800.00 $0.00  0 $655.87  36 $185.50 $958.63  53 

05306 ADVERTISING $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05313 UTILITIES PURCH FROM WUD $49,298.03 $290,000.00 $0.00  17 $197,526.64  68 $0.00 $92,473.36  32 

05314 UTILITIES PURCH FROM OTHER $0.00 $16,000.00 $0.00  0 $3,972.20  25 $0.00 $12,027.80  75 

05319 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES $0.00 $40,000.00 $0.00  0 $7,000.00  18 $7,800.24 $25,199.76  63 

05320 MEDICAL PROFESS. SERVICES $0.00 $650.00 $0.00  0 $47.50  7 $0.00 $602.50  93 

05342 H2O QUALITY REPORT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05343 WATER SAMPLING $0.00 $11,500.00 $0.00  0 $1,804.56  16 $5,195.44 $4,500.00  39 

05344 DHEC/INTERAL FEES $0.00 $20,000.00 $0.00  0 $14,278.00  71 $1,722.00 $4,000.00  20 

05345 LAB EXPENSE $1,070.94 $40,000.00 $0.00  3 $14,495.80  36 $16,568.86 $8,935.34  22 

05347 WASTE HANDLING $0.00 $5,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $3,000.00 $2,000.00  40 

05348 GENERATOR $0.00 $8,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $8,000.00 $0.00  0 

05349 SCADA MAINTENANCE $0.00 $4,500.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $2,603.00 $1,897.00  42 

05350 PUMP STATION MAINT/REPAIR $0.00 $1,000.00 $0.00  0 $490.23  49 $500.00 $9.77  1 

05352 JANITORIAL EXPENSE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05358 EQUIPMENT REPAIR & MAINT. $3,942.57 $60,000.00 $0.00  7 $34,623.07  58 $27,408.57 ($2,031.64) (3)

05365 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES $255.42 $40,000.00 $0.00  1 $7,416.70  19 $31,558.77 $1,024.53  3 

05371 CUT LINES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $548,250.00 $54,753.62 $287,555.27 $105,587.04 $155,107.69  52  28  10 Total Contractual Services

Expenditure Report  Page 27 of 3712/8/2023 



00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY

550 WATER PLANT

020 UTILITY DEPT. GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Expenditure Report

Accounts

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Current Pd

Expenditures

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Expenditures

YTD

Pct

Unencumbered

Balance

Encumbered

Balance

Une

Pct

00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY

05627 DEMOLITION OF RAMSEY CREEK PUM $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05636 BUILDING/OTHER IMPROVEMENTS $0.00 $18,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $18,000.00  100 

05637 OTHER EQUIPMENT $0.00 $44,000.00 $0.00  0 $22,057.00  50 $0.00 $21,943.00  50 

$0.00 $62,000.00 $0.00 $22,057.00 $0.00 $39,943.00  36  64  0 Total Capital Outlay

$121,328.20 $1,005,315.00 $0.00 $346,341.99  53 $78,291.19 $537,644.81  34  8 Total WATER PLANT

650 NON DEPARTMENTAL

00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY

05604 VEHICLES $0.00 $101,000.00 $0.00  0 $46,374.89  46 $43,178.00 $11,447.11  11 

$0.00 $101,000.00 $0.00 $46,374.89 $43,178.00 $11,447.11  46  11  0 Total Capital Outlay

00700 DEBT SERVICE

05706 2014 UTILITY REV BOND PRINCIPA $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05707 2015 UTILITY REV BOND PRINCIPA $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05710 2015 UTILITY REV BOND INTEREST $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05711 2014 UTILITY BOND REV INTEREST $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05715 2022 LEASE/PURCHASE $0.00 $78,167.00 $0.00  0 $76,473.11  98 $0.00 $1,693.89  2 

05717 2023 LEASE/PURCHASE $0.00 $39,527.00 $0.00  0 $39,526.65  100 $0.00 $0.35  0 

05718 2024 LEASE PURCHASE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $117,694.00 $0.00 $115,999.76 $0.00 $1,694.24  99  1  0 Total Debt Service

00800 OTHER

05853 CONTINGENCY APPROPRIATION $0.00 $65,558.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $65,558.00  100 

$0.00 $65,558.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $65,558.00  0  100  0 Total Other

$43,178.00 $284,252.00 $0.00 $78,699.35  57 $0.00 $162,374.65  28  0 Total NON DEPARTMENTAL

700 NON DEPARTMENTAL

00100 PERSONAL SERVICES

05113 PAYROLL ADJUSTMENTS $0.00 $15,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $15,000.00  100 

05156 CONTINGENCY $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

Expenditure Report  Page 28 of 3712/8/2023 



00100 PERSONAL SERVICES

700 NON DEPARTMENTAL

020 UTILITY DEPT. GENERAL FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Expenditure Report

Accounts

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Current Pd

Expenditures

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Expenditures

YTD

Pct

Unencumbered

Balance

Encumbered

Balance

Une

Pct
$0.00 $15,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $15,000.00  0  100  0 Total Personal Services

00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES

05377 SOLID WASTE TRANSFER $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05388 GRANT MATCH $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0  0  0 Total Contractual Services

00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY

05604 VEHICLES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05636 BUILDING/OTHER IMPROVEMENTS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05637 OTHER EQUIPMENT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0  0  0 Total Capital Outlay

00800 OTHER

05801 TRANSFER TO CITY GF $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05852 RESERVED - FUTURE IMPROVEMENTS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05853 CONTINGENCY APPROPRIATION $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0  0  0 Total Other

$0.00 $15,000.00 $0.00 $15,000.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  100  0 Total NON DEPARTMENTAL

$440,029.00 Total UTILITY DEPT. GENERAL FUND $4,538,773.27 $0.00  40 $8,301,414.42 $226,401.41 $3,322,612.15  55  3 

Expenditure Report  Page 29 of 3712/8/2023 



00515 EXPENSE

005 EXPENSE

030 SOLID WASTE

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Expenditure Report

Accounts

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Current Pd

Expenditures

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Expenditures

YTD

Pct

Unencumbered

Balance

Encumbered

Balance

Une

Pct

030 SOLID WASTE

005 EXPENSE

00515 EXPENSE

05851 INTERFUND TRANSFER $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0  0  0 Total Expense

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0  0 Total EXPENSE

900 SOLID WASTE

00100 PERSONAL SERVICES

05100 SALARIES $4,637.15 $180,918.00 $0.00  3 $55,722.78  31 $0.00 $125,195.22  69 

05101 OVERTIME $393.46 $9,000.00 $0.00  4 $6,682.78  74 $0.00 $2,317.22  26 

05103 ANNUAL BONUS $0.00 $986.00 $0.00  0 $780.00  79 $0.00 $206.00  21 

05104 SOCIAL SECURITY $358.40 $13,840.00 $0.00  3 $4,516.42  33 $0.00 $9,323.58  67 

05105 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTIONS $933.68 $33,578.00 $0.00  3 $11,582.48  34 $0.00 $21,995.52  66 

05106 HEALTH INSURANCE CONTRIBUTIONS $2,444.10 $32,807.00 $0.00  7 $17,108.70  52 $0.00 $15,698.30  48 

05107 WORKERS COMPENSATION $0.00 $5,000.00 $0.00  0 $2,500.00  50 $0.00 $2,500.00  50 

05109 PART TIME EMPLOYEES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05112 UNEMPLOYEMENT INSURANCE REIMBU $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $276,129.00 $8,766.79 $98,893.16 $0.00 $177,235.84  36  64  3 Total Personal Services

00200 COMMODITIES

05201 FUEL $619.04 $14,800.00 $0.00  4 $6,459.92  44 $0.00 $8,340.08  56 

05202 OFFICE SUPPLIES $0.00 $1,000.00 $0.00  0 $88.28  9 $0.00 $911.72  91 

05206 VEHICLE MAINT/REPAIR $601.57 $40,000.00 $0.00  2 $9,656.57  24 $32.00 $30,311.43  76 

05208 UNIFORMS $0.00 $6,100.00 $0.00  0 $2,563.49  42 $0.00 $3,536.51  58 

05209 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES $0.00 $500.00 $0.00  0 $365.12  73 $0.00 $134.88  27 

05210 MISCELLANEOUS $0.00 $500.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $500.00  100 

05211 SERVICE FEES $28.50 $300.00 $0.00  10 $168.75  56 $0.00 $131.25  44 

Expenditure Report  Page 30 of 3712/8/2023 



00200 COMMODITIES

900 SOLID WASTE

030 SOLID WASTE

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Expenditure Report

Accounts

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Current Pd

Expenditures

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Expenditures

YTD

Pct

Unencumbered

Balance

Encumbered

Balance

Une

Pct

05212 EQUIPMENT PURCHASED $0.00 $10,000.00 $0.00  0 $1,165.42  12 $0.00 $8,834.58  88 

05215 BUILDING MAINT. $0.00 $1,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $1,000.00  100 

05216 MATERIALS - MAINT. $0.00 $1,000.00 $0.00  0 $122.94  12 $0.00 $877.06  88 

05221 DEPRECIATION EXPENSE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05222 SUPPLIES $34.34 $8,000.00 $0.00  0 $169.25  2 $0.00 $7,830.75  98 

05223 TOOLS $0.00 $1,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $1,000.00  100 

05225 TRASH CAN/DUMP REPLAC/PARTS $0.00 $21,328.00 $0.00  0 $981.00  5 $0.00 $20,347.00  95 

05232 MATERIAL/SCRAP RECOVERY $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $105,528.00 $1,283.45 $21,740.74 $32.00 $83,755.26  21  79  1 Total Commodities

00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES

05300 CELLULAR/WIRELESS PHONES $0.00 $900.00 $0.00  0 $369.54  41 $0.00 $530.46  59 

05301 TELEPHONES $0.00 $2,400.00 $0.00  0 $993.77  41 $0.00 $1,406.23  59 

05302 TRAVEL AND TRAINING $0.00 $3,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $3,000.00  100 

05306 ADVERTISING $0.00 $300.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $300.00  100 

05310 MISCELLANEOUS $0.00 $300.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $300.00  100 

05313 UTILITIES PURCH FROM WUD $188.99 $4,000.00 $0.00  5 $875.73  22 $0.00 $3,124.27  78 

05319 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES $0.00 $100.00 $0.00  0 $73.21  73 $0.00 $26.79  27 

05320 MEDICAL PROFESS. SERVICES $0.00 $500.00 $0.00  0 $165.00  33 $0.00 $335.00  67 

05323 VEHICLE & PROPERTY INSURANCE $0.00 $7,000.00 $0.00  0 $3,500.00  50 $0.00 $3,500.00  50 

05352 JANITORIAL EXPENSE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05357 EQUIPMENT RENTAL/LEASE $0.00 $1,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $1,000.00  100 

05358 EQUIPMENT REPAIR & MAINT. $1,869.00 $10,000.00 $0.00  19 $2,487.92  25 $0.00 $7,512.08  75 

05360 HAND POWER / HYDRAULIC TOOLS $0.00 $3,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $3,000.00  100 

05361 HEAVY DUTY EQUIP RENT/LEASE $0.00 $1,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $1,000.00  100 

Expenditure Report  Page 31 of 3712/8/2023 



00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES

900 SOLID WASTE

030 SOLID WASTE

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Expenditure Report

Accounts

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Current Pd

Expenditures

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Expenditures

YTD

Pct

Unencumbered

Balance

Encumbered

Balance

Une

Pct

05364 MOSQUITO SPRAYING $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05365 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES $0.00 $9,000.00 $0.00  0 $735.00  8 $0.00 $8,265.00  92 

05374 GARBAGE PERMIT FEES $250.00 $250.00 $0.00  100 $250.00  100 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $42,750.00 $2,307.99 $9,450.17 $0.00 $33,299.83  22  78  5 Total Contractual Services

00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY

05601 VEHICLES/EQUIPMENT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05604 VEHICLES $0.00 $277,000.00 $0.00  0 $268,843.71  97 $0.00 $8,156.29  3 

05628 KNUCKLE BOOM TRUCK $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05635 TRAILER PURCHASE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05637 OTHER EQUIPMENT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $277,000.00 $0.00 $268,843.71 $0.00 $8,156.29  97  3  0 Total Capital Outlay

00700 DEBT SERVICE

05708 GARBAGE TRUCK PRINCIPAL $0.00 $33,631.64 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $33,631.64  100 

05709 KNUCKLE BOOM PAYMENT PRINCIPAL $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05712 GARBAGE TRUCK INTEREST $0.00 $12,431.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $12,431.00  100 

05713 KNUCKLE BOOM PAYMENT INTEREST $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05714 INTEREST EXPENSE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05718 2024 LEASE PURCHASE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05719 TRANSFER TO GENERAL FUND $0.00 $167,576.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $167,576.00  100 

$0.00 $213,638.64 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $213,638.64  0  100  0 Total Debt Service

$32.00 $915,045.64 $0.00 $516,085.86  44 $12,358.23 $398,927.78  56  1 Total SOLID WASTE

$32.00 Total SOLID WASTE $516,085.86 $0.00  44 $915,045.64 $12,358.23 $398,927.78  56  1 

Expenditure Report  Page 32 of 3712/8/2023 



00200 COMMODITIES

005 EXPENSE

040 FIRE DEPARTMENT 1% FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Expenditure Report

Accounts

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Current Pd

Expenditures

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Expenditures

YTD

Pct

Unencumbered

Balance

Encumbered

Balance

Une

Pct

040 FIRE DEPARTMENT 1% FUND

005 EXPENSE

00200 COMMODITIES

05227 BANK RECON ADJUSTMENT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0  0  0 Total Commodities

00515 EXPENSE

05310 MISCELLANEOUS $0.00 $13,609.36 $0.00  0 $3,806.48  28 $0.00 $9,802.88  72 

$0.00 $13,609.36 $0.00 $3,806.48 $0.00 $9,802.88  28  72  0 Total Expense

$0.00 $13,609.36 $0.00 $9,802.88  28 $0.00 $3,806.48  72  0 Total EXPENSE

$0.00 Total FIRE DEPARTMENT 1% FUND $9,802.88 $0.00  28 $13,609.36 $0.00 $3,806.48  72  0 

Expenditure Report  Page 33 of 3712/8/2023 



00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY

100 ADMINISTRATION

045 GRANT HOLDING ACCOUNT

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Expenditure Report

Accounts

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Current Pd

Expenditures

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Expenditures

YTD

Pct

Unencumbered

Balance

Encumbered

Balance

Une

Pct

045 GRANT HOLDING ACCOUNT

100 ADMINISTRATION

00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY

05660 ANDERSON PARK CDBG $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0  0  0 Total Capital Outlay

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0  0 Total ADMINISTRATION

$0.00 Total GRANT HOLDING ACCOUNT $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0  0 

Expenditure Report  Page 34 of 3712/8/2023 



00100 PERSONAL SERVICES

400 RECREATION

050 YOUTH RECREATION FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Expenditure Report

Accounts

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Current Pd

Expenditures

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Expenditures

YTD

Pct

Unencumbered

Balance

Encumbered

Balance

Une

Pct

050 YOUTH RECREATION FUND

400 RECREATION

00100 PERSONAL SERVICES

05100 SALARIES $3,842.09 $99,895.00 $0.00  4 $45,968.07  46 $0.00 $53,926.93  54 

05103 ANNUAL BONUS $0.00 $1,238.00 $0.00  0 $2,230.00  180 $0.00 ($992.00) (80)

05104 SOCIAL SECURITY $404.15 $7,642.00 $0.00  5 $4,962.48  65 $0.00 $2,679.52  35 

05105 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTIONS $991.66 $18,541.00 $0.00  5 $11,889.53  64 $0.00 $6,651.47  36 

05106 HEALTH INSURANCE CONTRIBUTIONS $493.66 $11,738.00 $0.00  4 $3,455.62  29 $0.00 $8,282.38  71 

05107 WORKERS COMPENSATION $0.00 $9,000.00 $0.00  0 $4,500.00  50 $0.00 $4,500.00  50 

05109 PART TIME EMPLOYEES $1,500.94 $78,215.00 $0.00  2 $18,092.05  23 $0.00 $60,122.95  77 

$0.00 $226,269.00 $7,232.50 $91,097.75 $0.00 $135,171.25  40  60  3 Total Personal Services

00200 COMMODITIES

05201 FUEL $660.76 $6,500.00 $0.00  10 $3,019.19  46 $0.00 $3,480.81  54 

05202 OFFICE SUPPLIES $0.00 $3,000.00 $0.00  0 $1,292.50  43 $472.93 $1,234.57  41 

05206 VEHICLE MAINT/REPAIR $22.23 $4,500.00 $0.00  0 $123.61  3 $124.10 $4,252.29  94 

05208 UNIFORMS $0.00 $45,000.00 $0.00  0 $10,067.64  22 $5,739.34 $29,193.02  65 

05209 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES $0.00 $1,500.00 $0.00  0 $794.79  53 $306.75 $398.46  27 

05210 MISCELLANEOUS $0.00 $500.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $500.00  100 

05211 SERVICE FEES $28.50 $600.00 $0.00  5 $178.75  30 $0.00 $421.25  70 

05212 EQUIPMENT PURCHASED $0.00 $2,600.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $2,600.00  100 

05227 BANK RECON ADJUSTMENT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

$0.00 $64,200.00 $711.49 $15,476.48 $6,643.12 $42,080.40  24  66  1 Total Commodities

00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES

05300 CELLULAR/WIRELESS PHONES $0.00 $2,700.00 $0.00  0 $1,103.84  41 $0.00 $1,596.16  59 

05301 TELEPHONES $0.00 $3,000.00 $0.00  0 $993.77  33 $0.00 $2,006.23  67 

05305 MEMBERSHIPS & SUBSCRIPTIONS $0.00 $3,500.00 $0.00  0 $187.00  5 $0.00 $3,313.00  95 

Expenditure Report  Page 35 of 3712/8/2023 



00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES

400 RECREATION

050 YOUTH RECREATION FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Expenditure Report

Accounts

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Current Pd

Expenditures

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Expenditures

YTD

Pct

Unencumbered

Balance

Encumbered

Balance

Une

Pct

05306 ADVERTISING $0.00 $500.00 $0.00  0 $100.00  20 $0.00 $400.00  80 

05310 MISCELLANEOUS $0.00 $600.00 $0.00  0 $104.00  17 $0.00 $496.00  83 

05313 UTILITIES PURCH FROM WUD $10,916.72 $46,500.00 $0.00  23 $33,101.51  71 $0.00 $13,398.49  29 

05314 UTILITIES PURCH FROM OTHER $0.00 $250.00 $0.00  0 $62.19  25 $0.00 $187.81  75 

05320 MEDICAL PROFESS. SERVICES $0.00 $500.00 $0.00  0 $237.50  48 $0.00 $262.50  53 

05323 VEHICLE & PROPERTY INSURANCE $0.00 $1,500.00 $0.00  0 $750.00  50 $0.00 $750.00  50 

05328 CUSTOMER REFUNDS $0.00 $5,000.00 $0.00  0 $782.50  16 $0.00 $4,217.50  84 

05330 TROPHY AWARDS $0.00 $10,000.00 $0.00  0 $270.83  3 $5,817.45 $3,911.72  39 

05331 INSURANCE EXPENSE $0.00 $900.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $900.00  100 

05332 OFFICIALS EXPENSE $350.00 $30,000.00 $0.00  1 $6,924.00  23 $0.00 $23,076.00  77 

05333 SPORTS/EQUIP SUPPLIES $524.15 $25,000.00 $0.00  2 $3,574.10  14 $2,425.90 $19,000.00  76 

05334 GROUNDS EXPENSE $25.36 $24,000.00 $0.00  0 $4,718.86  20 $8,089.75 $11,191.39  47 

05335 TOURNAMENT EXPENSE $0.00 $7,500.00 $0.00  0 $700.00  9 $0.00 $6,800.00  91 

05337 CONCESSIONS $0.00 $19,000.00 $0.00  0 $3,115.28  16 $7,422.16 $8,462.56  45 

05357 EQUIPMENT RENTAL/LEASE $0.00 $400.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $400.00  100 

05365 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES $935.00 $48,000.00 $0.00  2 $18,302.80  38 $0.00 $29,697.20  62 

05389 DONATIONS EXPENSE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $12,729.49  0 $0.00 ($12,729.49)  0 

$0.00 $228,850.00 $12,751.23 $87,757.67 $23,755.26 $117,337.07  38  51  6 Total Contractual Services

00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY

05604 VEHICLES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05607 FIELD/FACILITY  IMPROVEMENTS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05617 CAPITAL EXPENDITURES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

05637 OTHER EQUIPMENT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $0.00  0 

Expenditure Report  Page 36 of 3712/8/2023 



00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY

400 RECREATION

050 YOUTH RECREATION FUND

Level 4 Summary for December 2024

City Of Westminster
Expenditure Report

Accounts

Budget 

Appropriation

Supplemental 

Appropriation

Current Pd

Expenditures

Curr

Pct

Year To Date

Expenditures

YTD

Pct

Unencumbered

Balance

Encumbered

Balance

Une

Pct

05644 COUNTY ALLOCATION EXPENSE $0.00 $50,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $50,000.00  100 

05645 PARD GRANT EXPENSE $0.00 $10,000.00 $0.00  0 $0.00  0 $0.00 $10,000.00  100 

$0.00 $60,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $60,000.00  0  100  0 Total Capital Outlay

$30,398.38 $579,319.00 $0.00 $354,588.72  34 $20,695.22 $194,331.90  61  4 Total RECREATION

$30,398.38 Total YOUTH RECREATION FUND $354,588.72 $0.00  34 $579,319.00 $20,695.22 $194,331.90  61  4 

$510,680.35 TOTAL ALL FUNDS $6,893,532.06 $12,723,960.49 $0.00 $358,815.11 $5,319,748.08  3  42  54 

Expenditure Report  Page 37 of 3712/8/2023 



Current Pd

Total

Year To Date

Total

$15,511,632.39 $960,237.96 Grand Total

12/8/2023 



Report Summary

Type From Period 06Type To

System Date 12/8/2023 4 - Revenues 5 - Expenses

System Time 11:25:19 am

Print Date 12/8/2023Detail Level Level 4 double space

Print Time 11:28:38 amAdjusted Budget Column N

RARun bySkip Zero/ No Activity N

381Print ID

ToLevel New PageFrom System version 7.1.26

1 010 050 n/a APGLXP17Export

ALL N2 Export version VM-07123000
ALL N3

4 ALL N

5 ALL n/a

12/8/2023 


	December 12, 2023 AGENDA
	11142023 Meeting Minutes
	Ordinance Zoning Ordinance Repeal and Replace
	AKH Edits Council Amended Westminster Zoning Ordinance
	AN ORDINANCE TO REPEAL AND REPLACE THE WESTMINSTER ZONING CODE
	TITLE XV:
	LAND USAGE
	CHAPTER 150: BUILDING REGULATIONS
	CHAPTER 151: ZONING CODE
	GENERAL PROVISIONS
	ESTABLISHMENT OF ZONING DISTRICTS AND RULES FOR THE INTERPRETATION OF DISTRICT BOUNDARIES
	APPLICATION OF DISTRICT REGULATIONS
	REQUIREMENTS BY DISTRICTS
	LAND USES CONDITIONS GENERALLY
	III. SEWAGE DISPOSAL
	A. Where the sewer lines of the mobile home park are not connected to a public sewer, a method of sewage disposal approved by the health authority shall be provided. The design of the treatment facility shall be based on the maximum design population ...
	IV. REFUSE DISPOSAL
	A. A. The storage, collection and disposal of refuse in the mobile home park shall be controlled so that it creates no health hazards, rodent or insect breeding areas, or accident or fire hazards.
	B. All refuse shall be stored in fly-tight, water-tight, rodent-proof containers. Racks or holders Good faith efforts shall be provided made for the containers to minimize spillage.
	C. All refuse shall be collected at least once weekly. Accumulations of debris which may provide harborage for insects, rodents, or any animal shall not be permitted.
	V. UTILITY DISTRIBUTION
	A. Every mobile home park shall contain an electrical system which shall be installed and maintained in accordance with applicable codes and regulations.
	B. Main power lines not located underground shall be suspended at least eighteen (18) feet above the ground. There shall be a minimum horizontal clearance of three (3)feet between overhead wiring and any mobile home.
	NONCONFORMING SITUATIONS
	ACCESSORY USES
	LOTS AND PARCELS
	PARKING REQUIREMENTS
	STREETS
	CONDITIONAL AND TEMPORARY USES
	COMMON OPEN SPACE
	FLOOD HAZARD AREAS
	SCREENING AND BUFFER YARDS
	INTERPRETATION AND DEFINITIONS
	ADMINISTRATION, ENFORCEMENT, APPEAL, COMPLAINTS AND REMEDIES
	BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS
	AMENDMENTS
	APPENDIX A: REQUIREMENTS BY DISTRICT; RR, R-1 Acre; R-25, R-20, R-15, and R-6:
	APPENDIX C: REQUIREMENTS FOR COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS & PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENTS
	APPENDIX D: OFF-STREET PARKING REQUIREMENTS


	CHAPTER 152: SIGN REGULATIONS
	GENERAL PROVISIONS
	SIGN STANDARDS
	REGULATIONS APPLYING TO SPECIFIC TYPES OF SIGNS
	SIGNS PERMITTED IN NON-RESIDENTIAL ZONING DISTRICTS
	TEMPORARY SIGN PROVISIONS
	NONCONFORMING AND NON-COMPLYING SIGN PROVISIONS
	CALCULATION OF DISPLAY AREA FOR SIGNAGE
	SIGN APPLICATION PROCESS
	ENFORCEMENT



	Ordinance Amendment Vacant Building
	Misc City Code revsisions
	Resolution to in support of LWCF
	LWCF Funds Commitment Letter (002)
	LWCF Maximum Grant Waiver Request (002)
	Rosa Clark dec 2023 Letter to Westminster City Council
	First Tryon Advisors Work Order 1 - City of Westminster SC
	revexpreport
	0000_GL_381RevExpReport.rpt
	Revenue
	010 CITY GENERAL FUND
	100 ADMINISTRATION
	00400 PROPERTY TAXES
	40000 PROPERTY TAXES
	 

	40001 DELIQUENT TAXES
	 

	40002 VEHICLE TAXES
	 

	40003 HOMESTEAD EXPT. STATE
	 

	40004 MERCHANTS INVT. TAX
	 

	40005 WATERCRAFT TAX
	 


	00401 INTERGOVENMENTAL REV
	40100 C FUNDS
	 

	40102 AID TO SUBDIVISION
	 

	40104 OCONEE VOLUNTEER BONUS
	 

	40105 TRANSPORTATION NETWORK ACT
	 

	40106 C FUNDS - SIDEWALKS
	 

	40107 C FUNDS - ROADWAY RESURFACING
	 


	00402 LICENSE, PERMITS, & FEES
	40200 BUSINESS LICENSE
	 

	40202 TELECOM. TAX MASC
	 

	40203 BROKER TAX MASC
	 

	40204 MANUFACTURERS TAX
	 

	40205 INSURANCE TAX
	 

	40210 GARBAGE
	 

	40214  CELL TOWER RENT
	 

	40215 FACILITY RENTAL
	 

	40216 FOIA REQUEST FEES
	 

	40217 VACANT BUILDING REGIST FEE
	 


	00404 PYMT IN LIEU OF TAX & FRAN FEE
	40400 PAYMENT IN LIEU OF TAX
	 

	40401 FRANCHISE FEES
	 

	40402 WUD FRANCISE FEE
	 


	00405 INTEREST INCOME
	40500 INTEREST INCOME
	 


	00406 GRANT INCOME
	40602 STATE GRANTS
	 


	00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER
	40700 SERVICE CHARGES
	 

	40701 PROCEEDS FROM BORROWING
	 

	40703 SALE OF EQUIP/MATERIAL/SCRAP
	 

	40707 MISCELLANEOUS REV
	 

	40708 INTERFUND TRANSFER
	 

	40709 SKATEBOARD PARK
	 

	40719 CAPITAL LEASE PROCEEDS
	 

	40720 SALE OF PROPERTY (EASEMENTS)
	 

	40721 NON GOVERNMENTAL GRANTS
	 

	40734 COURT ORDERED RESTITUTION
	 

	40735 INSURANCE PAID CLAIMS
	 

	40736 GHS FACILITY REIMBURSEMENT
	 

	40737 REFUNDS/REIMBURSEMENTS
	 

	40745 OLD VOIDED CHECKS
	 



	200 FIRE DEPARTMENT
	00401 INTERGOVENMENTAL REV
	40101 COUNTY ALLOCATION
	 


	00405 INTEREST INCOME
	40500 INTEREST INCOME
	 


	00406 GRANT INCOME
	40601 SC MUNI TRUST
	 

	40602 STATE GRANTS
	 


	00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER
	40703 SALE OF EQUIP/MATERIAL/SCRAP
	 

	40705 FD TRAINING FUND
	 

	40706 FD DRINK MACHINE FUND
	 

	40707 MISCELLANEOUS REV
	 

	40716 FIRE PREVENTION
	 

	40717 FIRE DEPARTMENT
	 

	40735 INSURANCE PAID CLAIMS
	 

	40737 REFUNDS/REIMBURSEMENTS
	 



	296 NO DESCRIPTION FOUND
	00404 PYMT IN LIEU OF TAX & FRAN FEE
	40402 WUD FRANCISE FEE
	 



	300 POLICE
	00403 FINES & FORFEITURES
	40300 POLICE FINES
	 

	40302 DRUG SEIZURES
	 


	00405 INTEREST INCOME
	40500 INTEREST INCOME
	 


	00406 GRANT INCOME
	40601 SC MUNI TRUST
	 

	40602 STATE GRANTS
	 

	40603 MISC GRANTS
	 


	00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER
	40702 DONATIONS
	 

	40703 SALE OF EQUIP/MATERIAL/SCRAP
	 

	40704 POLICE FUND
	 

	40735 INSURANCE PAID CLAIMS
	 

	40737 REFUNDS/REIMBURSEMENTS
	 



	400 RECREATION
	00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER
	40745 OLD VOIDED CHECKS
	 



	500 CODES
	00402 LICENSE, PERMITS, & FEES
	40211 SIGN PERMIT FEES
	 

	40212 ZONING HEARINGS
	 


	00403 FINES & FORFEITURES
	40301 CODE ENFORCEMENT
	 



	600 PUBLIC WORKS
	00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER
	40703 SALE OF EQUIP/MATERIAL/SCRAP
	 



	700 NON DEPARTMENTAL
	00405 INTEREST INCOME
	40500 INTEREST INCOME
	 


	00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER
	40707 MISCELLANEOUS REV
	 

	40728 FUND BALANCE
	 

	40730 HTAX TRANSFER
	 

	40742 CAPITAL LEASE PURCHASE REVENUE
	 

	40744 ARC GRANT
	 

	40751 TRANSFER FROM SOLID WASTE
	 




	020 UTILITY DEPT. GENERAL FUND
	150 UTILITY ADMINISTRATION
	00405 INTEREST INCOME
	40500 INTEREST INCOME
	 


	00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER
	40700 SERVICE CHARGES
	 

	40701 PROCEEDS FROM BORROWING
	 

	40707 MISCELLANEOUS REV
	 

	40708 INTERFUND TRANSFER
	 

	40710 PENALTIES
	 

	40712 DEBT SET OFF FEES
	 

	40713 PMPA ECONOMIC DEV.
	 

	40714 GARBAGE FEES
	 

	40719 CAPITAL LEASE PROCEEDS
	 

	40723 AMI FEES
	 

	40734 COURT ORDERED RESTITUTION
	 

	40735 INSURANCE PAID CLAIMS
	 

	40737 REFUNDS/REIMBURSEMENTS
	 

	40746 PMPA TRAINING REIMBURSEMENT
	 


	00412 OTHER REVENUE
	41200 GRANTS
	 



	250 ELECTRIC
	00406 GRANT INCOME
	40602 STATE GRANTS
	 


	00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER
	40703 SALE OF EQUIP/MATERIAL/SCRAP
	 

	40707 MISCELLANEOUS REV
	 

	40711 POLE RENTAL FEES
	 

	40733 TRANSFER FROM HOSPITALITY FUND
	 

	40735 INSURANCE PAID CLAIMS
	 

	40737 REFUNDS/REIMBURSEMENTS
	 


	00408 ELECTRIC
	40800 COMMERCIAL ELECTRIC
	 

	40801 RESIDENTIAL ELECTRIC
	 

	40802 SC SALES TAX
	 

	40803 COMMERCIAL ELE NTX
	 

	40804 TEMP POWER/UNDERGRND PW
	 



	350 WATER
	00406 GRANT INCOME
	40601 SC MUNI TRUST
	 


	00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER
	40703 SALE OF EQUIP/MATERIAL/SCRAP
	 

	40707 MISCELLANEOUS REV
	 

	40715 ELEVATED TANK MAINTENANCE
	 

	40737 REFUNDS/REIMBURSEMENTS
	 

	40743 DR. JOHNS RIA PROJECT
	 


	00409 WATER
	40900 WATER SALES
	 

	40901 WATER TAPS
	 

	40902 DHEC
	 


	00411 PROJECT OPERATIONS
	41100 WATER LINE EXTENSION
	 



	400 RECREATION
	00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER
	40745 OLD VOIDED CHECKS
	 



	450 SEWER
	00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER
	40701 PROCEEDS FROM BORROWING
	 

	40703 SALE OF EQUIP/MATERIAL/SCRAP
	 

	40707 MISCELLANEOUS REV
	 

	40722 MISCELLANEOUS GRANTS
	 

	40732 PRITCHARD/PARK GRANT PROJECT
	 

	40737 REFUNDS/REIMBURSEMENTS
	 

	40739 BEACON MILL PROJECT
	 

	40740 SEWER PROJECT FUND
	 


	00410 SEWER
	41000 SEWER SALES
	 

	41001 SEWER TAPS
	 



	550 WATER PLANT
	00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER
	40735 INSURANCE PAID CLAIMS
	 

	40737 REFUNDS/REIMBURSEMENTS
	 



	650 NON DEPARTMENTAL
	00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER
	40742 CAPITAL LEASE PURCHASE REVENUE
	 




	030 SOLID WASTE
	900 SOLID WASTE
	00405 INTEREST INCOME
	40500 INTEREST INCOME
	 


	00406 GRANT INCOME
	40601 SC MUNI TRUST
	 


	00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER
	40700 SERVICE CHARGES
	 

	40701 PROCEEDS FROM BORROWING
	 

	40703 SALE OF EQUIP/MATERIAL/SCRAP
	 

	40707 MISCELLANEOUS REV
	 

	40719 CAPITAL LEASE PROCEEDS
	 

	40728 FUND BALANCE
	 

	40729 TRANSFER FROM GENERAL FUND
	 

	40734 COURT ORDERED RESTITUTION
	 

	40735 INSURANCE PAID CLAIMS
	 

	40737 REFUNDS/REIMBURSEMENTS
	 

	40742 CAPITAL LEASE PURCHASE REVENUE
	 




	040 FIRE DEPARTMENT 1% FUND
	004 REVENUE
	00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER
	40707 MISCELLANEOUS REV
	 




	045 GRANT HOLDING ACCOUNT
	004 REVENUE
	00406 GRANT INCOME
	40604 CDBG ANDERSON PARK
	 



	100 ADMINISTRATION
	00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER
	40708 INTERFUND TRANSFER
	 

	40730 HTAX TRANSFER
	 




	050 YOUTH RECREATION FUND
	400 RECREATION
	00401 INTERGOVENMENTAL REV
	40101 COUNTY ALLOCATION
	 


	00402 LICENSE, PERMITS, & FEES
	40206 ADMISSION
	 

	40207 CONCESSIONS
	 

	40208 REGISTRATION
	 

	40209 SPONSOR FEES
	 

	40213 TOURNAMENT FEE
	 


	00405 INTEREST INCOME
	40500 INTEREST INCOME
	 


	00406 GRANT INCOME
	40600 PARD GRANT
	 


	00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER
	40700 SERVICE CHARGES
	 

	40702 DONATIONS
	 

	40703 SALE OF EQUIP/MATERIAL/SCRAP
	 

	40707 MISCELLANEOUS REV
	 

	40709 SKATEBOARD PARK
	 

	40729 TRANSFER FROM GENERAL FUND
	 

	40730 HTAX TRANSFER
	 

	40734 COURT ORDERED RESTITUTION
	 

	40735 INSURANCE PAID CLAIMS
	 

	40737 REFUNDS/REIMBURSEMENTS
	 

	40745 OLD VOIDED CHECKS
	 





	Expense
	010 CITY GENERAL FUND
	100 ADMINISTRATION
	00100 PERSONAL SERVICES
	05100 SALARIES
	 

	05101 OVERTIME
	 

	05102 MAYOR SALARY
	 

	05103 ANNUAL BONUS
	 

	05104 SOCIAL SECURITY
	 

	05105 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTIONS
	 

	05106 HEALTH INSURANCE CONTRIBUTIONS
	 

	05107 WORKERS COMPENSATION
	 

	05108 EMPLOYEE BONDING
	 

	05109 PART TIME EMPLOYEES
	 

	05112 UNEMPLOYEMENT INSURANCE REIMBU
	 

	05114 VEHICLE ALLOWANCE
	 

	05115 CELLPHONE ALLOWANCE
	 

	05157 COUNCIL SALARIES
	 

	05810 UNIFORM EXPENSE
	 


	00200 COMMODITIES
	05200 POSTAGE
	 

	05202 OFFICE SUPPLIES
	 

	05209 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES
	 

	05210 MISCELLANEOUS
	 

	05211 SERVICE FEES
	 

	05212 EQUIPMENT PURCHASED
	 

	05214 PRINTING
	 

	05215 BUILDING MAINT.
	 

	05227 BANK RECON ADJUSTMENT
	 


	00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES
	05300 CELLULAR/WIRELESS PHONES
	 

	05301 TELEPHONES
	 

	05302 TRAVEL AND TRAINING
	 

	05305 MEMBERSHIPS & SUBSCRIPTIONS
	 

	05306 ADVERTISING
	 

	05308 OFFICE EQUIP/RENTAL/LEASE
	 

	05310 MISCELLANEOUS
	 

	05313 UTILITIES PURCH FROM WUD
	 

	05314 UTILITIES PURCH FROM OTHER
	 

	05319 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES
	 

	05320 MEDICAL PROFESS. SERVICES
	 

	05321  COMPUTER MAINTENANCE
	 

	05323 VEHICLE & PROPERTY INSURANCE
	 

	05328 CUSTOMER REFUNDS
	 

	05336 SC SALES TAX
	 

	05352 JANITORIAL EXPENSE
	 

	05356 TREE BOARD PROJECTS
	 

	05358 EQUIPMENT REPAIR & MAINT.
	 

	05362 MUNICIPAL COURT
	 

	05365 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES
	 

	05368 INTERFUND TRANSFER
	 

	05372 ELECTION EXPENSE
	 

	05378 PRINTING
	 

	05379 LEGAL SERVICES
	 

	05380 DOWNTOWN EVENTS/REPAIRS
	 

	05383 PUBLIC RELATIONS/PROMOTIONS
	 

	05387 HALL ST PROPERTY PURCHASE
	 

	05394 CITY COUNCIL TRAVEL & TRAINING
	 

	05395 CITY COUNCIL MEMBER & SUBSCRIP
	 


	00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY
	05604 VEHICLES
	 

	05618 FIRE BAY DEMOLITION
	 

	05646 C FUNDS - SIDEWALKS
	 

	05647 C FUNDS - ROADWAY RESURFACING
	 



	200 FIRE DEPARTMENT
	00100 PERSONAL SERVICES
	05100 SALARIES
	 

	05101 OVERTIME
	 

	05103 ANNUAL BONUS
	 

	05104 SOCIAL SECURITY
	 

	05105 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTIONS
	 

	05106 HEALTH INSURANCE CONTRIBUTIONS
	 

	05107 WORKERS COMPENSATION
	 

	05109 PART TIME EMPLOYEES
	 

	05110 VOLUNTEER FIREFIGHTERS BONUS
	 

	05113 PAYROLL ADJUSTMENTS
	 


	00200 COMMODITIES
	05201 FUEL
	 

	05202 OFFICE SUPPLIES
	 

	05203 RADIO/PAGERS
	 

	05204 BUNKER / PPE GEAR
	 

	05205 AWARDS / FLOWERS
	 

	05207 VEHICLE SUPPLIES / PARTS
	 

	05208 UNIFORMS
	 

	05209 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES
	 

	05210 MISCELLANEOUS
	 

	05212 EQUIPMENT PURCHASED
	 

	05218 VOLUNTEER FUND EXPENSE
	 

	05219 FD DRINK FUND EXPENSE
	 

	05221 DEPRECIATION EXPENSE
	 

	05222 SUPPLIES
	 


	00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES
	05300 CELLULAR/WIRELESS PHONES
	 

	05301 TELEPHONES
	 

	05302 TRAVEL AND TRAINING
	 

	05303 RADIO/PAGER REPAIR
	 

	05304 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE
	 

	05305 MEMBERSHIPS & SUBSCRIPTIONS
	 

	05306 ADVERTISING
	 

	05309 FIRE EXTINGUISHER
	 

	05310 MISCELLANEOUS
	 

	05313 UTILITIES PURCH FROM WUD
	 

	05314 UTILITIES PURCH FROM OTHER
	 

	05319 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES
	 

	05320 MEDICAL PROFESS. SERVICES
	 

	05322 CABLE
	 

	05325 SECURITY MONITORING
	 

	05352 JANITORIAL EXPENSE
	 

	05354 FIRE PREVENTION
	 

	05355 BUNKER GEAR REPAIR
	 

	05357 EQUIPMENT RENTAL/LEASE
	 

	05358 EQUIPMENT REPAIR & MAINT.
	 

	05365 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES
	 

	05367 ZONING/COMP PLAN
	 

	05369 TRAINING FUND EXPENSE
	 

	05370 DRINK FUND EXPENSE
	 


	00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY
	05600 SCBA'S
	 

	05604 VEHICLES
	 

	05609 TRAILER FOR CRIBBING
	 

	05620 BRUSH TRUCK
	 

	05623 RADIO/PAGERS
	 

	05624 BUNKER/PPE GEAR
	 

	05636 BUILDING/OTHER IMPROVEMENTS
	 

	05637 OTHER EQUIPMENT
	 


	00700 DEBT SERVICE
	05700 PRINCIPAL PAYMENT
	 

	05701 PAYOFF OF TRUCK BOND
	 

	05702 FD PUMPER TRUCK
	 



	300 POLICE
	00100 PERSONAL SERVICES
	05100 SALARIES
	 

	05101 OVERTIME
	 

	05103 ANNUAL BONUS
	 

	05104 SOCIAL SECURITY
	 

	05105 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTIONS
	 

	05106 HEALTH INSURANCE CONTRIBUTIONS
	 

	05107 WORKERS COMPENSATION
	 

	05113 PAYROLL ADJUSTMENTS
	 


	00200 COMMODITIES
	05201 FUEL
	 

	05202 OFFICE SUPPLIES
	 

	05206 VEHICLE MAINT/REPAIR
	 

	05208 UNIFORMS
	 

	05209 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES
	 

	05210 MISCELLANEOUS
	 

	05215 BUILDING MAINT.
	 

	05222 SUPPLIES
	 

	05224 POLICE K9
	 

	05226 DRUG SEIZURE EXPENSE
	 

	05232 MATERIAL/SCRAP RECOVERY
	 


	00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES
	05300 CELLULAR/WIRELESS PHONES
	 

	05301 TELEPHONES
	 

	05302 TRAVEL AND TRAINING
	 

	05305 MEMBERSHIPS & SUBSCRIPTIONS
	 

	05306 ADVERTISING
	 

	05307 PUBLIC RELATIONS
	 

	05310 MISCELLANEOUS
	 

	05311 RADAR CERTIFICATION
	 

	05312 NARCOTICS BUY MONEY
	 

	05313 UTILITIES PURCH FROM WUD
	 

	05315 POLICE FUND
	 

	05318 SOFTWARE
	 

	05319 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES
	 

	05320 MEDICAL PROFESS. SERVICES
	 

	05352 JANITORIAL EXPENSE
	 

	05357 EQUIPMENT RENTAL/LEASE
	 

	05358 EQUIPMENT REPAIR & MAINT.
	 

	05359 EQUIPMENT PURCHASE
	 

	05365 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES
	 

	05373 JUVENILE DETENTION
	 

	05376 E-TICKET FOR VEHICLES
	 

	05381 DRUG SEIZURE EXPENSE
	 

	05389 DONATIONS EXPENSE
	 


	00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY
	05601 VEHICLES/EQUIPMENT
	 

	05636 BUILDING/OTHER IMPROVEMENTS
	 

	05637 OTHER EQUIPMENT
	 


	00700 DEBT SERVICE
	05703 PD VEHICLES
	 



	400 RECREATION
	00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY
	05637 OTHER EQUIPMENT
	 



	500 CODES
	00100 PERSONAL SERVICES
	05100 SALARIES
	 

	05101 OVERTIME
	 

	05103 ANNUAL BONUS
	 

	05104 SOCIAL SECURITY
	 

	05105 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTIONS
	 

	05106 HEALTH INSURANCE CONTRIBUTIONS
	 

	05112 UNEMPLOYEMENT INSURANCE REIMBU
	 


	00200 COMMODITIES
	05201 FUEL
	 

	05202 OFFICE SUPPLIES
	 

	05206 VEHICLE MAINT/REPAIR
	 

	05210 MISCELLANEOUS
	 

	05214 PRINTING
	 


	00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES
	05300 CELLULAR/WIRELESS PHONES
	 

	05301 TELEPHONES
	 

	05302 TRAVEL AND TRAINING
	 

	05305 MEMBERSHIPS & SUBSCRIPTIONS
	 

	05306 ADVERTISING
	 

	05318 SOFTWARE
	 

	05367 ZONING/COMP PLAN
	 

	05385 CODE SERVICES CONTRACT
	 

	05386 ABATEMENT EXPENSES
	 


	00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY
	05604 VEHICLES
	 



	600 PUBLIC WORKS
	00100 PERSONAL SERVICES
	05100 SALARIES
	 

	05101 OVERTIME
	 

	05103 ANNUAL BONUS
	 

	05104 SOCIAL SECURITY
	 

	05105 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTIONS
	 

	05106 HEALTH INSURANCE CONTRIBUTIONS
	 

	05107 WORKERS COMPENSATION
	 

	05113 PAYROLL ADJUSTMENTS
	 


	00200 COMMODITIES
	05201 FUEL
	 

	05202 OFFICE SUPPLIES
	 

	05206 VEHICLE MAINT/REPAIR
	 

	05208 UNIFORMS
	 

	05209 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES
	 

	05210 MISCELLANEOUS
	 

	05212 EQUIPMENT PURCHASED
	 

	05215 BUILDING MAINT.
	 

	05216 MATERIALS - MAINT.
	 

	05222 SUPPLIES
	 

	05223 TOOLS
	 


	00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES
	05300 CELLULAR/WIRELESS PHONES
	 

	05301 TELEPHONES
	 

	05302 TRAVEL AND TRAINING
	 

	05305 MEMBERSHIPS & SUBSCRIPTIONS
	 

	05306 ADVERTISING
	 

	05310 MISCELLANEOUS
	 

	05313 UTILITIES PURCH FROM WUD
	 

	05316 RAILROAD PROPERTY RENTAL
	 

	05319 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES
	 

	05320 MEDICAL PROFESS. SERVICES
	 

	05325 SECURITY MONITORING
	 

	05341 ASPHALT/PAVING
	 

	05352 JANITORIAL EXPENSE
	 

	05357 EQUIPMENT RENTAL/LEASE
	 

	05358 EQUIPMENT REPAIR & MAINT.
	 

	05360 HAND POWER / HYDRAULIC TOOLS
	 

	05363 R.O.W. MAINTENANCE
	 

	05364 MOSQUITO SPRAYING
	 

	05365 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES
	 

	05374 GARBAGE PERMIT FEES
	 


	00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY
	05604 VEHICLES
	 

	05607 FIELD/FACILITY  IMPROVEMENTS
	 

	05616 C FUNDS
	 

	05631 LEGION DRIVE
	 

	05636 BUILDING/OTHER IMPROVEMENTS
	 


	00700 DEBT SERVICE
	05708 GARBAGE TRUCK PRINCIPAL
	 



	700 NON DEPARTMENTAL
	00100 PERSONAL SERVICES
	05113 PAYROLL ADJUSTMENTS
	 


	00200 COMMODITIES
	05209 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES
	 

	05210 MISCELLANEOUS
	 

	05222 SUPPLIES
	 


	00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES
	05317 TRANSFER TO CHAMBER
	 

	05377 SOLID WASTE TRANSFER
	 

	05384 TRANSFER TO YOUTH RECREATION
	 

	05388 GRANT MATCH
	 


	00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY
	05602 DEPOT HANDRAIL
	 

	05604 VEHICLES
	 

	05616 C FUNDS
	 

	05617 CAPITAL EXPENDITURES
	 

	05622 ARCHITECTURAL STUDY CITY HALL
	 

	05648 PUBLIC SAFETY VEHICLES UPFIT
	 

	05653 ARC DOWTOWN MASTER PLAN
	 


	00700 DEBT SERVICE
	05717 2023 LEASE/PURCHASE
	 

	05718 2024 LEASE PURCHASE
	 


	00800 OTHER
	05800 GRANTS
	 



	800 ANDERSON PARK
	00200 COMMODITIES
	05209 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES
	 

	05210 MISCELLANEOUS
	 

	05215 BUILDING MAINT.
	 

	05216 MATERIALS - MAINT.
	 

	05222 SUPPLIES
	 

	05313 UTILITIES PURCH FROM WUD
	 

	05319 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES
	 

	05365 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES
	 




	020 UTILITY DEPT. GENERAL FUND
	150 UTILITY ADMINISTRATION
	00100 PERSONAL SERVICES
	05100 SALARIES
	 

	05101 OVERTIME
	 

	05103 ANNUAL BONUS
	 

	05104 SOCIAL SECURITY
	 

	05105 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTIONS
	 

	05106 HEALTH INSURANCE CONTRIBUTIONS
	 

	05107 WORKERS COMPENSATION
	 

	05108 EMPLOYEE BONDING
	 

	05112 UNEMPLOYEMENT INSURANCE REIMBU
	 

	05114 VEHICLE ALLOWANCE
	 


	00200 COMMODITIES
	05200 POSTAGE
	 

	05201 FUEL
	 

	05202 OFFICE SUPPLIES
	 

	05205 AWARDS / FLOWERS
	 

	05206 VEHICLE MAINT/REPAIR
	 

	05208 UNIFORMS
	 

	05209 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES
	 

	05210 MISCELLANEOUS
	 

	05211 SERVICE FEES
	 

	05212 EQUIPMENT PURCHASED
	 

	05215 BUILDING MAINT.
	 

	05216 MATERIALS - MAINT.
	 

	05222 SUPPLIES
	 

	05223 TOOLS
	 

	05227 BANK RECON ADJUSTMENT
	 

	05228 BANK ADJUSTMENTS
	 


	00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES
	05300 CELLULAR/WIRELESS PHONES
	 

	05301 TELEPHONES
	 

	05302 TRAVEL AND TRAINING
	 

	05305 MEMBERSHIPS & SUBSCRIPTIONS
	 

	05306 ADVERTISING
	 

	05308 OFFICE EQUIP/RENTAL/LEASE
	 

	05310 MISCELLANEOUS
	 

	05313 UTILITIES PURCH FROM WUD
	 

	05319 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES
	 

	05320 MEDICAL PROFESS. SERVICES
	 

	05321  COMPUTER MAINTENANCE
	 

	05323 VEHICLE & PROPERTY INSURANCE
	 

	05324 ALLOCATION TO CITY
	 

	05326 FRANCHISE FEE
	 

	05327 ONLINE UTILITY EXCHANGE
	 

	05328 CUSTOMER REFUNDS
	 

	05336 SC SALES TAX
	 

	05352 JANITORIAL EXPENSE
	 

	05358 EQUIPMENT REPAIR & MAINT.
	 

	05360 HAND POWER / HYDRAULIC TOOLS
	 

	05363 R.O.W. MAINTENANCE
	 

	05365 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES
	 

	05366 EV CHARGING
	 

	05368 INTERFUND TRANSFER
	 

	05375 RECORDS CHECK
	 

	05379 LEGAL SERVICES
	 

	05393 SCAMPS
	 

	05394 CITY COUNCIL TRAVEL & TRAINING
	 

	05395 CITY COUNCIL MEMBER & SUBSCRIP
	 


	00407 MISCELLANEOUS & OTHER
	40745 OLD VOIDED CHECKS
	 


	00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY
	05601 VEHICLES/EQUIPMENT
	 

	05603 OPEN
	 

	05604 VEHICLES
	 

	05618 FIRE BAY DEMOLITION
	 



	250 ELECTRIC
	00100 PERSONAL SERVICES
	05100 SALARIES
	 

	05101 OVERTIME
	 

	05103 ANNUAL BONUS
	 

	05104 SOCIAL SECURITY
	 

	05105 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTIONS
	 

	05106 HEALTH INSURANCE CONTRIBUTIONS
	 

	05107 WORKERS COMPENSATION
	 

	05113 PAYROLL ADJUSTMENTS
	 


	00200 COMMODITIES
	05201 FUEL
	 

	05202 OFFICE SUPPLIES
	 

	05206 VEHICLE MAINT/REPAIR
	 

	05208 UNIFORMS
	 

	05209 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES
	 

	05210 MISCELLANEOUS
	 

	05212 EQUIPMENT PURCHASED
	 

	05216 MATERIALS - MAINT.
	 

	05217 MATERIALS - EXTENSION
	 

	05222 SUPPLIES
	 

	05223 TOOLS
	 

	05229 ELECTRIC DEPRECIATION
	 

	05232 MATERIAL/SCRAP RECOVERY
	 

	05233 METER MAINTENANCE
	 


	00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES
	05300 CELLULAR/WIRELESS PHONES
	 

	05301 TELEPHONES
	 

	05302 TRAVEL AND TRAINING
	 

	05310 MISCELLANEOUS
	 

	05313 UTILITIES PURCH FROM WUD
	 

	05319 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES
	 

	05320 MEDICAL PROFESS. SERVICES
	 

	05336 SC SALES TAX
	 

	05338 ROW LIABILITIES
	 

	05340 ENERGY PURCHASED
	 

	05352 JANITORIAL EXPENSE
	 

	05358 EQUIPMENT REPAIR & MAINT.
	 

	05360 HAND POWER / HYDRAULIC TOOLS
	 

	05361 HEAVY DUTY EQUIP RENT/LEASE
	 

	05365 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES
	 

	05366 EV CHARGING
	 

	05371 CUT LINES
	 


	00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY
	05604 VEHICLES
	 

	05608 TRANSFORMERS
	 

	05632 RECONDUCTOR TO RAW WATER STATI
	 

	05633 TRANSFORMER INSTALLATION
	 

	05634 SCIIP (RIA) GRANT PROJECT
	 

	05636 BUILDING/OTHER IMPROVEMENTS
	 

	05637 OTHER EQUIPMENT
	 

	05639 WESTMINSTER CROSSING PROJECT
	 

	05642 SUBSTATION REPAIRS
	 



	350 WATER
	00100 PERSONAL SERVICES
	05100 SALARIES
	 

	05101 OVERTIME
	 

	05103 ANNUAL BONUS
	 

	05104 SOCIAL SECURITY
	 

	05105 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTIONS
	 

	05106 HEALTH INSURANCE CONTRIBUTIONS
	 

	05107 WORKERS COMPENSATION
	 

	05113 PAYROLL ADJUSTMENTS
	 


	00200 COMMODITIES
	05200 POSTAGE
	 

	05201 FUEL
	 

	05202 OFFICE SUPPLIES
	 

	05206 VEHICLE MAINT/REPAIR
	 

	05208 UNIFORMS
	 

	05209 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES
	 

	05210 MISCELLANEOUS
	 

	05212 EQUIPMENT PURCHASED
	 

	05213 CHEMICALS
	 

	05215 BUILDING MAINT.
	 

	05216 MATERIALS - MAINT.
	 

	05217 MATERIALS - EXTENSION
	 

	05222 SUPPLIES
	 

	05223 TOOLS
	 

	05230 WATER DEPRECIATION
	 

	05232 MATERIAL/SCRAP RECOVERY
	 

	05233 METER MAINTENANCE
	 


	00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES
	05300 CELLULAR/WIRELESS PHONES
	 

	05301 TELEPHONES
	 

	05302 TRAVEL AND TRAINING
	 

	05305 MEMBERSHIPS & SUBSCRIPTIONS
	 

	05306 ADVERTISING
	 

	05310 MISCELLANEOUS
	 

	05313 UTILITIES PURCH FROM WUD
	 

	05314 UTILITIES PURCH FROM OTHER
	 

	05319 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES
	 

	05320 MEDICAL PROFESS. SERVICES
	 

	05338 ROW LIABILITIES
	 

	05339 PURCHASED WATER
	 

	05341 ASPHALT/PAVING
	 

	05342 H2O QUALITY REPORT
	 

	05343 WATER SAMPLING
	 

	05344 DHEC/INTERAL FEES
	 

	05345 LAB EXPENSE
	 

	05346 PUMP STATION RAW WATER
	 

	05347 WASTE HANDLING
	 

	05348 GENERATOR
	 

	05349 SCADA MAINTENANCE
	 

	05350 PUMP STATION MAINT/REPAIR
	 

	05351 ELEVATED TANK MAINT.
	 

	05352 JANITORIAL EXPENSE
	 

	05353 HYDRANT MAINTENANCE
	 

	05358 EQUIPMENT REPAIR & MAINT.
	 

	05360 HAND POWER / HYDRAULIC TOOLS
	 

	05361 HEAVY DUTY EQUIP RENT/LEASE
	 

	05365 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES
	 

	05371 CUT LINES
	 


	00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY
	05604 VEHICLES
	 

	05605 HWY 76 WATER LINE MATCH
	 

	05606 COBB BRIDGE RD WATER LINE
	 

	05636 BUILDING/OTHER IMPROVEMENTS
	 

	05637 OTHER EQUIPMENT
	 

	05640 WATER LINE LONG CRK HWY/US 76
	 

	05649 RIA GRANT EXPENSE
	 

	05651 LOCAL RIA MATCH EXPENSE
	 


	00700 DEBT SERVICE
	05704 2005 WATER PROJECT
	 

	05706 2014 UTILITY REV BOND PRINCIPA
	 

	05710 2015 UTILITY REV BOND INTEREST
	 

	05711 2014 UTILITY BOND REV INTEREST
	 

	05716 CONSERFUND LOAN
	 



	450 SEWER
	00100 PERSONAL SERVICES
	05100 SALARIES
	 

	05101 OVERTIME
	 

	05103 ANNUAL BONUS
	 

	05104 SOCIAL SECURITY
	 

	05105 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTIONS
	 

	05106 HEALTH INSURANCE CONTRIBUTIONS
	 

	05107 WORKERS COMPENSATION
	 

	05113 PAYROLL ADJUSTMENTS
	 


	00200 COMMODITIES
	05201 FUEL
	 

	05202 OFFICE SUPPLIES
	 

	05203 RADIO/PAGERS
	 

	05206 VEHICLE MAINT/REPAIR
	 

	05208 UNIFORMS
	 

	05209 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES
	 

	05210 MISCELLANEOUS
	 

	05212 EQUIPMENT PURCHASED
	 

	05216 MATERIALS - MAINT.
	 

	05222 SUPPLIES
	 

	05223 TOOLS
	 

	05231 SEWER DEPRECIATION
	 

	05232 MATERIAL/SCRAP RECOVERY
	 


	00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES
	05300 CELLULAR/WIRELESS PHONES
	 

	05301 TELEPHONES
	 

	05302 TRAVEL AND TRAINING
	 

	05310 MISCELLANEOUS
	 

	05313 UTILITIES PURCH FROM WUD
	 

	05319 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES
	 

	05320 MEDICAL PROFESS. SERVICES
	 

	05329 OCONEE COUNTY SEWER BILL
	 

	05341 ASPHALT/PAVING
	 

	05352 JANITORIAL EXPENSE
	 

	05357 EQUIPMENT RENTAL/LEASE
	 

	05358 EQUIPMENT REPAIR & MAINT.
	 

	05360 HAND POWER / HYDRAULIC TOOLS
	 

	05365 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES
	 

	05388 GRANT MATCH
	 


	00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY
	05604 VEHICLES
	 

	05610 HWY 183 SEWER RE-ROUTE
	 

	05611 MIMOSA SEWER REPLACEMENT
	 

	05612 FLOW METERS
	 

	05613 HAMPTON STREET SEWER MATCH
	 

	05621 BACKHOE PURCHASE
	 

	05625 PRITCHARD/PARK AVE REHAB
	 

	05626 SEWER RIGHT-A-WAY CLEARING
	 

	05637 OTHER EQUIPMENT
	 

	05641 BEACON MILL PROJECT
	 



	550 WATER PLANT
	00100 PERSONAL SERVICES
	05100 SALARIES
	 

	05101 OVERTIME
	 

	05103 ANNUAL BONUS
	 

	05104 SOCIAL SECURITY
	 

	05105 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTIONS
	 

	05106 HEALTH INSURANCE CONTRIBUTIONS
	 

	05107 WORKERS COMPENSATION
	 

	05109 PART TIME EMPLOYEES
	 


	00200 COMMODITIES
	05200 POSTAGE
	 

	05201 FUEL
	 

	05202 OFFICE SUPPLIES
	 

	05206 VEHICLE MAINT/REPAIR
	 

	05208 UNIFORMS
	 

	05209 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES
	 

	05210 MISCELLANEOUS
	 

	05213 CHEMICALS
	 

	05215 BUILDING MAINT.
	 

	05222 SUPPLIES
	 

	05232 MATERIAL/SCRAP RECOVERY
	 


	00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES
	05300 CELLULAR/WIRELESS PHONES
	 

	05301 TELEPHONES
	 

	05302 TRAVEL AND TRAINING
	 

	05305 MEMBERSHIPS & SUBSCRIPTIONS
	 

	05306 ADVERTISING
	 

	05313 UTILITIES PURCH FROM WUD
	 

	05314 UTILITIES PURCH FROM OTHER
	 

	05319 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES
	 

	05320 MEDICAL PROFESS. SERVICES
	 

	05342 H2O QUALITY REPORT
	 

	05343 WATER SAMPLING
	 

	05344 DHEC/INTERAL FEES
	 

	05345 LAB EXPENSE
	 

	05347 WASTE HANDLING
	 

	05348 GENERATOR
	 

	05349 SCADA MAINTENANCE
	 

	05350 PUMP STATION MAINT/REPAIR
	 

	05352 JANITORIAL EXPENSE
	 

	05358 EQUIPMENT REPAIR & MAINT.
	 

	05365 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES
	 

	05371 CUT LINES
	 


	00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY
	05627 DEMOLITION OF RAMSEY CREEK PUM
	 

	05636 BUILDING/OTHER IMPROVEMENTS
	 

	05637 OTHER EQUIPMENT
	 



	650 NON DEPARTMENTAL
	00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY
	05604 VEHICLES
	 


	00700 DEBT SERVICE
	05706 2014 UTILITY REV BOND PRINCIPA
	 

	05707 2015 UTILITY REV BOND PRINCIPA
	 

	05710 2015 UTILITY REV BOND INTEREST
	 

	05711 2014 UTILITY BOND REV INTEREST
	 

	05715 2022 LEASE/PURCHASE
	 

	05717 2023 LEASE/PURCHASE
	 

	05718 2024 LEASE PURCHASE
	 


	00800 OTHER
	05853 CONTINGENCY APPROPRIATION
	 



	700 NON DEPARTMENTAL
	00100 PERSONAL SERVICES
	05113 PAYROLL ADJUSTMENTS
	 

	05156 CONTINGENCY
	 


	00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES
	05377 SOLID WASTE TRANSFER
	 

	05388 GRANT MATCH
	 


	00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY
	05604 VEHICLES
	 

	05636 BUILDING/OTHER IMPROVEMENTS
	 

	05637 OTHER EQUIPMENT
	 


	00800 OTHER
	05801 TRANSFER TO CITY GF
	 

	05852 RESERVED - FUTURE IMPROVEMENTS
	 

	05853 CONTINGENCY APPROPRIATION
	 




	030 SOLID WASTE
	005 EXPENSE
	00515 EXPENSE
	05851 INTERFUND TRANSFER
	 



	900 SOLID WASTE
	00100 PERSONAL SERVICES
	05100 SALARIES
	 

	05101 OVERTIME
	 

	05103 ANNUAL BONUS
	 

	05104 SOCIAL SECURITY
	 

	05105 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTIONS
	 

	05106 HEALTH INSURANCE CONTRIBUTIONS
	 

	05107 WORKERS COMPENSATION
	 

	05109 PART TIME EMPLOYEES
	 

	05112 UNEMPLOYEMENT INSURANCE REIMBU
	 


	00200 COMMODITIES
	05201 FUEL
	 

	05202 OFFICE SUPPLIES
	 

	05206 VEHICLE MAINT/REPAIR
	 

	05208 UNIFORMS
	 

	05209 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES
	 

	05210 MISCELLANEOUS
	 

	05211 SERVICE FEES
	 

	05212 EQUIPMENT PURCHASED
	 

	05215 BUILDING MAINT.
	 

	05216 MATERIALS - MAINT.
	 

	05221 DEPRECIATION EXPENSE
	 

	05222 SUPPLIES
	 

	05223 TOOLS
	 

	05225 TRASH CAN/DUMP REPLAC/PARTS
	 

	05232 MATERIAL/SCRAP RECOVERY
	 


	00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES
	05300 CELLULAR/WIRELESS PHONES
	 

	05301 TELEPHONES
	 

	05302 TRAVEL AND TRAINING
	 

	05306 ADVERTISING
	 

	05310 MISCELLANEOUS
	 

	05313 UTILITIES PURCH FROM WUD
	 

	05319 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES
	 

	05320 MEDICAL PROFESS. SERVICES
	 

	05323 VEHICLE & PROPERTY INSURANCE
	 

	05352 JANITORIAL EXPENSE
	 

	05357 EQUIPMENT RENTAL/LEASE
	 

	05358 EQUIPMENT REPAIR & MAINT.
	 

	05360 HAND POWER / HYDRAULIC TOOLS
	 

	05361 HEAVY DUTY EQUIP RENT/LEASE
	 

	05364 MOSQUITO SPRAYING
	 

	05365 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES
	 

	05374 GARBAGE PERMIT FEES
	 


	00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY
	05601 VEHICLES/EQUIPMENT
	 

	05604 VEHICLES
	 

	05628 KNUCKLE BOOM TRUCK
	 

	05635 TRAILER PURCHASE
	 

	05637 OTHER EQUIPMENT
	 


	00700 DEBT SERVICE
	05708 GARBAGE TRUCK PRINCIPAL
	 

	05709 KNUCKLE BOOM PAYMENT PRINCIPAL
	 

	05712 GARBAGE TRUCK INTEREST
	 

	05713 KNUCKLE BOOM PAYMENT INTEREST
	 

	05714 INTEREST EXPENSE
	 

	05718 2024 LEASE PURCHASE
	 

	05719 TRANSFER TO GENERAL FUND
	 




	040 FIRE DEPARTMENT 1% FUND
	005 EXPENSE
	00200 COMMODITIES
	05227 BANK RECON ADJUSTMENT
	 


	00515 EXPENSE
	05310 MISCELLANEOUS
	 




	045 GRANT HOLDING ACCOUNT
	100 ADMINISTRATION
	00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY
	05660 ANDERSON PARK CDBG
	 




	050 YOUTH RECREATION FUND
	400 RECREATION
	00100 PERSONAL SERVICES
	05100 SALARIES
	 

	05103 ANNUAL BONUS
	 

	05104 SOCIAL SECURITY
	 

	05105 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTIONS
	 

	05106 HEALTH INSURANCE CONTRIBUTIONS
	 

	05107 WORKERS COMPENSATION
	 

	05109 PART TIME EMPLOYEES
	 


	00200 COMMODITIES
	05201 FUEL
	 

	05202 OFFICE SUPPLIES
	 

	05206 VEHICLE MAINT/REPAIR
	 

	05208 UNIFORMS
	 

	05209 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES
	 

	05210 MISCELLANEOUS
	 

	05211 SERVICE FEES
	 

	05212 EQUIPMENT PURCHASED
	 

	05227 BANK RECON ADJUSTMENT
	 


	00300 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES
	05300 CELLULAR/WIRELESS PHONES
	 

	05301 TELEPHONES
	 

	05305 MEMBERSHIPS & SUBSCRIPTIONS
	 

	05306 ADVERTISING
	 

	05310 MISCELLANEOUS
	 

	05313 UTILITIES PURCH FROM WUD
	 

	05314 UTILITIES PURCH FROM OTHER
	 

	05320 MEDICAL PROFESS. SERVICES
	 

	05323 VEHICLE & PROPERTY INSURANCE
	 

	05328 CUSTOMER REFUNDS
	 

	05330 TROPHY AWARDS
	 

	05331 INSURANCE EXPENSE
	 

	05332 OFFICIALS EXPENSE
	 

	05333 SPORTS/EQUIP SUPPLIES
	 

	05334 GROUNDS EXPENSE
	 

	05335 TOURNAMENT EXPENSE
	 

	05337 CONCESSIONS
	 

	05357 EQUIPMENT RENTAL/LEASE
	 

	05365 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES
	 

	05389 DONATIONS EXPENSE
	 


	00600 CAPITAL OUTLAY
	05604 VEHICLES
	 

	05607 FIELD/FACILITY  IMPROVEMENTS
	 

	05617 CAPITAL EXPENDITURES
	 

	05637 OTHER EQUIPMENT
	 

	05644 COUNTY ALLOCATION EXPENSE
	 

	05645 PARD GRANT EXPENSE
	 








